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PART I
 

CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS:
 

This document and the documents incorporated by reference herein include “forward-looking statements,” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), including, without limitation, the statements about our plans,
strategies, and prospects under the headings “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and “Business.” We have typically used the words “expect,” “estimate,” “assume,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “will,”
“forecast,” “outlook,” “plan,” “project,” and similar expressions in this document and the documents incorporated by reference
herein to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current views with respect
to future events and financial performance. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to many risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including, among other
things:

 
 the pace of growth of student enrollment;
 
 our continued compliance with Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”

or “HEA”), and the regulations thereunder, as well as other federal laws and regulations, regional accreditation
standards, and state regulatory requirements;

 
 rulemaking by the U.S. Department of Education (“Department of Education” or the “Department”) and increased focus

by the U.S. Congress on for-profit education institutions;
 
 competitive factors;
 
 risks associated with the opening of new campuses;
 
 risks associated with the offering of new educational programs and adapting to other changes;

 
 risks related to the timing of regulatory approvals;

 
 our ability to continue to implement our growth strategy;

 
 the amount of the costs, fees, expenses, and charges related to our merger with Capella (the “Merger”);

 
 the risk that the benefits of our merger with Capella, including expected synergies, may not be fully realized or may

take longer to realize than expected;
 

 the risk that our merger with Capella may not advance the combined company’s business strategy and growth strategy;
 

 the risk that the combined company may experience difficulty integrating Strayer’s and Capella’s employees or
operations;

 
 the potential diversion of our management’s attention resulting from our merger with Capella;

 
 risks associated with the ability of our students to finance their education in a timely manner; and
 
 general economic and market conditions.
 
You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. You should understand that many important factors,

including those discussed under the headings “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
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and Results of Operations” and “Business,” could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or suggested in any
forward-looking statements. Further information about these and other relevant risks and uncertainties may be found in Item 1A
(“Risk Factors”) below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements, except as required
by law.

 
References to “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Corporation,” and the “Company” refer to Strategic Education, Inc., together with our

consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context suggests otherwise.
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Item 1.        Busines s
 
Overview
 

Strategic Education, Inc. (“Strategic Education,” “SEI,” or the “Company”), a Maryland corporation formerly known as
Strayer Education, Inc., is an education services company that seeks to provide the most direct path between learning and
employment through campus-based and online post-secondary education offerings, as well as through programs to develop job-
ready skills for high-demand markets. The Company conducts its operations primarily through its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Strayer University and Capella University, both accredited post-secondary institutions of higher education. The Company’s
operations also include certain non-degree programs, mainly focused on software and application development. 

 
Acquisition
of
Capella
Education
Company
 

On August 1, 2018, we completed our merger with Capella Education Company (“CEC”) pursuant to a merger agreement
dated October 29, 2017. The merger solidifies our position as a national leader in education innovation, and provides scale that
will enable greater investment in improving student academic and career outcomes while maintaining our focus on affordability.
The merger is also expected to create significant cost synergies for us.
 

Pursuant to the merger, we issued 0.875 shares of our common stock for each issued and outstanding share of CEC common
stock. Outstanding equity awards held by CEC employees and certain nonemployee directors of CEC were assumed by us and
converted into comparable SEI awards at the exchange ratio. Outstanding equity awards held by CEC nonemployee directors who
did not serve as directors of SEI after completion of the merger and awards held by former employees of CEC who left before
completion of the merger were settled upon completion of the merger as specified in the merger agreement.
 

As of December 31, 2018, our segments and wholly-owned subsidiaries consisted of the following:
 

Strayer University Segment
 

Strayer University is an institution of higher learning that offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs in business
administration, accounting, information technology, education, health services administration, public administration, and criminal
justice at physical campuses, predominantly located in the eastern United States, and online.

 
The Jack Welch Management Institute (“JWMI”), a program of Strayer University, offers an executive MBA online and is a

Top-25 Princeton Review-ranked online MBA program.
 
Capella University Segment
 

Capella University is an online post-secondary education company that offers a variety of bachelor's, master's and doctoral
degree programs primarily delivered to working adults. Capella University’s program offerings span six primary disciplines:
public service leadership; nursing and health sciences; psychology; business and technology; counseling and human services; and
education.
 
Non-Degree Programs Segment
 

DevMountain, LLC (“DevMountain”) is a software development school offering Web Development, iOS Development, and
UX Design programs in person at DevMountain’s classrooms in Provo and Salt Lake City, Utah, Dallas, Texas, and Phoenix,
Arizona, and online.

 
Hackbright Academy, Inc. (“Hackbright”) is a software engineering school for women offering accelerated software

development programs, together with placement services and coaching. Hackbright’s programs are delivered in person through
Hackbright’s classrooms in the San Francisco Bay Area.
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The New York Code and Design Academy, Inc. (“NYCDA”) is a New York City-based provider of web and application
software development courses. NYCDA is not accredited and does not participate in state or federal student financial aid
programs. NYCDA courses have been delivered primarily on-ground to students in partnership with business and education
partners seeking to further their employees’ or students’ career in software application development.

 
Sophia Learning, LLC (“Sophia”) is an innovative learning company which leverages technology to support self-paced

learning, including courses eligible for transfer into credit at over 2,000 colleges and universities.
 

History
 
Strategic Education was formed on August 1, 2018 with the merger of Strayer Education, Inc. and CEC. The Company’s

primary operating subsidiaries are Strayer University and Capella University.
 
Founded in 1892, Strayer University is an institution of higher learning that offers undergraduate and graduate degree

programs in business administration, accounting, information technology, education, health services administration, public
administration, and criminal justice at 72  physical campuses, predominantly located in the eastern United States, and online.
Strayer University also offers an executive MBA online through JWMI, which was acquired in December 2011. Strayer
University is accredited by the Middle States Commission on Higher Education (“Middle States” or “Middle States
Commission”), one of the six regional collegiate accrediting agencies recognized by the Department of Education. By offering its
programs both online and in physical classrooms, Strayer University provides its working adult students more flexibility and
convenience. Strayer University, with its online offerings, attracts students from around the country and throughout the world.
 

Capella University was founded in 1991 and is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, one of the six regional
collegiate accrediting agencies recognized by the Department of Education . Capella University offers a variety of doctoral,
master’s and bachelor’s programs, primarily for working adults. Capella University focuses on master's and doctoral degrees,
with 70% of its learners enrolled in a master’s or doctoral degree program. Its academic offerings are built with competency-
based curricula and designed to demonstrate competencies through real-world, authentic assessments delivered in an online
format that is both convenient and flexible.

 
The Company generated net revenue of $634 million in 2018. For more information regarding our revenues, profits, and

financial condition, please refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Industry Background
 

The United States market for post-secondary education is large, fragmented, and competitive. According to the National
Center for Education Statistics, the total number of post-secondary learners enrolled as of the fall of 2016 was 20.2 million,
reflecting a 6.3% decrease from record enrollment in the fall of 2010. Approximately 1.4 million of these learners attended
proprietary institutions. Controversy about the cost of higher education, under-employment of many college graduates, and
persistent negative media coverage have caused some prospective students to question the value proposition of higher education.
According to the National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, college enrollments in all higher education sectors declined
1.0% and 1.7% in the fall of 2017 and 2018, respectively. Enrollment at proprietary colleges declined 7.1% and 15.1% in the fall
of 2017 and 2018, respectively. The industry is heavily dependent on continued availability of funding for programs under Title
IV of the Higher Education Act (“Title IV programs”), and concerns about potential reductions in such funding also could
negatively affect demand for higher education.

 
Notwithstanding weaker demand dynamics over the past few years, we believe that over time, demand for post-secondary

education will increase as a result of demographic, economic, and social trends. The U.S. Census Bureau has reported that
approximately 62.5 million adults over the age of 25 in the United States do not have more than a high school education, and
approximately 35.5 million adults over the age of 25 have some college experience but have not completed a college degree.
Other trends that could positively affect demand for our programs include:
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 increasing demand by employers for certain types of professional and skilled workers;
 
 growth in the number of high school graduates from 2.8 million in 1999-2000 to an estimated 3.6 million in 2018-2019,

according to the National Center for Education Statistics;
 
 the significant and measurable income premium and enhanced employment prospects attributable to post-secondary

education;
 
 a number of initiatives underway to reduce the cost of a post-secondary education; and

 
 continued demand from working adults for programs offered by regionally accredited institutions.

 
Competition
 

The post-secondary education market is highly competitive, with no private or public institution holding a significant market
share. Strayer University and Capella University (the “Universities”) compete for students and learners primarily with traditional
public and private degree-granting accredited colleges and universities, other proprietary degree-granting accredited schools, and
alternatives to higher education. In addition, we face competition from various non-traditional, credit-bearing and noncredit-
bearing education programs, provided by both proprietary and not-for-profit providers, including massive open online courses
offered worldwide without charge by traditional educational institutions and other direct-to-consumer education services. As the
proportion of traditional colleges providing alternative learning modalities increases, we will face increasing competition for
students from traditional colleges, including colleges with well-established reputations for excellence. As online learning matures
as a modality for education delivery across higher education, we believe that the intensity of the competition we face will
continue to increase.

 
We believe the key factors affecting our competitive position include the quality of our programs offered, the quality of other

services provided to learners, our reputation among students and in the general marketplace, the cost and perceived value of our
offerings, the employment rate and terms of employment for our graduates, the ease of access to our offerings, the quality and
reputation of our faculty and other employees, the quality of our campus facilities and online platforms, the time commitment
required to complete our programs and obtain a degree, the quality and size of our alumni base, and our relationship with other
learning institutions.
 
Company Strengths
 

The Company has a track record of providing practical and convenient education programs and solutions for working adults
and employers. Through the merger with Capella Education Company on August 1, 2018 (“the Merger”), the Company retains
the individual strengths of its two independently operated universities while creating a combined corporate and shared service
platform that enables significant cost synergies and best practice sharing, both of which help us deliver significant benefits to
students. We believe the following strengths position us to capitalize on the demand for post-secondary education:

 
 Focus
on
Innovation.
The Company values innovation and actively invests in the educational experience to improve

student success and employment outcomes, while also addressing national challenges including the affordability of
higher education and meeting the skill requirements of employers. Capella University’s competency-based learning
infrastructure and direct assessment capabilities, and Strayer University’s video, simulation and content capabilities are
examples of this drive to transform education delivery and learning by working adults. Through the Merger, both
Universities can leverage these transformational capabilities.
 

 Consistent
operating
history.
Strayer University has been in continuous operation since 1892 and Capella University
since 1991, and both have demonstrated an ability to operate consistently and grow profitably. The
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Merger positions the combined Company to continue this track record, with a broader, more diversified product
offering, a balanced revenue mix, cost and revenue synergies, and greater scale.

 
 Practical
and
diversified
programs.
We offer programs in practical areas of adult education. In order to keep pace with

a changing knowledge-based economy, we constantly strive to meet the evolving needs of our students, learners and
their current and prospective employers by regularly refining, updating, and adding to our portfolio of educational
programs. The Merger creates a diversified program portfolio that includes Strayer University’s programs in business,
including the Jack Welch Management Institute, accounting, economics and information technology, and Capella
University’s competency-based programs in healthcare and counseling, as well as a robust doctoral portfolio. This
program diversity will help the Company better meet the educational needs of students in the modern economy.

 
 Focus
on
adults
pursuing
career-relevant
degree
and
non-degree
programs.
We focus on serving adults who are

pursuing undergraduate and graduate degrees as well as non-degree certificates and training programs that will help
them advance their careers and employment opportunities. We provide high quality student support services such as
advising, writing, tutoring and research support; administrative services; library services; financial aid counseling; and
career counseling. Increasingly, we are leveraging data and analytics to create personalized experiences for our students
and learners, which is reflected in our early cohort persistence improvements and continued high student satisfaction.

 
 Flexible
program
offerings.
We offer flexible programs that allow students to attend classes and complete coursework

during the day, in the evening, and on weekends throughout the calendar year at our on-ground campuses, and at the
student or learner’s convenience through our comprehensive online program offerings.

 
 Attractive
and
convenient
campus
locations.
Strayer University’s campuses are located in growing metropolitan areas,

mostly in the Mid-Atlantic and Southern regions where there are large populations of adults with demographic
characteristics similar to those of our typical students. The campuses are attractive and modern, offering conducive
learning environments in convenient locations. Post-merger, our expertise in ground based operations can be leveraged
to extend Capella University offerings in new and innovative ways.

 
 Established
brand
names
and
alumni
support.
Strayer University and Capella University are established brand names

in post-secondary adult education. Our students and graduates are effective ambassadors of both brands through their
work at companies across corporate America and, along with our growing alumni networks, foster greater brand
awareness and additional referral opportunities for new students and learners.

 
Company Strategy
 

Our goal is to be a leading innovator and provider of career-relevant and meaningful education programs that prepare
students for advancement in their careers and professional lives. We have identified the following strategic priorities as key to
achieving our goal:

 
 Improve
student
success
— Our success depends on the success of our students. The more we focus on helping our

students succeed, the more likely it is that we will succeed. In order to improve student success, we must continue to
hire outstanding faculty, produce high quality academic course content, and employ cutting edge technology that enable
us to deploy faculty and content in increasingly efficient and effective ways.

 
 Enhance
student
experience
— Our students are predominately working adults who are furthering their education in

order to advance their careers and professional lives. Our students are busy with work and family responsibilities that
leave little time for other endeavors. Thus, we make every effort to make all interactions with our students productive,
and we are constantly looking for ways to serve them better. This initiative includes leveraging technology, including
artificial intelligence and automation, to improve student support in the areas of advising, tutoring, registration, campus
and online technology, and administration. We measure
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our performance through student surveys and focus groups as well as through metrics like persistence and continuation.
 
 Address
affordability
— Recognizing that affordability is a significant factor in a prospective student’s decision to

further his or her education, the Company has implemented various initiatives to make its programs more affordable.
For example, through the Graduation Fund, introduced at Strayer University in late 2013, qualifying students enrolled in
a bachelor’s degree program are eligible to receive one free course for every three courses successfully completed
towards a bachelor’s degree. The free courses earned are redeemable in one’s final academic year. Additionally, Capella
University’s FlexPath direct assessment model provides opportunity to drive affordability through the potential for
lower tuition costs, reduced time to completion, and increased flexibility. Strayer University and Capella University
have also instituted various other tuition reductions and scholarships. We continue to monitor and assess the impact of
our affordability initiatives and explore other ways to make our offerings as affordable as possible. We have also begun
to deploy more aggressive technology innovations, including artificial intelligence and automation, that enable us to
lower our operating costs and thus improve our ability to support lower tuition. Our focus on affordability is further
supported by the corporate-level efficiencies that we expect to be achieved through the Merger.
 

 Establish
new
platforms
for
growth
  —
We are constantly looking for new ways to leverage our existing resources and
capabilities to grow. The Merger represents a significant opportunity to leverage best-in-class processes and practices to
accelerate growth. The Company also launched SEI Ventures in 2018, which is a seed-stage venture fund that will
support pioneering education tech start-ups focused on transformational technologies and student success. In addition to
providing capital, the venture fund will offer portfolio companies the opportunity to pilot technologies across the
Universities and coding boot camps. We also continue to develop new programs and concentrations like Strayer
University’s Bachelor of Applied Science in Management, which began instruction in the Winter 2018 term; the MBA
in Digital Entrepreneurship, a collaboration with Cheddar, a leading business news outlet that streams live from the
floor of the New York Stock Exchange; and additional program offerings under Capella University’s FlexPath direct
assessment model.

 
 Build
a
high
performing
culture
—
In order to be a leading provider of educational services, we must have talented

and motivated faculty and employees who are passionate about serving students. We strive to attract the best talent and
then develop and retain them. We want to be known as an employer of choice and be a place where one can build a
long-term career.

 
Strayer University

 
Strayer University is an institution of higher learning that offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs in business

administration, accounting, information technology, education, health services administration, public administration, and criminal
justice at 72 physical campuses, predominantly located in the eastern United States, and online. Strayer University is accredited
by the Middle States Commission, one of the six regional collegiate accrediting agencies recognized by the Department. By
offering its programs both online and in physical classrooms, Strayer University provides its working adult students more
flexibility and convenience.
 
Curriculum
 

Strayer University offers business, information technology, and professional curricula to equip students with specialized and
practical knowledge and skills for careers in business, industry, and government. Academic leaders regularly review and revise
Strayer University’s course offerings to improve its educational programs and respond to competitive changes in job markets.
Strayer University regularly evaluates new programs and degrees to ensure that it stays current with the needs of students and
their employers.
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As of December 31, 2018, Strayer University offers programs in the following areas:
 

Graduate Programs     Undergraduate Programs
● Master of Business Administration (M.B.A.) Degree  ● Bachelor of Science (B.S.) Degree
● Jack Welch Executive Master of Business   Accounting
 Administration (M.B.A.) Degree   Criminal Justice
● Master of Education (M.Ed.) Degree   Information Systems
● Master of Public Administration (M.P.A.) Degree   Information Technology
● Master of Science (M.S.) Degree   Nursing
 Accounting  ● Bachelor of Business Administration (B.B.A.) Degree
 Health Services Administration   Accounting
 Human Resource Management   Acquisition and Contract Management
 Information Assurance   Entrepreneurship
 Information Systems   Finance
 Management   Health Services Administration
 Nursing   Hospitality and Tourism Management
    Human Resource Management
    Management
    Marketing
    Project Management
    Retail Management
    Social Media Marketing
    Joe Gibbs Performance Management
   ● Bachelor of Applied Science in Management
   ● Associate in Arts (A.A.) Degree
    Accounting
    Acquisitions and Contract Management
    Business Administration
    Information Systems
    Information Technology
    Marketing
   ● Diploma Program
    Acquisition and Contract Management
 

Each undergraduate degree program includes courses in oral and written communication skills as well as mathematics and
various disciplines in the humanities and social sciences. In addition to degree and diploma programs, Strayer University offers
classes to non-degree and non-program students wishing to take courses for personal or professional enrichment.

 
Although most of its programs are offered at campuses and online, Strayer University adapts its course offerings to the

demands of the student population at each location. Strayer University students may enroll in courses at more than one campus
and take some or all of their courses online.

 
Strayer University structures its curricula to allow students to advance sequentially from one learning level to another by

applying credits earned in one program toward attainment of a more advanced degree. For example, a student originally pursuing
an associate’s degree in information systems can extend his or her original educational objective by taking additional courses
leading to a bachelor’s degree in information systems, and ultimately a master’s degree in information systems. This curriculum
design provides students a level of competency and a measure of attainment in the event they interrupt their education or choose
to work in their field of concentration prior to obtaining their final degree.
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Online
 

Strayer University has been offering courses online since 1997. Currently, all students taking classes online do so in the
asynchronous format. Students may take all of their courses online or take online courses in combination with classroom-based
courses. A student taking classes online has the same admission and financial aid requirements, is subject to substantially the
same policies and procedures, and receives the same student services and support as campus-based Strayer University students.
Tuition for online courses is the same as campus-based courses.

 
Faculty
 

Strayer University appoints faculty who hold appropriate academic credentials, are dedicated, active professionals in their
field, and are enthusiastic and committed to teaching working adults. In accordance with Strayer University’s educational
mission, Strayer University faculty members focus their efforts on teaching. The normal course load for a full-time faculty
member is five courses per quarter for each of three quarters, or 15 courses per academic year. Further, many full-time faculty
members participate actively at Strayer University by providing leadership, developing the curriculum, setting academic policy,
and serving on assessment committees.

 
None of its employees are a party to any collective bargaining or similar agreement with Strayer University. Strayer

University provides financial support for faculty members seeking to enhance their skills and knowledge through a professional
development funding program that reimburses eligible faculty and deans for continuing their education and completing courses,
seminars, and various programs that enhance their current credentials and knowledge base to improve their content expertise.
Full-time faculty (and all other full-time employees) receive a 100% discount for all Strayer University courses. Strayer
University also conducts annual in-house faculty workshops in each discipline. We believe that Strayer University’s dedicated
and capable faculty is one of the keys to its success.

 
Organization of Strayer University
 

Overall academic and business decisions of Strayer University, including review and approval of the annual financial budget,
are directed by its Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees consists of Dr. Charlotte F. Beason, Chairwoman, and currently eight
other members. Strayer University’s By-Laws prescribe that a majority of members be independent from Strayer University and
the Company to assure independent oversight of all academic programs and services. Of the nine members, six are independent.
The Boards of the two Universities are independent of each other, and have no overlapping members.
 

Within the academic, strategic and financial parameters set by the Board of Trustees, Strayer University is managed on a
daily basis by the Strayer University President. The President is charged with the responsibility of overseeing the implementation
of the policies established by the Board of Trustees and is supported in this function by senior administrative officers, including
the Provost/Chief Academic Officer of Strayer University. The majority of Strayer University’s operations are centralized within
the President’s Office or Strayer University’s senior administrative staff offices.

 
Outreach
 

To identify potential students, Strayer University engages in a broad range of activities to inform working adults and their
employers about the programs offered. These activities include direct, digital, and social media marketing, marketing to existing
students and graduates, print and broadcast advertising, student referrals, and corporate and government outreach activities. Direct
response methods (direct, digital, and social media marketing) are used to generate inquiries from potential students. All
information relevant to prospective students is published on the website, www.strayer.edu. Strayer University maintains booths
and information tables at appropriate conferences and expos, as well as at transfer days at community colleges. Recommendations
from our alumni network also maintain and enhance Strayer University’s reputation and promote its quality education. Its
business-to-business outreach efforts include personal telephone calls, distribution of information through corporate intranets and
human resource departments, and on-site information meetings. Strayer University records inquiries in its database and tracks
them through to application
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and registration. Additionally, information about new programs is provided to students and alumni to encourage them to return for
further education.

 
Student Profile
 

The majority of Strayer University students are working adults completing their first college degree to improve their job
skills and advance their careers. Of the students enrolled in Strayer University’s programs at the beginning of the 2018 fall
quarter, approximately 63% were age 31 or older, and approximately 89% were engaged in part-time study (fewer than three
courses each quarter for undergraduate students and fewer than two for graduate students).

 
In the 2018 fall quarter, Strayer University’s undergraduate students registered for an average of approximately two courses,

and graduate students registered for an average of approximately one course.
 
Strayer University has a very diverse student population. At the beginning of the 2018 fall quarter, approximately 76% of

students self-reporting their ethnicity were minorities, and approximately 69% of students were women. Approximately 1% of
Strayer University’s students were international, and approximately 1% were active duty military personnel. Strayer University
prides itself on making post-secondary education accessible to working adults who were previously unable to take advantage of
educational opportunities.

 
The following is a breakdown of Strayer University students by program level as of the 2018 fall term:
 

      

     Number of     Percentage of  
Program  students  total students  
Bachelor’s   39,526   75%  
Master’s   11,300   22%  
Associate   1,419   3%  

Total Degree   52,245   100%  
Diploma   20   *  
Graduate Certificate   53   *  
Undeclared   129   *  

Total Non-Degree   202   *  
Total Students   52,447   100%  

* Represents less than 1%.
 

Strayer University’s business is seasonal and as a result, its quarterly results of operations tend to vary within the year due to
student enrollment patterns. Enrollment generally is lowest in the third quarter, or summer term.

 
Student Admissions
 

Students attending Strayer University’s undergraduate programs must possess a high school diploma or a General
Educational Development (GED) Certificate. Students attending Strayer University’s graduate programs must have a bachelor’s
degree from an accredited institution and meet certain other requirements. If a student’s undergraduate major varies widely from
the student’s proposed graduate course of study, certain undergraduate prerequisite courses may also be necessary for admission.
To maximize undergraduate students’ chances for academic success and to give them the support they need, Strayer University
evaluates incoming students’ proficiency in fundamental English and math prior to the first quarter’s registration.

 
 
 
 

12

 



Table of Contents

International students applying for admission must meet the same admission requirements as other students. Those students
whose native language is not English must provide evidence that they are able to use the English language with sufficient facility
to perform college-level work in an English-speaking institution.

 
Tuition and Fees
 

Strayer University charges tuition by the course. Tuition rates may vary in states with specific regulations governing tuition
costs. Each course is 4.5 credit hours. As of January 1, 2019, undergraduate tuition is $1,465 per course. Undergraduate students
who were previously enrolled at Strayer University are charged rates ranging from $1,465 to $1,775 per course. As of January 1,
2019, graduate students who were new to Strayer University after January 1, 2015 are charged at a rate of $2,465 per course,
while other graduate students are charged at a rate of $2,340 per course. For the Jack Welch Management Institute, new students
are charged at the rate of $3,650 per course. For some students who were previously enrolled in the Jack Welch Management
Institute, tuition is charged at rates ranging from $2,580 to $3,450 per course. Under a variety of different programs and in
connection with various corporate and government sponsorship and tuition reimbursement arrangements, Strayer University
offers scholarships and tuition discounts to students. One of these programs, the Graduation Fund, offers a student in a bachelor’s
program an opportunity to earn up to a 25% reduction of the tuition required for a degree. A new undergraduate student, who had
no transfer credit, sought to obtain a bachelor’s degree in four years, and was eligible for the Graduation Fund would currently
pay on average approximately $11,000 per year in tuition.

 
Career Development Services
 

Although most of Strayer University’s students are already employed, Strayer University actively assists its students and
alumni with career-related matters. The focus for Career Services at Strayer University is to provide career guidance and
resources to assist students and alumni in reaching their educational and professional goals. Services are delivered through
various media including online, in person, recorded video, books, periodicals, and by telephone. The services provided include
career webinars, recorded seminars, career teleconferences, career advising, and resume review.

 
Capella University

 
Capella University offers a variety of doctoral, master’s and bachelor’s programs, primarily for working adults. Capella

University focuses on master's and doctoral degrees, with 70% of its learners enrolled in a master’s or doctoral degree program.
Capella University's academic offerings are built with competency-based curricula and are delivered in an online format that is
convenient and flexible. Capella University designs its offerings to help working adult learners develop specific competencies
they can apply in their workplace. At December 31, 2018, Capella University offered over 2,000 online courses and 53 academic
programs with 136 specializations. Capella University is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, one of the six regional
collegiate accrediting agencies recognized by the Department of Education.
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Curriculum
 

Capella University’s program offerings cover six markets: public service leadership; nursing and health sciences;
psychology; business and technology; counseling and human services; and education. At December 31, 2018, Capella University
offered 53 academic programs with 136 specializations within these markets:  

 
Public
Service
Leadership   
Doctor of Philosophy in Criminal Justice  Master of Science in Emergency Management
Doctor of Philosophy in Emergency Management  Master of Public Administration (MPA)
Doctor of Emergency Management (DEM)  Master of Social Work (MSW)
Doctor of Public Administration (DPA)  Master of Social Work - Advanced Standing
Doctor of Social Work (DSW)  Bachelor of Science (BS) in Criminal Justice
Master of Science in Criminal Justice   
   
   
Nursing
and
Health
Sciences   
Doctor of Health Administration (DHA)  Master of Science in Nursing (MSN)

General Health Administration  Care Coordination (FlexPath option available)
Health Care Leadership  Nursing Education (FlexPath option available)
Health Care Quality & Analytics  Nursing Information (FlexPath option available)
Health Policy and Advocacy  Nursing Leadership and Administration (FlexPath option available)

Doctor of Public Health (DrPH)  RN-to-MSN Care Coordination (FlexPath option available)
Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP)  RN-to-MSN Nursing Education (FlexPath option available)
Master of Health Administration (MHA)  RN-to-MSN Nursing Informatics (FlexPath option available)

General Health Administration (FlexPath option available)  RN-to-MSN Nursing Leadership and Administration (FlexPath option
available)

Health Care Informatics (FlexPath option available)  Bachelor of Science in Health Care Administration
Health Care Leadership (FlexPath option available)  Health Information Management (FlexPath option available)
Health Care Operations  Leadership (FlexPath option available)

Master of Public Health (MPH)   
Bachelor of Science (BS) in Public Health   
Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) (FlexPath option
available)

  

   
   
Psychology   
Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology  Master of Science in Psychology

Addiction Psychology  Applied Behavior Analysis
Behavior Analysis  Child and Adolescent Development (FlexPath option available)
Developmental Psychology  Education Psychology (FlexPath option available)
Educational Psychology  Evaluation, Rearch, and Management
General Psychology  General Psychology (FlexPath option available)
Industrial/Organizational Psychology  Industrial/Organizational Psychology (FlexPath option available)

Doctor of Psychology (PsyD)  Leadership Coaching Psychology
Clinical Psychology  Sport Psychology (FlexPath option available)

Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in School Psychology  Bachelor of Science in Psychology
Master of Science in Clinical Psychology  General Psychology (FlexPath option available)

Applied Research  Bachelor of Science in Psychology Pre-Counseling
Clinical Counseling   
Forensic   
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Business
and
Technology   
Doctor of Business Administration (DBA)  Doctor of Philosophy in Information Technology

Accounting  General Information Technology
Business Intelligence  Information Assurance and cybersecurity
Global Operations and Supply Chain Management  Information Technology Education
Human Resource Management  Project Management
Information Technology Management  Master of Science in Human Resources Management
Leadership  General Human Resource Management
Project Management  Master of Science in Analytics
Strategy and Innovation  Master of Science in Information Assurance and Cybersecurity

Doctor of Philosophy in Business Management  Digital Forensics
Accounting  Health Care Security
General Business Management Network Defense
Human Resource Management  Master of Science in Information Technology
Information Technology Management  Analytics
Leadership  Cybersecurity
Project Management  Enterprise Networks and Cloud Computing
Strategy and Innovation  General Information Technology

Master of Business Administration (MBA)  Project Management
Self-Designed (FlexPath option available)  Bachelor of Science in Business
Health Care Management (FlexPath option available)  Accounting (FlexPath option available)
Human Resource Management (FlexPath option available)  Business Administration (FlexPath option available)
Project Management (FlexPath option available)  Finance

Doctor of Information Technology (DIT)  Health Care Management (FlexPath option available)
General Information Technology  Human Resource Management (FlexPath option available)
Information Assurance and Cybersecurity  Management and Leadership (FlexPath option available)
Information Technology Education  Marketing
Project Management  Project Management (FlexPath option available)

  Bachelor of Science (BS) in Information Technology
  General Information Technology (FlexPath option available)
  Health Information Management
  Information Assurance and Cybersecurity (FlexPath option available)
  Project Management (FlexPath option available)
  Software Development
   
   
Counseling
and
Human
Services 
 

Doctor of Human Services (DHS)  Master of Science in Human Services

Advanced Program Evaluation and Data Analytics  Leadership and Organizational Management
Leadership and Organizational Management  Program Evaluation and Data Analytics

Doctor of Philosophy in Human Services  Social and Community Services
Multidisciplinary Human Services  Master of Science in Marriage and Family Counseling
Nonprofit Management and Leadership  General Marriage and Family Counseling
Social and Community Services  Master of Science in Clinical Mental Health Counseling

Doctor of Philosophy in Advanced Studies in Human Behavior  Master of Science in School Counseling
General Advanced Studies in Human Behavior   

Doctor of Philosophy in Counselor Education and
Supervision

  

General Counselor Education and Supervision   
Master of Science in Addiction Studies   
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Education 
 

Doctor of Education (EdD)  Doctor of Philosophy in Education (PhD)

Adult Education  Curriculum and Instruction
Curriculum and Instruction  Instructional Design for Online Learning
Educational Leadership and Management  K-12 Studies in Education
Performance Improvement Leadership  Leadership in Educational Administration
Personalized and Competency-Based Instruction  Leadership for Higher Education
Reading and Literacy  Nursing Education
Teacher Leader in K-12 Studies  Post-secondary and Adult Education
Teacher Leader in Digital Transformation  Professional Studies in Education

Education Specialist (EdS)  Special Education Leadership
Curriculum and Instruction Master of Science in Education Innovation and Technology
Leadership in Educational Administration  Competency-Based Instruction
Personalized and Competency-Based Instruction  General Educational Technology
Reading and Literacy  Instruction in the 1:1 Environment
Teacher Leader in Digital Transformation  Personalized Learning
Teacher Leader in K-12 Studies  Professional Growth and Development

Master of Science in Higher Education  Master of Education (MEd) in Teaching and Learning (FlexPath option
available)

Adult Education   
Higher Education Leadership and Administration   
Integrative Studies   

Master of Science in Education   
Curriculum and Instruction   
Early Childhood Education   
English Language Learning and Teaching   
Instructional Design for Online Learning   
K-12 Studies in Education   
Leadership in Educational Administration   
Reading and Literacy   
Special Education Teaching   
Training and Performance Improvement   

 
Capella University's GuidedPath credit hour courses are offered on a quarterly academic schedule, which generally coincides

with calendar quarters. Capella University offers new learners in most programs the flexibility to begin the first course in their
program of study at the beginning of any month. These learners then enroll in subsequent courses on a regular quarterly course
schedule. Depending on the program, learners generally enroll in one to two courses per quarter. Each course has a designated
start date, and the majority of courses last for ten weeks.
 

To meet traditional Capella University best practices, GuidedPath learners typically need to access the online courseroom
multiple times each week. However, the courses are developed to be taken asynchronously, so that learners can attend each course
as it fits their weekly schedule. GuidedPath learners are required to respond to questions posed by the instructor, as well as
comments made by other learners. This format provides for an interactive experience in which each learner is both encouraged
and required to be actively engaged. Faculty are also required to have substantive engagement in each course each week.
Additional learning activities may include reading, simulations, team projects and/or research papers. Capella University’s online
format provides a digital record of learner interactions for the course instructor to assess learners’ levels of engagement and
demonstration of required competencies. The course design also includes assessment of course competencies.
 

In the FlexPath model, learners’ demonstration of competencies is directly assessed by faculty when the learner submits an
assessment. FlexPath learners set their own deadlines, demonstrate competencies via authentic assessment, and move
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through courses at their own speed, giving them an opportunity to accelerate or slow down to meet their learning needs and
schedule demands.
 

The primary exception to Capella University’s online format is for doctoral learners and for certain master’s degree
candidates pursuing professional licenses. These learners participate in periodic residencies, year-in-residencies, and supervised
practica and internships as a complement to their courses. Residencies typically last from three to 42 days and are required, on
average, once per year for learners in applicable programs. The supervised practica and internships vary in length based on the
program in which the learner is enrolled.
 

Capella University also offers certificate programs, which consist of a series of courses focused on a particular area of study,
for learners who seek to enhance their skills and knowledge. Online certificate courses can be taken to prepare for a graduate
degree program or on a stand-alone basis. The duration of certificate programs ranges from two quarters to approximately two
years.

 
Faculty
 

Capella University hires faculty who have teaching and/or practitioner experience in their particular discipline and possess
significant and appropriate academic credentials. The faculty consists of full-time academic administrators, faculty chairs, core
faculty and part-time faculty. The full-time academic administrators’ primary responsibilities are to monitor the quality and
relevance of curricula, to recruit and manage teaching faculty, and to maintain standards of accreditation. Faculty chairs supervise
the faculty in their respective specializations. Core faculty and part-time faculty teach courses, serve on curriculum or other
relevant committees, work on curriculum development in their areas of expertise, and serve as comprehensive exam and
dissertation mentors to doctoral learners.

 
None of Capella University’s employees are a party to any collective bargaining or similar agreement with Capella

University. Prior to offering a teaching assignment, Capella University provides significant training to new faculty members,
including an online development program focused on the Capella University way of effective online teaching, its educational
philosophy, teaching expectations and its online platform. In addition, professional development and training is provided for all
faculty members on an ongoing basis. To evaluate the performance of faculty members, courseroom activity is regularly
monitored and assessments are made with respect to both learner satisfaction with the courseroom experience and learner
performance against course outcomes.
 
Organization of Capella University
 

Overall academic and business decisions of Capella University, including review of the annual financial budget, are directed
by its Board of Directors. The Board of Directors consists of Dr. Eric Jolly, Chairman, and currently nine other members. Capella
University’s By-Laws prescribe that a majority of members be independent from Capella University and the Company to assure
independent oversight of all academic programs and services. Of the ten members, seven are independent.
 

Within the academic, strategic and financial parameters set by the Board of Directors, Capella University is managed on a
daily basis by the Capella University President. The President is charged with the responsibility of overseeing the implementation
of the policies established by the Board of Directors and is supported in this function by senior administrative officers, including
the Chief Academic Officer and Vice President of Academic Affairs of Capella University. The majority of Capella University’s
operations are centralized within the President’s Office or Capella University’s senior administrative staff offices.
 
Outreach
 

Capella University engages in a range of relationship-based marketing activities to build the Capella brand, differentiate it
from other educational providers, increase awareness and consideration with prospective learners, generate inquiries for
enrollment, and stimulate referrals from current learners and graduates. These marketing activities may include Internet,
television, print, radio, email, social media and direct mail advertising campaigns. Other marketing
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activities include supportive outreach to current learners, participation in seminars and trade shows, and development of key
marketing relationships with corporate, healthcare, armed forces, government, and educational organizations. Online advertising
(display, social, mobile, search and through aggregators) currently generates the largest volume of inquiries from prospective
learners.
 
Student Profile
 

As of December 31, 2018, Capella University enrollment was 38,409 learners. Of the Capella University learners who
responded to the demographic survey, approximately 79% were female, and approximately 50% were people of color. Capella
University’s learner population is geographically distributed primarily throughout the United States.
 

The following summarizes Capella University learners as of December 31, 2018:
     

     Number of     Percentage of 
Program  learners  total learners
Doctoral   8,924   23%
Master's   17,978   47%
Bachelor's   10,364   27%
Other   1,143   3%

Total   38,409   100%
 
Student Admissions
 

Capella University’s admission process is designed to offer access to prospective learners who seek the benefits of a post-
secondary education while providing feedback to learners regarding their ability to successfully complete their chosen program.
Prior to the first course in their program of study, learners are generally required to complete an orientation to online education
and a skills assessment, the results of which help develop an understanding of the specific needs and readiness of each individual
learner. Learners must successfully complete the first course in their program of study to continue their education.
 

Learners enrolling in bachelor’s programs must have a high school diploma or a GED and demonstrate competence in
writing and logical reasoning during the first course of their program of study. Additionally, applicants to undergraduate
programs who do not have transferable credits from an accredited higher education institution are required to pass assessments in
writing and reading prior to acceptance into the program. Learners enrolling in graduate programs must have the requisite
undergraduate academic degree from an accredited institution and a specified minimum grade point average. In addition to
standard admission requirements, Capella University requires applicants to some programs to provide additional application
material and information, and/or interview with, and be approved by faculty.

 
Tuition and Fees
 

Capella University's overall tuition rates vary by discipline, length of program, and degree level.
 

Learners in the GuidedPath credit hour programs are charged tuition on a per course or per term basis. Per course prices vary
by discipline, number of credit hours, and degree level. Per course prices for bachelor's level GuidedPath credit hour programs
ranged from approximately $1,000 to $2,400 for both the 2018-2019 academic year (the academic year that began in July 2018)
and the 2017-2018 academic year (the academic year that began in July 2017). Per course prices for master's level GuidedPath
credit hour programs ranged from approximately $1,700 to $3,300 for the 2018-2019 academic year, and from $1,500 to $2,800
for the 2017-2018 academic year. Per course prices for doctoral level GuidedPath credit hour programs ranged from
approximately $2,400 to $4,700 for the 2018-2019 academic year and from $2,500 to $4,100 for the 2017-2018 academic year.
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Learners in select doctoral programs are charged tuition at a fixed quarterly amount, regardless of the number of courses for
which the learner registers. Quarterly tuition rates ranged from approximately $4,300 to $4,900 per quarter for the 2018-2019
academic year and from $4,300 to $4,800 per quarter for the 2017-2018 academic year.

 
Tuition for FlexPath master's and bachelor's programs is priced at a flat, fixed amount for each 12-week subscription period.

There is no maximum course load during each subscription period; however, a maximum of two FlexPath courses can be taken at
any one time. Tuition for bachelor's level FlexPath programs ranged from $2,400 to $3,000 per 12-week subscription period in the
2018-2019 academic year, and from $2,300 to $2,700 per 12-week subscription period in the 2017-2018 academic year. Tuition
for master's level FlexPath programs ranged from $2,300 to $2,700 per 12-week subscription period for the 2018-2019 academic
year and from $2,100 to $2,500 per 12-week subscription period for the 2017-2018 academic year.

 
“Other” in the preceding enrollment table primarily includes learners enrolled in certificate programs. Learners in credit hour

certificate programs are charged tuition on a per course basis, which varies by discipline and the number of credit hours. Per
course prices for certificate programs ranged from approximately $1,000 to $4,400 for the 2018-2019 academic year and from
$1,000 to $4,200 for the 2017-2018 academic year. Tuition for FlexPath certificate programs ranged from $2,100 to $2,700 per
12-week subscription period for the 2018-2019 academic year and from $2,100 to $2,500 per 12-week subscription period for the
2017-2018 academic year.

 
Year-over-year tuition increases are specific to the program or specialization and depend on market conditions, program

differentiation or changes in operating costs that have an impact on price adjustments of individual programs or specializations.
Capella University implemented a weighted average tuition increase of approximately 2% for the 2018-2019 academic year.
These program costs will vary by learner based upon the program and specialization selected, the number of courses taken per
quarter and the number of transfer credits earned.
 

Capella University offers scholarships and tuition discounts, under a variety of different programs, to members of the armed
forces and in connection with various corporate, healthcare, federal and educational marketing relationships, for example:

• U.S.
armed
forces
relationships
and
discount
program
available to all members of the U.S. armed forces, including
active duty members, veterans, National Guard members, reservists, civilian employees of the Department of
Defense and immediate family members of active duty personnel.

• Corporate,
healthcare
and
federal
relationships
with more than 500 large and mid-size organizations.
• Educational
relationships
that encourage graduates of nearly 300 community colleges to enroll in Capella

University undergraduate programs and faculty and administrators to enroll in Capella University graduate
programs.

 
As of December 31, 2018, approximately 28% of Capella University learners received a discount in connection with these

programs.
 

Throughout the past several years, Capella University expanded and refined its offering of learner success scholarships under
a variety of different programs to promote affordability and encourage learners to remain enrolled. Learners must meet admission
requirements and enroll and apply within certain timeframes to receive the scholarships, which are generally awarded over a
period of four to eight consecutive quarters. As of December 31, 2018, approximately 18% of Capella University learners were
awarded a scholarship.

 
Career Development Services
 

Career counseling, job search advising, and career management support is provided by staff to all Capella University
learners and alumni. Capella University career counselors interact with learners and alumni via email, telephone, and online
seminars to assist with career-related activities such as resume development; curriculum vitae and cover letter development;
interview preparation; effective job search strategies; and career advancement efforts. The Career Center’s online iGuide
resources help learners gather occupational information and trends, access job postings,
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and view sample job search documents. Counselors also assist with prospective learners’ selection of the Capella University
program and specialization that best suits their professional aspirations.

 
Non-Degree Programs

 
The Company’s Non-Degree Programs are provided by DevMountain, Hackbright, Sophia and NYCDA. These programs

provide workers and their employers with access to courses and trainings focused on software development, general education
and other high demand job-ready skills over a shorter time period as compared to the degree programs. 

 
DevMountain is a software development school with locations in Provo and Salt Lake City, Utah; Dallas, Texas; and

Phoenix, Arizona. DevMountain’s primary offerings are on-site, 12-week immersive programs in Web Development, iOS
Development, and UX Design. The programs include instructor-led sessions, guest lectures, presentations and learning activities
in the mornings, followed by afternoon labs and group projects. Throughout the program and beyond course hours, learners have
access to DevMountain’s dedicated student success and employer relations teams as well as instructors and mentors.
DevMountain does not participate in Title IV programs.

 
Hackbright is a San Francisco-based software engineering school for women with a mission to close the gender gap in the

high-demand software engineering space. Hackbright’s core offering is an on-site, 12-week immersive software development
program known as the “Fellowship Program.” Learners spend the first half of the program primarily in lecture-based learning
combined with labwork, in which learners collaborate in pairs to build their programming knowledge. In the second half of the
program, lectures continue, while the labwork gives way to more advanced project-based work, and the program concludes with
an intense focus on career planning. Throughout the program, Hackbright supplements the learning experience with field trips to
technology companies, exposing learners to various technologies and career possibilities, as well as a series of networking events.
Hackbright provides a high level of support and guidance, including assigned mentors who provide the learner with support and
technical advice, and an advisor who guides the learner through the program. Hackbright also engages employers through
placement agreements, in which Hackbright earns a placement fee in exchange for providing access to, and facilitating the
transition of alumnae into employment at companies seeking in-demand, qualified female software engineers. Hackbright does
not participate in Title IV programs.
 

Sophia is an innovative learning company offering a variety of low-cost, self-paced, competency-based online learning
courses, which are eligible for transfer into credit at over 2,000 colleges and universities. Sophia does not participate in Title IV
programs.

 
NYCDA is a New York City-based provider of non-degree web and application software development courses. NYCDA

does not participate in Title IV programs.
 
Employees
 

As of December 31, 2018, Strategic Education, Inc. had a total of 3,017 full-time employees, including 397 full-time faculty
members and 2,620 non-faculty staff. Full-time faculty members teach on average 4-5 courses per quarter. The balance of classes
are taught by adjunct faculty who normally teach 1-2 courses per academic quarter. Although we had approximately 3,030
adjunct faculty throughout the year, not all of them teach every quarter. In the 2018 fall quarter, approximately 25% of our
courses were taught by full-time faculty. Because we are not research universities, all faculty members are expected to spend their
time teaching and advising students. In addition to our faculty, our non-faculty staff, including 141 part-time employees, serve in
the areas of information systems, financial aid, recruitment and admissions, student administration, marketing, human resources,
corporate accounting, and other administrative functions.

 
Strategic Education, Inc. Executive Officers
 

For a description of Strategic Education, Inc.’s senior management, see the biographical information set forth in Item 10
below.
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Intellectual Property
 

In the ordinary course of business, we develop many kinds of intellectual property that are or will be the subject of
copyright, trademark, service mark, patent, trade secret, or other protections. Such intellectual property includes, but is not limited
to, our courseware materials for classes taught online or other distance-learning means and business know-how and internal
processes and procedures developed to respond to the requirements of our operations and various education regulatory agencies.
In many instances, our course content is produced for us by faculty and other content experts under work for hire agreements
pursuant to which we own the course content in return for a fixed development fee. In certain limited cases, we license course
content from third parties on a royalty fee basis.

 
We also claim rights to certain marks and have obtained or have pending applications in the U.S. and select foreign

jurisdictions for registration of the marks, including the marks “STRAYER” and “CAPELLA” for educational services, and
certain other distinctive logos, along with various other trademarks, service marks and domain names related to our offerings.
 
Regulation
 

Regulatory
Environment
 
As regionally accredited institutions of higher education operating in multiple jurisdictions, Strayer University and Capella

University are subject to accreditation rules and varying state licensing and regulatory requirements. In addition, the Higher
Education Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder require all higher education institutions that participate in the various
Title IV programs, including Strayer University and Capella University, to comply with detailed substantive and reporting
requirements and to undergo periodic regulatory scrutiny. The Higher Education Act mandates specific regulatory responsibility
for each of the following components of the higher education regulatory triad: (1) the institutional accrediting agencies
recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education (“Secretary of Education”); (2) state education regulatory bodies; and (3) the
federal government through the Department of Education. Our business activities are planned and implemented to achieve
compliance with the rules and regulations of the state, regional and federal agencies that regulate our activities. We have
established regulatory compliance and management systems and processes under the oversight of our Chief Financial Officer and
our General Counsel that are designed to meet the requirements of this regulatory environment. The regulations, standards, and
policies of these regulatory agencies are subject to frequent change. NYCDA, Hackbright Academy, and DevMountain are
subject to certain state regulatory requirements, but are not accredited and do not participate in Title IV programs.

 
The November 2016 and November 2018 federal elections brought a new President and Congress, respectively, and we

cannot predict the actions that the Administration or new Congress may take or their effect on Strayer University, Capella
University, or the Company. Among other things, the new Congress may reauthorize the Higher Education Act and adopt, repeal
or amend other legislation affecting higher education institutions. The new Congress or Administration may also delay, block,
modify, or eliminate certain Title IV and other regulations applicable to higher education institutions, or the Administration may
promulgate new regulations upon culmination of current negotiated rulemaking processes, or otherwise. In addition, the
Administration may interpret, apply, and enforce Title IV and other regulations in a manner different from past guidance and
practice.
 

Department
of
Education
 

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, Strayer University and Capella University must comply with specific
standards and procedures set forth in the Higher Education Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the Department of
Education. An institution must, among other things, be authorized to offer its educational programs by each state in which it is
physically located and maintain institutional accreditation by a recognized accrediting agency, as discussed below. The institution
also must be certified by the Department of Education to participate in Title IV programs and follow Department of Education
rules regarding the awarding and processing of funds issued under Title IV programs. For purposes of Title IV programs, Strayer
University and all of its campuses are considered to be single institutions of higher education, such that Department of Education
requirements applicable to an institution of higher
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education are generally applied to all of Strayer University’s campuses in the aggregate rather than on an individual basis. Capella
University is also considered to be a single institution of higher education. On October 11, 2017, the Department and Strayer
University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving Strayer University’s continued participation in Title IV
programs with full certification through June 30, 2021. As a result of the August 1, 2018 merger, Capella University experienced
a change of ownership, with the Company as its new owner. On January 18, 2019, consistent with standard procedure upon a Title
IV institution’s change of ownership, the Department and Capella University executed a new Program Participation Agreement,
approving Capella’s continued participation in Title IV programs with provisional certification through December 31, 2022.

 
Accreditation
 
Accreditation is a system for recognizing educational institutions and programs for integrity, educational quality, faculty,

physical resources, administrative capability, and financial stability that signifies that they merit the confidence of the educational
community and the public. In the United States, this recognition comes primarily through private voluntary associations of
institutions and programs of higher education. These associations establish criteria for accreditation, conduct peer-review
evaluations of institutions and programs, and publicly designate those institutions and programs that meet their standards.
Accredited institutions or programs are subject to periodic review by accrediting bodies to determine whether such institutions or
programs continue to maintain the performance, integrity, and quality required for accreditation. If an institution’s or program’s
performance does not meet its accrediting agency’s (or other regulator’s) expectations or applicable standards, then its operations
may be conditioned, severely constrained, or even curtailed, depending on the severity of the noncompliance.

 
Accreditation is an important attribute of Strayer University and Capella University. Colleges and universities depend on

accreditation to evaluate transferability of credit and applications to graduate schools. Employers rely on the accreditation status
of institutions when evaluating a candidate’s credentials or considering tuition reimbursement programs. Students rely on
accreditation status for assurance that an institution maintains quality educational standards.

 
In order for institutions to be eligible to participate in federal student financial assistance programs, they must be accredited

by an institutional accreditor recognized by the Secretary of Education. The Higher Education Act charges the National Advisory
Committee on Institutional Quality and Integrity (“NACIQI”) with recommending to the Secretary of Education which
accrediting or state approval agencies should be recognized as reliable authorities for judging the quality of post-secondary
institutions and programs. In June 2017, NACIQI renewed its recognition of Middle States for six months and required Middle
States to demonstrate compliance with certain requirements. NACIQI reviewed Middle States at its February 2018 meeting and
recommended that the Secretary of Education extend its recognition for five years. NACIQI also reviewed the Higher Learning
Commission at its February 2018 meeting and recommended that the Secretary of Education extend its recognition for five years.
If an institutional accreditor loses recognition by the Secretary of Education, an institution may be allowed to continue its
participation in Title IV programs on a provisional basis for a period not to exceed 18 months to allow the institution to seek
accreditation from another recognized accrediting agency. An institution that does not become accredited by another recognized
accreditor within 18 months will lose Title IV eligibility.

 
Strayer
University
 
Strayer University has been institutionally accredited since 1981 by Middle States, a regional accrediting agency recognized

by the Secretary of Education. Middle States is the same accrediting agency that accredits such universities as Georgetown
University, Columbia University, the University of Maryland, and other degree-granting public and private colleges and
universities in its region.

 
Strayer University went through a period of reaffirmation of accreditation that began in 2015 and lasted through June 2017,

when Middle States reaffirmed Strayer University’s accreditation. The University’s period of accreditation by Middle States
extends into 2025. Middle States accredits degree-granting public and private colleges and universities in its region (including
Delaware, Washington, D.C., Maryland, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands),
including distance education programs offered by those institutions.
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Beginning in 2013, Middle States undertook a review of its accreditation standards and, in June 2014, approved revised
accreditation standards, with subsequent editorial clarifications. The new standards are effective for all institutions that have self-
studies due beginning with the 2017-2018 academic year.

 
In 2016, Middle States provided that reaccreditation for all of its institutions will be for a period of eight years (rather than

ten, as previously was the case) and that institutions will be required to submit annual reports on student achievement and
financial sustainability. In accordance with Middle States’ accreditation standards, every accredited institution will undergo a
periodic review at the mid-point between its eight-year evaluations.

 
All of Strayer University’s substantive changes require prior Middle States approval. Such changes include, but are not

limited to, certain new educational programs, certain contractual arrangements with other institutions providing a portion of an
educational program, establishment or closure of additional locations and branch campuses, and changes in ownership or control.
 

In 2000, the agencies that accredit higher education institutions in various regions of the United States adopted a Policy
Statement on Evaluation of Institutions Operating Interregionally. Under that policy, both the home regional accreditor and the
host regional accreditor cooperate to evaluate an institution that delivers education at a physical site in the host accreditor’s
region. Although the home region is solely responsible for final accreditation actions, as Strayer University opens and operates
campuses in regions outside Middle States’ region, the host regional accreditors may elect to participate in the accreditation
process of such expansion operations.

 
In addition to institutional accreditation, Strayer University has obtained specialized or programmatic accreditation, or

professional recognition, from the following organizations for specific programs: the Accreditation Council for Business Schools
and Programs (“ACBSP”), the Society for Human Resource Management (“SHRM”), the National Security Agency’s Committee
on National Security Systems, and the Teacher Education Accreditation Council (“TEAC”), which was recently consolidated with
the National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education to form the Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation
(“CAEP”). The baccalaureate degree program in nursing at Strayer University is accredited by the Commission on Collegiate
Nursing Education (“CCNE”).

 
Capella
University
 
Capella University has been institutionally accredited since 1997 by the Higher Learning Commission, a regional accrediting

agency recognized by the Secretary of Education. In January 2015, Capella University’s accreditation with the Higher Learning
Commission was reaffirmed. The reaffirmation enables Capella University to continue to participate in Title IV programs. The
next reaffirmation of accreditation is scheduled to take place in 2022-2023.
 

The Higher Learning Commission is the same accrediting agency that accredits such universities as Northwestern
University, the University of Chicago, the University of Minnesota and other degree-granting public and private colleges and
universities in its region. 

 
The Higher Learning Commission is continuously developing new standards and approval processes under which it

evaluates programs and institutions. Consistent with that approach, the Higher Learning Commission in August 2016 adopted
policy changes which include giving the Commission more discretion to designate institutions to be in "financial distress” or
under "government investigation.” Receipt of these designations could affect future accreditation status and eligibility for Title IV
aid under the Department of Education’s new “financial responsibility” triggers. While the Company believes its strong
reputation and compliance record will continue to place it in favorable standing under the new policy, there is sufficient breadth
and discretion within the policy such that government investigation, litigation, or financial or other circumstances could result in
an impact to our business from the application of the policies. In addition, in November 2017, the Higher Learning Commission
announced policy changes to become effective September 1, 2019, mandating certain recruitment, admissions and related
institutional practices, as well as guidelines for shared services relationships that took effect immediately. 

 
 

23

 



Table of Contents

In addition to institutional accreditation, Capella University has obtained specialized or programmatic accreditation, or
professional recognition, for specific programs including from the following organizations: Computing Accreditation
Commission of the Accreditation Board for Engineering and Technology (“ABET”); Accreditation Council for Business Schools
and Programs (“ACBSP”); Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Programs (“CACREP”); Council for the
Accreditation of Educator Preparation (“CAEP”); Commission on Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education
(“COAMFTE”); Council on Social Work Education (“CSWE”); Project Management Institute - Global Accreditation Center for
Project Management (“PMI-GAC”); the Society for Human Resource Management (“SHRM”). The BSN, MSN, and DNP degree
programs at Capella University are accredited by the Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (“CCNE”). 

 
Shared
Services
Agreements
 
As part of the Merger, Strategic Education, Inc. entered into shared services agreements with both Universities to provide

certain services, including but not limited to finance, legal, human resources, information technology, and marketing. The
services are governed by Master Services Agreements, which provide, among other things, for oversight of the services by the
governing boards of each University. The Company continues to look for additional opportunities to provide shared services to
the two Universities, and believes that the agreements meet all regulatory and accreditation standards, including the Higher
Learning Commission policy discussed above.

 
State
Education
Licensure
 
Licensure
of
Physical
Campuses
 
The Higher Education Act and certain state laws require Strayer University and Capella University to be legally authorized

to provide educational programs in the states in which the Universities are physically located or otherwise have a physical
presence as defined by the state. Strayer University is authorized to offer programs by the applicable educational regulatory
agencies in all states where Strayer’s physical campuses are located. Strayer University is dependent upon the authorization of
each state where Strayer is physically located to allow the University to operate and to grant degrees, diplomas, or certificates to
students in those states. Strayer University is subject to extensive regulation in each jurisdiction in which campuses are located,
including in 2018: Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Mississippi, New Jersey, North Carolina,
Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, West Virginia, and Washington, D.C.

 
Capella University is registered as a private institution with the Minnesota Office of Higher Education (“MOHE”) pursuant

to Minnesota Statute sections 136A.61-131A.71, as required for most post-secondary private institutions that grant degrees at the
associate level or above in Minnesota, and as required by the Higher Education Act to participate in Title IV programs.

 
Strayer University and Capella University will be subject to similar extensive regulation in those additional states in which

we may expand our operations in the future. State laws and regulations affect our operations and may limit our ability to introduce
educational programs or establish new campuses.

 
On October 29, 2010, the Department of Education adopted new regulations, effective July 1, 2011, that set new

requirements on states for their authorization of schools for purposes of Title IV eligibility. We believe that every state above in
which the Universities are authorized has processes in place that comply with these requirements.

 
Hackbright Academy is licensed to operate in the State of California by the Bureau for Private Post-secondary Education

(“BPPE”). DevMountain is registered as a Post-Secondary Proprietary School with the Utah Department of Commerce, Division
of Consumer Protection, and received a Certificate of Approval from the Texas Workforce Commission, Career Schools and
Colleges, and has received a conditional license by the Arizona State Board for Private Post-secondary Education.
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Licensure
of
Online
Programs
 
The increasing popularity and use of the internet and other technology for the delivery of education has led, and may

continue to lead, to the adoption of new laws and regulatory practices in the United States or foreign countries or to the
interpretation of existing laws and regulations to apply to such services. These new laws and interpretations may relate to issues
such as the requirement that online education institutions be licensed as a school in one or more jurisdictions even where they
have no physical location. New laws, regulations, or interpretations related to doing business over the internet could increase the
Universities’ cost of doing business, affect the Universities’ ability to increase enrollments and revenues, or otherwise have a
material adverse effect on our business.

 
On December 19, 2016, the Department issued final regulations addressing state authorization of distance education, which

were scheduled to become effective on July 1, 2018. These regulations include, among other things, the requirement that an
institution offering Title IV-eligible distance education or correspondence courses be authorized by each state in which the
institution enrolls students, if such authorization is required by the state. Institutions may obtain such authorization directly from
the state or (except in California) through a state authorization reciprocity agreement. A state authorization reciprocity agreement
is defined as an agreement between two or more states that authorizes an institution located and legally authorized in a state
covered by the agreement to provide post-secondary education through distance education or correspondence courses to students
in other states covered by the agreement and does not prohibit a participating state from enforcing its own laws with respect to
higher education. The regulations also require institutions to document the state process for resolving complaints from students
enrolled in programs offered through distance education or correspondence courses for each state in which such students reside.

 
In addition, the regulations require an institution to provide public and individualized disclosures to enrolled and prospective

students regarding its programs offered solely through distance education or correspondence courses. The public disclosures
would include state authorization for the program or course, the process for submitting complaints to relevant states, any adverse
actions by a state or accrediting agency related to the distance education program or correspondence course within the past five
years, refund policies specific to the state, and applicable licensure or certification requirements for a career that the program
prepares a student to enter. An institution must disclose directly to all prospective students if a distance education or
correspondence course does not meet the licensure or certification requirements for a state. An institution must disclose to each
current and prospective student when an adverse action is taken against a distance education or correspondence program and any
determination that a program ceases to meet licensure or certification requirements.

 
If an institution’s distance education program is found not to be in compliance, the institution may lose its ability to award

Title IV funds for that distance education program.
 
On July 3, 2018, the Department announced an additional two-year delay, to July 2020, for implementation of the state

authorization rules for distance and correspondence programs. On August 23, 2018, several plaintiffs filed a lawsuit in federal
court claiming that the Department’s delay of the rules was unlawful under the federal Administrative Procedure Act, and a
federal court has scheduled a hearing to consider the parties’ motions for summary judgment on April 11, 2019. We cannot
predict the outcome of that litigation. On July 31, 2018, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated
rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations on, among other things, state authorization, to address requirements
related to programs offered through distance education or correspondence courses, including disclosures about such programs to
enrolled and prospective students and other state authorization issues. Rulemaking began in January 2019 and is set to conclude in
April 2019.  We cannot predict what related regulations will be proposed or ultimately adopted.

 
Beginning July 1, 2017, California required out-of-state private post-secondary educational institutions that offer distance

education to California residents to register with the Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education, and Strayer University and
Capella University have filed BPPE registration applications and received confirmation of the registration.
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State
Authorization
Reciprocity
Agreement
 

Varying state regulations, fees, and paperwork embedded in the many different state approaches to regulation of post-
secondary institutions have limited the ability to grow across state lines to offer students high quality choices for education and
have hindered national workforce initiatives. As a solution to the ever-growing complexity of the regulatory oversight of
institutions of higher learning on a state-by-state basis, the State Authorization Reciprocity Agreement (“SARA”) has emerged to
aid in the advancement of distance education.

 
SARA is intended to make it easier for students to take online courses offered by post-secondary institutions based in

another state, while also facilitating more effective and efficient oversight and monitoring processes nationally for the benefit of
states and institutions. On March 6, 2015 and December 2, 2016, respectively, Capella and Strayer Universities became
participants in SARA. As participants in SARA, the Universities may offer online courses and other forms of distance education
to students in any participating SARA state in which the Universities do not have a physical location or a physical presence as
defined by the state without having to seek any new state institutional approval beyond their home states (Minnesota and
Washington, D.C., respectively). The Universities’ home states, in turn, will continually monitor the institution’s compliance with
SARA standards. With this initiative, the Universities will be able to expand distance education offerings with increased
consistency and ease. The only state that does not now participate in SARA is California.

 
The reciprocity agreement does not affect university operations that constitute a physical presence in a particular state, and

the Universities will continue to follow individual state regulations for on-ground campuses and activities. To the extent that such
approval is required by state law, the Universities also must obtain approval from each state that is not a SARA member
(currently only California) if the Universities seek to enroll students from those states in the Universities’ distance education
programs. At this time, SARA does not deal with professional licensing board approval for programs leading to state licensing in
fields such as nursing, teacher education, psychology, and the like, and the Universities must seek such approvals on a state-by-
state basis, as needed.

 
Other
Approvals
 
Strayer University and Capella University are approved by appropriate authorities for the education of active duty military

personnel and qualifying family members, veterans and members of the selected reserve and their spouses and dependents, as
well as for the rehabilitation of veterans. In addition, Strayer University is authorized by the U.S. Department of Homeland
Security to admit foreign students for study in the United States subject to applicable requirements. The U.S. Department of
Homeland Security, working with the U.S. Department of State, has implemented a mandatory electronic reporting system for
schools that enroll foreign students and exchange visitors. Strayer University is also authorized to participate in state financial aid
programs in Pennsylvania, Florida, and Vermont. Capella University is authorized to participate in the Minnesota GI Bill
program.  
 

State
Professional
Licensure
 
States have specific requirements that an individual must satisfy in order to be licensed as a professional in a specified field.

Capella University graduates often seek to obtain professional licensure in their chosen fields following graduation because it will
enhance employment opportunities or they are legally required to do so for employment purposes. Their success in obtaining
licensure depends on several factors, including each individual’s personal and professional qualifications as well as other factors
related to the degree or program completed, such as:

 
 Whether the institution and the program were approved by the state in which the graduate seeks licensure, or by a

professional association;
 

 Whether the program from which the learner graduated and the curriculum completed meets all state requirements; and
 

 Whether the institution and/or the specific program is accredited.
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Professional licensure requirements can vary by state and may change over time. Capella University has a team dedicated to
professional licensure that works directly with learners. The licensure team develops and maintains extensive resources to inform
learners of unique state licensing requirements prior to enrollment and throughout their program. The University’s catalog and
websites also describe the requirements for obtaining professional licensure, paired with specific disclaimers that reiterate learner
responsibility for licensure outcomes.
 

Capella’s licensure team works directly with licensing authorities to try to resolve barriers to licensure for its alumni. The
team also assists alumni with exploring alternative options to achieve licensure, including completing additional coursework at
Capella or at another institution.

 
Capella University makes no representation, warranty or guarantee that successful completion of the course of study will

result in the learner obtaining the necessary licensure or certification. Compliance with state or professional licensure or
certification requirements is the learner’s sole responsibility.
 

Financing
Student
Education
 
Students finance their education at Strayer University and Capella University in a variety of ways, and historically about

three quarters of students participated in one or more Title IV programs. Many financial aid programs are designed to assist
eligible students whose financial resources are inadequate to meet the cost of education. With these programs, financial aid is
awarded on the basis of financial need, generally defined under the Higher Education Act as the difference between the cost of
attending a program of study and the amount a student reasonably can be expected to contribute to those expenses. All recipients
of federal student financial aid must maintain a satisfactory grade point average (“GPA”) and progress in a timely manner toward
completion of a program of study.

 
In addition, many of our working adult students finance their own education or receive full or partial tuition reimbursement

from their employers. Congress has enacted several tax credits for students pursuing higher education and has provided for a tax
deduction for interest on student loans and exclusions from income of certain tuition reimbursement amounts. Eligible students at
Strayer University or Capella University may participate in educational assistance programs administered by the U.S. Department
of Veterans Affairs (“VA”) (and related state agencies), the U.S. Department of Defense (“DOD”), and various private
organizations. Eligible students at Strayer University may also participate in educational assistance programs administered by the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the State of Florida, and the State of Vermont. Some Capella University students may qualify to
participate in the Minnesota GI Bill program.

 
Under the Post-9/11 Veterans Educational Assistance Act of 2008 (as amended), sometimes referred to as the “New GI Bill,”

eligible veterans may receive, among other benefits, tuition benefits up to the net cost to the student (after accounting for state and
federal aid, scholarships, institutional aid, fee waivers, and similar assistance), subject to a cap of $ 23,672 for non-public
domestic institutions for 2018 -2019. In addition, eligible students pursuing an educational program solely through distance
learning are eligible to receive a housing stipend of $825 per month, half the amount available to students attending certain
classroom-based programs or programs that combine classroom learning and distance learning.

 
On August 16, 2017, the President signed into law the Harry W. Colmery Veterans Educational Assistance Act of 2017,

commonly known as the “Forever GI Bill”. The law makes several changes to the administration of VA education benefits.
Among other things, for service members who left the military after January 1, 2013, the bill removes the requirement that they
use their Post-9/11 GI Bill benefits within 15 years after their last 90-day period of active-duty service. The bill also alters the
way the VA calculates eligibility for VA education benefits by providing additional benefits to service members with at least 90
days but less than six months of active-duty service. Additionally, the bill will restore VA education benefits to students who
were enrolled in schools that closed after January 2015 if their credits did not transfer.

 
Strayer University and Capella University participate in DOD military tuition assistance programs under a  Memoranda of

Understanding (“MOU”). Strayer University’s MOU was executed on September 5, 2014. Capella University’s MOU was
executed on October 7, 2014. Service members of the United States Armed Forces are eligible to
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receive tuition assistance from their branch of service through the DOD military tuition assistance programs. Under the
Memorandum of Understanding, the Universities agree to comply with DOD rules and procedures regarding the receipt of tuition
assistance on behalf of active duty military personnel (and qualifying family members) in attendance at the University.

 
Title
IV
Programs
 
Strayer University and Capella University maintain eligibility for their students to participate in the following Title IV

programs:
 
 Federal
Grants.
Grants under the Federal Pell Grant program are available to eligible students based on financial need

and other factors.
 

 Campus-Based
Programs.
The campus-based Title IV programs include the Federal Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grant program, the Federal Perkins Loan, and the Federal Work-Study Program. Neither Strayer
University nor Capella University actively participates in the Federal Perkins Loan program, which expired on
September 30, 2017. In addition, Strayer University does not actively participate in the Federal Work-Study Program.

 
 Federal
Direct
Student
Loans.
Under the William D. Ford Federal Direct Loan Program, the Department of Education

makes loans directly to students and their parents. Undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need may qualify
for a subsidized loan. The federal government pays the interest on a subsidized loan while the student is in school and
during any approved periods of deferment, after which the student’s obligation to repay the loan begins. Unsubsidized
loans are available to students who do not qualify for a subsidized loan or, in some cases, in addition to a subsidized
loan. PLUS loans, including Graduate PLUS loans, are unsubsidized loans available in amounts up to the total cost of
attendance less any other financial aid.

 
Federal
Financial
Aid
Regulation
 
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, Strayer and Capella Universities must comply with specific standards and

procedures set forth in the Higher Education Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the Department of Education. As part of
those participation standards, the Department of Education determines whether, among other things, the institution meets certain
standards of administrative capability and financial responsibility. The institutions must also follow extensive Department of
Education rules regarding the awarding and processing of funds issued under Title IV programs. Some of the key provisions
regarding institutional eligibility and processing federal financial aid are described below.

 
Program
Participation
Agreement
 
Each institution participating in Title IV programs must enter into a Program Participation Agreement with the Department

of Education. Under the agreement, the institution agrees to follow the Department’s rules and regulations governing Title IV
programs. On October 11, 2017, the Department and Strayer University executed a new Program Participation Agreement,
approving Strayer University’s continued participation in Title IV programs with full certification through June 30, 2021. On
January 18, 2019, consistent with standard procedure upon a Title IV institution’s change of ownership, the Department and
Capella University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving Capella University’s continued participation in
Title IV programs with provisional certification through December 31, 2022.

 
Provisional
Certification
 
In certain circumstances, the Department of Education may certify an institution’s continuing eligibility to participate in

Title IV programs on a provisional basis for up to three complete award years (July 1 – June 30) from the date of provisional
certification. During the period of provisional certification, the institution must comply with any

28

 



Table of Contents

additional conditions included in its program participation agreement , which typically require approval by the Department of
Education for establishment of an additional location, increase in the level of academic offering, and addition of any educational
program (including degree, non-degree, or short-term training programs) before awarding or disbursing Title IV aid to students
enrolled at such a location or in such a program. If the Department of Education determines that a provisionally certified
institution is unable to meet its responsibilities under its program participation agreement, it may revoke or further condition the
institution’s certification to participate in Title IV programs with fewer due process protections for the institution than if it were
fully certified. Should the Department of Education revoke eligibility during the provisional period, the institution may request
reconsideration and the Secretary of Education’s decision whether or not revocation is warranted constitutes final agency action.
Strayer University is operating under full certification. Consistent with standard procedure following a change of control, Capella
University is operating under provisional certification.

 
Administrative
Capability
 
Department of Education regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has the requisite

administrative capability to participate in Title IV programs. To meet the administrative capability standards, an institution,
among other things, must: (1) comply with all applicable Title IV program regulations; (2) have cohort default rates below
specified levels; (3) have acceptable methods for defining and measuring the satisfactory academic progress of its learners; (4)
have various procedures in place for safeguarding federal funds; (5) not be, and not have any principal or affiliate who is,
debarred or suspended from federal contracting or engaging in activity that is cause for debarment or suspension; (6) submit in a
timely manner all reports and financial statements required by the regulations; and (7) not otherwise appear to lack administrative
capability.
 

If an institution fails to satisfy any of these criteria or any other Department of Education regulation, the Department of
Education may:

 
 Require the repayment of Title IV funds;

 
 Transfer the institution from the Department of Education’s advance system of receiving Title IV program funds to its

reimbursement system, under which an institution must disburse its own funds to learners and document the learners’
eligibility for Title IV program funds before receiving such funds from the Department of Education;
 

 Place the institution on provisional certification status; or
 

 Commence a proceeding to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate the participation of the institution in Title IV
programs.

 
Financial
Responsibility
 
The Higher Education Act and Department of Education regulations establish extensive standards of financial responsibility

that institutions such as Strayer and Capella Universities must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. These standards
generally require that an institution provide the services described in its official publications and statements, properly administer
Title IV programs in which it participates, and meet all of its financial obligations, including required refunds and any repayments
to the Department of Education for debts and liabilities incurred in programs administered by the Department of Education.

 
Department of Education standards utilize a complex formula to assess financial responsibility. The standards focus on three

financial ratios: (1) equity ratio (which measures the institution’s capital resources and ability to borrow); (2) primary reserve
ratio (which measures the institution’s financial viability and liquidity); and (3) net income ratio (which measures the institution’s
ability to operate at a profit or within its means). An institution’s financial ratios must yield a composite score of at least 1.5 for
the institution to be deemed financially responsible without alternative measures and further federal oversight. For both of the
Universities, the Department evaluates financial responsibility at the parent level, based on review of SEI’s financial statements.
We have applied the financial responsibility standards to our
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financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and based on our calculated composite score and other
relevant factors, we believe we meet the Department of Education’s financial responsibility standards.  

 
On November 1, 2016, the Department of Education released a new regulation, which was scheduled to take effect July 1,

2017, which would make significant changes to the financial responsibility criteria. Under the final regulation, an institution may
no longer be considered financially responsible if one or more of a list of “triggering events” occurs. The Department of
Education would automatically determine that an institution is not financially responsible if, among other things, the institution
receives certain warnings from the SEC, fails to file required reports in a timely manner, or has a cohort default rate of 30% or
greater for each of the two most recent official calculations. The Department of Education would also determine that an institution
is not financially responsible if certain triggering events, such as a lawsuit against the institution, an accrediting agency’s
requirement that the institution submit a teach-out plan, or potential loss of Title IV eligibility for gainful employment programs,
result in the institution’s recalculated composite score to be less than 1.0. The Department of Education could also invoke certain
“discretionary” triggering events, such as citation by a state agency or accrediting agency for failure to satisfy the agency’s
standards, to determine that an institution is not financially responsible. The Department announced a series of delays to the
implementation of the regulation until July 1, 2019, but following a judge’s decision in related litigation, the regulations went into
effect as of October 16, 2018. On July 31, 2018, the Department published a notice of proposed rulemaking that, among other
things, would amend the Department’s financial responsibility provisions in several respects. The proposed rules would identify
certain conditions or events that have or may have an adverse material effect on the institution’s financial condition, in response
to which the Department would or could require that the institution submit some form of financial protection. We cannot predict
what regulations ultimately will be adopted.

 
Student
Loan
Defaults
 
The Department of Education calculates a rate of student defaults (known as a cohort default rate) for each institution with

30 or more borrowers entering repayment in a given federal fiscal year. The Department of Education includes in the cohort all
student borrowers at the institution who entered repayment on any Direct or FFEL Program loan during that year. The cohort
default rate is the percentage of those borrowers who become subject to their repayment obligation in the relevant federal fiscal
year and default by the end of the second federal fiscal year following that fiscal year, resulting in a three-year cohort default rate.
Because of the need to collect data on defaults, the Department of Education publishes cohort default rates three years in arrears;
for example, in the fall of 2018, the Department of Education issued cohort default rates for federal fiscal year 2015.

 
The Department of Education may take adverse action against an institution if it has excessive cohort default rates, including

the following:
 
 If an institution’s cohort default rate is 30% or more in a given fiscal year, the institution will be required to assemble a

“default prevention task force” and submit to the Department of Education a default improvement plan.
 
 If an institution’s cohort default rate exceeds 30% for two consecutive years, the institution will be required to review,

revise, and resubmit its default improvement plan.
 

 If an institution’s cohort default rate exceeds 30% for two out of three consecutive years, the Department of Education
may subject the institution to provisional certification.

 
 If an institution’s cohort default rate is equal to or greater than 30% for each of the three most recent federal fiscal years

for which data are available, the institution will be ineligible to participate in the Direct Loan Program and Federal Pell
Grant Program.

 
An institution generally loses eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if its most recent cohort default rate is greater

than 40%. Institutions with a cohort default rate equal to or greater than 15% for any of the three most recent fiscal years for
which data are available are subject to a 30-day delayed disbursement period for first-year, first-time

30

 



Table of Contents

undergraduate borrowers. Although Strayer University has not had a cohort default rate at or above 15% in any of the three most
recent fiscal years, Strayer University voluntarily disburses Direct Loans in this manner.  

 
Strayer University and Capella University’s official three-year cohort default rates for 2013, 2014, and 2015, as well as the

average official three-year cohort default rates for proprietary institutions nationally, were as follows:
 

        

          National Average 

      Strayer University    Capella University    
Proprietary
Institutions  

2015   10.6%   6.5%  15.6%  
2014   13.2%   6.9%  15.5%  
2013   11.3%   6.5%  15.0%  

 
As part of the Universities’ compliance programs related to the cohort default rate, Strayer University and Capella University

provide entrance and exit counseling to their students and engage the services of third parties to counsel students once they are in
repayment status regarding their repayment obligations.

 
The
90/10
Rule
 
A requirement of the Higher Education Act, commonly referred to as the 90/10 Rule, applies only to proprietary institutions

of higher education, which includes Strayer University and Capella University. Under this rule, a proprietary institution is
prohibited from deriving more than 90% of its revenues (as revenues are computed under the Department of Education’s
methodology) from Title IV funds on a cash accounting basis (except for certain institutional loans) for any fiscal year.

 
A proprietary institution of higher education that violates the 90/10 Rule for any fiscal year will be placed on provisional

certification for up to two fiscal years. Proprietary institutions of higher education that violate the 90/10 Rule for two consecutive
fiscal years will become ineligible to participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal years and will be required to
demonstrate compliance with Title IV eligibility and certification requirements for at least two fiscal years prior to resuming Title
IV program participation. In addition, the Department of Education discloses on its website any proprietary institution of higher
education that fails to meet the 90/10 requirement, and reports annually to Congress the relevant ratios for each proprietary
institution of higher education.

 
Using the statutory formula, Strayer University derived approximately 76.0% of its cash-basis revenues from Title IV

program funds in 2017. Capella University derived approximately 75.5% of its cash-basis revenues from Title IV program funds
in 2017. Our computation for 2018 has not yet been finalized and audited; however, we believe we will remain in compliance
with the 90/10 Rule requirement.

 
The key components of non-Title IV revenue for Strayer University and Capella University are individual student payments,

employer tuition reimbursement payments, veterans’ education benefits, military tuition assistance, vocational rehabilitation
funds, private loans, state grants, and scholarships. In the past, certain members of Congress have proposed to revise the 90/10
Rule to count DOD tuition assistance and veterans’ education benefits along with Title IV revenue toward the 90% limit and to
reduce the limit to 85% of total revenue. In the context of Higher Education Act reauthorization, other members of Congress
recently have proposed legislation that would eliminate the 90/10 Rule. We cannot predict whether or how the recent changes in
Administration and Congress will affect the 90/10 Rule.
 

Restrictions
on
Incentive
Compensation
 
As a part of an institution’s program participation agreement with the Department of Education and in accordance with the

Higher Education Act and Title IV regulations, the institution may not provide any commission, bonus, or other incentive
payment based in any part, directly or indirectly, upon success in securing enrollments or financial aid to any person or entity
engaged in any student recruitment, admissions, or financial aid-awarding activity. The rule applies to all employees at an
institution who are engaged in or responsible for any student recruitment or admission activity or making decisions regarding the
award of financial aid. The Department of Education has interpreted the regulation not to apply to certain high-level employees,
including senior managers and executive level employees who are involved only
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in the development of policy and do not engage in individual student contact. Merit-based adjustments to employee compensation
may be made if they are not based in any part, directly or indirectly, upon success in securing enrollments or the award of
financial aid.

 
Failure to comply with the incentive payment rule could result in loss of certification to participate in federal student

financial aid programs, limitations on participation in the federal student financial aid programs, or financial penalties. In June
2015, the Department of Education announced in a memorandum that it would revise its approach to measuring damages for
noncompliance with the incentive payment prohibition. The Department of Education will calculate the amount of institutional
liability based on the cost to the Department of the Title IV funds improperly received by the institution, including the cost to the
Department of all Title IV funds received by the institution over a period of time if those funds were obtained through
implementation of a policy or practice in which students were recruited in violation of the incentive payment prohibition. We
believe we are in compliance with the regulation.

 
Gainful
Employment
 
Under the Higher Education Act, a proprietary institution offering programs of study other than a baccalaureate degree in

liberal arts (for which there is a limited statutory exception) must prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized
occupation. On October 31, 2014, the Department of Education published final regulations related to gainful employment. The
regulation went into effect on July 1, 2015, with the exception of new disclosure requirements, which generally went into effect
January 1, 2017, although some portions of those requirements have now been delayed until July 1, 2019. In addition, in early
2018, the Department convened a new negotiated rulemaking related to gainful employment. On August 14, 2018, the
Department published a notice of proposed rulemaking which proposed rescinding the gainful employment regulations and
updating the College Scorecard or a similar web-based tool to provide program-level outcomes for all higher education programs
at all institutions that participate in the Title IV programs. Public comments were accepted through September 13, 2018, and the
Department has indicated it is currently drafting final rules. We cannot predict what new regulations will ultimately be adopted.

 
The current regulations include two debt-to-earnings measures, consisting of an annual income rate and a discretionary

income rate. The annual income rate measures student debt in relation to earnings, and the discretionary income rate measures
student debt in relation to discretionary income. A program passes if the program’s graduates:

 
 have an annual income rate ratio that does not exceed 8%; or
 
 have a discretionary income rate that does not exceed 20%.
 
In addition, a program that does not pass either of the debt-to-earnings metrics and that has an annual income rate between

8% and 12% or a discretionary income rate between 20% and 30% is considered to be in a warning zone. A program fails if the
program’s graduates have an annual income rate of 12% or greater and a discretionary income rate of 30% or greater. A program
would become Title IV-ineligible for three years if it fails both metrics for two out of three consecutive years or fails to pass at
least one metric for four consecutive award years. The regulations provide a means by which an institution may challenge the
Department of Education’s calculation of any of the debt metrics prior to loss of Title IV eligibility.

 
If an institution is notified by the Secretary of Education that a program could become ineligible, based on its final rates, for

the next award year:
 
 the institution must provide a warning with respect to the program to students and prospective students indicating,

among other things, that students may not be able to use Title IV funds to attend or continue in the program; and
 
 the institution must not enroll, register, or enter into a financial commitment with a prospective student until a specified

time after providing the warning to the prospective student.
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On January 8, 2017, Strayer and Capella Universities received their final 2015 debt-to-earnings measures. None of their
programs failed the debt-to-earnings metrics. Two active Strayer University programs, the Associate in Arts in Accounting and
Associate in Arts in Business Administration, were “in the zone,” and one active Capella University program, the Masters of
Science in Marriage and Family Counseling/Therapy, was “in the zone.” Each of those three programs remains fully eligible
unless (1) the program has a combination of zone and failing designations for four consecutive years, in which case it would
become Title IV-ineligible in the fifth year; or (2) the program fails the metrics for two out of three consecutive years, in which
case the program could become ineligible for the following award year. The Department has not yet released 2016 debt-to-
earnings measures, and the Department has announced that because it no longer has a data-sharing agreement with the U.S. Social
Security Administration to receive earnings data, the Department is currently unable to calculate the debt-to-earnings measures
under the gainful employment regulations.  

 
The current regulation also requires institutions annually to report student- and program-level data to the Department of

Education and comply with additional disclosure requirements. Final regulations adopted by the Department of Education, which
generally became effective on July 1, 2011, require an institution to use a template designed by the Department of Education to
disclose to prospective students, with respect to each gainful employment program, occupations that the program prepares
students to enter; total cost of the program; on-time graduation rate; job placement rate, if applicable; and the median loan debt of
program completers for the most recently completed award year. The regulation that became effective July 1, 2015 expands upon
those existing disclosure requirements, and institutions were required to comply with the new template by July 1, 2017. The
Universities timely complied by posting information in the new template. On January 19, 2018, the Department of Education
released the most recent version of the disclosure template, which institutions were required to adopt on or before April 6, 2018.
On June 30, 2017, the Department of Education announced that it would allow institutions until July 1, 2018 to comply with
certain disclosure requirements in the final regulations, including requirements to include a link to the disclosure template in
promotional materials and to distribute directly a copy of the disclosure template to prospective students. On June 18, 2018, the
Department of Education further delayed these disclosure requirements until July 1, 2019.

 
In addition, the gainful employment regulation requires institutions to certify, among other things, that each eligible gainful

employment program is programmatically accredited if programmatic accreditation is required by a federal governmental entity
or a state governmental entity of a state in which it is located or in which the institution is otherwise required to obtain state
approval to offer the program in that state. Institutions also must certify that each eligible program satisfies the applicable
educational prerequisites for professional licensure or certification requirements in each state in which it is located or is otherwise
required to obtain state approval, so that a student who completes the program and seeks employment in that state qualifies to take
any licensure or certification exam that is needed for the student to practice or find employment in an occupation that the program
prepares students to enter. The Universities have timely made the required certification.

 
Under the gainful employment regulation, an institution may establish a new program’s Title IV eligibility by updating the

list of the institution’s programs maintained by the Department of Education. However, an institution may not update its list of
eligible programs to include a failing or zone program that the institution voluntarily discontinued or became ineligible, or a
gainful employment program that is substantially similar to such a program, until three years after the loss of eligibility or
discontinuance.

 
The requirements associated with the gainful employment regulations may substantially increase our administrative burdens

and could affect our program offerings, student enrollment, persistence, and retention. Further, although the regulations provide
opportunities for an institution to correct any potential deficiencies in a program prior to the loss of Title IV eligibility, the
continuing eligibility of our academic programs may be affected by factors beyond management’s control, such as changes in our
graduates’ employment and income levels, changes in student borrowing levels, increases in interest rates, and various other
factors. Even if we were able to correct any deficiency in the gainful employment metrics in a timely manner, the disclosure
requirements associated with a program’s failure to meet at least one metric may adversely affect student enrollments in that
program and may adversely affect the reputation of our institutions.
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Return
of
Federal
Funds
 
Under the Higher Education Act’s return-of-funds provision, an institution must return Title IV funds to a Title IV program

in a timely manner if a student received funds from that program, but did not earn them due to the student’s withdrawal from the
institution. In order to determine if funds should be returned, the institution must first determine the amount of Title IV program
funds that the student earned. If the student attends the institution, but withdraws during the first 60% of any period of enrollment
or payment period, the amount of Title IV program funds that the student earned is equal to a pro rata portion of the funds for
which the student would otherwise be eligible. Strayer University and Capella University are required to measure the last day of
attendance based on official attendance records, and “attendance” for online classes must include participation in an
academically-related activity.  The Universities’ systems allow for measurement on this basis. If the student withdraws after the
60% point, then the student has earned 100% of the Title IV program funds. The institution must return to the appropriate Title IV
programs, in a specified order, the lesser of the unearned Title IV program funds or the institutional charges incurred by the
student for the period multiplied by the percentage of unearned Title IV program funds. An institution must return the funds no
later than 45 days after the date that the institution determines that a student withdrew.

 
If the funds are not returned in a timely manner, an institution may be subject to adverse action, including being required to

submit a n irrevocable letter of credit equal to 25% of the refunds the institution should have made in its most recently completed
fiscal year. If late returns of Title IV program funds constitute 5% or more of students sampled in the institution’s annual
compliance audit for either of its two most recently completed fiscal years, an institution generally must submit such a letter of
credit payable to the Secretary of Education.

 
Misrepresentation
 
Under the Higher Education Act, the Department of Education may fine, suspend, or terminate an institution’s participation

in Title IV programs if it engages in substantial misrepresentation of the nature of its educational program, its financial charges,
or the employability of its graduates. The Department’s related regulations , which took effect July 1, 2011, set forth the types of
activities that constitute misrepresentation and describe the adverse actions that the Department of Education may take if it finds
that an institution or a third party that provides educational programs, marketing, advertising, recruiting, or admissions services to
the institution engaged in substantial misrepresentation. The rule specifies the types of statements that can subject the institution
to liability for misrepresentation, as well as the nature and form of misleading statements. The rule provides that an institution
may not describe the eligible institution’s participation in Title IV programs in a manner that suggests approval or endorsement of
the quality of its educational programs by the Department of Education.

 
As part of the Department’s 2016 promulgation of the Borrower Defenses to Repayment regulation, the Department changed

the definition of misrepresentation for Title IV regulations to include any statement that “has the likelihood or tendency to
mislead under the circumstances.” The newly expanded definition also includes “any statement that omits information in such a
way as to make the statement false, erroneous, or misleading.” This regulation was published on November 1, 2016 and was
scheduled to take effect on July 1, 2017. The Department announced that it would delay implementation until July 1, 2019, but
following a judge’s decision in related litigation, the regulations went into effect as of October 16, 2018. On July 31, 2018, the
Department published a notice of proposed rulemaking that, among other things, revisits the definition of misrepresentation. We
cannot predict what definition of misrepresentation ultimately will be proposed or adopted.

 
Borrower
Defenses
to
Repayment
 
Pursuant to the Higher Education Act and following negotiated rulemaking, on November 1, 2016, the Department of

Education released a final regulation specifying the acts or omissions of an institution that a borrower may assert as a defense to
repayment of a loan made under the Direct Loan Program and the consequences of such borrower defenses for borrowers,
institutions, and the Secretary of Education. Under the regulation, for Direct Loans disbursed after July 1, 2017, a student
borrower may assert a defense to repayment if: (1) the student borrower obtained a state or federal court judgment against the
institution; (2) the institution failed to perform on a contract with the student; and/or (3) the institution committed a “substantial
misrepresentation” on which the borrower reasonably relied to his or her detriment.
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These defenses are asserted through claims submitted to the Department of Education, and the Department has the authority to
issue a final decision. In addition, the regulation permits the Department to grant relief to an individual or group of individuals,
including individuals who have not applied to the Department seeking relief. If a defense is successfully raised, the Department
has discretion to initiate action to collect from an institution the amount of losses incurred based on the borrower defense. The
regulation also amends the rules concerning discharge of federal student loans when a school or campus closes and prohibits pre-
dispute arbitration agreements and class action waivers for borrower defense-type claims. On January 19, 2017, the Department
of Education issued a final rule with request for comments, updating the hearing procedures for actions to establish liability
against an institution of higher education and establishing procedures for recovery proceedings under the borrower defense
regulations. Several times between June 2017 and February 2018, the Department of Education announced delays until July 1,
2019 of implementation of certain portions of the final regulations published in November 2016, including those portions of the
regulations that establish a new federal standard and a process for determining whether a Direct Loan borrower has a defense to
repayment of a Direct Loan based on an act or omission of an institution. However, in October 2018, a judge denied a request to
delay implementation of portions of the regulations, and as a result the regulations went into effect as of October 16, 2018 and
will remain in effect until such time as any new regulations developed under the current rulemaking process, described below, are
effective. We are unable to predict the manner and effect of full implementation of the final regulations published in November
2016, including because their scope is broad and the Department has said it will issue guidance about its plans to implement the
regulations while further rulemaking remains in progress. 

 
On June 16, 2017, the Department of Education announced its intent to convene a negotiated rulemaking committee to

develop proposed regulations related to borrower defense and to address certain other related matters. The negotiated rulemaking
committee held meetings in November 2017, January 2018, and February 2018.
 

On July 31, 2018, the Department published a notice of proposed rulemaking that, among other things, would establish a
new federal standard for evaluating, and a process for adjudicating, borrower defenses to repayment of loans made under the
Direct Loan Program on or after July 1, 2019. Under the proposed standard, an individual borrower could assert a defense to
repayment based on the institution’s statement, act, or omission that is false, misleading, or deceptive. To be eligible for relief, the
borrower would be required to demonstrate that the misrepresentation (1) was made with knowledge of its false, misleading, or
deceptive nature or with a reckless disregard for the truth, (2) was relied upon by the borrower in making an enrollment decision,
and (3) caused the student financial harm. The Department would have discretion to determine the appropriate amount of relief.
The proposed regulations would make changes to the Department’s eligibility requirements for granting loan discharges to
students who had enrolled at institutions or locations that subsequently close. The proposed regulations also would require that
institutions that require students to enter into pre-dispute arbitration agreements or class action waivers as a condition of
enrollment disclose those requirements in an easily accessible format.

 
In addition, the proposed regulations would amend the Department’s financial responsibility provisions in several respects.

The proposed rules would identify certain conditions or events that have or may have an adverse material effect on the
institution’s financial condition, in response to which the Department would or could require that the institution submit some
form of financial protection for the Department. The proposed rules would also update the Department’s composite score
calculations to reflect recent changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) accounting standards and provide a
phase-in process to enable the Department to update its composite score regulations through additional negotiated rulemaking.
The Department accepted public comments on the notice of proposed rulemaking through August 30, 2018. Capella University
and Strayer University provided public comments on August 30. The Department did not publish the final rule by November 1,
2018, the date by which the Department’s master calendar rule dictates a final regulation must be published to take effect the
following July. The Department has indicated it plans to reissue a notice of proposed rulemaking for public comment in 2019. We
cannot predict what new regulations will be proposed or ultimately will be adopted.

 
Third-Party
Servicers
 
Department of Education regulations permit an institution to enter into a written contract with a third-party servicer for the

administration of any aspect of the institution’s participation in Title IV programs. The third-party servicer must, among other
obligations, comply with Title IV requirements and be jointly and severally liable with the institution to the

35

 



Table of Contents

Secretary of Education for any violation by the servicer of any Title IV provision. An institution must report to the Department of
Education new contracts or any significant modifications to contracts with third-party servicers as well as other matters related to
third-party servicers. Strayer University and Capella University have written contracts with third-party servicers to perform
activities related to Strayer University’s and Capella University’s participation in Title IV programs. Strayer University also has a
contract with Heartland Payment Systems, Inc. for processing stipends due to students. For loan default prevention, Strayer
University contracts with i3 Group, LLC and Capella University contracts with ECMC. Strayer University and Capella University
believe that their third-party servicer contracts comply with the regulations, and they have reported such contracts to the
Department of Education.

 
Lender
Relationships
 
As part of an institution’s program participation agreement with the Department of Education, the institution must adopt a

code of conduct pertaining to student loans. Strayer University and Capella University have a code of conduct that we believe
complies with the provisions of the Higher Education Act in all material respects. In addition to the code of conduct requirements
that apply to institutions, the Higher Education Act contains provisions that apply to lenders, prohibiting lenders from engaging in
certain activities as they interact with institutions.

 
Restrictions
on
Adding
Locations
and
Educational
Programs
 
State requirements and accrediting agency standards can limit or slow the ability of the Universities to establish legally

authorized additional locations and programs. Most states require approval before institutions can add new programs, campuses,
or teaching locations. Middle States requires its accredited institutions to notify it in advance of implementing new programs or
locations, which may require additional approval. At its discretion, Middle States may also conduct site visits to additional
locations to evaluate whether accredited institutions that experience rapid growth in the number of additional locations, among
other reasons, maintain educational quality. All new Strayer University campus locations require Middle States approval before
students are enrolled, and the Higher Education Act requires Middle States to monitor institutions with significant enrollment
growth. The Higher Learning Commission, the Minnesota Office of Higher Education, and other state educational regulatory
agencies that license or authorize Capella University and its degree programs require institutions to notify them in advance of
implementing new programs and, upon notification, may undertake a review of the institution’s licensure, authorization or
accreditation.

 
The Higher Education Act requires proprietary institutions of higher education to be in full operation for two years before

qualifying to participate in Title IV programs. However, the applicable regulations in many circumstances permit an institution
that is already qualified to participate in Title IV programs to establish additional locations that are exempt from the two-year
rule. These additional locations generally may qualify immediately for participation in Title IV programs, unless the location was
acquired from another institution that has ceased offering educational programs at that location and has Title IV liabilities that it is
not repaying in accordance with an agreement to do so, and the acquiring institution does not agree, among other matters, to be
responsible for certain liabilities of the acquired institution. The new location must satisfy all other applicable requirements for
institutional eligibility, including approval of the additional location by the relevant state authorizing agency and the institution’s
accrediting agency. Any Strayer University or Capella University expansion plans assume its continued ability to establish new
campuses as additional locations under such applicable regulations and thereby avoid incurring the two-year delay in participation
in Title IV programs. The loss of state authorization or accreditation of a university or an existing campus, or the failure of a
university or a new campus to obtain state authorization or accreditation, would render the university ineligible to participate in
Title IV programs, at least in that state or at that location. Department of Education regulations require institutions to report to the
Department of Education a new additional location at which at least 50% of an eligible program will be offered, if the institution
wants to disburse Title IV program funds to students enrolled at that location. Under its Program Participation Agreement with
the Department of Education, Strayer University must notify the Department of Education of the addition of any such location
within ten days of opening, but need not seek prior approval. Under Capella University’s provisional certification, the Department
of Education must approve any new campus locations, level of academic offerings, and non-degree and degree programs before
Capella University may award or disburse Title IV aid to students enrolled at any such location or in any such program.
Institutions are responsible for knowing whether they need approval, and institutions that add locations and disburse Title IV
program funds without having obtained any necessary approval may be subject to administrative repayments and other sanctions.

36

 



Table of Contents

 
The gainful employment regulation that became effective July 1, 2015, provides that an institution may establish a new

program’s Title IV eligibility by updating the list of the institution’s programs maintained by the Department of Education and
thereby making the certification required by the regulation, as described above under “Gainful Employment.” However, an
institution may not update its list of eligible programs to include a failing or zone program that the institution voluntarily
discontinued or became ineligible, or a gainful employment program that is substantially similar to such a program, until three
years after the loss of eligibility or discontinuance.
 

Credit
Hours
 
The Higher Education Act and regulations use the term “credit hour” to define an eligible program and an academic year and

to determine enrollment status and the amount of Title IV program funds an institution may disburse during a payment period.
The regulations define the term “credit hour” and require accrediting agencies to review the reliability and accuracy of an
institution’s credit hour assignments. If an accreditor does not comply with this requirement, its recognition by the Department of
Education could be jeopardized. If an accreditor identifies systematic or significant noncompliance in one or more of an
institution’s programs, the accreditor must notify the Secretary of Education. If the Department of Education determines that an
institution is out of compliance with the credit hour definition, the Department of Education could impose liabilities or other
sanctions. We believe that both Strayer University and Capella University are in compliance with the credit hour rules. 

 
Other
Regulations
Governing
Title
IV
Programs
 
The Department of Education has enacted a comprehensive set of regulations governing an institution’s participation in Title

IV programs. If either Strayer University or Capella University were not to continue to comply with these regulations, such
noncompliance might affect the operations of the University and its ability to participate in Title IV programs.
 

The
Clery
Act
and
Title
IX
 
Strayer and Capella Universities must comply with the campus safety and security reporting requirements as well as other

requirements in the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (the “Clery Act”). In
addition, the Department has interpreted Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (“Title IX”) to categorize sexual
violence as a form of prohibited sex discrimination and to require institutions to follow certain disciplinary procedures with
respect to such offenses. Failure by the Universities to comply with the Clery Act or Title IX requirements or regulations
thereunder could result in action by the Department fining the Universities, or limiting or suspending their participation in Title
IV programs, could lead to litigation, and could harm the Universities’ reputations. We believe that the Universities are in
compliance with these requirements. On November 29, 2018, the Department of Education published proposed rules related to
implementation of Title IX, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in education programs that receive funding from
the federal government. The proposed rules would define what constitutes sexual harassment for purposes of Title IX in the
administrative enforcement context, would describe what actions trigger an institution’s obligation to respond to incidents of
alleged sexual harassment, and would specify how an institution must respond to allegations of sexual harassment. The
Department of Education accepted public comments through January 30, 2019. We cannot predict what final regulations will be
adopted as a result of this rulemaking process.

 
Compliance
Reviews
 
Strayer University and Capella University are subject to announced and unannounced compliance reviews and audits by

various external agencies, including the Department of Education, its Office of Inspector General, state licensing agencies,
guaranty agencies, and accrediting agencies. The Higher Education Act and Department of Education regulations also require an
institution to submit annually to the Secretary of Education a compliance audit of its administration of Title IV programs
conducted by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards
and applicable audit guides of the Department of Education’s Office of Inspector General (“ED OIG”). For fiscal years beginning
after June 30, 2016, the Universities must submit
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such audits that have been conducted in accordance with a revised guide for audits of proprietary schools that was issued by the
ED OIG in September 2016. In addition, to enable the Secretary of Education to make a determination of financial responsibility,
an institution must submit annually to the Secretary of Education audited financial statements prepared in accordance with
Department of Education regulations.  For both Universities, financial responsibility is determined at the SEI parent level. 

 
In 2014, the Department of Education conducted four campus-based program reviews of Strayer University locations in three

states and the District of Columbia. The reviews covered federal financial aid years 2012-2013 and 2013-2014, and two of the
reviews also covered compliance with the Clery Act, the Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act, and regulations related
thereto. For three of the program reviews, we received correspondence from the Department closing the program reviews with no
further action required by us. For the other program review, the University received a Final Program Review Determination Letter
closing the review and identifying a payment of less than $500 due to the Department of Education based on an underpayment on
a return to Title IV calculation. Strayer University remitted payment and received a letter from the Department indicating that no
further action was required and that the matter was closed.  

 
Capella University has not had a program review in the last several years.
 
Potential
Effect
of
Regulatory
Violations
 
If either Strayer University or Capella University fails to comply with the regulatory standards governing Title IV programs,

the Department of Education could impose one or more sanctions, including transferring the University from the advance
payment method to the reimbursement or cash monitoring system of payment, seeking to require repayment of certain Title IV
funds, requiring the University to post a letter of credit in favor of the Department of Education as a condition for continued Title
IV certification, taking emergency action against the University, or referring the matter for criminal prosecution or initiating
proceedings to impose a fine or to limit, condition, suspend, or terminate the University’s participation in Title IV programs.
Although there are no such sanctions currently in force, if such sanctions or proceedings were imposed against Strayer University
or Capella University and resulted in a substantial curtailment, or termination, of that University’s participation in Title IV
programs or resulted in substantial fines or monetary liabilities, the University and the Company could be materially and
adversely affected.

 
If Strayer University or Capella University lost its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, or if Congress reduced the

amount of available federal student financial aid, the University would seek to arrange or provide alternative sources of revenue
or financial aid for students. Although the Universities believe that one or more private organizations would be willing to provide
financial assistance to students attending the Universities, there is no assurance that this would be the case, and the interest rate
and other terms of such student financial aid are unlikely to be as favorable as those for Title IV program funds. The Universities
may be required to guarantee all or part of such alternative assistance in a manner that complies with rules governing schools’
relationships with lenders or might incur other additional costs in connection with securing alternative sources of financial aid.
Accordingly, the loss of eligibility of Strayer University or Capella University to participate in Title IV programs, or a reduction
in the amount of available federal student financial aid, would be expected to have a material adverse effect on Strayer University
or Capella University, even if it could arrange or provide alternative sources of revenue or student financial aid.

 
In addition to the actions that may be brought against us as a result of our participation in Title IV programs, we also may be

subject, from time to time, to complaints and lawsuits relating to regulatory compliance brought not only by our regulatory
agencies, but also by other government agencies and third parties.

 
Acquisitions
of
Other
Institutions
 
 
When a company, partnership or any other entity or individual acquires an institution that is eligible to participate in Title IV

programs, that institution undergoes a change of ownership resulting in a change of control as defined by the Department of
Education. Upon such a change of control, an institution's eligibility to participate in Title IV programs is generally suspended
until it has applied for recertification by the Department of Education as an eligible institution under its new ownership, which
requires that the institution also re-establish its state authorization and accreditation. The
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Department of Education may temporarily and provisionally certify an institution seeking approval of a change of ownership
under certain circumstances while the Department of Education reviews the institution’s application. The time required for the
Department of Education to act on such an application may vary substantially. The Department of Education’s recertification of
an institution following a change of control will be on a provisional basis.

 
Change
in
Ownership
Resulting
in
a
Change
of
Control
 
Many states and accrediting agencies require institutions of higher education to report or obtain approval of certain changes

in ownership or other aspects of institutional status, but the types of and triggers for such reporting or approval vary among states
and accrediting agencies. Both Strayer University’s accrediting agency, Middle States, and Capella University’s accrediting
agency, the Higher Learning Commission, require institutions that they accredit to inform them in advance of any substantive
change, including a change that significantly alters the ownership or control of the institution. Examples of substantive changes
requiring advance notice to, and approval by, the agency include changes in the legal status, ownership, or form of control of the
institution, such as the sale of a proprietary institution. Both agencies must approve a substantive change in advance in order to
include the change in the institution’s accreditation status. Additionally, both Middle States and the Higher Learning Commission
will undertake a site visit to an institution that has undergone a change in ownership or control no later than six months after the
change.

 
Federal agencies also regulate changes in ownership and control. The Higher Education Act provides that an institution that

undergoes a change in ownership resulting in a change of control loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs and must
apply to the Department of Education in order to reestablish such eligibility. An institution is ineligible to receive Title IV
program funds during the period from the change of ownership and control until recertification. The Higher Education Act
provides that the Department of Education may temporarily, provisionally certify an institution seeking approval of a change of
ownership and control based on preliminary review by the Department of Education of a materially complete application received
by the Department of Education within ten business days after the transaction. The Department of Education may continue such
temporary, provisional certification on a month-to-month basis until it has rendered a final decision on the institution’s
application. If the Department of Education approves the application after a change in ownership and control, it issues a
provisional certification, which extends for a period expiring not later than the end of the third complete award year following the
date of provisional certification. The Higher Education Act defines one of the events that would trigger a change in ownership
resulting in a change of control as the transfer of the controlling interest of the stock of the institution or its parent corporation.
For a publicly traded corporation such as Strategic Education, Inc., the Department of Education regulations define a change of
control as occurring when a person or entity acquires ownership and control of a corporation, such that the corporation is required
to file a Form 8-K with the SEC publicly disclosing the change of control. The regulations also provide that a change in
ownership and control of a publicly traded corporation occurs if a person or entity who is a controlling stockholder of the
corporation ceases to be a controlling stockholder. A controlling stockholder is a stockholder who holds, or controls through
agreement, at least 25% of the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation and more shares of voting stock than any other
stockholder.

 
The U.S. Department of Homeland Security, working with the U.S. Department of State, has implemented a mandatory

electronic reporting system for schools that enroll foreign students and exchange visitors. Strayer University currently is
authorized by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security to admit foreign students for study in the United States subject to
applicable requirements. In certain circumstances, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security may require an institution to obtain
approval for a change in ownership and control.

 
Pursuant to federal law providing benefits for veterans and reservists, some of the programs offered by Strayer University

and Capella University are approved by state approving agencies for the enrollment of persons eligible to receive U.S.
Department of Veterans Affairs educational benefits. In 2018, Strayer University had such approval in Alabama, Arkansas,
Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Mississippi, New Jersey, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee,
Texas, Virginia, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and Washington, D.C. In 2018, Capella University had such approval in Minnesota,
and because all of its programs are online only, this allows it to extend VA education benefits to students in all states and abroad.
In certain circumstances, state approving agencies may require an institution to obtain approval for a change in ownership and
control.
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If Strayer University or Capella University underwent a change of control that required approval by any state authority,
accrediting agency, or any federal agency, and such approval were significantly delayed, limited, or denied, there could be a
material adverse effect on the University’s ability to offer certain educational programs, award certain degrees, diplomas, or
certificates, operate one or more of its locations, admit certain students, or participate in Title IV programs, which in turn, could
materially and adversely affect the University’s operations. A change that required approval by a state regulatory authority, an
accrediting agency, or a federal agency could also delay the University’s ability to establish new campuses or educational
programs and may have other adverse regulatory effects. Furthermore, the suspension from Title IV programs and the necessity of
obtaining regulatory approvals in connection with a change of control could materially limit the University’s flexibility in future
financing or acquisition transactions.

 
Legislative
and
Regulatory
Activity
 
Congress, from time to time, considers legislation that would make changes in the Higher Education Act and other

education-related federal laws. The Department of Education and other federal agencies similarly consider new regulations and
regulatory amendments. State legislatures and agencies and accreditors likewise periodically change their laws, regulations, and
standards. Such activity may adversely affect enrollment in for-profit educational institutions. Although legislative and regulatory
activity in recent years has had a negative impact on the for-profit post-secondary education industry as a whole, we cannot
predict the impact of recent, pending, or possible future legislative or regulatory changes, if any, on our long-term business
model.

 
Congress
 
Congress historically has reauthorized the Higher Education Act approximately every five to six years. In 2008, Congress

reauthorized the HEA through the end of 2013. Congress has held hearings regarding the reauthorization of the HEA and
continued to consider new legislation regarding the passage thereof. It is currently unclear when Congress will reauthorize the
Higher Education Act. The most recent reauthorized Higher Education Act continued all of the Title IV programs in which we
participate, but made many revisions to the requirements governing the Title IV programs, including provisions relating to the
relationships between institutions and lenders that make student loans, student loan default rates, and the formula for revenue that
institutions are permitted to derive from the Title IV programs. In addition, further rulemaking by the Department of Education
may impose additional requirements on institutions that participate in Title IV programs. Committee leadership of both the U.S.
House of Representatives and Senate began reauthorization hearings in the latter half of 2013, and the current Congress has
continued to discuss reauthorization of the HEA. Existing programs and participation requirements are subject to change in this
process. Additionally, funding for the student financial assistance programs may be affected during appropriations and budget
actions.

 
Appropriations
 
Congress reviews and determines appropriations for Title IV programs on an annual basis. Congress has appropriated funds

for the Department of Education through September 30, 2019. From December 22, 2018 to January 25, 2019, Congress and the
President reached an impasse over funding for certain other government agencies for federal fiscal year 2019. The so-called
“partial government shutdown” affected the Department of Education and Title IV programs to the extent that the Department of
Education or students rely on information from affected federal agencies, such as the Internal Revenue Service. The Department
of Education has issued guidance to endeavor to reduce adverse consequences for students. A future government shutdown,
particularly one that includes the Department of Education or appropriations for Title IV programs, could have a material adverse
effect on our operations and financial condition.

 
An elimination of certain Title IV programs, a reduction in federal funding levels of such programs, material changes in the

requirements for participation in such programs, or the substitution of materially different programs could reduce the ability of
certain students to finance their education. Such reductions, in turn, could lead to lower enrollments at Strayer University or
Capella University or require us to increase our reliance upon alternative sources of student financial aid. Given the significant
percentage of our revenues that are derived indirectly from Title IV programs, the loss of, or a significant reduction in, Title IV
program funds available to our students could have a material adverse effect on Strayer University , Capella University, and the
Company.
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Beginning July 1, 2017, in accordance with the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2017, institutions that participate in the
Title IV programs may award Pell Grant funds for up to 150% of a student’s standard scheduled Pell Grant in one award year.
This provision, which commonly is referred to as “year-round Pell,” is intended to allow students to graduate more quickly and
with less debt. To be eligible for the additional Pell Grant funds, a student must be otherwise eligible to receive Pell Grant funds
and must be enrolled at least half-time in the payment period for which the student receives additional Pell Grant funds in excess
of 100% of the student’s standard scheduled award.

 
Consumer
Financial
Protection
Bureau
 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) has pursued enforcement actions against certain proprietary

institutions of higher education and has released several reports that directly address issues related to institutions of higher
education. In October 2017, the CFPB Student Loan Ombudsman released its annual report analyzing more than 7,700 complaints
the CFPB received from private student loan borrowers between September 1, 2016 and August 31, 2017 and more than 2,300
federal student loan financing complaints the CFPB received from federal student loan borrowers. We do not know what steps the
CFPB or Congress may take in response to these actions and whether such actions, if any, will have an adverse effect on our
business or results of operations.

 
U.S.
Department
of
Education
 
Title IV regulations applicable to the Universities have been subject to frequent revisions, many of which have increased the

level of scrutiny to which higher education institutions are subjected and have raised applicable standards. In addition to those
regulations discussed above, on October 30, 2015, the Department of Education published final regulations creating a new
income-contingent repayment plan and implementing changes to streamline and enhance existing processes for borrowers. The
regulations were effective July 1, 2016.

 
Current
Federal
Rulemaking

 
On July 31, 2018, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare

proposed regulations for the Title IV programs. As described in the July 31 announcement and further detailed in a subsequent
announcement on October 15, the Department indicated the proposed topics for negotiation include:

 
    

   Requirements for accrediting agencies in their oversight of member institutions and programs.
 

 


 
Criteria used by the Secretary to recognize accrediting agencies, emphasizing criteria that focus on educational
quality and deemphasizing those that are anti-competitive.
 

   Simplification of the Department’s recognition and review of accrediting agencies.
 

 


 
Clarification  of  the  core  oversight  responsibilities  of  each  entity  in  the  regulatory  triad,  including  accrediting
agencies, states, and the Department, to hold institutions accountable.
 

 


 
Clarification  of  the  permissible  arrangements  between  an  institution  of  higher  education  and  another
organization to provide a portion of an education program (34 CFR 668.5).
 

 


 
The roles and responsibilities of institutions and accrediting agencies in the teach-out process (34 CFR 600.32(d)
and 602.24).
 

   Elimination of regulations related to programs that have not been funded in many years.
 

   Needed technical changes and corrections to program regulations that have been identified by the Department.
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Regulatory changes required to ensure equitable treatment of brick-and-mortar and distance education programs;
enable  expansion  of  direct  assessment  programs,  distance  education,  and  competency-based  education;  and
clarify disclosure and other requirements of state authorization.
 

 


 
Protections to require that  accreditors  recognize and respect  institutional  mission,  and evaluate an institution’s
policies and educational programs based on that mission; and to remove barriers to the eligibility of faith-based
entities to participate in the Title IV programs.
 

   Teacher  Education Assistance for  College and Higher  Education (“TEACH”) Grant  requirements  and ways to
reduce and correct the inadvertent conversion of grants to loans. 

 
The Department also announced its intention to convene three subcommittees: one addressing proposed regulations related

to distance learning and educational innovation, one addressing TEACH Grant conversions, and one to make recommendations to
the committee regarding revisions to the regulations regarding the eligibility of faith-based entities to participate in the Title IV
programs. The distance learning and educational innovation subcommittee will address, among other topics, simplification of
state authorization requirements, the definition of “regular and substantive interaction,” the definition of the term “credit hour,”
direct assessment programs and competency-based education, and barriers to innovation in post-secondary education.

 
In connection with this negotiated rulemaking process, the Department convened three public hearings and accepted written

comments through September 14, 2018. Negotiations began in January 2019 and are anticipated to run through April 2019. The
Department intends to publish rules to be effective July 2020.

 
On November 29, 2018, the Department of Education published proposed rules related to implementation of Title IX, which

would define what constitutes sexual harassment for purposes of Title IX in the administrative enforcement context, would
describe what actions trigger an institution’s obligation to respond to incidents of alleged sexual harassment, and would specify
how an institution must respond to allegations of sexual harassment. The Department of Education accepted public comments
through January 30, 2019. We cannot predict what final regulations will be adopted as a result of this rulemaking process.

 
College
Affordability
and
Transparency
Lists
 
The Department of Education publishes on its website lists of the top 5% of institutions, in each of nine categories, with (1)

the highest tuition and fees for the most recent academic year, (2) the highest “net price” for the most recent academic year, (3)
the largest percentage increase in tuition and fees for the most recent three academic years, and (4) the largest percentage increase
in net price for the most recent three academic years. An institution that is placed on a list for high percentage increases in either
tuition and fees or in net price must submit a report to the Department of Education explaining the increases and the steps that it
intends to take to reduce costs. The Department of Education will report annually to Congress on these institutions and will
publish their reports on its website. The Department of Education also posts lists of the top 10% of institutions in each of the nine
categories with lowest tuition and fees or the lowest net price for the most recent academic year. Under the Higher Education Act,
net price means average yearly price actually charged to first-time, full-time undergraduate students who receive student aid at a
higher education institution after such aid is deducted.

 
College
Scorecard
 
In September 2015, the Department of Education publicly released its “College Scorecard” website. Among other

characteristics, the College Scorecard allows users to search for schools based upon programs offered, location, size, tax status,
mission, and religious affiliation. In October 2017, the Department of Education announced that its Integrated Post-secondary
Education Data System, or IPEDS, would publish for the first time completion data for part-time and non-first-time students,
which will provide additional information about institutions’ performance. The Department of Education updates the data
available on the College Scorecard on a periodic basis.
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Executive
Order
on
Military
and
Veterans
Benefits
Programs
 
In April 2012, President Obama issued an Executive Order directing the Departments of Defense and Veterans Affairs, along

with other Executive Branch agencies, to implement actions to establish “Principles of Excellence” to apply to educational
institutions receiving funding from federal military and veterans educational benefits programs, including benefits programs
provided by the Post-9/11 GI Bill and the military tuition assistance program. The Principles of Excellence relate broadly to
information regarding tuition and fees, academic quality, marketing, and state authorization requirements. The Principles of
Excellence require federal agencies to create a centralized complaint system for students receiving federal military and veterans
educational benefits to register complaints that relevant agencies can track and address. On January 30, 2014, the Department of
Defense, Department of Veterans Affairs, Department of Education, and Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), in collaboration
with the CFPB and the U.S. Department of Justice, announced a new online student complaint system for service members,
veterans, and their families to report negative experiences at education institutions and training programs administering the Post-
9/11 GI Bill, Department of Defense tuition assistance programs, and other military-related education benefit programs.

 
Additional Information
 

We maintain a website at www.strategiceducation.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our web address is included as an inactive textual reference only. We make available on
our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after
we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

 
The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding

issuers that file electronically with the SEC; the website address is www.sec.gov.
 

Item 1A.     Risk Factor s
 

Investing
in
our
common
stock
involves
a
high
degree
of
risk.
You
should
carefully
consider
the
following
risk
factors
and
all
other
information
contained
in
this
Annual
Report
on
Form
10-K
or
in
the
documents
incorporated
by
reference
herein
before
making
an
investment
decision.
The
occurrence
of
any
of
the
following
risks
could
materially
harm
our
business,
adversely
affect
the
market
price
of
our
common
stock
and
could
cause
you
to
suffer
a
partial
or
complete
loss
of
your
investment.
Additional
risks
not
presently
known
to
us
or
that
we
currently
deem
immaterial
may
also
materially
harm
our
business
and
operations.
See
“Cautionary
Notice
Regarding
Forward-Looking
Statements.”

 
Risks Related to Extensive Regulation of Our Business
 

If
the
Universities
fail
to
comply
with
the
extensive
legal
and
regulatory
requirements
for
higher
education
institutions,
they
could
face
significant
monetary
or
other
liabilities
and
penalties,
including
loss
of
access
to
federal
student
loans
and
grants
for
their
students.
 
As providers of higher education, the Universities are subject to extensive laws and regulation on both the federal and state

levels and by accrediting agencies. In particular, the Higher Education Act and related regulations subject Strayer University ,
Capella University, and all other higher education institutions that participate in the various Title IV programs to significant
regulatory scrutiny.

 
The Higher Education Act mandates specific regulatory responsibilities for each of the following components of the higher

education regulatory triad: (1) the federal government through the Department of Education; (2) the accrediting agencies
recognized by the Secretary of Education; and (3) state education regulatory bodies.

 
In addition, other federal agencies such as the CFPB, Federal Trade Commission, and Federal Communications Commission

and various state agencies and state attorneys general enforce consumer protection, calling and texting, marketing, privacy and
data security, and other laws applicable to post-secondary educational institutions. Findings of
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noncompliance could result in monetary damages, fines, penalties, injunctions, or restrictions or obligations that could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Some of these laws also include private rights of action.

 
The laws, regulations, standards, and policies applicable to our business frequently change, and changes in, or new

interpretations of, applicable laws, regulations, standards, or policies could have a material adverse effect on our accreditation,
authorization to operate in various states, permissible activities, ability to communicate with prospective students, receipt of funds
under Title IV programs, or costs of doing business.

 
Title IV requirements are enforced by the Department of Education and, in some instances, by private plaintiffs. If the

Universities are found not to be in compliance with these laws, regulations, standards, or policies, they could lose access to Title
IV program funds, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

 
The
Universities’
failure
to
comply
with
the
Department
of
Education’s
gainful
employment
regulations
could
result
in
heightened
disclosure
requirements
and
loss
of
Title
IV
eligibility
for
noncompliant
programs.
 
To be eligible for Title IV funding, academic programs offered by proprietary institutions of higher education must prepare

students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. On October 31, 2014, the Department of Education published the
final regulations on gainful employment, which, with the exception of certain disclosure requirements, generally became effective
July 1, 2015. The regulations include two debt-to-earnings measures, consisting of an annual income rate and a discretionary
income rate. The annual income rate measures student debt in relation to earnings, and the discretionary income rate measures
student debt in relation to discretionary income. A program passes if the program’s graduates:

 
 Have an annual income rate that does not exceed 8%; or
 
 Have a discretionary income rate that does not exceed 20%.
 
A program that does not pass either of the debt-to-earnings metrics, and that has an annual income rate between 8% and 12%

or a discretionary income rate between 20% and 30% is considered to be in a warning zone. A program fails if the program’s
graduates have an annual income rate of 12% or greater and a discretionary income rate of 30% or greater. A program would
become Title IV-ineligible for three years if it failed both metrics for two out of three consecutive years or fails to pass at least
one metric for four consecutive award years. The regulations provide a means by which an institution may challenge the
Department of Education’s calculation of any of the debt metrics prior to loss of its Title IV eligibility.

 
The requirements associated with the gainful employment regulations may substantially increase our administrative burdens

and could affect our program offerings, student enrollment, persistence, and retention. Further, although the regulations provide
opportunities for an institution to correct any potential deficiencies in a program prior to the loss of Title IV eligibility, the
continuing eligibility of our academic programs will be affected by factors beyond management’s control, such as changes in our
graduates’ employment and income levels, changes in student borrowing levels, increases in interest rates, and various other
factors. Even if we were able to correct any deficiency in the gainful employment metrics in a timely manner, the disclosure
requirements associated with a program’s failure to meet at least one metric may adversely affect student enrollments in that
program and the reputation of our institution.

 
On June 16, 2017, the Department of Education announced that it would convene a negotiated rulemaking committee to

develop proposed regulations to revise the gainful employment regulations. The negotiated rulemaking committee convened in
December 2017 and early 2018. On August 14, 2018, the Department published a notice of proposed rulemaking, which proposed
rescinding the gainful employment regulations and updating the College Scorecard or a similar web-based tool to provide
program-level outcomes for all higher education programs at all institutions that participate in the Title IV programs. Public
comments were accepted through September 13, 2018, and the Department has indicated it is currently drafting final rules. We
cannot predict what regulations will be ultimately adopted.
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Congressional
examination
of
for-profit
post-secondary
education
could
lead
to
legislation
or
other
governmental
action
that
may
negatively
affect
the
industry.
 
Since 2010, Congress has increased its focus on for-profit higher education institutions, including regarding participation in

Title IV programs and oversight by the Department of Defense of tuition assistance and by the Department of Veterans Affairs
(“VA”) of veterans education benefits for military service members and veterans, respectively, attending for-profit colleges. The
Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor and Pensions and other congressional committees have held hearings into, among
other things, the proprietary education sector and its participation in Title IV programs, the standards and procedures of
accrediting agencies, credit hours and program length, the portion of federal student financial aid going to proprietary institutions,
and the receipt of military tuition assistance and veterans education benefits by students enrolled at proprietary institutions.
Strayer University and Capella University have cooperated with these inquiries. A number of legislators have variously requested
the Government Accountability Office to review and make recommendations regarding, among other things, recruitment
practices, educational quality, student outcomes, the sufficiency of integrity safeguards against waste, fraud, and abuse in Title IV
programs, and the percentage of proprietary institutions’ revenue coming from Title IV and other federal funding sources.

 
This activity may result in legislation, further rulemaking affecting participation in Title IV programs, and other

governmental actions. In addition, concerns generated by congressional activity may adversely affect enrollment in, and revenues
of, for-profit educational institutions. Limitations on the amount of federal student financial aid for which our students are eligible
under Title IV could materially and adversely affect our business.

 
We
are
dependent
on
the
renewal
and
maintenance
of
Title
IV
programs.
 
The Higher Education Act is subject to periodic reauthorization. Congress completed the most recent reauthorization through

multiple pieces of legislation and may reauthorize the HEA in a piecemeal manner in the future. Additionally, Congress
determines the funding level for each Title IV program on an annual basis. Any action by Congress that significantly reduces
funding for Title IV programs or the ability of the Universities or their or students to participate in these programs could
materially harm our business. A reduction in government funding levels could lead to lower enrollments at our school and require
us to arrange for alternative sources of financial aid for our students. Lower student enrollments or our inability to arrange such
alternative sources of funding could adversely affect our business.

 
In addition, the Universities’ ability to conduct their business, including obtaining necessary approvals from the Department

of Education, may be affected by staffing levels at the Department and the volume of applications and other requests to the
Department. If the Department lacks adequate personnel or the Department’s workload exceeds its capacity, action by the
Department on requests by the Universities could be significantly delayed, and such delays could have a material adverse effect
on the Universities and our business.

 
The
Universities
are
subject
to
compliance
reviews,
which,
if
they
resulted
in
a
material
finding
of
noncompliance,
could
affect
their
ability
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs.
 
Because the Universities operate in a highly regulated industry, they are subject to compliance reviews and claims of

noncompliance and related lawsuits by government agencies, accrediting agencies, and third parties, including claims brought by
third parties on behalf of the federal government. For example, the Department of Education regularly conducts program reviews
of educational institutions that are participating in Title IV programs, and the Office of Inspector General of the Department of
Education regularly conducts audits and investigations of such institutions. The Department of Education could limit, suspend, or
terminate our participation in Title IV programs or impose other penalties such as requiring the Universities to make refunds, pay
liabilities, or pay an administrative fine upon a material finding of noncompliance.

 
In 2014, the Department of Education conducted four campus-based program reviews of Strayer University locations in three

states and the District of Columbia. The reviews covered federal financial aid years 2012-2013 and 2013-2014, and two of the
reviews also covered compliance with the Clery Act, the Drug-Free Schools and
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Communities Act, and regulations related thereto. For three of the program reviews, we received correspondence from the
Department of Education closing the program reviews with no further action required by us. For the other program review, the
University received a Final Program Review Determination Letter closing the review and identifying a payment of less than $500
due to the Department of Education based on an underpayment on a return to Title IV calculation. The University remitted
payment, and received a letter from the Department on May 26, 2015, indicating that no further action was required and that the
matter was closed. Future compliance reviews may not yield similar results and may have a materially negative affect on the
Company. Capella University has not undergone a program review in several years. 

 
On October 11, 2017, the Department and Strayer University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving

Strayer University’s continued participation in Title IV programs with full certification through June 30, 2021.  On January 18,
2019, consistent with standard procedure upon a Title IV institution’s change of ownership, the Department and Capella
University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving Capella University’s continued participation in Title IV
programs with provisional certification through December 31, 2022.

 
If
either
of
the
Universities
fails
to
maintain
its
institutional
accreditation
or
if
its
institutional
accrediting
body
loses
recognition
by
the
Department
of
Education,
the
University
would
lose
its
ability
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs.
 
The loss of Strayer University’s accreditation by Middle States or Middle States’ loss of recognition by the Department of

Education would render Strayer University ineligible to participate in Title IV programs and would have a material adverse effect
on our business. Similarly, the loss of Capella University’s accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission or the Higher
Learning Commission’s loss of recognition by the Department of Education would render Capella University ineligible to
participate in Title IV programs and would have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, an adverse action by
Middle States or the Higher Learning Commission other than loss of accreditation, such as issuance of a warning, could have a
material adverse effect on our business. In October 2018, the Department of Education announced that it would establish a
negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations related to, among other topics, the Department’s recognition of
accrediting agencies and related institutional eligibility issues. The negotiated rulemaking committee convened in January 2019
for the first of several scheduled meetings. We cannot predict what related regulations the Department of Education will propose
or ultimately adopt.  

 
The Higher Education Act charges the National Advisory Committee on Institutional Quality and Integrity (“NACIQI”) with

recommending to the Secretary of Education which accrediting or state approval agencies should be recognized as reliable
authorities for judging the quality of post-secondary institutions and programs. In June 2017, NACIQI renewed its recognition of
Middle States for six months and required Middle States to demonstrate compliance with certain requirements. NACIQI reviewed
Middle States at its February 2018 meeting and recommended that the Secretary of Education extend its recognition for five
years. NACIQI also reviewed the Higher Learning Commission at its February 2018 meeting and recommended that the Secretary
of Education extend its recognition for five years. On September 22, 2016, the Department of Education rescinded its recognition
of the Accreditation Council of Independent Colleges and Schools. Increased scrutiny of accreditors by the Secretary of
Education in connection with the Department of Education’s recognition process may result in increased scrutiny of institutions
by accreditors or have other adverse consequences.

 
If
either
of
the
Universities
fails
to
maintain
any
of
its
state
authorizations,
the
University
would
lose
its
ability
to
operate
in
that
state
and
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs
there.
 
Each Strayer University campus is authorized to operate and to grant degrees, diplomas, or certificates by the applicable

education agency or agencies of the state where the campus is located. Such state authorization is required for students at the
campus to participate in Title IV programs. The loss of state authorization would, among other things, limit Strayer University’s
ability to operate in that state, render Strayer University ineligible to participate in Title IV programs at least at those state campus
locations, and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

 
Capella University is registered as a private institution with the Minnesota Office of Higher Education (“MOHE”), as

required for most post-secondary private institutions that grant degrees at the associate level or above in Minnesota
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and as required by the Higher Education Act to participate in Title IV programs. The loss of state authorization would, among
other things, limit Capella University’s ability to operate in that state, render Capella University ineligible to participate in Title
IV programs, and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

 
Effective July 1, 2011, Department of Education regulations provide that an institution is considered legally authorized by a

state if the state has a process to review and appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution, including enforcing
applicable state laws, and the institution complies with any applicable state approval or licensure requirements consistent with the
new rules. If a state in which Strayer University or Capella University is located fails to comply in the future with the provisions
of the new rule or fails to provide the University with legal authorization, it could limit the University’s ability to operate in that
state and to participate in Title IV programs at least for students in that state and could have a material adverse effect on our
operations.

 
Strayer University and Capella University participate in the State Authorization Reciprocity Agreement (“SARA”), which

allows the Universities to enroll students in distance education programs in each SARA member state. Each of the Universities
applies separately to non-SARA member states (i.e., California) for authorization to enroll students, if such authorization is
required by the state. If Strayer University or Capella University failed to comply with the requirements to participate in SARA or
state licensing or authorization requirements to provide distance education in a non-SARA state, the University could lose its
ability to participate in SARA or may be subject to the loss of state licensure or authorization to provide distance education in that
non-SARA state, respectively.

 
On December 19, 2016, the Department of Education published final regulations addressing, among other issues, state

authorization of programs offered through distance education. The final regulations, which were scheduled to be effective July 1,
2018, require an institution offering distance education programs to be authorized by each state in which the institution enrolls
students (other than the state(s) in which the institution is physically located), if such authorization is required by the state, in
order to award Title IV aid to such students. An institution could obtain such authorization directly from the state or (except in
California) through a state authorization reciprocity agreement. Under those rules, if one of the Universities should fail to obtain
or maintain required state authorization to provide post-secondary distance education in a specific state in which the institution is
not physically located, the institution could lose its ability to provide distance education in that state and to award Title IV aid to
online students in that state.

 
If
either
of
the
Universities
fails
to
obtain
recertification
by
the
Department
of
Education
when
required,
the
Universities
would
lose
their
ability
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs.
 
An institution generally must seek recertification from the Department of Education at least every six years and possibly

more frequently depending on various factors, such as whether it is provisionally certified. The Department of Education may
also review an institution’s continued eligibility and certification to participate in Title IV programs, or scope of eligibility and
certification, in the event the institution undergoes a change in ownership resulting in a change of control or expands its activities
in certain ways, such as the addition of certain types of new programs, or, in certain cases, changes to the academic credentials
that it offers. In certain circumstances, the Department of Education must provisionally certify an institution. The Department of
Education may withdraw either University’s certification if the Department determines that the University is not fulfilling
material requirements for continued participation in Title IV programs. If the Department of Education does not renew, or
withdraws either University’s certification to participate in Title IV programs, its students would no longer be able to receive Title
IV program funds.  Such a loss would have a material adverse effect on our business.

 
Each institution participating in Title IV programs must enter into a Program Participation Agreement with the Department

of Education. Under the agreement, the institution agrees to follow the Department of Education’s rules and regulations
governing Title IV programs. On October 11, 2017, the Department and Strayer University executed a new Program Participation
Agreement, approving Strayer University’s continued participation in Title IV programs with full certification through June 30,
2021. On January 18, 2019, consistent with standard procedure upon a Title IV institution’s change of ownership, the Department
and Capella University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving Capella University’s continued participation
in Title IV programs with provisional certification through December 31, 2022.
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A
failure
to
demonstrate
financial
responsibility
or
administrative
capability
may
result
in
the
loss
of
eligibility
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs.
 
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, Strayer University and Capella University must comply with specific

standards and procedures set forth in the Higher Education Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the Department of
Education, including, among other things, certain standards of financial responsibility and administrative capability. If one of the
Universities fails to demonstrate financial responsibility or maintain administrative capability under the Department of
Education’s regulations, the University could lose its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or have that eligibility
adversely conditioned. Such developments could have a material adverse effect on our business.

 
Student
loan
defaults
could
result
in
the
loss
of
eligibility
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs.
 
In general, under the Higher Education Act, an educational institution may lose its eligibility to participate in some or all

Title IV programs if, for three consecutive federal fiscal years, 30% or more of its students who were required to begin repaying
their student loans in the relevant federal fiscal year default on their payment by the end of the second federal fiscal year
following that fiscal year. Institutions with a cohort default rate equal to or greater than 15% for any of the three most recent fiscal
years for which data are available are subject to a 30-day delayed disbursement period for first-year, first-time borrowers. While
its cohort default rate for 2015 was 10.6%, Strayer University voluntarily delays disbursement of Direct Loans in this manner. In
addition, an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in some or all Title IV programs if its default rate for a federal fiscal
year was greater than 40%.

 
If we lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs because of high student loan default rates, it would have a material

adverse effect on our business. Strayer University’s three-year cohort default rates for federal fiscal years 2013, 2014 and 2015,
were 11.3%, 13.2%, and 10.6%, respectively. Capella University’s three-year cohort default rates for federal fiscal years 2013,
2014, and 2015 were 6.5%, 6.9%, and 6.5%, respectively. The average official cohort default rates for proprietary institutions
nationally were 15.0%, 15.5%, and 15.6% for federal fiscal years 2013, 2014, and 2015, respectively.

 
Strayer
University
or
Capella
University
could
lose
its
eligibility
to
participate
in
federal
student
financial
aid
programs
or
be
provisionally
certified
with
respect
to
such
participation
if
the
percentage
of
its
revenues
derived
from
those
programs
were
too
high,
or
be
restricted
from
enrolling
students
in
certain
states
if
the
percentage
of
the
University’s
revenues
from
federal
or
state
programs
were
too
high.
 
A proprietary institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the federal Title IV student financial aid program if it derives

more than 90% of its revenues, on a cash basis, from Title IV programs for two consecutive fiscal years. A proprietary institution
of higher education that violates the 90/10 Rule for any fiscal year will be placed on provisional status for up to two fiscal years.
Using the formula specified in the Higher Education Act, Strayer University derived approximately 76.0% of its cash-basis
revenues from these programs in 2017. Capella University derived approximately 75.5% of its cash-basis revenues from Title IV
program funds in 2017. Our Universities’ computations for 2018 have not yet been finalized and audited; however, we believe
each University will remain in compliance with the 90/10 Rule requirement. Certain members of Congress have proposed to
revise the 90/10 Rule to count tuition assistance provided by the Department of Defense and veterans education benefits, along
with Title IV revenue, toward the 90% limit and to reduce the limit to 85% of total revenue. Such proposals could make it
difficult for the Universities to comply with the 90/10 rule. If one of the Universities were to violate the 90/10 Rule, the loss of
eligibility to participate in the federal student financial aid programs would have a material adverse effect on our business. Certain
states have also proposed legislation that would prohibit enrollment of their residents based on a state and federal funding
threshold that is more restrictive than the federal 90/10 Rule. If such legislation were to be enacted, and the Universities were
unable to meet the threshold, loss of eligibility to enroll students in certain states would have a material adverse effect on our
business. 
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The
Universities’
failure
to
comply
with
the
Department
of
Education’s
incentive
compensation
rules
could
result
in
sanctions
and
other
liability.
 
If one of the Universities pays a bonus, commission, or other incentive payment in violation of applicable Department of

Education rules or if the Department of Education or other third parties interpret a University’s compensation practices as
noncompliant, the University could be subject to sanctions or other liability. Such penalties could have a material adverse effect
on our business.

 
The
Universities’
failure
to
comply
with
the
Department
of
Education’s
misrepresentation
rules
could
result
in
sanctions
and
other
liability.
 
The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution that participates in Title IV programs from engaging in “substantial

misrepresentation” of the nature of its educational program, its financial charges, or the employability of its graduates. The
Department of Education’s regulations that took effect July 1, 2011, which are sometimes referred to as the program integrity
regulations, interpret this provision to prohibit any statement on those topics made by the institution or a third party that provides
educational programs, marketing, advertising, recruiting, or admissions services to the institution that has the likelihood or
tendency to confuse. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia held on June 5, 2012, that the term “substantial
misrepresentation” could not include true, nondeceitful statements that are merely confusing. Final regulations that, among other
changes, expanded the definition of misrepresentation to include “any statement that has the likelihood or tendency to mislead
under the circumstances” and “any statement that omits information in such a way as to make the statement false, erroneous, or
misleading” were scheduled to take effect July 1, 2017. The Department of Education announced a series of delays to the
implementation of the revised regulation until July 1, 2019, but following a judge’s decision in related litigation, the revised
regulations went into effect as of October 16, 2018. 

 
In the event of substantial misrepresentation, the Department of Education may revoke an institution’s program participation

agreement, limit the institution’s participation in Title IV programs, deny applications from the institution, such as to add new
programs or locations, initiate proceedings to fine the institution or limit, suspend, or terminate its eligibility to participate in Title
IV programs. If the Department of Education or other third parties interpret statements made by one of the Universities or on the
University’s behalf to be in violation of the new regulations, the University could be subject to sanctions and other liability, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

 
The
Universities’
failure
to
comply
with
the
Department
of
Education’s
credit
hour
rule
could
result
in
sanctions
and
other
liability.
 
Effective July 1, 2011, Title IV regulations define the term “credit hour” and require accrediting agencies and state

authorization agencies to review the reliability and accuracy of an institution’s credit hour assignments. If an accreditor does not
comply with this requirement, its recognition by the Department of Education could be jeopardized. If an accreditor identifies
systematic or significant noncompliance in one or more of an institution’s programs, the accreditor must notify the Secretary of
Education. If the Department of Education determines that an institution is out of compliance with the credit hour definition, the
Department of Education could impose liabilities or other sanctions. Such penalties could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

 
The
Universities’
failure
to
comply
with
the
Clery
Act
or
Title
IX
could
result
in
sanctions
and
other
liability.
 
Strayer University and Capella University must comply with the campus safety and security reporting requirements as well

as other requirements in the Clery Act, including changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence Against Women Reauthorization
Act of 2013. On October 20, 2014, the Department of Education promulgated final regulations implementing amendments to the
Clery Act. In addition, the Department of Education has interpreted Title IX to categorize sexual violence as a form of prohibited
sex discrimination and to require institutions to follow certain disciplinary procedures with respect to such offenses. Failure to
comply with the Clery Act or Title IX requirements or regulations thereunder could result in action by the Department of
Education to require corrective action, fine the University, or limit or suspend its participation in Title IV programs, which could
lead to litigation and could harm the University’s reputation.
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The
Universities
are
subject
to
sanctions
if
they
fail
to
calculate
accurately
and
make
timely
payment
of
refunds
of
Title
IV
program
funds
for
students
who
withdraw
before
completing
their
educational
program.
 
The Higher Education Act and Department of Education regulations require the Universities to calculate refunds of unearned

Title IV program funds disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational program before completing it. If refunds are
not properly calculated or timely paid, the University may be required to post a letter of credit with the Department of Education
or be subject to sanctions or other adverse actions by the Department of Education. Such consequences could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

 
Investigations,
legislative
and
regulatory
developments,
and
general
credit
market
conditions
related
to
the
student
loan
industry
may
result
in
fewer
lenders
and
loan
products
and
increased
regulatory
burdens
and
costs.
 
The Higher Education Act regulates relationships between lenders to students and post-secondary education institutions. In

2009, the Department of Education promulgated regulations that address these relationships, and state legislators have also passed
or may be considering legislation related to relationships between lenders and institutions. In addition, new procedures introduced
and recommendations made by the CFPB create uncertainty about whether Congress will impose new burdens on private student
lenders. These developments, as well as legislative and regulatory changes, such as those relating to gainful employment and
repayment rates, creating uncertainty in the industry and general credit market conditions, may cause some lenders to decide not
to provide certain loan products and may impose increased administrative and regulatory costs. Such actions could reduce
demand for, and/or availability of private education loans, decrease Strayer University’s or Capella University’s non-Title IV
revenue, and thereby increase Strayer University’s or Capella University’s 90/10 ratio, and have a material adverse effect on our
business.

 
We
rely
on
one
or
more
third
parties
for
software
and
services
necessary
to
administer
the
Universities’
participation
in
Title
IV
programs
and
failure
of
such
a
third
party
to
provide
compliant
software
and
services,
or
by
us
in
our
use
of
the
software,
could
cause
the
Universities’
to
lose
eligibility
to
participate
in
Title
IV
programs.
 
Because each of Strayer University and Capella University is jointly and severally liable to the Department of Education for

the actions of third-party Title IV processing software providers, failure of such providers to comply with applicable regulations
could have a material adverse effect on Strayer University or Capella University, including loss of eligibility to participate in Title
IV programs. If any of the third-party providers discontinue providing software and services to one or both of the Universities, we
may not be able to replace them in a timely, cost-efficient, or effective manner, or at all, and the Universities could lose their
ability to comply with the requirements of Title IV programs . Such developments could adversely affect our enrollment,
revenues, and results of operations.

 
Our
business
could
be
harmed
if
the
Universities
experience
a
disruption
in
their
ability
to
process
student
loans
under
the
Federal
Direct
Loan
Program.
 
Each of Strayer University and Capella University collected the majority of its fiscal year 2018 total consolidated net

revenue from receipt of Title IV financial aid program funds, principally from federal student loans under the Federal Direct Loan
Program. Any processing disruptions by the Department of Education may affect our students’ ability to obtain student loans on a
timely basis. If either of the Universities experiences a disruption in its ability to process student loans through the Federal Direct
Loan Program, either because of administrative challenges on the part of the University or the inability of the Department of
Education to process the volume of direct loans on a timely basis, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash
flows could be adversely and materially affected.

 
Our
business
could
be
harmed
if
Congress
makes
changes
to
the
availability
of
Title
IV
funds.
 
Each of Strayer University and Capella University collected the majority of its fiscal year 2018 total consolidated net

revenue from receipt of Title IV financial aid program funds, principally from federal student loans under the Federal Direct Loan
Program. Changes in the availability of these funds or a reduction in the amount of funds disbursed may have a material adverse
effect on our enrollment, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Congress
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eliminated further federal direct subsidized loans for graduate and professional students as of July 1, 2012. On August 9, 2013,
Congress passed legislation that ties interest rates on Title IV loans to the rate paid on U.S. Treasury bonds. Interest rates are set
every July 1st for loans taken out from July 1st to June 30th of the following year. In July 2012 Congress reduced eligibility for
Pell Grants from 18 semesters to 12 semesters. To date, these changes have not had a material impact on our business, but future
changes in the availability of Title IV funds could affect students’ ability to fund their education and thus may have a material
adverse effect on our enrollment, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

 
As
enforcement
of
laws
related
to
the
accessibility
of
technology
continues
to
evolve,
information
technology
development
costs
and
compliance
risks
could
increase.
 
Strayer University’s and Capella University’s online education programs are made available to students through personal

computers and other technological devices. For each of these programs, the curriculum makes use of a combination of graphics,
pictures, videos, animations, sounds, and interactive content. Federal agencies, including the Department of Education and the
Department of Justice, have considered or are considering how electronic and information technology should be made accessible
to persons with disabilities. For example, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, or Section 504, prohibits discrimination
against a person with a disability by any organization that receives federal financial assistance. The Americans with Disabilities
Act (“ADA”), prohibits discrimination based on disability in several areas, including public accommodations. In 2010, the
Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights, which enforces Section 504, together with the Department of Justice, which
enforces the ADA, asserted that requiring the use of technology in a classroom environment when such technology is inaccessible
to individuals with disabilities violates Section 504, unless those individuals are provided accommodations or modifications that
permit them to receive all the educational benefits provided by the technology in an equally effective and integrated manner. If
Strayer University or Capella University is found to have violated Section 504, it may be required to modify existing content and
functionality of its online classroom or other uses of technology, including through adoption of specific technical standards. As a
result of such enforcement action, or as a result of new laws and regulations that require greater accessibility, Strayer University
or Capella University may have to modify its online classrooms and other uses of technology to satisfy applicable requirements at
potentially substantial cost. As with all nondiscrimination laws that apply to recipients of federal financial assistance, an
institution may lose access to certain federal financial assistance if it does not comply with Section 504 requirements. In addition,
private parties may file or threaten to file lawsuits alleging failure to comply with laws that prohibit discrimination on the basis of
disability, such as Section 504 and the ADA, and defending against such actions may require Strayer University or Capella
University to incur costs to modify its online classrooms and other uses of technology and costs of litigation.

 
Risks Related to Our Business
 

Our
enrollment
rate
is
uncertain,
and
we
may
not
be
able
to
assess
our
future
enrollments
effectively.
 
Our ability to grow enrollment depends on a number of factors, including macroeconomic factors like unemployment and the

resulting lower confidence in job prospects, and many of the regulatory risks discussed above. Our enrollment in 2019 will be
affected by legislative uncertainty, regulatory activity, and macroeconomic conditions. It is likely that legislative, regulatory, and
economic uncertainties will continue for the foreseeable future, and thus it is difficult to assess our long-term growth prospects.
Since 2013, we have selectively closed physical locations of Strayer University to align our resources in keeping with the
increasing preference of our current students for online course delivery. Although we plan to invest selectively in new campus
facilities, and to pursue other growth opportunities in the future, there can be no assurance as to what our growth rate will be or as
to the steps we may need to take to adapt to the changing regulatory, legislative, and economic conditions.

 
Adding
new
locations,
programs,
and
services
is
dependent
on
our
forecast
of
the
demand
for
those
locations,
programs,
and
services
and
on
regulatory
approvals.
 
Adding new locations, programs, and services require us to expend significant resources, including making human capital

and financial capital investments, incurring marketing expenses, and reallocating other resources. To open a new location, we are
required to obtain appropriate federal, state, and accrediting agency approvals, which may be
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conditioned or delayed in a manner that could significantly affect our growth plans. We cannot assure investors that we will open
new locations or add new programs or services in the future.

 
Our
future
success
depends
in
part
upon
our
ability
to
recruit
and
retain
key
personnel.
 
Our success to date has been, and our continuing success will be, substantially dependent upon our ability to attract and

retain highly qualified executive officers, faculty, administrators, and other key personnel. If we cease to employ any of these
integral personnel or fail to manage a smooth transition to new personnel, our business could suffer.

 
Our
success
depends
in
part
on
our
ability
to
update
and
expand
the
content
of
existing
academic
programs
and
develop
new
programs
in
a
cost-effective
manner
and
on
a
timely
basis.
 
Our success depends in part on our ability to update and expand the content of our academic programs, develop new

programs in a cost-effective manner, and meet students’ needs in a timely manner. Prospective employers of our graduates
increasingly demand that their entry-level employees possess appropriate technological and other skills. The update and
expansion of our existing programs and the development of new programs may not be received favorably by students, prospective
employers, or the online education market. If we cannot respond to changes in industry requirements, our business may be
adversely affected. Even if we are able to develop acceptable new programs, we may not be able to introduce these new programs
at all, or as quickly as students require, due to regulatory constraints or as quickly as our competitors introduce competing new
programs.

 
Our
financial
performance
depends
in
part
on
our
ability
to
continue
to
increase
awareness
of
the
academic
programs
we
offer
among
working
adult
students.
 
Awareness of the academic programs we offer among working adult students is critical to the continued acceptance and

growth of our programs. Our inability to increase awareness of the programs we offer through effective marketing and advertising
could limit our enrollments and negatively affect our business. The following are some of the factors that could prevent us from
successfully marketing our programs:

 
 the emergence of more successful competitors;
 customer dissatisfaction with our services and programs;
 performance problems with our online systems; and
 our failure to maintain or expand our brand or other factors related to our marketing.
 
Congressional
and
other
governmental
activities
could
damage
the
reputation
of
Strayer
University
or
Capella
University
and
limit
our
ability
to
attract
and
retain
students.
 
In recent years, Congress increased its focus on proprietary educational institutions, including administration of Title IV

programs, military tuition assistance, veterans education benefits, and other federal programs. During the prior Administration,
the Department of Education indicated to Congress that it intended to increase its regulation of and attention to proprietary
educational institutions, and the Government Accountability Office released several reports of investigations into proprietary
educational institutions. State Attorneys General have also undertaken extensive investigations of proprietary educational
institutions. These and other governmental activities, including new regulations on program integrity and gainful employment,
even if resulting in no adverse findings or actions against Strayer University or Capella University, singly or cumulatively could
affect public perception of proprietary higher education, damage the reputation of Strayer University or Capella University, and
limit our ability to attract and retain students.

 
We
face
strong
competition
in
the
post-secondary
education
market.
 
Post-secondary education in the United States is highly competitive. We compete with traditional public and private two-

year and four-year colleges, other for-profit schools, and alternatives to higher education, such as employment and military
service. Public colleges may offer programs similar to those of our Universities at a lower tuition level as a result of government
subsidies, government and foundation grants, tax-deductible contributions, and other financial sources not available to proprietary
institutions. Some of our competitors in both the public and private sectors have
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substantially greater financial and other resources than we do. Congress, the Department of Education, and other agencies have
required increasing disclosure of information to consumers. While we believe that our Universities provide valuable education to
their students, we may not always accurately predict the drivers of a student or potential students’ decisions to choose among the
range of educational and other options available to them. This strong competition could adversely affect our business.

 
The
Company
relies
on
exclusive
proprietary
rights
and
intellectual
property,
and
competitors
may
attempt
to
duplicate
our
programs
and
methods.
 
Third parties may attempt to develop competing programs or duplicate or copy aspects of our curriculum, online library,

quality management, and other proprietary content. Any such attempt, if successful, could adversely affect our business. In the
ordinary course of business, we develop intellectual property of many kinds that is or will be the subject of copyright, trademark,
service mark, patent, trade secret, or other protections. Such intellectual property includes, but is not limited to, courseware
materials for classes taught online and on-ground, and business know-how and internal processes and procedures developed to
respond to the requirements of its various education regulatory agencies.

 
Seasonal
and
other
fluctuations
in
our
operating
results
could
adversely
affect
the
trading
price
of
our
common
stock.
 
Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, which cause our operating results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter. This

fluctuation may result in volatility or have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. We experience, and expect
to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations in our revenue. Historically, our quarterly revenues and income have been lowest
in the third quarter (July through September) because fewer students are enrolled during the summer months. We also incur
significant expenses in the third quarter in preparing for our peak enrollment in the fourth quarter (October through December),
including investing in online and campus infrastructure necessary to support increased usage. These investments result in
fluctuations in our operating results which could result in volatility or have an adverse effect on the market price of our common
stock. In addition, the online education market is a rapidly evolving market, and we may not be able to accurately forecast future
enrollment growth and revenues.

 
Regulatory
requirements
may
make
it
more
difficult
to
acquire
us.
 
A change in ownership resulting in a change of control of Strayer University or Capella University would trigger a

requirement for recertification of the University by the Department of Education for purposes of participation in federal student
financial aid programs, a review of the University’s accreditation by its institutional accrediting agency, and reauthorization of the
University by certain state licensing and other regulatory agencies. If we or one of the Universities underwent a change of control
that required approval by any state authority, any institutional accrediting agency, or any federal agency, and any required
regulatory approval were significantly delayed, limited, or denied, there could be a material adverse effect on our ability to offer
certain educational programs, award certain degrees, diplomas, or certificates, operate one or more of our locations, admit certain
students or participate in Title IV programs, which in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business. These factors
may discourage takeover attempts.

 
Capacity
constraints
or
system
disruptions
to
a
University’s
computer
networks
could
damage
the
reputation
of
the
institutions
and
limit
our
ability
to
attract
and
retain
students.
 
The performance and reliability of our Universities’ computer networks, especially the online educational platform, is

critical to our reputation and ability to attract and retain students. Any system error or failure, or a sudden and significant increase
in traffic, could result in the unavailability of the University’s computer networks. We cannot assure you that the Universities,
including their online educational platforms, will be able to expand their program infrastructure on a timely basis sufficient to
meet demand for their programs. The Universities’ computer systems and operations could be vulnerable to interruption or
malfunction due to events beyond their control, including natural disasters and telecommunications failures. Any interruption to
the Universities’ computer systems or operations could have a material adverse effect on our ability to attract and retain students.
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The
Company’s
computer
networks
may
be
vulnerable
to
security
risks
that
could
disrupt
operations
and
require
them
to
expend
significant
resources.
 
The Company’s computer networks may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer hackers, computer viruses, and

other security problems. A user who circumvents security measures could misappropriate proprietary information or cause
interruptions or malfunctions in operations. As a result, the Universities may be required to expend significant resources to protect
against the threat of these security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by these breaches.

 
The
personal
information
that
the
Universities
collect
is
subject
to
privacy
and
data
security
laws
and
may
be
vulnerable
to
breach,
theft,
or
loss
that
could
adversely
affect
our
reputation
and
operations.
 
Possession and use of personal information in our operations subject us to risks and costs that could harm our business. The

Universities collect, use, and retain large amounts of personal information regarding their students and their families, including
social security numbers, tax return information, personal and family financial data, and credit card numbers. We also collect and
maintain personal information of our employees in the ordinary course of our business. Some of this personal information is held
and managed by certain vendors. Although we use security and business controls to limit access to and use of personal
information, a third party may be able to circumvent those security and business controls, potentially resulting in a breach of
student or employee privacy. In addition, errors in the storage, use, or transmission of personal information could result in a
breach of student or employee privacy. Possession and use of personal information in our operations also subjects us to various
U.S. state and federal legislative and regulatory burdens that could, among other things, require notification of data breaches and
restrict our use of personal information. The risk of hacking and cyber-attacks has increased, as has the sophistication of such
attacks, including email phishing schemes targeting employees to give up their credentials. We cannot assure you that a breach,
loss, or theft of personal information will not occur. A breach, theft, or loss of personal information regarding our students and
their families or our employees that is held by us or our vendors could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and results
of operations and result in liability under U.S. state and federal privacy statutes and legal actions by state authorities and private
litigants, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Moreover, certain of our operations may involve the
collection of personal information from individuals outside the U.S., which may render us subject to global privacy and data
security laws. For example, the European Union General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which came into effect May 25,
2018, contains a number of requirements that are different from or exceed those in U.S. state and federal privacy and data security
laws. The GDPR may apply to certain of our operations. Were it to apply and if we were out of compliance, there is the potential
for administrative, civil, or criminal liability with significant monetary penalties as well as reputational harm to the Universities
and their employees.

 
Failure
to
maintain
adequate
processes
to
prevent
and
detect
fraudulent
activity
related
to
student
online
enrollment
or
financial
aid
could
adversely
affect
the
Universities’
operations.
 
Our online environment is susceptible to an increased risk of fraudulent activity by outside parties with respect to the student

online learning platform and student financial aid programs. While we have been able to detect past incidents of fraudulent
activity, which have been isolated, and we have increased our internal capabilities to prevent and detect possible fraudulent
activity, we cannot be certain that our systems and processes will continue to be adequate with increasingly sophisticated external
fraud schemes. The Department of Education requires institutions that participate in Title IV programs to refer to the Office of the
Inspector General any credible information related to fraudulent activity. If we do not maintain adequate systems to prevent and
deter such fraudulent activity, the Department of Education may find a lack of “administrative capability” and could limit our
access to Title IV funding.

 
Strayer
University
and
Capella
University,
with
their
online
programs,
operate
in
a
highly
competitive
market
with
rapid
technological
changes
and
they
may
not
compete
successfully.
 
Online education is a highly fragmented and competitive market that is subject to rapid technological change. Competitors

vary in size and organization from traditional colleges and universities, many of which have some form of online education
programs, to for-profit schools, corporate universities, and software companies providing online education and training software.
We expect the online education and training market to be subject to rapid changes in technologies. The Universities’ success will
depend on their ability to adapt to these changing technologies.
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Combining
SEI
and
Capella
Education
Company
may
be
more
difficult,
costly
or
time
consuming
than
expected,
and
the
combined
company
may
not
realize
all
of
the
anticipated
benefits
of
the
merger.
 
The success of the Company will depend on, among other things, our ability to combine the businesses of SEI and CEC in a

manner that does not materially disrupt the existing student relationships of either SEI or CEC or adversely affect current
revenues and investments in future growth. Additionally, the Company may not be able to successfully achieve the level of cost
savings, revenue enhancements and synergies that it expects. If the Company is not able to successfully achieve these objectives,
the anticipated benefits of the Merger may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected.
 

The
goodwill
and
indefinite-lived
intangible
assets
recorded
in
connection
with
the
Merger
could
become
impaired
in
the
future.
 
Accounting standards in the United States require that one party to the merger be identified as the acquirer. In accordance

with these standards, the Merger was accounted for as an acquisition of CEC common stock by the Company and followed the
acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. The Company’s assets and liabilities  were consolidated with those
of CEC on our financial statements. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of CEC’s assets and liabilities were
recorded as goodwill.

 
We will be required to assess goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually. To the extent

goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to incur material charges relating to such
impairment. Such a potential impairment charge could have a material impact on future operating results and statements of
financial position of the Company.
 
Item 1B.     Unresolved Staff Comment s
 

There are no SEC staff comments on our periodic SEC reports which are unresolved.
 

Item 2.        Propertie s
 

Except for five campus facilities which we own, our Strayer University and Capella University campus and administrative
facilities are leased. The Company’s corporate headquarters is located at 2303 Dulles Station Blvd., Herndon, VA 20171. Our
primary location in Minneapolis, also the headquarters for Capella University, is located at 225 South 6  Street, Minneapolis,
MN 55402. The headquarters and main campus of Strayer University is located at 1133 15 Street NW, Washington, D.C. 20005.
Our leases generally range from five to ten years with one to two renewal options for extended terms. As of December 31, 2018,
Strayer University and Capella University leased 81 campus and administrative facilities consisting of approximately 1.5 million
square feet. The facilities that we own consist of approximately 110,000 square feet.

 
DevMountain occupies a total of approximately 40,300 square feet of office and classroom space in Provo, UT, Salt Lake

City, UT, Phoenix, AZ, and Dallas, TX. Additionally, DevMountain recently entered into a short-term sublease for approximately
12,600 square feet of space in Lehi, UT. DevMountain also leases related residential space in these same cities. Hackbright
occupies its primary office and classroom space of approximately 9,600 square feet in San Francisco, CA. NYCDA is party to
certain real estate leases for small amounts of space, including approximately 5,500 square feet in Manhattan, N.Y. for its
corporate offices and classroom space. 

 
As announced in October 2013, we closed 20 Strayer University physical locations, predominantly in the Midwest. We

subleased or terminated arrangements on most of this space, and to date, approximately 41,000 square feet remains vacant, with
remaining lease obligations ranging from six months to five years. We continuously evaluate various options to address unused
facility space including sublets, both short-term and long-term, and lease buyouts. In 2018, we reduced our leased facility
footprint by approximately 151,000 square feet, primarily by reducing the size of existing campuses at the time of lease renewal.
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We evaluate current utilization of our facilities and anticipated enrollment to determine facility needs. In 2019, we plan to
open six to eight new Strayer University campus locations. The first new Strayer University campuses will open in Mobile, AL
and Fort Worth, TX. New Strayer University campuses will incorporate a new smaller cost-efficient design intended to service a
student body that values a brick and mortar presence, even while taking an increasing number of their courses online.
Additionally, Capella University plans to open two new brick and mortar locations in Atlanta, GA and Orlando, FL in 2019.

 
For more information regarding our ongoing lease commitments, see Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements below.  
 

Item 3.        Legal Proceeding s
 

From time to time, the Company is involved in litigation and other legal proceedings arising out of the ordinary course of its
business. There are no material pending legal proceedings, other than routine litigation incidental to the business, to which we are
subject or to which our property is subject.
 
Item 4.        Mine Safety Disclosure s
 

Not applicable.
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PART I I

 
Item 5.        Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholde r Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities
 

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “STRA.” As of February 1, 2019,
there were 21,745,913 shares of common stock outstanding, and approximately 78 holders of record.

 
In 2017, our Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend payment of $0.25 per common share. Our Board of Directors

approved a quarterly dividend payment of $0.25 per common share in the first and second quarters of 2018 and a quarterly
dividend payment of $0.50 per common share in the third and fourth quarters of 2018. Whether to declare dividends and the
amount of dividends to be paid in the future will be reviewed periodically by our Board of Directors in light of our earnings, cash
flow, financial condition, capital needs, investment opportunities, and regulatory considerations. There is no requirement or
assurance that common dividends will be paid in the future.

 
Peer Group Performance Graph
 

The following performance graph compares the cumulative stockholder return on our common stock since December 31,
2013 with The NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Index and a self-determined peer group consisting of Adtalem Global Education,
Inc. (ATGE), American Public Education, Inc. (APEI), Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (BPI), Career Education Corporation
(CECO), Chegg, Inc. (CHGG), Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (LOPE), K12 Inc. (LRN), Laureate Education, Inc. (LAUR), and
Universal Technical Institute, Inc. (UTI). The peer group no longer includes Apollo Education Group, Inc., Capella Education
Company, or Lincoln Educational Services Corporation. DeVry Education Group is still included in the peer group but under its
new name Adtalem Global Education, Inc. At present, there is no comparative index for the education industry. This graph is not
deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be filed with the SEC or subject to the SEC’s proxy rules or to the liabilities of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act, and the graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our prior or
subsequent filings under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act.
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Comparison of 60 Month Cumulative Total Return*
Among Strategic Education, Inc.

The NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Index and a Peer Group
 

 
 

              

Name     12/31/13    12/31/14    12/31/15    12/31/16    12/31/17    12/31/18 
Strategic Education, Inc.  100  215  174  234  260  329  
NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.)  100  113  120  129  165  159  
Peer Group  100  96  67  95  124  149  

* The comparison assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2013 in our common stock, the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Index, and the
peer companies selected by us.

 
There were no sales by us of unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2018.

 
Stock Repurchase Program
 

In November 2003, our Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase shares of common stock in open market purchases
from time to time at the discretion of our management, depending on market conditions and other corporate considerations. Our
Board of Directors amended the program on various dates, increasing the repurchase amount authorized and extending the
expiration date. At December 31, 2018, $70.0 million of our share repurchase authorization was remaining for repurchases
through the end of 2019. All of our share repurchases have been effected in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange
Act. Some repurchases have been made in accordance with a share repurchase plan adopted by us under Rule 10b5-1 under the
Exchange Act. Our share repurchase program may be modified, suspended, or terminated at any time by us without notice.
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A summary of our share repurchases since the inception of the plan is as follows:

 
          

     Total     Average dollar       
  number of  price  Cost of share 
  shares  paid per  repurchases  
  repurchased share  (millions)  
2003  32,350  $ 99.57  $ 3.2  
2004  346,444   106.13   36.8  
2005  410,071   92.59   38.0  
2006  349,066   100.39   35.0  
2007  260,818   146.05   38.1  
2008  603,382   180.86   109.1  
2009  451,613   177.34   80.1  
2010  687,340   168.06   115.5  
2011  1,581,444   128.15   202.7  
2012  484,841   51.56   25.0  
2013  495,085   50.49   25.0  
2014   —    —    —  
2015   —    —    —  
2016   —    —    —  
2017   —    —    —  
2018   —    —    —  

Total  5,702,454  $ 124.24  $ 708.5  
 

We did not make any share repurchases in 2014 through 2018.
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Item 6.        Selected Financial Dat a
 

The following table sets forth, for the periods and at the dates indicated, selected consolidated financial and operating data.
The financial information has been derived from our consolidated financial statements. Our results of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2018 include the results of CEC from the merger date, and prior periods do not include the financial results
of CEC prior to the merger date. The information set forth below is qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” and other information included elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

 
                 

  Year Ended December 31,  
     2014     2015     2016     2017     2018  
  (Dollar and share amounts in thousands, except per share data)  
Income Statement Data:                                
Revenues  $446,041  $434,437  $441,088  $454,851  $634,185  
Costs and expenses:                           

Instruction and educational support   240,441   234,145   242,099   249,939   340,076  
Marketing   66,495   70,084   79,025   82,540   136,979  
Admissions advisory   16,661   16,304   17,832   19,004   31,466  
General and administration   44,835   44,647   47,873   46,792   57,056  
Amortization of intangible assets    —    —    —    —   25,694  
Merger costs    —    —    —   11,879   45,745  
Fair value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets   (4,138)  (441)  (3,213)  (7,512)  19,909  

Total costs and expenses   364,294   364,739   383,616   402,642   656,925  
Income (loss) from operations   81,747   69,698   57,472   52,209   (22,740) 
Other income (expense)   (5,131)  (3,567)  (180)  437   3,601  
Income (loss) before income taxes   76,616   66,131   57,292   52,646   (19,139) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   30,260   26,108   22,490   32,034   (3,468) 
Net income (loss)  $ 46,356  $ 40,023  $ 34,802  $ 20,612  $ (15,671) 
Net income (loss) per share:                           

Basic  $ 4.39  $ 3.78  $ 3.28  $ 1.93  $ (1.03) 
Diluted  $ 4.35  $ 3.73  $ 3.21  $ 1.84  $ (1.03) 

Weighted average shares outstanding:                           
Basic   10,561   10,588   10,610   10,678   15,190  
Diluted   10,650   10,740   10,845   11,199   15,190  

Other Data:                           
Depreciation and amortization  $ 20,630  $ 18,104  $ 17,817  $ 18,733  $ 54,543  
Stock-based compensation expense  $ 9,453  $ 10,213  $ 10,767  $ 11,627  $ 15,532  
Capital expenditures  $ 6,902  $ 12,692  $ 13,161  $ 18,051  $ 27,547  
Cash dividends per common share (paid)  $  —  $  —  $  —  $ 1.00  $ 1.50  
Average enrollment   40,254   40,450   41,556   44,155   47,733  
Strayer University Campuses   79   76   74   71   72  
Full-time employees   1,455   1,401   1,542   1,389   3,017  
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  At December 31,  
     2014     2015     2016     2017     2018  
  (In thousands)  
Balance Sheet Data:                           
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities  $162,283  $106,889  $129,245  $155,933  $ 386,531  
Working capital   140,316   74,761   100,704   121,282   295,230  
Total assets   307,815   248,434   298,696   321,278   1,661,029  
Long-term debt   112,500    —    —    —    —  
Other long-term liabilities   46,248   47,987   50,483   43,015   110,674  
Total liabilities   215,083   105,578   110,322   112,081   235,805  
Total stockholders’ equity   92,732   142,856   188,374   209,197   1,425,224  

(a) Diluted weighted average shares outstanding include common shares issued and outstanding, and the dilutive impact of restricted stock, restricted
stock units, and outstanding stock options using the Treasury Stock Method.

 
(b) Reflects average Strayer University student enrollment for the four academic terms for each year indicated.
 
(c) Reflects number of campuses offering classes during the fourth quarter of each year indicated.

 
(d) Reflects full-time employees, including full-time faculty, as of December 31 of each year indicated.
 
(e) Working capital is calculated by subtracting current liabilities from current assets.
 
Item 7.        Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financia l Condition and Results of Operations
 

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with “Selected Financial Data,” our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto, the “Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” Item 1A entitled
“Risk Factors,” and the other information appearing elsewhere, or incorporated by reference, in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

 
Background and Overview
 

Strategic Education, Inc. (“SEI,” “we”, “us” or “our”) is an education services company that seeks to provide the most direct
path between learning and employment through campus-based and online post-secondary education offerings and through
programs to develop job-ready skills for high-demand markets. We operate primarily through our wholly-owned subsidiaries
Strayer University and Capella University, both accredited post-secondary institutions of higher education. Our operations also
include certain non-degree programs, mainly focused on software and application development. 

 
Acquisition
of
Capella
Education
Company
 

On August 1, 2018, we completed our merger with Capella Education Company (“CEC”) pursuant to a merger agreement
dated October 29, 2017. The merger solidifies our position as a national leader in education innovation, and provides scale that
will enable greater investment in improving student academic and career outcomes while maintaining our focus on affordability.
The merger is also expected to create significant cost synergies for us.

 
Pursuant to the merger, we issued 0.875 shares of our common stock for each issued and outstanding share of CEC common

stock. Outstanding equity awards held by CEC employees and certain nonemployee directors of CEC were assumed by us and
converted into comparable SEI awards at the exchange ratio. Outstanding equity awards held by CEC nonemployee directors who
did not serve as directors of SEI after completion of the merger, and awards held by former employees of CEC who left before
completion of the merger were settled upon completion of the merger as specified in the merger agreement.
 

Our financial results for any periods ended prior to August 1, 2018 do not include the financial results of CEC, and are
therefore not directly comparable. In 2017, CEC’s revenues were $440.4 million, and its income from continuing operations was
$23.4 million.
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During the year ended December 31, 2018, we incurred $45.7 million in expenses related to the merger, primarily
attributable to financial advisory fees, consulting costs, legal fees, personnel, and other integration costs.

 
As of December 31, 2018, SEI had the following reportable segments:

 
Strayer University Segment

 Strayer University is an institution of higher learning that offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs in
business administration, accounting, information technology, education, health services administration, public
administration, and criminal justice at more than 70 physical campuses, predominantly located in the eastern United
States, and online. Strayer University is accredited by the Middle States Commission on Higher Education
(hereinafter referred to as “Middle States” or “Middle States Commission”), one of the six regional collegiate
accrediting agencies recognized by the Department. By offering its programs both online and in physical
classrooms, Strayer University provides its working adult students flexibility and convenience.

 
 The Jack Welch Management Institute (“JWMI”) offers an executive MBA online and is a Top 25 Princeton

Review ranked online MBA program.
 
 In 2018, Strayer University’s average total enrollment increased 8.1% to 47,733 students compared to

44,155 students in 2017. New student enrollment for the period increased 8.7%.
 
Capella University Segment

 Capella University is an online post-secondary education company that offers a variety of doctoral, master’s and
bachelor’s degree programs, primarily for working adults, in the following primary disciplines: public service
leadership, nursing and health sciences, social and behavioral sciences, business and technology, education, and
undergraduate studies. Capella University focuses on master's and doctoral degrees, with 70% of its learners
enrolled in a master’s or doctoral degree program. Capella University's academic offerings are built with
competency-based curricula and are delivered in an online format that is convenient and flexible. Capella
University designs its offerings to help working adult learners develop specific competencies they can apply in
their workplace. Capella University is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, one of the six regional
collegiate accrediting agencies recognized by the Department.

 
 In 2018, Capella University’s average total enrollment increased 0.7% to 38,050 students compared to 37,783

students in 2017. New student enrollment for the period increased 10.0%.
 

Non-Degree Programs Segment
 DevMountain, LLC is a software development school offering affordable, high-quality, leading-edge software

coding education at multiple campus locations and online.
 

 Hackbright Academy, Inc. is a software engineering school for women. Its primary offering is an intensive 12-week
accelerated software development program, together with placement services and coaching.
 

 The New York Code and Design Academy, Inc. is a New York City-based provider of web and application
software development courses.

 
 Sophia Learning, LLC is an innovative learning company which leverages technology to support self-paced

learning, including courses eligible for transfer into credit at over 2,000 colleges and universities.
 

We believe we have the right operating strategies in place to provide the most direct path between learning and employment
for our students. We focus on innovation continually to differentiate ourselves in our markets and drive growth by supporting
student success, producing affordable degrees, optimizing our comprehensive marketing strategy, serving a broader set of our
students’ professional needs, and establishing new growth platforms. Technology and the talent of our faculty and employees
enable these strategies. We believe these strategies and enablers will allow us to continue to deliver high quality, affordable
education, resulting in continued growth over the long-term. We will continue to invest in these enablers to strengthen the
foundation and future of our business. We also believe our
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enhanced scale and capabilities allow us to continue to focus on innovative cost and revenue synergies, while improving the value
provided to our students.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” discusses our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments related to its allowance for doubtful accounts;
income tax provisions; the useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets; redemption rates for scholarship
programs and valuation of contract liabilities; fair value of future contractual operating lease obligations for facilities that have
been closed; valuation of deferred tax assets, goodwill, and intangible assets; forfeiture rates and achievability of performance
targets for stock-based compensation plans; and accrued expenses. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical
experience and various other factors and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments regarding the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Management regularly reviews its estimates and judgments for reasonableness and may modify them in the
future. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
 

Management believes that the following critical accounting policies are its more significant judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

 
Revenue
recognition
—  Like many traditional institutions, Strayer University and Capella University offer educational

programs primarily on a quarter system having four academic terms, which generally coincide with our quarterly financial
reporting periods. Approximately 96% of our revenues during the year ended December  31, 2018 consisted of tuition revenue.
Capella University offers monthly start options for new students, who then transition to a quarterly schedule. Capella University
also offers its FlexPath program, which allows students to determine their 12-week billing session schedule after they complete
their first course. Tuition revenue for all students is recognized ratably over the course of instruction as the Universities and the
schools offering non-degree programs provide academic services, whether delivered in person at a physical campus or online.
Tuition revenue is shown net of any refunds, withdrawals, corporate discounts, scholarships, and employee tuition discounts. The
Universities also derive revenue from other sources such as textbook-related income, certificate revenue, certain academic fees,
licensing revenue, and other income, which are all recognized when earned. Beginning January 1, 2018, in accordance with our
adoption of new revenue recognition standards under ASC 606, materials provided to students in connection with their enrollment
in a course are recognized as revenue when control of those materials transfers to the student. At the start of each academic term
or program, a liability (contract liability) is recorded for academic services to be provided, and a tuition receivable is recorded for
the portion of the tuition not paid in advance. Any cash received prior to the start of an academic term or program is recorded as a
contract liability.
 

Students of the Universities finance their education in a variety of ways, and historically about three quarters of our students
have participated in one or more financial aid programs provided through Title IV of the Higher Education Act. In addition, many
of our working adult students finance their own education or receive full or partial tuition reimbursement from their employers.
Those students who are veterans or active duty military personnel have access to various additional government-funded
educational benefit programs.
 

A typical class is offered in weekly increments over a six- to twelve-week period, depending on the University and course
type, and is followed by an exam. Students who withdraw from a course may be eligible for a refund of tuition charges based on
the timing of the withdrawal. We use the student’s last date of attendance for this purpose. Student attendance is based on
physical presence in class for on-ground classes. For online classes, attendance consists of logging into one’s course shell and
performing an academically-related activity (e.g., engaging in a discussion post or taking a quiz).
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If a student withdraws from a course prior to completion, a portion of the tuition may be refundable depending on when the
withdrawal occurs. Our specific refund policies vary across Universities and non-degree programs. For students attending Strayer
University, our refund policy typically permits students who complete less than half of a course to receive a partial refund of
tuition for that course. For learners attending Capella University, our refund policy varies based on course format. GuidedPath
learners are allowed a 100% refund through the first five days of the course, a 75% refund from six to twelve days, and 0% refund
for the remainder of the period. FlexPath learners receive a 100% refund through the 12th calendar day of the course for their first
billing session only and a 0% refund after that date and for all subsequent billing sessions. Refunds reduce the tuition revenue that
otherwise would have been recognized for that student. Since the Universities’ academic terms coincide with our financial
reporting periods for most programs, nearly all refunds are processed and recorded in the same quarter as the corresponding
revenue. For certain programs where courses may overlap a quarter-end date, the Company estimates a refund rate and does not
recognize the related revenue until the uncertainty related to the refund is resolved. The portion of tuition revenue refundable to
students may vary based on the student’s state of residence.
 

For students who withdraw from all their courses during the quarter of instruction, we reassess collectibility of tuition and
fees for revenue recognition purposes. In addition, we cease revenue recognition when a student fully withdraws from all of his or
her courses in the academic term. Tuition charges billed in accordance with our billing schedule may be greater than the pro rata
revenue amount, but the additional amounts are not recognized as revenue unless they are collected in cash and the term is
complete.
 

For students who receive funding under Title IV and withdraw, funds are subject to return provisions as defined by the
Department of Education. The University is responsible for returning Title IV funds to the Department and then may seek
payment from the withdrawn student of prorated tuition or other amounts charged to him or her. Loss of financial aid eligibility
during an academic term is rare and would normally coincide with the student’s withdrawal from the institution. As discussed
above, we cease revenue recognition upon a student’s withdrawal from all of his or her classes in an academic term until cash is
received and the term is complete.
 

New students at Strayer University registering in credit-bearing courses in any undergraduate program for the summer 2013
term (fiscal third quarter) and subsequent terms qualify for the Graduation Fund, whereby qualifying students earn tuition credits
that are redeemable in the final year of a student’s course of study if he or she successfully remains in the program. Students must
meet all of the University’s admission requirements and not be eligible for any previously offered scholarship program. Our
employees and their dependents are not eligible for the program. To maintain eligibility, students must be enrolled in a bachelor’s
degree program. Students who have more than one consecutive term of non-attendance lose any Graduation Fund credits earned
to date, but may earn and accumulate new credits if the student is reinstated or readmitted by the University in the future. In their
final academic year, qualifying students will receive one free course for every three courses that were successfully completed in
prior years. The performance obligation associated with free courses that may be redeemed in the future is valued based on a
systematic and rational allocation of the cost of honoring the benefit earned to each of the underlying revenue transactions that
result in progress by the student toward earning the benefit. The estimated value of awards under the Graduation Fund that will be
recognized in the future is based on historical experience of students’ persistence in completing their course of study and earning
a degree and the tuition rate in effect at the time it was associated with the transaction. Estimated redemption rates of eligible
students vary based on their term of enrollment. As of December  31, 2018, we had deferred $43.3 million for estimated
redemptions earned under the Graduation Fund, as compared to $37.4 million at December 31, 2017. Each quarter, we assess our
methodologies and assumptions underlying our estimates for persistence and estimated redemptions based on actual experience.
To date, any adjustments to our estimates have not been material. However, if actual persistence or redemption rates change,
adjustments to the reserve may be necessary and could be material.

 
Tuition
receivable
 —  We record estimates for our allowance for doubtful accounts for tuition receivable from students

primarily based on our historical collection rates by group of receivable reflecting factors such as age of the balance due,  student
academic status, and size of outstanding balances, net of recoveries, and consideration of other relevant factors. Our experience is
that payment of outstanding balances is influenced by whether the student returns to the institution, as we require students to
make payment arrangements for their outstanding balances prior to enrollment. Therefore, we monitor outstanding tuition
receivable balances through subsequent terms, increasing the reserve on such

64

 



Table of Contents

balances over time as the likelihood of returning to the institution diminishes and our historical experience indicates collection is
less likely. We periodically assess our methodologies for estimating bad debts in consideration of actual experience. If the
financial condition of our students were to deteriorate, resulting in evidence of impairment of their ability to make required
payments for tuition payable to us, additional allowances or write-offs may be required. During 2017 and 2018, our bad debt
expense was 4.8% and 5.9% of revenue, respectively. Our bad debt has been negatively impacted by the continued shift in student
mix to less experienced undergraduate students, as well as by delays in the processing of Title IV financial aid. During 2018, we
adjusted our allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect the slower collection of receivables associated with these delays. We
believe the financial aid processing delays are a short-term condition and were largely resolved by the end of 2018, but may
continue to impact our bad debt in 2019. A change in our allowance for doubtful accounts of 1% of gross tuition receivable as of
December  31, 2018 would have changed our income from operations by approximately $0.8 million.
 

Goodwill
and
intangible
assets
— 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the
amount assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Indefinite-lived intangible assets, which include trade names, are
recorded at fair market value on their acquisition date. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed at least
annually for impairment. Through our acquisition of CEC in the third quarter of 2018, we had significant additions to goodwill
and tradename intangible assets. The acquired goodwill was allocated to the Strayer University and Capella University reporting
units. Refer to Note 9 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets – within the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information.

 
We made investments in NYCDA since its acquisition to position it for scalable growth. Although the acquisition has had a

positive impact on our revenue growth, NYCDA has not achieved the degree of revenue growth initially anticipated or met
operating performance expectations. In connection with the goodwill in our NYCDA reporting unit and the indefinite-lived
intangible asset associated with the NYCDA tradename, we performed a quantitative impairment assessment consistent with ASC
350 during the three months ended June 30, 2018. Following the merger with CEC, we commenced a process to rationalize and
align all of our software application development operations and brands under one leadership team. As a result of this process, we
performed additional quantitative impairment assessments of the NYCDA goodwill and trade name. Based on these analyses
following the shift in the business model after the CEC merger, during the year ended December 31, 2018, we decided to stop
teaching on-ground courses in early 2019, and fully impaired the goodwill and intangible asset balances related to NYCDA,
resulting in total impairment charges of $19.6 million. Refer to Note 9 - Goodwill and Intangible Assets – within the footnotes to
the consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges
recorded. 
 

Finite-lived intangible assets that are acquired in business combinations are recorded at fair value on their acquisition dates
and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Finite-lived intangible assets consist of
student relationships.
 

We review our finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If such assets are not recoverable, a potential impairment loss is recognized
to the extent the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. No impairment charges related to finite-lived
intangible assets were recorded during the years ended December  31, 2017 or 2018.

 
Contingent
Consideration
 — In connection with its acquisition of NYCDA, the Company agreed that the purchase price

would include contingent cash payments (contingent consideration) of up to $12.5 million payable based on NYCDA’s results of
operations over a five-year period (the “Earnout”). Generally accepted accounting principles require that contingent consideration
be recorded at its estimated fair value at the date of acquisition and then adjusted to fair value each period thereafter until it is
settled.

 
The fair value of the Earnout was originally measured by applying a probability weighted discounted cash flow model based

on significant inputs not observable in the market. Based on its original projections, the Company expected the full amount of the
Earnout would be paid and initially measured the liability at $9.0 million. Following its initial recognition, the Company
reassessed and adjusted the carrying value of the Earnout to fair value based on revisions to the business plan, expectations
relative to achieving the performance targets over the Earnout period, and the impact of the discount rate. During 2016 and 2017,
the Company revised its near-term revenue projections and assumptions of the
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timing of future cash flows for NYCDA and accordingly recorded adjustments to reduce the fair value of contingent consideration
by $1.3 million and $7.8 million, respectively.  As of December 31, 2018, the Company estimates that no amounts under the
Earnout will be paid and the related liability balance is zero.

 
Accrued
lease
and
related
costs
— We estimate potential sublease income and vacancy periods for space that is not in use,

adjusting our estimates when circumstances change. If our estimates change, or if we enter into subleases at rates that are
substantially different than our current estimates, we will adjust our liability for lease and related costs. In both 2017 and 2018,
we  increased our liability for leases by approximately $0.3 million.

 
Other 
estimates
—  We  record  estimates  for  contingent  consideration,  certain  of  our  accrued  expenses,  and  income  tax

liabilities. We estimate the useful lives of our property and equipment and intangible assets and periodically review our assumed
forfeiture  rates  and  ability  to  achieve  performance  targets  for  stock-based  awards  and  adjust  them as  necessary.  Should  actual
results differ from our estimates,  revisions to our contingent consideration, accrued expenses, carrying amount of goodwill and
intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense, and income tax liabilities may be required.

 
Results of Operations
 

As discussed above, we completed our merger with CEC on August 1, 2018. Our results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2018 include the results of CEC from the merger date. Periods prior to the merger date do not include the financial
results of CEC prior to the merger date. Accordingly, the financial results of each period presented are not directly comparable.
This discussion will highlight changes largely in the Strayer University segment, as those results are included in full in each
period.

 
In 2018, we generated $634.2 million in revenue compared to $454.9 million in 2017. Our loss from operations was $22.7

million in 2018 compared to income from operations of $52.2 million in 2017, due to merger costs of $45.7 milliom, amortization
expense of $25.7 million associated with intangible assets acquired in the merger with CEC, and a $19.6 million impairment
charge related to goodwill and intangible assets carried by NYCDA. Our net loss in 2018 was $15.7 million and our loss per share
was $1.03. 

 
In the accompanying analysis of financial information for 2018 and 2017, we use certain financial measures including

Adjusted Income from Operations, Adjusted Net Income, and Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share that are not required by or
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These
measures, which are considered “non-GAAP financial measures” under SEC rules, are defined by us to exclude the following:

 
 a purchase accounting adjustment to record Capella University contract liabilities at fair value as a result of the

Company's merger with Capella Education Company,
 

 amortization expense related to assets acquired through the Company’s merger with Capella Education Company,
 

 transaction and integration costs associated with the Company’s merger with Capella Education Company,
 

 fair value adjustments to the value of contingent consideration, impairment charges for intangible assets related to
the Company's acquisition of The New York Code + Design Academy, and adjustments to reserves for leases on
facilities no longer in use, and
 

 tax adjustments utilizing an adjusted annual effective tax rate of 25.6%, 38.8%, and 40.2% for 2018, 2017 and
2016, respecfively.

 
When considered together with GAAP financial results, we believe these measures provide management and investors with

an additional understanding of our business and operating results, including underlying trends associated with the Company’s
ongoing operations.
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Non-GAAP financial measures are not defined in the same manner by all companies and may not be comparable to other
similarly titled measures of other companies. Non-GAAP financial measures may be considered in addition to, but not as a
substitute for or superior to, GAAP results. A reconciliation of these measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures is
provided below.

 
Adjusted income from operations was $97.4 million in 2018 compared to $56.6 million in 2017. Adjusted net income was

$75.1 million in 2018 compared to $34.9 million in 2017, and adjusted diluted earnings per share was $4.75 in 2018 compared to
$3.11 in 2017.
 
Reconciliation
of
Reported
to
Adjusted
Results
of
Operations
for
the
year
ended
December
31,
2018
 
                       

     Non-GAAP Adjustment     

     

As
Reported
(GAAP)     

Contract
Liability

Adjustment  

Amortization
of Acquired

Assets  
Merger
Costs  

Fair Value
Adjustments

and
Impairment
of Intangible

Assets  
Tax

Adjustments  

As
Adjusted

(Non-
GAAP)     

Income (loss) from
operations  $ (22,740) $ 28,748  $ 25,694  $ 45,745  $ 19,909  $  —  $ 97,356  
Other income, net   3,601    —    —    —    —    —   3,601  
    Income (loss) before
income taxes   (19,139)  28,748   25,694   45,745   19,909    —   100,957  
    Provision (benefit) for
income taxes   (3,468)   —    —    —    —   29,348   25,880  
         Net income (loss)  $ (15,671) $ 28,748  $ 25,694  $ 45,745  $ 19,909  $ (29,348) $ 75,077  
Earnings per share:                       

Basic  $ (1.03)                $ 4.94  
Diluted  $ (1.03)                $ 4.75  

Weighted average
shares outstanding:                       

Basic   15,190                  15,190  
Diluted   15,190                  15,801  
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Reconciliation
of
Reported
to
Adjusted
Results
of
Operations
for
the
year
ended
December
31,
2017
 
                       

     Non-GAAP Adjustment     

     

As
Reported
(GAAP)     

Contract
Liability

Adjustment 

Amortization
of Acquired

Assets  
Merger
Costs  

Fair Value
Adjustments

and
Impairment
of Intangible

Assets  
Tax

Adjustments 

As
Adjusted

(Non-
GAAP)  

Income (loss) from
operations  $ 52,209  $  —  $  —  $ 11,879  $ (7,512) $  —  $ 56,576  
Other income, net   437    —    —    —    —    —   437  
    Income (loss) before
income taxes   52,646    —    —   11,879   (7,512)   —   57,013  
    Provision (benefit) for
income taxes   32,034    —    —    —    —   (9,892)  22,142  
         Net income (loss)  $ 20,612  $  —  $  —  $ 11,879  $ (7,512) $ 9,892  $ 34,871  
Earnings per share:                       

Basic  $ 1.93                 $ 3.27  
Diluted  $ 1.84                  $ 3.11  

Weighted average shares
outstanding:                       

Basic   10,678                  10,678  
Diluted   11,199                  11,199  

 
Reconciliation
of
Reported
to
Adjusted
Results
of
Operations
for
the
year
ended
December
31,
2016
 
                      

     Non-GAAP Adjustment    

     

As
Reported
(GAAP)     

Contract
Liability

Adjustment 

Amortization
of Acquired

Assets  
Merger
Costs  

Fair Value
Adjustments

and
Impairment
of Intangible

Assets  
Tax

Adjustments 

As
Adjusted

(Non-
GAAP)

Income (loss) from
operations  $ 57,472  $  —  $  —  $  —  $ (3,213) $  —  $ 54,259
Other (expense) income, net   (180)    —     —    —    —    —   (180)
    Income (loss) before
income taxes   57,292    —    —    —   (3,213)   —   54,079
    Provision (benefit) for
income taxes   22,490    —    —    —    —   (748)  21,742
         Net income (loss)  $ 34,802  $  —  $  —  $  —  $ (3,213) $ 748  $ 32,337
Earnings per share:                      

Basic  $ 3.28                 $ 3.05
Diluted  $ 3.21                 $ 2.98

Weighted average shares
outstanding:                      

Basic   10,610                  10,610
Diluted   10,845                  10,845
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(1) Reflects a purchase accounting adjustment to record Capella University contract liabiliteies at fair value as a result of the Company’s merger
with CEC.

(2) Reflects amortization expense related to intangible assets associated with the Company’s merger with CEC.
(3) Reflects transaction and integration charges associated with the Company's merger with CEC.
(4) Reflects adjustments to the value of contingent consideration in 2016 and 2017, and an impairment of intangible assets in 2018, related to the

Company's acquisition of the New York Code and Design Academy.
(5) Reflects tax adjustments utilizing an adjusted annual effective tax rate of 25.6%, 38.8% and 40.2% for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.



Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared To Year Ended December 31, 2017
 

Revenues.
The increase in consolidated revenues compared to the same period in the prior year was primarily related to the
inclusion of CEC revenue since the August 1, 2018 acquisition date. In the Strayer University segment for the year ended
December 31, 2018, enrollment grew 8.1% to 47,733 from 44,155 in the prior year. Revenue grew 4.8% to $471.1 million
compared to $449.5 million in 2017 as a result of the increase in enrollment, partially offset by lower revenue per student. Capella
University segment revenue was $154.9 million, which included a $28.7 million purchase accounting reduction related to contract
liabilities acquired in the merger. Non-Degree Programs segment revenues were $8.2 million in 2018, compared to $5.3 million in
2017. The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to incremental revenues generated from the operations of Hackbright and
DevMountain, which were acquired in the CEC merger during the third quarter of 2018.  

 
Instruction
and
educational
support
expenses.
  Consolidated instruction and educational support expenses increased to

$340.1 million in 2018, compared to $249.9 million in 2017, principally due to the inclusion of instructional and education
support expenses of CEC, as well as increases in Strayer student materials costs, depreciation expense following recent
infrastructure investments, and bad debt expense. Consolidated instruction and educational support expenses as a percentage of
revenues decreased to 53.6% in 2018 from 54.9% in 2017. 

 
Marketing
expenses.
  Consolidated marketing expenses increased to $137.0 million in 2018, from $82.5 million in 2017,

principally due to the inclusion of CEC costs, as well as increased investments in branding initiatives and partnerships with brand
ambassadors for Strayer. Consolidated marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 21.6% in 2018 from 18.1% in
2017. 

 
Admissions
advisory
expenses
.   Consolidated admissions advisory expenses increased to $31.5 million in 2018, from $19.0

million in 2017 with the inclusion of costs following the merger with CEC. Consolidated admissions advisory expenses as a
percentage of revenues increased to 5.0% in 2018 from 4.2% in 2017.

 
General
and
administration
expenses.
  Consolidated general and administration expenses increased to $57.1 million in 2018

compared to $46.8 million in 2017 with the inclusion of costs following the merger with CEC. Consolidated general and
administration expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased to 9.0% in 2018 from 10.3% in 2017. The decrease as a percent of
revenue is due primarily to staff reductions following the merger, and lower costs for professional fees.

 
Amortization
of
intangible
assets
 .  In 2018, we recorded $25.7 million in amortization expense related to intangible assets

acquired in the merger with CEC.
 
Merger
costs.
 Merger costs were $45.7 million in 2018 compared to $11.9 million in 2017, and reflect expenses for legal,

accounting, integration support services, and severance costs incurred in connection with the merger with CEC.
 
Fair 
value 
adjustments 
and 
impairment 
of 
intangible 
assets.
  In  2018,  we  recorded  a  goodwill  impairment  loss  of  $13.9

million and an intangible asset impairment loss of $5.7 million based on analyses performed during the year with respect to our
acquisition of NYCDA. Refer to Note 9 – Goodwill
and
Intangible
Assets
of the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements
for further discussion of these impairment charges. In addition, we recognized a $0.3 million charge to increase our liability for
leases  on  facilities  no  longer  in  use  in  2018.  In  2017,  we  recorded  a  benefit  of  $7.8  million  to  reduce  the  value  of  contingent
consideration payable to the sellers of NYCDA, offset by a charge of $0.3 million to increase our liability for leases on facilities
no longer in use.
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Income
(loss) 
from
operations
 .  Loss  from operations  was  $22.7  million  in  2018 compared  to  income from operations  of
$52.2  million  in  2017.  The decline  was  primarily  due  to  amortization  expense,  merger  costs,  and  impairments  to  the  NYCDA
trade name and goodwill incurred during the year and discussed above.

 
Other
income
. Other income increased to $3.6 million in 2018 compared to $0.4 million in 2017, as a result of higher yields

on money markets and marketable securities and an increase in our cash balance. Other income is net of interest expense, which
was $0.7 million and $0.6 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively. We had $250.0 million available under our amended revolving
credit facility and no borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2018.

 
(Benefit)
provision
for
income
taxes.
We recorded a benefit for income taxes of $3.5 million in 2018, compared to a

provision for income taxes of $32.0 million in 2017. Our effective tax rate for 2018 was 18.1%. The benefit for income taxes in
2018 reflects the lower federal income tax rate in effect in 2018, accelerated deductions enabled by the 2017 tax law, and the tax
benefits associated with the vesting of restricted stock, offset by certain nondeductible charges associated with the merger and for
the impairment of NYCDA goodwill. Our effective tax rate, excluding these and other discrete tax adjustments, is 25.6% for
2018.

 
Net
income
(loss)
. Net loss was $15.7 million in 2018 compared to net income of $20.6 million in 2017 due to the factors

discussed above.
 

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared To Year Ended December 31, 2016
 

Revenues.
Revenues increased to $454.9 million in 2017, from $441.1 million in 2016, primarily due to the increase in
enrollment, partially offset by a decline in revenue per student of 3%. Average total enrollment increased to 44,155 students for
the year ended December 31, 2017 from 41,556 students for the same period in 2016. The decline in revenue per student is largely
attributable to new scholarship programs for new undergraduate students and a reduced pricing structure implemented for the first
quarter of 2014, which reduced tuition for new undergraduate students by approximately 20% and gave eligible students access to
the Graduation Fund. Revenues for undergraduate students increased 8% in 2017, driven by an increase in enrollment of 12%
partially offset by a 3% decline in revenue per student, resulting primarily from the new scholarship programs for new
undergraduate students. For graduate students, revenues decreased 7% in 2017 as a result of a 7% decline in enrollment.

 
Instruction
and
educational
support
expenses.
Instruction and educational support expenses increased to $249.9 million in

2017, from $242.1 million in 2016, in part due to increased student support costs and bad debt expense. Instruction and
educational support expenses as a percentage of revenues was 54.9% in both 2017 and 2016.

 
Marketing
expenses.
Marketing expenses increased to $82.5 million in 2017, from $79.0 million in 2016. Marketing

expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 18.1% in 2017 from 17.9% in 2016.
 
Admissions
advisory
expenses
. Admissions advisory expenses increased to $19.0 million in 2017, from $17.8 million in

2016. Admissions advisory expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 4.2% for 2017 from 4.0% in 2016.
 
General
and
administration
expenses.
General and administration expenses increased to $46.8 million in 2017, from $47.9

million in 2016. General and administration expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased to 10.3% for 2017 from 10.9% in
2016.

 
Merger
costs.
 Merger costs were $11.9 million in 2017 and reflect expenses for legal, accounting and other due diligence

costs incurred in connection with the merger with CEC. No merger costs were incurred in 2016.
 
Fair
value
adjustments
and
impairment
of
intangible
assets.
  In 2017 and 2016, we recorded a benefit of $7.8 million and

$1.3 million, respectively, to reduce the value of contingent consideration payable to the sellers of NYCDA. In 2017 and 2016,
we  recognized  a  $0.3  million  charge  and  a  $1.9  million  benefit,  respectively,  to  adjust  our  liability  for  leases  on  facilities  no
longer in use. 
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Income
from
operations.
Income from operations decreased to $52.2 million in 2017, from $57.5 million in 2016, primarily
due to merger costs associated with the CEC merger, offset by the fair value adjustments discussed above.

 
Other
income
(expense).
Other income was $0.4 million in 2017 compared to other expense of $0.2 million in 2016. Other

income is net of interest expense of $0.6 million in both 2017 and 2016. We had $150.0 million available under our revolving
credit facility and no borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2017.

 
Provision
for
income
taxes.
Income tax expense increased to $32.0 million in 2017 from $22.5 million in 2016, primarily

due to a one-time charge of $11.4 million to reduce the value of our deferred tax asset as a result of the reduction in the corporate
federal income tax rate following the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. Our effective tax rate was 60.8% for 2017
and 39.3% for 2016. Excluding the effect of the change in the federal tax rate, our effective tax rate was 38.8% for 2017 .  

 
Net
income.
Net income decreased to $20.6 million in 2017 from $34.8 million in 2016 due to the factors discussed above.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

On August 1, 2018, we completed our acquisition of CEC pursuant to a merger agreement dated October 29, 2017. Cash
acquired in the CEC merger was $167.9 million. At December 31, 2018, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities
of $386.5 million compared to $155.9 million at December 31, 2017. Most of our cash was held in demand deposit accounts at
high credit quality financial institutions.
 

On August 1, 2018, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and
Term Loan Agreement and Amendment to Other Loan Documents (the “Second Amendment), which Second Amendment
amends the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2012 (as
amended by the First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of
July 2, 2015, the “Prior Credit Facility”, and the Prior Credit Facility as amended by the Second Amendment, the “Amended
Credit Facility”), among the Company, certain of its subsidiaries party thereto as subsidiary guarantors, SunTrust Bank, as
administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”), and the other lenders party thereto. The Second Amendment amended the
Prior Credit Facility to extend the maturity date of the Company’s revolving credit facility from July 2, 2020 to August 1, 2023,
and to increase total commitments under the revolving credit facility from $150 million to $250 million, with an option, subject to
obtaining additional loan commitments and satisfaction of certain conditions, to increase the commitments under the revolving
facility or establish one or more incremental term loans (each, an “Incremental Facility”) in an aggregate amount of up to the sum
of (x) $150 million and (y) if such Incremental Facility is incurred in connection with a permitted acquisition, any amount so long
as the Company’s leverage ratio (calculated on a trailing four-quarter basis) on a pro forma basis will be no greater than
1.75:1.00. Borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR or a base rate, plus a margin ranging from
1.50% to 2.00%, depending on our leverage ratio. An unused commitment fee ranging from 0.20% to 0.30%, depending on our
leverage ratio, accrues on unused amounts under the Amended Credit Facility. During each of the years ended December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, we paid unused commitment fees of $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively, under the
Amended Credit Facility and the Prior Credit Facility. We were in compliance with all applicable covenants related to the
Amended Credit Facility as of December 31, 2018. We had no borrowings outstanding under the Prior Credit Facility or the
Amended Credit Facility during each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
 

Our net cash from operating activities decreased in 2018 to $46.9 million, as compared to $56.2 million for the same period
in 2017. The decrease in net cash from operating activities was largely due to costs associated with the CEC merger, and the
decline in net income.

 
Capital expenditures were $27.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $18.1 million for 2017. Capital

expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2019 are expected to be between  4%-5% of revenue.
 
The Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend payment of $0.25 per common share in the first and second quarters of

2018 and a quarterly dividend payment of $0.50 per common share in the third and fourth quarters of 2018.
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During the year ended December 31, 2018, we paid a total of $27.8 million in cash dividends on our common stock. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, we did not repurchase any shares of common stock and, at December 31, 2018, had $70 million in
repurchase authorization to use through December 31, 2019.

 
We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from operating activities, and if necessary, cash borrowed

under our revolving credit facility will be sufficient to meet our requirements for at least the next 12 months. Currently, we
maintain our cash primarily in demand deposit bank accounts and money market funds, which are included in cash and cash
equivalents at December 31, 2017 and 2018. We also hold marketable securities, which primarily include tax-exempt municipal
securities and corporate debt securities. We earned interest income of $0.5 million, $1.1 million, and $4.3 million in each of the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively.
 
Contractual Obligations

 
The table below sets forth our contractual commitments associated with operating leases, excluding subleases as of

December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
 

                 

   Payments Due By Period  
            Less than 1     1-3      3-5      More than 
  Total  Year   Years  Years  5 Years  
Operating leases   $ 142,315   $ 33,600   $ 51,884   $ 24,086   $ 32,745  
 

Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of future cash flows associated with our unrecognized tax benefits at
December 31, 2018, we are unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of the period of cash settlement with the respective
taxing authority. Therefore, $0.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been excluded from the contractual obligations table
above.

 
Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of future borrowings associated with our credit facility, we are unable to

make reasonably reliable estimates of any commitment fees charged on the unused portion of the credit facility. Therefore, the
maximum estimated commitment fee of $0.8 million per annum is excluded from the contractual obligations table above.

 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has a commitment to invest up to $2.0 million in three limited partnership

investments through 2027. Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of future cash flows associated with the limited
partnership investments, we are unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of the period in which such additional investments
may take place. Therefore, $2.0 million of potential limited partnership investment commitments have been excluded from the
contractual obligations table above.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
As of December 31, 2018, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Item 303(a)(4) of the Securities

Exchange Commission Regulation S-K.
 

Item 7A.     Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Ris k
 
We are subject to the impact of interest rate changes and may be subject to changes in the market values of our future

investments. We invest our excess cash in bank overnight deposits, money market funds, and marketable securities. We have not
used derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Earnings from investments in bank overnight deposits, money
market mutual funds, and marketable securities may be adversely affected in the future should interest rates decline, although
such a decline may reduce the interest rate payable on any borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Our future investment
income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates or we may suffer losses in principal if forced to sell
securities that have declined in market value due to changes in interest rates. As of December  31, 2018, a 1% increase or
decrease in interest rates would not have a material impact on our future earnings, fair values, or cash flows related to investments
in cash equivalents or interest earning marketable securities.

 
On August 1, 2018, the Company amended its Prior Credit Facility to extend the maturity date of the revolving credit facility

from July 2, 2020 to August 1, 2023, and to increase available borrowings from $150 million to $250 million, with an option,
subject to obtaining additional loan commitments and satisfaction of certain conditions, to
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increase the commitments under the revolving facility or establish one or more incremental term loans (each, an “Incremental
Facility”) in an aggregate amount of up to the sum of (x) $150 million and (y) if such Incremental Facility is incurred in
connection with a permitted acquisition, any amount so long as the Company’s leverage ratio (calculated on a trailing four-quarter
basis) on a pro forma basis will be no greater than 1.75:1.00. We had no borrowings outstanding under the Amended Credit
Facility as of December 31, 2018. Borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR or a base rate, plus a
margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.00%, depending on our leverage ratio. An unused commitment fee ranging from 0.20% to
0.30%, depending on our leverage ratio, accrues on unused amounts under the Amended Credit Facility. An increase in LIBOR
would affect interest expense on any outstanding balance of the revolving credit facility. For every 100 basis points increase in
LIBOR, we would incur an incremental $2.5 million in interest expense per year assuming the entire $250 million revolving
credit facility was utilized.
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Item 8.        Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat a
 

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

     Page
Strategic Education, Inc.   
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   75
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2018   77
Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018   78
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,

2018   78
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for each of the three years in the period ended 

December 31, 2018   79
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended 

December 31, 2018   80
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   81
 

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Fir m
 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Strategic Education, Inc.
 
Opinions
on
the
Financial
Statements
and
Internal
Control
over
Financial
Reporting
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Strategic Education, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
COSO.
 
Basis
for
Opinions
 
The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. 
 
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
 
As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, management has
excluded Capella Education Company from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018
because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2018. We have also excluded Capella
Education Company from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Capella Education Company is a wholly-owned
subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues excluded from management’s
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assessment and our audit of internal control over financial reporting represent 18% and 25%, respectively, of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018.
 
Definition
and
Limitations
of
Internal
Control
over
Financial
Reporting
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
 
 
 
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
McLean, Virginia
March 1, 2019
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1993.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET S

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
        

  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2018  
ASSETS        

Current assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 155,933  $ 311,732  
Marketable securities, current    —   37,121  
Tuition receivable, net   23,122   55,694  
Other current assets   11,293   15,814  

Total current assets   190,348   420,361  
Property and equipment, net   73,763   122,677  
Marketable securities, non-current    —   37,678  
Deferred income tax assets   24,452    —  
Intangible assets, net   7,260   328,344  
Goodwill   20,744   732,540  
Other assets   4,711   19,429  

Total assets  $ 321,278  $ 1,661,029  
        

LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
Current liabilities:        

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 46,177  $ 85,979  
Income taxes payable   1,038   419  
Contract liabilities   21,851   38,733  

Total current liabilities   69,066   125,131  
Deferred income tax liabilities    —   59,358  
Other long-term liabilities   43,015   51,316  

Total liabilities   112,081   235,805  
Commitments and contingencies        
Stockholders’ equity:        

Common stock, par value $0.01; 32,000,000 shares authorized; 11,167,425 and  
21,743,498 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2018,
respectively   112   217  
Additional paid-in capital   47,079   1,306,653  
Accumulated other comprehensive income    —   32  
Retained earnings   162,006   118,322  

Total stockholders’ equity   209,197   1,425,224  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 321,278  $ 1,661,029  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOM E

(in thousands, except per share data)
 
           

  For the Year Ended  
  December 31,  
     2016     2017     2018  
Revenues  $ 441,088  $ 454,851  $ 634,185  
Costs and expenses:           

Instruction and educational support   242,099   249,939   340,076  
Marketing   79,025   82,540   136,979  
Admissions advisory   17,832   19,004   31,466  
General and administration   47,873   46,792   57,056  
Amortization of intangible assets    —    —   25,694  
Merger costs    —   11,879   45,745  
Fair value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets   (3,213)  (7,512)  19,909  

Total costs and expenses   383,616   402,642   656,925  
Income (loss) from operations   57,472   52,209   (22,740) 

Other (expense) income   (180)  437   3,601  
Income (loss) before income taxes   57,292   52,646   (19,139) 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes   22,490   32,034   (3,468) 
Net income (loss)  $ 34,802  $ 20,612  $ (15,671) 

Earnings (loss) per share:           
Basic  $ 3.28  $ 1.93  $ (1.03) 
Diluted  $ 3.21  $ 1.84  $ (1.03) 

Weighted average shares outstanding:           
Basic   10,610   10,678   15,190  
Diluted   10,845   11,199   15,190  

Cash dividend declared per share   $  —   $ 1.00   $ 1.50  
 

 
 

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOM E

(in thousands)
 

           

  For the Year Ended  
  December 31,  
     2016     2017     2018  
Net income (loss)  $ 34,802  $ 20,612  $ (15,671) 
Other comprehensive income:           

Unrealized gain on marketable securities, net of tax    —    —   32  
Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 34,802  $ 20,612  $ (15,639) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUIT Y

(in thousands, except share data)
 

                   

             Accumulated     
       Additional     Other     
  Common Stock  Paid-in  Retained  Comprehensive     
     Shares     Par Value    Capital     Earnings     Income     Total  
Balance at December 31, 2015  11,027,177  $ 110  $ 24,738  $ 118,008  $  —  $ 142,856  
Tax shortfall associated with stock-
based compensation arrangements   —    —   (51)   —    —   (51) 
Restricted stock grants, net of
forfeitures  66,312    1   (1)   —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation   —    —   10,767    —    —   10,767  
Net income   —    —    —   34,802    —   34,802  
Balance at December 31, 2016  11,093,489  $ 111  $ 35,453  $ 152,810  $  —  $ 188,374  
Restricted stock grants, net of
forfeitures  73,936    1   (1)   —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation   —    —   11,627    —    —   11,627  
Common stock dividends   —    —    —   (11,416)   —   (11,416) 
Net income   —    —    —   20,612    —   20,612  
Balance at December 31, 2017  11,167,425  $ 112  $ 47,079  $ 162,006  $  —  $ 209,197  
Impact of adoption of new accounting
standard   —    —    —   (171)   —   (171) 
Issuance of stock in connection with the
acquisition of Capella Education
Company  10,263,775   103   1,236,858    —    —   1,236,961  
Filing fee related to new stock issuance   —    —   (148)   —    —   (148) 
Stock-based compensation   —    —   14,994    —    —   14,994  
Exercise of stock options, net  156,424    1   8,647    —    —   8,648  
Restricted stock grants, net of
forfeitures  125,694    1   (1)   —    —    —  
Issuance of restricted stock, net  30,180    —   (776)   —    —   (776) 
Common stock dividends   —    —    —   (27,842)   —   (27,842) 
Unrealized gain on marketable
securities, net of tax   —    —    —    —   32   32  
Net loss   —    —    —   (15,671)   —   (15,671) 

Balance at December 31, 2018  21,743,498  $ 217  $ 1,306,653  $ 118,322  $ 32  $ 1,425,224  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW S

(in thousands)
 
           

           
           
     2016     2017  2018  
Cash flows from operating activities:           

Net income (loss)  $ 34,802  $ 20,612  $ (15,671) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:           

Amortization of gain on sale of assets   (281)  (133)   —  
Amortization of deferred rent   (1,441)  (1,780)  (1,716) 
Amortization of deferred financing costs   262   262   292  
Amortization of investment discount/premium    —    —   298  
Depreciation and amortization   17,817   18,733   54,543  
Deferred income taxes   (8,697)  6,429   (16,322) 
Stock-based compensation   10,767   11,627   15,532  
Fair value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets   (3,213)  (7,512)  19,909  
Changes in assets and liabilities:           

Tuition receivable, net   (1,453)  (3,250)  7,880  
Other current assets   (3,936)  (526)  3,768  
Other assets   (1,865)  1,582   (135) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (262)  4,468   1,140  
Income taxes payable and income taxes receivable   (408)  (629)  (516) 
Contract liabilities   7,018   8,212   (19,329) 
Other long-term liabilities   (4,587)  (1,938)  (2,806) 

Net cash provided by operating activities   44,523   56,157   46,867  
           

Cash flows from investing activities:           
Net cash (used) acquired in acquisition   (7,635)   —   167,859  
Purchases of property and equipment   (13,161)  (18,051)   (27,547) 
Purchases of marketable securities    —    —   (25,304) 
Maturities of marketable securities    —    —   16,367  
Other investments    —    —   (1,238) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (20,796)  (18,051)  130,137  
           

Cash flows from financing activities:           
Common dividends paid    —   (11,416)  (27,842) 
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options    —    —   8,648  
Taxes paid for restricted stock units    —    —   (859) 
Payments of contingent consideration   (1,358)   —    —  
Payment of deferred financing costs    —    —   (1,162) 

Net cash used in financing activities   (1,358)  (11,416)  (21,215) 
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   22,369   26,690   155,789  

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash — beginning of period   107,389   129,758   156,448  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash — end of period  $ 129,758  $ 156,448  $ 312,237  
Noncash transactions:           

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable  $ 349  $ 1,734  $ 1,029  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1.      Nature of Operation s
 

Strategic Education, Inc. (“Strategic Education” or the “Company”), a Maryland corporation formerly known as Strayer
Education, Inc., is a national leader in education innovation, dedicated to enabling economic mobility for working adults through
education. As further discussed in Note 2 and Note 3, the Company completed its merger with Capella Education Company
(“CEC”) on August 1, 2018. The accompanying consolidated financial statements and footnotes include the results of the
Company’s three  reportable segments: Strayer University, Capella University, and Non-Degree Programs. The Company’s
reportable segments are discussed further in Note 18.

 
2.      Significant Accounting Policies
 
Financial
Statement
Presentation
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

 
On August 1, 2018, the Company completed its merger with CEC, whereby the Company was deemed the acquirer in the

business combination for accounting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). Therefore, Strayer Education, Inc. is considered Strategic Education’s predecessor, and its historical
financial statements prior to the merger date are reflected in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as the historical financial
statements of the Company. Accordingly, the financial results of the Company as of and for any periods ended prior to August 1,
2018 do not include the financial results of CEC and therefore are not directly comparable.
 

Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s
presentation. Specifically, costs incurred in connection with the Company’s merger with CEC were reclassified from general and
administration expense to merger costs, and adjustments to the value of contingent consideration related to the Company’s
acquisition of The New York Code and Design Academy, Inc. (“NYCDA”) were reclassified from instruction and educational
support expense to fair value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets within the consolidated statements of income for
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017.

 
New
accounting
standard
for
revenue
recognition
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”) which supersedes the prior revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, Revenue
Recognition, and most industry-specific guidance. During 2016 and 2017, the FASB issued additional ASUs amending certain
aspects of ASU 2014-09. On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the new accounting standard and all the related amendments
(“ASC 606”) using the modified retrospective method. The Company recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the
new revenue standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. The comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods. The Company expects the impact
of the adoption of the new standard to be immaterial to the Company’s net income on an ongoing basis. Refer to Note 4 for
further discussion.

 
Cash
and
Cash
Equivalents
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash maintained in mostly FDIC-insured bank accounts and cash invested in bank
overnight deposits and money market mutual funds. The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with various
financial institutions. The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less at
the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

 
Concentration
of
Credit
Risk
 

Most cash and cash equivalent balances are in excess of the FDIC insurance limit. The Company has not experienced any
losses on its cash and cash equivalents.
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Restricted
Cash
 

A significant portion of the Company’s revenues are funded by various federal and state government programs. The
Company generally does not receive funds from these programs prior to the start of the corresponding academic term. The
Company may be required to return certain funds for students who withdraw from Strayer University and Capella University
(“the Universities”) during the academic term. The Company had approximately $15,000 and $5,000 of these unpaid obligations
as of December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively, which are recorded as restricted cash and included in other current assets in the
consolidated balance sheets.

 
As part of commencing operations in Pennsylvania in 2003, the Company was required to maintain a “minimum protective

endowment” of at least $0.5 million in an interest-bearing account as long as the Company operates its campuses in the state. The
Company holds these funds in an interest-bearing account which is included in other assets.

 
The following table illustrates the reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the consolidated

statements of cash flows as of December 31, 2017 and 2018 (in thousands):
 

       

  As of December 31,
  2017  2018
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 155,933  $ 311,732
Restricted cash included in other current assets   15    5
Restricted cash included in other long-term assets   500   500

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash
flows  $ 156,448  $ 312,237

 
Marketable
Securities
 

Management determines the appropriate designation of marketable securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such
designation as of each balance sheet date. All of the Company’s marketable securities are designated as available-for-sale and
consist of tax-exempt municipal securities, variable rate demand notes, and corporate debt securities.

 
Available-for-sale marketable securities are carried at fair value as determined by quoted market prices or other inputs either

directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace for identical or similar assets, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax,
recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income within shareholders’ equity. Management reviews the
fair value of the portfolio at least quarterly, and evaluates individual securities with fair value below amortized cost at the balance
sheet date for impairment. In order to determine whether impairment is other than temporary, management evaluates whether the
Company intends to sell the impaired security and whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the
security before recovering its amortized cost basis.

 
If management intends to sell an impaired debt security, or it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the

security prior to recovering its amortized cost basis, an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to have occurred. The amount
of an other-than-temporary impairment related to a credit loss, or securities that management intends to sell before recovery, is
recognized in earnings. The amount of an other-than-temporary impairment on debt securities related to other factors is recorded
consistent with changes in the fair value of all other available-for-sale securities as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income within shareholders’ equity.

 
The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Amortization of premiums, accretion of discounts,

interest, dividend income and realized gains and losses are included in other income. The contractual maturity date of available-
for-sale securities is based on the days remaining to the effective maturity. The Company classifies marketable securities as either
current or non-current assets based on management’s intent with regard to usage of those funds, which is dependent upon the
security's maturity date and liquidity considerations based on current market conditions. If management intends to hold the
securities for longer than one year as of the balance sheet date, they are classified as non-current.
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Tuition
Receivable
and
Allowance
for
Doubtful
Accounts
 

The Company records tuition receivable and contract liabilities for its students upon the start of the academic term or
program. Therefore, at the end of the quarter (and academic term), tuition receivable generally represents amounts due from
students for educational services already provided and contract liabilities generally represents advance payments from students
for academic services to be provided in the future. Tuition receivables are not collateralized; however, credit risk is minimized as
a result of the diverse nature of the Universities student bases and through the participation of the majority of the students in
federally funded financial aid programs. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established primarily based upon historical
collection rates by group of receivable reflecting factors such as age of the balance due, student academic status, and size of
outstanding balance, net of estimated recoveries, and consideration of other relevant factors. These collection rates incorporate
historical performance based on a student’s current enrollment status and likelihood of future enrollment. The Company
periodically assesses its methodologies for estimating bad debts in consideration of actual experience.
 

The Company’s tuition receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows as of December 31, 2017 and 2018
(in thousands):

 
        

     December 31, 2017     December 31, 2018  
Tuition receivable  $ 35,809  $ 84,151  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (12,687)  (28,457) 

Tuition receivable, net  $ 23,122  $ 55,694  
 

 
Approximately $2.9 million and $1.1 million of tuition receivable is included in other assets as of December 31, 2017 and

2018, respectively, because these amounts are expected to be collected after 12 months.
 
The following table illustrates changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for each of the three years ended

December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
 

           

  2016  2017  2018  
Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginning of period  $ 10,024  $ 10,201  $ 12,687  
Additions charged to expense   16,503   21,751   37,704  
Additions from merger    —    —   6,601  
Write-offs, net of recoveries   (16,326)  (19,265)  (28,535) 
   Allowance for doubtful accounts, end of period  $ 10,201  $ 12,687  $ 28,457  
 
Property
and
Equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. In accordance with the Property,
Plant, and Equipment Topic, ASC 360, the carrying values of the Company’s assets are re-evaluated when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined that an impairment loss has
occurred based on expected undiscounted future cash flows, then a loss is recognized using a fair value-based model. Through
2018, no such impairment loss had occurred. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives ranging from three to 40 years. Depreciation and amortization expense was
$17.8 million, $18.7 million and $31.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively. Included in
the 2018 depreciation and amortization expense amount is $2.6 million of depreciation expense related to computer software
acquired in the CEC merger, which is included in the amortization of intangible assets line on the consolidated statements of
income.

 
Construction in progress includes costs of computer software developed for internal use, which is accounted for in

accordance with the Internal-Use Software Topic, ASC 350-40. Computer software development costs that are incurred in the
preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. During the development stage, direct consulting costs, payroll, and payroll-
related costs for employees that are directly associated with the project are capitalized and amortized over
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the estimated useful life of the software once placed into operation. Purchases of property and equipment and changes in accounts
payable for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in the consolidated statements of cash flows have been
adjusted to exclude noncash purchases of property and equipment transactions during that period.

 
Fair
Value
 

The Fair Value Measurement Topic, ASC 820-10 (“ASC 820-10”), establishes a framework for measuring fair value,
establishes a fair value hierarchy based upon the observability of inputs used to measure fair value, and expands disclosures about
fair value measurements. Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Under ASC 820-10, fair value of an investment is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or to transfer a liability to an entity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to assets and liabilities with readily available quoted prices in an
active market and lowest priority to unobservable inputs, which require a higher degree of judgment when measuring fair value,
as follows:

 
 Level 1 assets or liabilities use quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the measurement

date;
 

 Level 2 assets or liabilities use observable inputs, other than quoted market prices, that are either directly or indirectly
observable in the marketplace for identical or similar assets and liabilities; and

 
 Level 3 assets or liabilities use unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
 
The Company’s assets and liabilities that are subject to fair value measurement are categorized in one of the three levels

above. Fair values are based on the inputs available at the measurement dates, and may rely on certain assumptions that may
affect the valuation of fair value for certain assets or liabilities.

 
Goodwill
and
Intangible
Assets
 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the amount assigned to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. Indefinite-lived intangible assets, which include trade names, are recorded at fair value on their
acquisition date. An indefinite life was assigned to the trade names because the Company believes they have the continued ability
to generate cash flows indefinitely.

 
Goodwill and the indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed at least annually for impairment during the fourth quarter, or

more frequently if events occur or circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely than not reduce the fair
value of the respective reporting unit below its carrying amount.

   
Finite -lived intangible assets that are acquired in business combinations are recorded at fair value on their acquisition dates

and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Finite-lived intangible assets consist of
student relationships.

 
The Company reviews its finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If such assets are not recoverable, a potential impairment loss is
recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
 
Authorized
Stock
 

The Company has authorized 32,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $.01, of which 11,167,425 and 21,743,498
shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively. The Company also has authorized 8,000,000
shares of preferred stock, none of which is issued or outstanding. Before any preferred stock may be issued in the future, the
Board of Directors would need to establish the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as
to dividends, qualifications, and the terms or conditions of the redemption of the preferred stock.
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The Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $ 0.25  per common share in the first and second quarters of

2018 and a quarterly cash dividend of $0.50 per common share in the third and fourth quarters of 2018. The Company paid these
quarterly cash dividends in each of March, June, September and December of 2018.

 
Advertising
Costs
 

The Company expenses advertising costs in the quarter incurred.
 

Stock-Based
Compensation
 

As required by the Stock Compensation Topic, ASC 718, the Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for
all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors, including employee stock options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance stock units, and employee stock purchases related to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
based on estimated fair values. The Company records compensation expense for all share-based payment awards ratably over the
vesting period. For awards with graded vesting, the Company measures fair value and records compensation expense separately
for each vesting tranche. Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and, therefore, has been
adjusted for estimated forfeitures. The Company estimates forfeitures at the time of grant and revises the estimate, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The forfeiture rate used is based on historical experience. The
Company also assesses the likelihood that performance criteria associated with performance-based awards will be met. If it is
determined that it is more likely than not that performance criteria will not be achieved, the Company revises its estimate of the
number of shares it believes will ultimately vest. Refer to Note 11 for additional information.

 
Net
Income
(Loss)
Per
Share
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the periods. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur assuming
conversion or exercise of all dilutive unexercised stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock units. The dilutive effect of
stock awards was determined using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, all of the following are assumed
to be used to repurchase shares of the Company’s common stock: (1) the proceeds received from the exercise of stock options,
and (2) the amount of compensation cost associated with the stock awards for future service not yet recognized by the Company.
Stock options are not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share when the stock option exercise price of an
individual grant exceeds the average market price for the period.

 
Set forth below is a reconciliation of shares used to calculate basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for each of the three

years ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
 

       

    2016     2017     2018
Weighted average shares outstanding used to compute basic earnings per share   10,610  10,678  15,190
Incremental shares issuable upon the assumed exercise of stock options    5  39   —
Unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units   230  482   —
    Shares used to compute diluted earnings (loss) per share   10,845  11,199  15,190

 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, approximately 611,000 shares issuable in connection with stock options,

restricted stock and restricted stock units were excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation because the effect would have
been antidilutive due to the Company’s net loss during the period. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017, the
Company had no issued and outstanding awards that were excluded from the calculation.
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Comprehensive
Income
 

Comprehensive income includes net income and all changes in the Company’s equity during a period from non-owner
sources, which for the Company consists of unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable securities, net of tax. As
of December 31, 2018, the balance of accumulated other comprehensive income was $32.2 thousand, net of tax of $9.5 thousand.
There were no changes in equity from non-owner sources for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017. There were no
reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss to net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018.

 
Income
Taxes
 

The Company provides for deferred income taxes based on temporary differences between financial statement and income
tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.
Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that more likely than not will
be realized.

 
The Income Taxes Topic, ASC 740, requires the company to determine whether uncertain tax positions should be recognized

within the Company’s financial statements. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax
positions in income tax expense. Uncertain tax positions are recognized when a tax position, based solely on its technical merits,
is determined more likely than not to be sustained upon examination. Upon determination, uncertain tax positions are measured to
determine the amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that
has full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position is derecognized if it no longer meets the more likely than not
threshold of being sustained.

 
The tax years since 2015 remain open for federal tax examination and the tax years since 2014 remain open to examination

by state and local taxing jurisdictions in which the Company is subject.
 

Other
Investments
 

Through the merger with CEC, the Company holds investments in limited partnerships that invest in innovative companies
in the health care and education-related technology fields. Prior to the consummation of the merger, CEC accounted for these
investments at cost less impairment with subsequent adjustments for any observable price changes reflected within earnings. In
connection with the Company’s ongoing integration efforts to align accounting policies, the Company elected to account for the
investments in limited partnerships under the equity method beginning in the fourth quarter of 2018. The Company accounts for
the investments made through its venture fund, SEI Ventures, at cost less impairment as these investments do not have readily
determinable fair value.

 
Use
of
Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the period reported. The most significant
management estimates include allowances for doubtful accounts, useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets, fair
value of future contractual operating lease obligations, potential sublease income and vacancy periods, accrued expenses,
forfeiture rates and the likelihood of achieving performance criteria for stock-based awards, value of free courses earned by
students that will be redeemed in the future, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, and the provision for income taxes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
Recently
Adopted
Accounting
Pronouncements
 

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, which revises the accounting requirements related to the classification and
measurement of investments in equity securities and the presentation of certain fair value changes for financial liabilities
measured at fair value. The update also changes certain disclosure requirements associated with the fair value of financial
instruments. These changes will require an entity to measure, at fair value, investments in equity securities and other ownership
interests in an entity that do not result in consolidation and are not accounted for under the equity method – and recognize the
changes in fair value within net income. Entities that hold equity investments
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without readily determinable fair values will be able to elect to record those investments at cost less impairment with subsequent
adjustments for any observable price changes recognized in earnings. The Company has provided the required disclosures related
to its investments within Note 17. For its investments that are not accounted for under the equity method and are deemed to be
without readily determinable fair values, the Company has elected the option to record the investments at cost less impairment
and recognize subsequent adjustments for any observable price changes within earnings. The Company adopted this guidance as
of January 1, 2018 with no material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
 

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement
of
Cash
Flows
(Topic
230):
Classification
of
Certain
Cash
Receipts
and
Cash
Payments
(“ASU 2016-15”). ASU 2016-15 is intended to reduce diversity in practice in how certain cash
receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the Statement of Cash Flows by providing guidance on eight specific
cash flow issues. The Company adopted the standard retrospectively on January 1, 2018 with no material impact on its
consolidated statements of cash flows.
 

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement
of
Cash
Flows
(Topic
230):
Restricted
Cash
(“ASU
2016-18”). Under ASU 2016-18, an entity should include in its cash and cash-equivalent balances in the statement of cash flows
those amounts that are deemed to be restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents. The Company adopted ASU 2016-18
retrospectively on January 1, 2018 with no material impact on its consolidated statements of cash flows.
 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles
–
Goodwill
and
Other
(Topic
350):
Simplifying
the
Test
for
Goodwill
Impairment
, which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill only in the event that an impairment is
recognized. The amendments in this update should be adopted on a prospective basis for the annual or any interim goodwill
impairment tests beginning after December 15, 2019, though early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this guidance
effective as of January 1, 2018 and has applied it in the measurement of goodwill since the adoption date.

 
Recently
Issued
Accounting
Standards
Not
Yet
Adopted
 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases
(Topic
842)
(“ASU 2016-02”), which requires lessees to
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12 months. Under
current guidance, operating leases are off-balance sheet. ASU 2016-02 also requires more extensive quantitative and qualitative
disclosures about leasing arrangements. During 2018, the FASB has issued additional ASUs amending certain aspects of ASU
2016-02. ASU 2016-02 applies to fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2018, using the modified retrospective method,
with early adoption permitted. An entity may choose to use either its effective date or the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented in the financial statements as its date of initial application.
 

The Company will adopt the new standard on January 1, 2019 and will use the effective date as the date of initial application.
Accordingly, financial information will not be updated and the disclosures required under the new standard will not be provided
for dates and periods before January 1, 2019. The Company expects to elect the package of practical expedients permitted under
ASU 2016-02, which allows the Company to not reassess prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification, and
initial direct costs under the new standard. The Company anticipates that the impact of ASU 2016-02 on its consolidated balance
sheet will be material as the Company will record significant asset and corresponding liability balances in connection with its
leased properties. The final financial statement impacts will depend on the lease portfolio and discount rates as of the adoption
date. The Company does not expect ASU 2016-02 to have a material impact to the Company’s consolidated statements of income
and cash flows.
 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial
Instruments
–
Credit
Losses
(Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The new guidance revises the accounting requirements related to the measurement of
credit losses and will require organizations to measure all expected credit losses for financial assets based on historical
experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts about collectibility. Assets must be presented in the
financial statements at the net amount expected to be collected. The guidance will be effective for the Company's annual and
interim reporting periods beginning January 1, 2020, with early adoption
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permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact this standard will have on its financial condition, results of operations, and
disclosures.

 
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation
–
Stock
Compensation
(Topic
718):
Improvements
to

Nonemployee
Share-Based
Payment
Accounting
(“ASU 2018-07”), which simplifies the accounting for share-based payments
granted to nonemployees for goods and services. Under ASU 2018-07, most of the current guidance on such payments to
nonemployees would be aligned with the requirements for share-based payments granted to employees, including determination
of measurement date and accounting for performance conditions and for share-based payments after vesting. ASU 2018-07 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company
does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

 
Other ASUs issued by the FASB but not yet effective are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s

consolidated financial statements.
 

3.     Business Combinations
 
Merger
with
Capella
Education
Company
 

On August 1, 2018, the Company completed its merger with CEC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, pursuant to a merger
agreement dated October 29, 2017. The merger is expected to enable the Company to be a national leader in education innovation
that improves affordability and enhances career outcomes by offering complementary programs and sharing academic and
technological best practices, through a best-in-class corporate platform supporting two independent universities.
 

Pursuant to the merger agreement, the Company issued 0.875 shares of the Company’s common stock for each issued and
outstanding share of CEC common stock. Outstanding equity awards held by CEC employees and certain nonemployee directors
of CEC were assumed by the Company and converted into comparable Company awards at the exchange ratio. Outstanding
equity awards held by CEC nonemployee directors who did not serve as directors of the Company after completion of the merger
were converted to Company awards and settled. Outstanding equity awards held by former employees of CEC who left before
completion of the merger were settled upon completion of the merger in exchange for cash payments as specified in the merger
agreement.
 

The following table summarizes the components of the aggregate consideration transferred for the acquisition of CEC (in
thousands):
 
   

Fair value of Company common stock issued in exchange for CEC outstanding shares $ 1,209,483
Fair value of Company equity-based awards issued in exchange for CEC equity-based awards  27,478
Total fair value of consideration transferred $ 1,236,961

(1) The Company issued 10,263,775 common shares at a market price of $117.84 in exchange for each issued and outstanding share of CEC common
stock.

 
The Company applied the acquisition method of accounting to CEC’s business, whereby the excess of the acquisition date

fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of identifiable net assets was allocated to goodwill. Goodwill reflects
workforce and synergies expected from cost savings, operations, and revenue enhancements of the combined company that are
expected to result from the acquisition. The goodwill recorded as part of the merger has been provisionally allocated to the
Strayer University and Capella University reportable segments in the amount of $330.6 million and $395.2 million, respectively,
and is not deductible for tax purposes. 

 
The Company incurred $19.1 million of acquisition-related costs which were recognized in Merger costs in the consolidated

statements of income. Issuance costs of $0.1 million were recognized in additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance
sheets.
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The preliminary opening balance sheet is subject to adjustment based on final assessment of the fair values of certain
acquired assets and liabilities, primarily intangible assets and income taxes. As the Company finalizes its assessment of the fair
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, additional purchase price adjustments may be recorded during the measurement
period. The Company reflects measurement period adjustments, if any, in the period in which the adjustments occur. During the
fourth quarter of 2018, the Company reduced current assets by $0.5 million, long term assets by $1.4 million, and acquired
deferred income tax liability by $0.1 million, which resulted in a $1.8 million increase to goodwill recognized in connection with
the CEC merger.

 
The preliminary fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as well as a reconciliation to consideration transferred is

presented in the table below (in thousands):
 
    

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 167,859
Marketable securities, current   31,419
Tuition receivable   39,141
Income tax receivable   163
Other current assets   8,496
Marketable securities, non-current   34,700
Property and equipment, net   53,182
Other assets   14,556
Intangible assets   349,800
Goodwill   725,740
    Total assets acquired   1,425,056
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (46,735)
Contract liabilities   (39,000)
Deferred income taxes   (100,123)
Other long term liabilities   (2,237)
   Total liabilities assumed   (188,095)
         Total consideration  $ 1,236,961
 

The table below presents a summary of intangible assets acquired (in thousands) and the weighted average useful lives of
these assets:
 
      

     Weighted Average
   Fair Value  Useful Life in Years
Trade names  $ 183,800  Indefinite
Student relationships   166,000  3
  $ 349,800   
 

The Company determined the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on assumptions that reasonable
market participants would use while employing the concept of highest and best use of the assets and liabilities. The Company
utilized the following assumptions, some of which include significant unobservable inputs which would qualify the valuations as
Level 3 measurements, and valuation methodologies to determine fair value:
 

 Intangible assets - To determine the fair  value of the trade name, the Company used the relief from royalty approach.
The excess earnings method was used to estimate the fair value of student relationships.

 
 Property and equipment - Included in property and equipment is course content of $14.0 million, valued using the relief

from royalty approach, and internally developed software of $5.0 million, valued using the cost approach. Each will be
amortized over three years. All other property and equipment was valued at estimated cost.

 
 Contract liabilities - The Company estimated the fair value of contract liabilities using the cost build-up method, which

represents the cost to deliver the services plus a normal profit margin.
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 Other current and noncurrent assets and liabilities -  The carrying value of all  other assets and liabilities  approximated

fair value at the time of acquisition.
 

The operations of CEC were included in the consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition date. The revenue and net
loss for CEC reported within the consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $160.4 million
and $39.6 million, respectively.

 
Pro
Forma
Financial
information
 

The following unaudited pro forma information has been presented as if the CEC acquisition occurred on January 1, 2017.
The information is based on the historical results of operations of the acquired business, adjusted for:

 
 The allocation of purchase price and related adjustments,  including the adjustments to amortization expense related to

the fair value of intangible assets acquired.
 The exclusion of acquisition-related costs incurred during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018.
 Associated tax-related impacts of adjustments.
 Changes to align accounting policies.
The pro forma results do not necessarily represent what would have occurred if the acquisition had actually taken place on

January 1, 2017, nor do they represent the results that may occur in the future. The pro forma adjustments are based on available
information and upon assumptions the Company believes are reasonable to reflect the impact of this acquisition on the
Company’s historical financial information on a supplemental pro forma basis (in thousands).

 
       

    Pro Forma Combined
     Year Ended     Year Ended
  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2018
Revenue  $ 895,262  $ 923,945
Net Income   16,364   41,058

 
Acquisition
of
New
York
Code
and
Design
Academy
 

On January 13, 2016, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of the New York Code and Design Academy, Inc.
(“NYCDA”), a provider of web and application software development courses based in New York City. The acquisition supports
the Company’s strategy to complement its traditional degree offerings with a broader platform of educational services. The
Company incurred approximately $0.2 million of acquisition-related costs, which were included in general and administration
costs in the consolidated statements of income. The Company applied the acquisition method of accounting to the purchase of
NYCDA’s business.

 
The purchase price included $2.4 million paid up front in cash, plus contingent cash payments of (a) up to $12.5 million

payable based on NYCDA’s results of operations over a five-year period (the “Earnout”), and (b) $5.5 million payable based on
NYCDA’s receipt of state regulatory permits. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, $1.0 million of the Earnout may be
accelerated upon receipt of one of the state regulatory permits. The Company recorded total contingent consideration of $14.5
million at the time of acquisition. In April 2016 and August 2016, NYCDA received the state regulatory permits and the
Company paid $6.0 and $0.5 million of contingent consideration to the sellers, respectively.
 

In addition, the Company paid a total of $4.6 million to two of NYCDA’s founders who are required to remain employed for
at least three years from the acquisition date. If either of them terminates employment voluntarily, or is terminated for cause (as
defined), he is required to reimburse the Company his respective portion of the retention amount. This amount was classified as
prepaid compensation and is being amortized to compensation expense over three years.
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The allocation of the purchase price was as follows (in thousands):
 
     

  Purchase   
  Price   
  Allocation  Useful Life
Cash $ 790   
Other assets  1,265   
Intangibles:     
  Trade name  5,660   Indefinite
  Goodwill   13,944    
Liabilities assumed   (4,734)   
     Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed, net   16,925    
Less: contingent consideration   (14,500)   
Less: cash acquired   (790)   
     Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired $ 1,635   
 

The fair value of the Earnout was initially measured using a probability weighted discounted cash flow model based on
significant inputs not observable in the market (Level 3 inputs). Key assumptions included a discount rate of 4.5% and expected
future value of payments of $12.5 million. During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company revised its assumptions related to the
timing of future cash flows, which resulted in a $1.3 million decrease to the carrying value of the Earnout liability fair value.
During 2017, the Company further revised its near-term revenue projections for NYCDA and as a result estimated that no
amounts under the Earnout would be paid. Accordingly, the Company recorded a $7.8 million fair value adjustment to reduce the
Earnout liability to zero during the year ended December 31, 2017. The Earnout fair value adjustments are included in the Fair
value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets line on the consolidated statements of income. No fair value adjustments
were recorded to the Earnout liability in the year ended December 31, 2018. The maximum possible amount that could still be
paid under the Earnout is $11.5 million.
 

Pro forma financial information for the NYCDA acquisition has not been presented as it was not material to the Company’s
consolidated results.
 
4.     Revenue Recognition
 
Impact
of
Adoption
of
ASC
606
–
Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
 

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts
which were not completed as of January 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented
under ASC 606. The comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards
in effect in those reporting periods.
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The Company recorded an adjustment to reduce opening retained earnings by $0.2 million, net of tax, due to the impact of

adopting ASC 606, primarily related to the allocation of tuition revenue across various performance obligations involved in
certain student contract arrangements. In accordance with ASC 606, the disclosure of the impact of adoption on the Company’s
consolidated income statement and balance sheet as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 was as follows (in thousands):
 
          

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

     As Reported     
Balances without

Adoption of ASC 606  
Effect of Change
Higher/(Lower)

Income Statement                  
Revenues  $ 634,185  $ 634,248  $ (63)
Instruction and educational support expense    340,076    340,083    (7)
Benefit for income taxes   (3,468)  (3,453)  (15)
Net loss   (15,671)  (15,630)  (41)
                   
  As of December 31, 2018

     As Reported     
Balances without

Adoption of ASC 606  
Effect of Change
Higher/(Lower)

Balance Sheet                  
Tuition receivable – net  $ 55,694  $ 54,660  $ 1,034
Other current assets   15,814   17,142   (1,328)
Income taxes payable    419    500    (81)
Retained earnings   118,322   118,535   (213)
 
Revenue
Recognition
 

The Company’s revenues primarily consist of tuition revenue arising from educational services provided in the form of
classroom instruction and online courses. Tuition revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the period of instruction, which
varies depending on the course format and chosen program of study. Strayer’s educational programs and Capella’s GuidedPath
classes typically are offered on a quarterly basis and such periods coincide with the Company’s quarterly financial reporting
periods, while Capella’s FlexPath courses are delivered over a twelve-week subscription period.
 

The following table presents the Company’s revenues from contracts with customers disaggregated by material revenue
category for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018 (in thousands):
 
          

  2016  2017  2018
Strayer University Segment          
    Tuition, net of discounts, grants and scholarships  $ 418,220  $ 433,938  $ 451,646
    Other   16,933   15,609   19,458
Total Strayer University Segment   435,153   449,547   471,104
          
Capella University Segment          
    Tuition, net of discounts, grants and scholarships    —    —   147,138
    Other    —    —   7,780
Total Capella University Segment    —    —   154,918
          
Non-Degree Programs Segment   5,935   5,304   8,163
          
Consolidated revenue  $ 441,088  $ 454,851  $ 634,185

Other revenue is primarily comprised of academic fees, sales of textbooks, other course materials, and other revenue streams.
Non-Degree Programs revenue is primarily comprised of tuition revenue and placement fee revenue.
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Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers in an amount that

reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods and services. The Company
applies the five-step revenue model under ASC 606 to determine when revenue is earned and recognized.

 
Arrangements with students may have multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Company allocates net

tuition revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The Company generally determines
standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers and observable market prices. The standalone selling price of
material rights to receive free classes in the future is estimated based on class tuition prices and likelihood of redemption based on
historical student attendance and completion behavior.

   
At the start of each academic term or program, a liability (contract liability) is recorded for academic services to be provided

and a tuition receivable is recorded for the portion of the tuition not paid in advance. Any cash received prior to the start of an
academic term or program is recorded as a contract liability. Some students may be eligible for scholarship awards, the estimated
value of which will be realized in the future and is deducted from revenue when earned, based on historical student attendance
and completion behavior. Contract liabilities are recorded as a current or long-term liability in the consolidated balance sheets
based on when the benefit is expected to be realized.
 

Course materials available through Capella enable students to access electronically all required materials for courses in
which they enroll during the quarter. Revenue derived from course materials is recognized ratably over the duration of the course
as the Company provides the student with continuous access to these materials during the term. For sales of certain other course
materials, the Company is considered the agent in the transaction and as such the Company recognizes revenue net of amounts
owed to the vendor at the time of sale. Revenues also include certain academic fees recognized within the quarter of instruction,
and certificate revenue and licensing revenue, which are recognized as the services are provided. 

 
Graduation
Fund
 

In 2013, Strayer University introduced the Graduation Fund, which allows new undergraduate students to earn tuition credits
that are redeemable in the final year of a student’s course of study if he or she successfully remains in the program. New students
registering in credit-bearing courses in any undergraduate program receive one free course for every three courses that are
successfully completed. Students must meet all of Strayer University’s admission requirements, and must be enrolled in a
bachelor’s degree program. The Company’s employees and their dependents are not eligible for the program. Students who have
more than one consecutive term of non-attendance lose any Graduation Fund credits earned to date, but may earn and accumulate
new credits if the student is reinstated or readmitted by Strayer University in the future.

 
Revenue from students participating in the Graduation Fund is recorded in accordance with ASC 606. The Company defers

the value of the related performance obligation associated with the credits estimated to be redeemed in the future based on the
underlying revenue transactions that result in progress by the student toward earning the benefit. The Company’s estimate of the
benefits that will be redeemed in the future is based on its historical experience of student persistence toward completion of a
course of study within this program and similar programs. Each quarter, the Company assesses its methodologies and
assumptions underlying these estimates, and to date, any adjustments to the estimates have not been material. The amount
estimated to be redeemed in the next 12 months is $20.8 million and is included as a current contract liability in the consolidated
balance sheets. The remainder is expected to be redeemed within two to four years.
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The table below presents activity in the Graduation Fund for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 (in thousands):
 

         

    December 31, 2017       December 31, 2018  
Balance at beginning of period  $ 29,499       $ 37,400  
Revenue deferred   25,360    27,349  
Benefit redeemed   (17,459)   (21,420) 

Balance at end of period  $ 37,400   $ 43,329  
 
Unbilled
receivables
–
Student
tuition
 

Academic materials may be shipped to certain new undergraduate students in advance of the term of enrollment. Under ASC
606, the materials represent a performance obligation to which the Company allocates revenue based on the fair value of the
materials relative to the total fair value of all the performance obligations in the arrangement with the student. When control of
the materials passes to the student in advance of the term of enrollment, an unbilled receivable and related revenue is recorded.
Following adoption of ASC 606 on January 1, 2018, the balance of unbilled receivables related to such materials was $1.1 million
as of December 31, 2018, and is included in tuition receivable. 
 
5.     Restructuring and Related Charges
 

In October 2013, the Company implemented a restructuring to better align the Company’s resources with student
enrollments at the time. This restructuring included the closing of 20 physical locations and reductions in the number of campus-
based and corporate employees. A liability for lease obligations, some of which continue through 2022, was recorded and is
measured at fair value using a discounted cash flow approach encompassing significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The
estimation of future cash flows includes non-cancelable contractual lease costs over the remaining terms of the leases discounted
at the Company’s marginal borrowing rate of 4.5%, partially offset by estimated future sublease rental income discounted at
credit-adjusted rates. The Company’s estimates, which involve significant judgment, also consider the amount and timing of
sublease rental income based on subleases that have been executed and subleases expected to be executed based on current
commercial real estate market data and conditions, and other qualitative factors specific to the facilities. The estimates are subject
to adjustment as market conditions change or as new information becomes available, including the execution of additional
sublease agreements.

 
In 2017 and 2018, the Company incurred personnel related restructuring charges due to cost reduction efforts and

management changes. These changes are primarily intended to integrate CEC successfully and establish an efficient ongoing cost
structure for the Company. 
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The following details the changes in the Company’s restructuring liability for lease and related costs during the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018 (in thousands):

 
          

   
Lease and Related

Costs, Net  
Severance and Other
Employee Separation

Costs   Total
Balance at December 31, 2015   $ 20,055  $  —   $ 20,055
    Restructuring and other charges      —      —      —
    Payments     (6,438)     —     (6,438)
    Adjustments     (1,632)     —     (1,632)
Balance at December 31, 2016    11,985     —    11,985
    Restructuring and other charges      —     3,414     3,414
    Payments     (3,623)    (3,414)    (7,037)
    Adjustments     419      —     419
Balance at December 31, 2017    8,781    —    8,781
    Restructuring and other charges      —     16,319     16,319
    Payments     (2,684)    (1,972)    (4,656)
    Adjustments     443      —     443
Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 6,540   $ 14,347   $ 20,887

(1) The current portion of restructuring liabilities was $3.1 million and $9.8 million as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018, respectively,
which are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The long-term portion is included in other long-term liabilities.

(2) Restructuring and other charges of $3.4 million and $16.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively, are included in
Merger costs on the consolidated statements of income. There were no restructuring and other charges in the year ended December 31, 2016.

(3) Adjustments include accretion of interest on lease costs, partially offset by changes in the timing and expected income from sublease agreements.
 
 

6.     Marketable Securities
 

The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
 
            

 December 31, 2018

  Amortized Cost   
Gross

Unrealized Gain   

Gross
Unrealized

(Losses)   
Estimated Fair

Value
Corporate debt securities $ 48,202  $ 12  $ (284) $ 47,930
Tax-exempt municipal securities  22,858   45   (34)  22,869
Variable rate demand notes  4,000    —    —   4,000
    Total $ 75,060  $ 57  $ (318) $ 74,799
 

The marketable securities were acquired in the merger with CEC; the Company had no holdings of marketable securities
classified as available-for-sale as of December 31, 2017. The unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s investments in
municipal and corporate debt securities as of December 31, 2018 were caused by changes in market values primarily due to
interest rate changes. As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Company’s securities which were in an unrealized loss
position for a period longer than twelve months was $15.5 million. The Company does not intend to sell these securities, and it is
not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell these securities prior to the recovery of their amortized cost
basis, which may be at maturity. No other-than-temporary impairment charges were recorded during the year ended December 31,
2018.
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The following table summarizes the maturities of the Company’s marketable securities as of December 31, 2018 (in
thousands):

 
   

  December 31, 2018
Due within one year $ 37,121
Due after one year through five years  37,678
    Total $ 74,799

 
Amounts due within one year in the table above included $4.0 million of variable rate demand notes, with contractual

maturities ranging from 27 years to 30 years as of December 31, 2018. The variable rate demand notes are floating rate municipal
bonds with embedded put options that allow the Company to sell the security at par plus accrued interest on a settlement basis
ranging from one day to seven days. The Company has classified these securities based on their effective maturity date, which
ranges from one day to nine days from the balance sheet date.

 
The Company received $16.4 million of proceeds from the maturities of available-for-sale securities during the year ended

December 31, 2018. The Company did not record any gross realized gains or gross realized losses in net income during the year
ended December 31, 2018. Additionally, there were no proceeds from sales of marketable securities prior to maturity during the
year ended December 31, 2018.
 
7.     Property and Equipment
 

The composition of property and equipment as of December 31, 2017 and 2018 is as follows (in thousands):
 

          

                 Estimated useful 
  2017  2018  life (years)  
Land  $ 7,138  $ 7,138   —  
Buildings and improvements   20,739   20,883  5-40  
Furniture and office equipment   76,726   76,856  5-7  
Computer hardware   10,970   13,546  3-7  
Computer software   80,662   129,519  3-10  
Leasehold improvements   42,915   44,215  3-10  
Construction in progress   4,914   8,354   —  
   244,064   300,511    
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (170,301)  (177,834)   
  $ 73,763  $ 122,677    

 
Construction in progress includes costs associated with the construction and renovation of campuses and the development of

information technology applications. In 2017 and 2018, the Company recorded leasehold improvements of $1.2 million and $0.3
million, respectively, which were reimbursed by lessors as lease incentives. In 2017 and 2018, the Company wrote off $5.3
million and $17.8 million, respectively, in fixed assets that were fully depreciated and no longer in service.
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8.     Fair Value Measurement
 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of the following as of December 31, 2018 (in
thousands):

 
              

     Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using  
           Quoted Prices in     Significant        
     Active Markets  Other  Significant  
     for Identical  Observable  Unobservable  
  December 31,  Assets/Liabilities  Inputs  Inputs  
  2018  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  
Assets:              

Money market funds  $ 1,791  $ 1,791  $  —  $  —  
    Marketable securities:              

   Corporate debt securities   48,430    —   48,430    —  
   Tax-exempt municipal securities   22,869    —   22,869    —  
   Variable rate demand notes   4,000    —   4,000    —  

Total assets at fair value on a recurring basis  $ 77,090  $ 1,791  $ 75,299  $  —  
              

Liabilities:              
Deferred payments  $ 4,120  $  —  $  —  $ 4,120  

 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of the following as of December 31, 2017 (in

thousands):
 

              

     Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using  
     Quoted Prices in     Significant        
     Active Markets  Other  Significant  
     for Identical  Observable  Unobservable  
  December 31,  Assets/Liabilities  Inputs  Inputs  
     2017     (Level 1)     (Level 2)     (Level 3)  
Assets:              

Money market funds  $ 113  $ 113  $  —  $  —  
              

Liabilities:              
Deferred payments  $ 4,514  $  —  $  —  $ 4,514  

 
The Company measures the above items on a recurring basis at fair value as follows:
 
 Money market funds — Classified in Level 1 is excess cash the Company holds in both taxable and tax-exempt money

market funds, which are included in cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
Company records any net unrealized gains and losses for changes in fair value as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents held at December 31, 2017
and 2018, approximate fair value and are not disclosed in the above tables because of the short-term nature of the
financial instruments.
 

 Marketable securities – Classified in Level 2 and valued using readily available pricing sources for comparable
instruments utilizing observable inputs from active markets. The Company does not hold securities in inactive markets.

 
 Deferred payments — The Company acquired certain assets and entered into deferred payment arrangements with the

sellers in transactions that occurred in 2011 and 2016. The deferred payments are classified within Level 3 as there is no
liquid market for similarly priced instruments and are valued using models that encompass significant unobservable
inputs to estimate the operating results of the acquired assets. The assumptions used to prepare the discounted cash
flows include estimates for interest rates, enrollment growth, retention rates, obtaining regulatory approvals for
expansion into new markets, and pricing strategies. These
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assumptions are subject to change as the underlying data sources evolve and the programs mature. The short-term
portion of deferred payments was $1.7 million as of December 31, 2018 and is included in accounts payable and
accrued expense.

 
The Company did not change its valuation techniques associated with recurring fair value measurements from prior periods

and did not transfer assets or liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2017 or
2018.

 
Changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 liabilities during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 are as

follows (in thousands):
        

         

  
December 31,

2017  
December 31,

2018  
Balance as of the beginning of period  $ 11,741  $ 4,514  
Amounts paid   (1,133)  (1,412) 
Other adjustments to fair value   (6,094)  1,018  

Balance at end of period  $ 4,514  $ 4,120  
 

 
9.     Goodwill and Intangible Assets

 
Goodwill

 
The following table presents changes in the carrying value of goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31, 2017

and 2018 (in thousands):
 

             

  
Strayer

University  
Capella

University  
Non-Degree
Programs  Total

Balance as of December 31, 2016  $ 6,800  $  —  $ 13,944  $ 20,744
    Additions    —    —    —    —
    Impairments    —    —    —    —
    Adjustments    —    —    —    —
Balance as of December 31, 2017   6,800    —   13,944   20,744
    Additions   330,581   393,348    —   723,929
    Impairments    —    —   (13,944)  (13,944)
    Adjustments    —   1,811    —   1,811
Balance as of December 31, 2018  $ 337,381  $ 395,159  $  —  $ 732,540

 
The additions to goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2018 were due to the acquisition of CEC described in Note 3.

 
The Company assesses goodwill at least annually for impairment during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events

occur or circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the respective
reporting unit below its carrying amount. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded a $13.9 million
goodwill impairment charge related to its NYCDA reporting unit (which, following the merger, is included in the Non-Degree
Programs segment). The goodwill impairment charge represents the excess of the carrying value of the net assets of the NYCDA
reporting unit over its estimated fair value and is reflected within the Fair value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets
line in the consolidated statements of income. 

 
During the second and third quarters of 2018, the Company determined that the rate of growth reflected in the actual

operating results of its NYCDA reporting unit, in relation to the prior impairment assessments, in addition to information and
insights obtained through an operational and brand rationalization process following the CEC merger, represented triggering
events which warranted interim goodwill impairment re-assessments. In accordance with ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles -
Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Accounting for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-04”), the Company elected to bypass a
qualitative impairment assessment over goodwill and proceeded directly to performing quantitative impairment assessments as of
these interim assessment dates. Based on the results of the quantitative interim
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impairment assessments performed, the Company recorded a $2.8 million and $11.1 million goodwill impairment charge during
the second and third quarters of 2018, respectively, related to its NYCDA reporting unit.

 
The Company used an income-based approach to determine the fair value of NYCDA in its interim goodwill impairment

assessments. The income approach consisted of a discounted cash flow model that included projections of future cash flows for
NYCDA, calculating a terminal value, and discounting such cash flows by a risk-adjusted rate of return. The determination of fair
value consists of using unobservable inputs under the fair value measurement standards.

 
The Company believes that the most critical assumptions and estimates used in determining the estimated fair value of the

NYCDA reporting unit include, but are not limited to, the amounts and timing of expected future cash flows, the discount rate,
and the terminal growth rate. The assumptions used in determining the expected future cash flows consider various factors such as
historical operating trends, particularly in student enrollment and pricing, anticipated economic and regulatory conditions,
reasonable expectations for planned business expansion opportunities, and long-term operating strategies and initiatives. The
discount rate is based on the Company's assumption of a prudent investor's required rate of return for assuming the risk of
investing in a particular company. The terminal growth rate reflects the sustainable operating income a reporting unit could
generate in a perpetual state as a function of revenue growth, inflation, and future margin expectations. The Company also
believes that these assumptions are consistent with a reasonable market participant view while employing the concept of highest
and best use of the asset.

 
During the fourth quarter, the Company performed its annual impairment testing of goodwill assigned to its Strayer

University and Capella University reporting units. The Company first evaluated the likelihood of impairment by considering
qualitative factors relevant to the reporting units, such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost
factors, overall financial performance, and any other factors that have a significant bearing on fair value. Based on the results of
its qualitative impairment analysis, the Company determined that no impairment indicators existed for the Strayer and Capella
reporting units as of the assessment date. As such, no goodwill impairment charges were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2018.

 
There were no goodwill impairment charges recorded during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017.
 

Intangible
Assets
 

The following table represents the balance of the Company’s intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2018 (in thousands):

 
                   

  December 31,2017  December 31,2018

   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   Net   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   Net

Subject
to
amortization                    
    Student relationships  $  —  $  —  $  —  $ 166,000  $ (23,056) $ 142,944
Not
subject
to
amortization                   
    Trade names   7,260    —   7,260   185,400    —   185,400
         Total  $ 7,260  $  —  $ 7,260  $ 351,400  $ (23,056) $ 328,344

 
The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets are comprised of student relationships, which were recorded in connection with

the CEC merger. The student relationships intangible asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over a three-year useful life.
The Company had no finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2017.

 
Straight-line amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets reflects the pattern in which the assets' economic benefits

are consumed over their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets was $23.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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The following table presents future amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 (in
thousands):

 
   

2019 $ 55,333
2020  55,333
2021  32,278
2022   —
2023   —
2024 and thereafter   —
    Total $ 142,944

 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization consist of trade names. The Company assigned an indefinite

useful life to its trade name intangible assets, as it is believed these assets have the ability to generate cash flows indefinitely. In
addition, there are no legal, regulatory, contractual, economic, or other factors to limit the useful life of the trade name
intangibles.

 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed at least annually for impairment during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if

events occur or circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the respective
reporting unit below its carrying amount.

 
During the second and third quarters of 2018, the Company determined that the rate of growth reflected in the actual

operating results of its NYCDA reporting unit, in relation to the prior impairment assessments, in addition to information and
insights obtained through an operational and brand rationalization process following the CEC merger, represented triggering
events which warranted interim goodwill impairment reassessments. Accordingly, the Company performed a quantitative
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment assessment as of these assessment dates, using an income-based approach to
determine fair value. 
 

The income approach consisted of a discounted cash flow model, using the relief from royalty method, which included a
projection of future revenues for NYCDA, identifying a royalty rate, calculating a terminal value, and discounting such cash
flows by a risk adjusted rate of return. The determination of fair value of the NYCDA trade name primarily consists of using
unobservable inputs under the fair value measurement standards.

 
The Company believes that the most critical assumptions and estimates used in determining the estimated fair value of the

NYCDA trade name include, but are not limited to, the amounts and timing of expected future revenues, the royalty rate, the
discount rate, and the terminal growth rate. The assumptions used in determining the expected future revenues consider various
factors such as historical operating trends, particularly in student enrollment and pricing, anticipated economic and regulatory
conditions, reasonable expectations for planned business expansion opportunities, and long-term operating strategies and
initiatives. The royalty rate is based on the Company’s assumption of what a reasonable market participant would pay to license
the NYCDA trade name, expressed as a percentage of revenues. The discount rate is based on the Company's assumption of a
prudent investor's required rate of return for assuming the risk of investing in a particular company. The terminal growth rate
reflects the sustainable revenue growth the business could generate in a perpetual state as a function of inflationary expectations.
The Company believes that the assumptions used in the indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests are consistent with a
reasonable market participant view while employing the concept of highest and best use of the asset.
 

Based on the results of the quantitative interim impairment assessments performed, the Company recorded a $3.4 million
and $2.0 million indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charge related to its NYCDA trade name (which, following the
merger, is included in the Non-Degree Programs segment) during the second and third quarters of 2018, respectively. During the
fourth quarter of 2018 following the CEC merger, the Company impaired the remaining $0.3 million NYCDA trade name balance
related to the decision to stop teaching on-ground courses in early 2019.  The indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charge
represents the excess of the carrying value of the NYCDA trade name over its estimated fair value and is reflected within the Fair
value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets line in the consolidated statements of income. 
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During the fourth quarter, the Company performed its annual impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets. The
Company first evaluated the likelihood of impairment by considering qualitative factors, such as macroeconomic conditions,
industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, and any other factors that have a significant
bearing on fair value. Based on the results of its qualitative impairment analysis, the Company determined that no impairment
indicators existed for the indefinite-lived intangible assets as of the assessment date. As such,  no  intangible asset impairment
charges, other than the NYCDA trade name impairment discussed above, were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2018.

 
There were no indefinite-lived impairment charges recorded during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017.
 

10.      Long Term Debt
 

On August 1, 2018, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and
Term Loan Agreement and Amendment to Other Loan Documents (the “Second Amendment), which Second Amendment
amends the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2012 (as
amended by the First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of
July 2, 2015, the “Prior Credit Facility”, and the Prior Credit Facility as amended by the Second Amendment, the “Amended
Credit Facility”), among the Company, certain of its subsidiaries party thereto as subsidiary guarantors, SunTrust Bank, as
administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”), and the other lenders party thereto. The Amended Credit Facility provides for
a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to  $250  million and provides
the Company with an option, under certain conditions, to increase the commitments under the Revolver or establish one or more
incremental term loans (each, an “Incremental Facility”) in an amount up to the sum of (x)  $150  million and (y) if such
Incremental Facility is incurred in connection with a permitted acquisition, any amount so long as the Company’s leverage ratio
(calculated on a trailing four-quarter basis) on a pro forma basis will be no greater than 1.75:1.00.  The maturity date of the
Amended Credit Facility is August 1, 2023. The Amended Credit Facility replaced the Prior Credit Facility, which had provided,
among other things, for a $150 million senior secured revolving credit facility with an original maturity date of July 2, 2020. The
Company capitalized approximately $1.2 million in debt financing costs associated with the Amended Credit Facility, and these
costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of five years.

 
Borrowings under the Revolver will bear interest at a per annum rate equal to, at the Company’s election, LIBOR or a base

rate, plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.00% depending on the Company’s leverage ratio. The Company also is subject to a
quarterly unused commitment fee ranging from 0.20% to 0.30% per annum depending on the Company’s leverage ratio, times the
daily unused amount under the Revolver.

 
The Amended Credit Facility is guaranteed by all domestic subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions, and secured by

substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors. The Amended Credit Facility contains customary
affirmative and negative covenants, representations, warranties, events of default, and remedies upon default, including
acceleration and rights to foreclose on the collateral securing the Amended Credit Facility. In addition, the Amended Credit
Facility requires that the Company satisfy certain financial maintenance covenants, including:

 
 A leverage ratio of not greater than 2 to 1. Leverage ratio is defined as the ratio of total debt to trailing four-quarter

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and noncash charges, such as stock-based
compensation).

 
 A coverage ratio of not less than 1.75 to 1. Coverage ratio is defined as the ratio of trailing four-quarter EBITDA and

rent expense to trailing four-quarter interest and rent expense.
 
 A U.S. Department of Education (“Department”) Financial Responsibility Composite Score of not less than 1.5.
 
The Company was in compliance with all the covenants of the Amended Credit Facility at December 31, 2018.
 

101

 



Table of Contents

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018, the Company paid unused commitment fees of $0.4 million and $0.4
million, respectively, on the Prior Credit Facility and the Amended Credit Facility. The Company had no borrowings under the
Revolver during 2016, 2017 and 2018.

 
11.      Equity Awards
 

On November 6, 2018, the Company’s shareholders approved the Strategic Education, Inc. 2018 Equity Compensation Plan
(the “2018 Plan”), which replaced the Strayer Education, Inc. 2015 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2015 Plan”). The 2018 Plan
provides for the granting of restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options intended to qualify as incentive stock options,
options that do not qualify as incentive stock options, and other forms of equity compensation and performance-based awards to
employees, officers, and directors of the Company, or to a consultant or advisor to the Company, at the discretion of the Board of
Directors. Vesting provisions are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Options may be granted at option prices based at or
above the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant. The maximum term of the awards granted under the 2018 Plan is ten
years. The number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2018 Plan is 700,000, plus the number of shares
available for grant under the 2015 Plan at the time of stockholder approval of the 2018 Plan, plus the number of shares which may
in the future become available under the 2015 Plan due to forfeitures of outstanding awards.

 
As of December 31, 2018, no awards are issued or outstanding under the 2018 Plan. The Company has issued and

outstanding awards under the 2015 Plan, the Capella Education Company 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, and the Capella Education
Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (collectively, the “Prior Plans”).

 
Dividends paid on unvested restricted stock are reimbursed to the Company, and dividend equivalents accumulated on

unvested restricted stock units are forfeited, if the recipient forfeits his or her shares as a result of termination of employment
prior to vesting in the award, other than as a result of the recipient’s death, disability, or certain qualifying terminations in
connection with a change in control of the Company, or unless waived by the Company.

 
Restricted
Stock
and
Restricted
Stock
Units
 

The table below sets forth the restricted stock and restricted stock units activity for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2018:
 
       

     
Number   of 

shares or units     

Weighted- 
average 

Grant price  
Balance, December 31, 2015  634,327  $ 104.66  

Grants  188,737   50.63  
Vested shares  (23,539)  50.43  
Forfeitures  (72,425)  62.41  

Balance, December 31, 2016  727,100  $ 97.53  
Grants  75,140   82.18  
Vested shares  (84,908)  66.60  
Forfeitures  (1,204)  62.28  

Balance, December 31, 2017  716,128  $ 99.65  
Grants  159,005   93.30  
Awards assumed through acquisition of CEC  136,324   118.29  
Vested shares  (236,164)  76.78  
Forfeitures  (37,343)  83.69  

Balance, December 31, 2018  737,950  $ 114.43  
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Stock
Options
 

The table below sets forth the stock option activity and other stock option information for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2018:

 
            

               Weighted-       
      average    
    Weighted-  remaining  Aggregate  

  
Number  

of  average  contractual  intrinsic value  

     shares     
exercise  

price     life (years)     (in thousands)  
Balance, December 31, 2015  100,000  $ 51.95  5.1  $ 817  

Grants  —   —       
Exercises  —   —       
Forfeitures  —   —       

Balance, December 31, 2016  100,000  $ 51.95  4.1  $ 2,868  
Grants  —   —       
Exercises  —   —       
Forfeitures  —   —       

Balance, December 31, 2017  100,000  $ 51.95  3.1  $ 3,763  
Grants  —   —       
Awards assumed through acquisition of CEC  319,846   66.98       
Exercises  (162,831)  58.11       
Forfeitures/Expirations  (769)  51.96       

Balance, December 31, 2018  256,246  $ 66.80  7.0  $ 11,947  
Exercisable, December 31, 2018  108,317  $ 65.00  6.4  $ 5,245  

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock
price on the respective trading day and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been received by the
option holder had all options been exercised on the respective trading day. The amount of intrinsic value will change based on the fair market value
of the Company’s common stock.
 
The Company received $8.6 million of net cash proceeds related to stock options exercised during the year ended December

31, 2018. The aggregate intrinsic value of the stock options exercised during this period was $11.3 million. No stock options were
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017.
 
Valuation
and
Expense
Information
under
Stock
Compensation
Topic
ASC
718
 

At December 31, 2018, total stock-based compensation cost which has not yet been recognized was $17.8 million for
unvested restricted stock, restricted stock units, and stock option awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over the next 28
months on a weighted-average basis. Awards of approximately 530,000 shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units are
subject to performance conditions. The accrual for stock-based compensation for performance awards is based on the Company’s
estimates that such performance criteria are probable of being achieved over the respective vesting periods. Such a determination
involves judgment surrounding the Company’s ability to maintain regulatory compliance. If the performance targets are not
reached during the respective vesting period, or it is determined it is more likely than not that the performance criteria will not be
achieved, related compensation expense is adjusted. Restricted stock unit awards of approximately 9,100 shares are required to be
settled in cash upon vesting, and are classified as accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2018. The value of these awards is marked to market each period based on the fair value of the Company's
common stock at the end of the reporting period, and changes in fair value are recorded in earnings.
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The following table reflects the amount of stock-based compensation expense recorded in each of the expense line items for
the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018 (in thousands):

 
           

     2016     2017     2018  
Instruction and educational support  $ 1,432  $ 1,943  $ 2,572  
Marketing    —    —   585  
Admissions advisory    —    —   16  
General and administration   9,335   9,684   10,117  
Merger costs    —    —   2,242  

Stock-based compensation expense included in operating expense   10,767   11,627   15,532  
Tax benefit   4,256   4,593   3,922  

Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax  $ 6,511  $ 7,034  $ 11,610  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognized a tax shortfall related to share-based payment

arrangements of approximately $0.1 million, which was recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. During the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2018, the Company recognized tax windfalls related to share-based payment arrangements of
approximately $0.6 million and $3.5 million, respectively, which were adjustments to the provision (benefit) for income taxes. 
 
 
 

 
12.     Other Long-Term Liabilities
 

Other long-term liabilities consist of the following as of December 31, 2017 and 2018 (in thousands):
 

       

   2017      2018
Contract liabilities, net of current portion  $ 21,033  $ 23,880
Deferred rent and other facility costs   7,113   6,837
Employee separation costs    —   6,800
Deferred payments related to acquisitions    6,385    5,904
Loss on facilities not in use   5,652   4,332
Lease incentives   2,832   2,300
Other    —   1,263

Other long-term liabilities  $ 43,015  $ 51,316
 
Contract
Liabilities
 

As discussed in Note 4, in connection with its student tuition contracts, the Company has an obligation to provide free
classes in the future should certain eligibility conditions be maintained (the Graduation Fund). Long-term contract liabilities
represent the amount of revenue under these arrangements that the Company expects will be realized after one year.
 
Employee
Separation
Costs
 

Severance and other employee separation costs to be paid after one year.
 
Deferred
Rent
and
Other
Facility
Costs
and
Loss
on
Facilities
Not
in
Use

 
The Company records a liability for lease costs of campus and non-campus facilities that are not currently in use (see Note

5). For facilities still in use, the Company records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the initial term of a lease. The
difference between the rent payment and the straight-line rent expense is recorded as a liability.
 
Deferred
Payments
Related
to
Acquisitions

 
In connection with previous acquisitions, the Company acquired certain assets and entered into deferred payment

arrangements with the sellers. The deferred payment arrangements are valued at approximately $3.6 million and $3.1 

104

 



Table of Contents

million as of December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively. In addition, one of the sellers contributed $2.8 million to the Company
representing the seller’s continuing interest in the assets acquired.

 
Lease
Incentives
 

In conjunction with the opening of new campuses or renovating existing ones, the Company, in some instances, was
reimbursed by the lessors for improvements made to the leased properties. In accordance with ASC 840-20, the underlying assets
were capitalized as leasehold improvements and a liability was established for the reimbursements. The leasehold improvements
and the liability are amortized on a straight-line basis over the corresponding lease terms, which generally range from five to ten
years.

 
13.      Other Employee Benefit Plans
 

The Company sponsors the Strayer Education, Inc. 401(k) Plan and the Capella Education Company Retirement Savings
Plan which, collectively, cover all eligible employees of the Company. Effective January 1, 2019, participants under both plans
may contribute up to $19,000 of their base compensation annually and employee contributions under both plans are voluntary.
Discretionary contributions were made by the Company to participants of the Strayer Education, Inc. 401(k) Plan matching 50%
of employee deferrals up to a maximum of 3% of the employee’s annual salary. Under the Capella Education Company
Retirement Savings Plan, the Company matches 100% on the first 2%, and 50% on the next 4%, of the employee contributions.
The Company’s contributions to these plans totaled $1.1 million, $1.3 million and $3.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively.
 

In May 1998, the Company adopted the Strayer Education, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Under the ESPP,
eligible employees may purchase shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to certain limitations, at 90% of its market
value at the date of purchase. Purchases are limited to 10% of an employee’s eligible compensation. The aggregate number of
shares of common stock that may be made available for purchase by participating employees under the ESPP is 2,500,000 shares.
Shares purchased in the open market for employees for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018 were as follows:

 
       

     Shares     Average price 
  purchased per share  
2016  4,988  $ 46.46  
2017  4,718  $ 77.05  
2018  4,647  $ 100.34  

 

 
14.     Stock Repurchase Plan
 

In November 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to an aggregate of $15
million in value of common stock in open market purchases from time to time at the discretion of the Company’s management
depending on market conditions and other corporate considerations. The Company’s Board of Directors amended the program on
various dates, increasing the repurchase amount authorized and extending the expiration date. At December 31, 2018,  $70
million of the Company’s share repurchase authorization was remaining for repurchases through December 31, 2019. All of the
Company’s share repurchases were effected in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. This stock repurchase plan may be modified, suspended, or terminated at any time by the Company without notice.

 
Repurchases of common stock are recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital. To the extent additional paid-in

capital had been reduced to zero through stock repurchases, retained earnings was then reduced. No shares were repurchased
during each of the three years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018, and the Company has $70.0 million available for future
repurchases.
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15.     Commitments and Contingencies
 

The Universities participate in various federal student financial assistance programs which are subject to audit by agencies,
including the Department of Education, the Veterans Administration, and the Department of Defense. Management believes that
the potential effects of audit adjustments, if any, for the periods currently under audit will not have a material adverse effect,
individually or in the aggregate, on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company had 87 long-term, non-cancelable operating leases for campuses and other

administrative facilities. Rent expense was $33.7 million, $33.6 million, and $35.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively. Rent expense for 2016 includes a benefit of approximately $1.9 million, and rent expense for
both 2017 and 2018 includes a charge of approximately $0.3 million in each year to adjust the Company’s liability for losses on
facilities no longer in use. The rents on most of the Company’s leases are subject to annual increases.

 
The minimum rental commitments for the Company as of December 31, 2018 are as follows (in thousands):
 

     

     Minimum  
  rental  
  commitments  
2019  $ 33,600  
2020   28,399  
2021   23,485  
2022   13,770  
2023   10,316  
Thereafter   32,745  

Total  $ 142,315  
 

 
16.    Income Taxes
 

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Act”) was signed into law, making a broad range of tax
reform legislation affecting businesses, including, reducing the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after
December 31, 2017. The company recognized the income tax effects of the 2017 Act in accordance with Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 118 and revalued its federal deferred tax assets based upon the new 21% rate which resulted in an $11.4 million
provisional charge recorded to income tax expense during the year ended December 31, 2017. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company has now completed the accounting for all of the enactment-date income tax effects of the 2017 Act. During 2018, the
Company recognized a tax benefit of $1.2 million related to adjustments to the provisional amount recorded as of December 31,
2017.

 
The 2017 Act also allows for immediate full expensing for property placed in service after September 27, 2017 and before

January 1, 2023. The Company made the election to accelerate these deductions for the year ended December 31, 2017 tax
returns. In addition, the 2017 Act places limitations on the deductibility of certain executive compensation awards in the future.
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The income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 is summarized below (in
thousands):

 
           

     2016     2017     2018  
Current:           

Federal  $ 26,015  $ 21,156  $ 9,069  
State   4,869   4,477   3,785  

Total current   30,884   25,633   12,854  
Deferred:           

Change in federal tax rate due to the 2017 Act    —   11,375    —  
Federal   (7,748)  (3,193)  (13,381) 
State   (646)  (1,781)  (2,941) 

Total deferred   (8,394)  6,401   (16,322) 
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes  $ 22,490  $ 32,034  $ (3,468) 

 
The tax effects of the principal temporary differences that give rise to the Company’s net deferred tax asset (liability) are as

follows as of December 31, 2017 and 2018 (in thousands):
 

        

     2017     2018  
Stock-based compensation  $ 15,024  $ 19,834  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   3,250   7,943  
Contract liabilities   5,445   6,107  
Capital loss carryforward    —   4,174  
Other   1,217   3,650  
Other facility-related costs   2,622   2,080  
Deferred leasing costs   1,789   1,673  
Intangible assets   (1,196)  (82,022) 
Property and equipment   (3,326)  (18,441) 
Valuation allowance    —   (4,356) 
Prepaid compensation   (373)   —  

Net deferred tax asset (liability)  $ 24,452  $ (59,358) 
 

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2018 was $0 and $4.4 million, respectively.
The increase in the valuation allowance was primarily related to capital loss carryforwards acquired in the merger with CEC. The
Company concluded that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax asset for the capital loss carryforward would not be
realized due to a lack of history of recognizing capital gains.
 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2018, the Company’s liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits are included in other long-term
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Interest and penalties, including those related to uncertain tax positions, are included
in the provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of income. The Company recognized $0.2 million  and
$12,000 of expense related to interest and penalties in 2017 and 2018, respectively. The total amount of interest and penalties
included in the consolidated balance sheets was $0 and $36,000 as of December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively. 

 
The following table summarizes changes in unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, for the respective

periods (in thousands):
 
        

  Year Ended December 31,  
     2017     2018  
Beginning unrecognized tax benefits  $ 176  $  —  
Additions from merger    —   687  
Reductions for tax positions taken in prior years   (176)  (63) 
Ending unrecognized tax benefits  $  —  $ 624  
 

107

 



Table of Contents

The Company does not anticipate significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months. As of
December 31, 2018, $0.6 million of the Company’s total unrecognized tax benefits would favorably affect the Company’s
effective tax rate, if recognized.
 

A reconciliation between the Company’s statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2016,
2017, and 2018 is as follows:
 
           

     2016      2017      2018   
Statutory federal rate  35.0 %  35.0 %  21.0 %  
State income taxes, net of federal benefits  4.5   4.2   (1.4)  
Adjustment to deferred tax assets as a result of the 2017 Act   —   21.8    —   
Transaction costs   —   5.2   (6.2)  
Adjustments to contingent consideration  (0.3)  (5.0)   —   
Excess tax benefit on share-based compensation   —    —   15.5   
Impairment of intangible assets   —    —   (15.3)  
Acceleration of deductions due to change in tax law   —    —   6.4   
Other  0.1   (0.4)  (1.9)  

Effective tax rate  39.3 %  60.8 %  18.1 %  
 

Cash payments for income taxes were $31.6 million, $26.2 million, and $13.4 million in 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively.
 

17. Other Investments
 

At December 31, 2018, the Company held $13.4 million in investments in certain limited partnerships that invest in various
innovative companies in the health care and education-related technology fields. The Company has commitments to invest up to
an additional $2.0 million across these partnerships through December 2027. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company made investments totaling $0.7 million in the partnerships. The Company's investments range from 3%-5% of any
partnership’s interest and are accounted for under the equity method. The Company had no holdings of these other investments as
of December 31, 2017.
 
18.   Segment Reporting
 

Strategic Education is an educational services company that provides access to high-quality education through campus-based
and online post-secondary education offerings, as well as through programs to develop job-ready skills for high-demand markets.
Strategic Education’s portfolio of companies is dedicated to closing the skills gap by placing adults on the most direct path
between learning and employment.

 
Two of the Company’s operating segments that meet the quantitative thresholds to qualify as reportable segments are the

Strayer University and Capella University segments. The Strayer University segment is comprised of Strayer University,
including its programs offered through the the Jack Welch Management Institute; the Capella University segment consists of
Capella University. None of the Company’s other operating segments individually meet the quantitative thresholds to qualify as
reportable segments; therefore, these other operating segments are combined and presented below as Non-Degree Programs. The
Non-Degree Programs reportable segment is comprised of the DevMountain, LLC (“DevMountain”), Hackbright Academy, Inc.
(“Hackbright”), NYCDA, and Sophia Learning, LLC businesses.

 
Revenue and operating expenses are generally directly attributable to the segments. Inter-segment revenues are not presented

separately, as these amounts are immaterial. The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker does not evaluate operating
segments using asset information.
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A summary of financial information by reportable segment (in thousands) for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017, and
2018 is presented in the following table:

 
          

  2016  2017  2018
Revenues                 
    Strayer University  $ 435,153  $ 449,547  $ 471,104
    Capella University    —    —   154,918
    Non-Degree Programs   5,935   5,304   8,163
Consolidated revenues  $ 441,088  $ 454,851  $ 634,185
Income (loss) from operations          
    Strayer University  $ 67,991  $ 64,801  $ 68,188
    Capella University    —    —   6,340
    Non-Degree Programs   (13,732)  (8,225)  (5,920)
    Amortization of intangible assets    —    —   (25,694)
    Merger costs    —   (11,879)  (45,745)
    Fair value adjustments and impairment of intangible assets   3,213   7,512   (19,909)
Consolidated income (loss) from operations  $ 57,472  $ 52,209  $ (22,740)

 
The following table presents a schedule of significant non-cash items included in segment income (loss) from operations by

reportable segment (in thousands):
 

          

  2016  2017  2018
Depreciation and amortization                 
    Strayer University  $ 17,380  $ 18,268  $ 19,997
    Capella University    —    —   7,382
    Non-Degree Programs   437   465   741
    Amortization of intangible assets    —    —   25,694
    Merger costs    —    —   729
Consolidated depreciation and amortization  $ 17,817  $ 18,733  $ 54,543
Stock-Based compensation          
    Strayer University  $ 10,767  $ 11,627  $ 11,602
    Capella University    —    —   1,495
    Non-Degree Programs    —    —   193
    Merger costs    —    —   2,242
Consolidated stock-based compensation  $ 10,767  $ 11,627  $ 15,532
 

 
19.    Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
 

Quarterly financial information for 2017 and 2018 is as follows (in thousands except per share data):
 

              

  Quarter  
2017     First     Second     Third     Fourth  
Revenues  $ 114,912  $ 112,720  $ 108,512  $ 118,707  
Income from operations   18,443   13,854   8,224   11,688  
Net income (loss)   10,578   10,302   6,227   (6,495) 
Net income (loss) per share:              

Basic  $ 1.00  $ 0.96  $ 0.58  $ (0.61) 
Diluted  $ 0.95  $ 0.92  $ 0.56  $ (0.61) 
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  Quarter  
2018     First     Second     Third     Fourth  
Revenues  $ 116,469  $ 114,668  $ 160,945  $ 242,103  
Income (loss) from operations   11,328   4,184   (57,127)  18,875  
Net income (loss)   9,467   5,188   (52,781)  22,455  
Net income (loss) per share:              

Basic  $ 0.88  $ 0.48  $ (2.97) $ 1.05  
Diluted  $ 0.84  $ 0.46  $ (2.97) $ 1.02  

 
 

 
20.    Litigation
 

From time to time, the Company is involved in litigation and other legal proceedings arising out of the ordinary course of its
business. There are no material pending legal proceedings, other than routine litigation incidental to the business, to which the
Company is subject or to which its property is subject.

 
21.    Regulation
 

Gainful
Employment
 
Under the Higher Education Act, a proprietary institution offering programs of study other than a baccalaureate degree in

liberal arts (for which there is a limited statutory exception) must prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized
occupation. The Department of Education has published final regulations related to gainful employment that went into effect on
July 1, 2015, with the exception of new disclosure requirements, which generally went into effect January 1, 2017, but which
have now been delayed, to some extent, until July 1, 2019. Additionally, the Department announced, on June 16, 2017, its
intention to conduct negotiated rulemaking proceedings to revise the gainful employment regulations. Those proceedings began in
December 2017 and concluded in March 2018. The negotiating committee did not reach a consensus, and as a result the
Department was able to propose its own regulatory language with no obligation to use the language negotiated or agreed upon
during the committee meetings.

 
On August 14, 2018, the Department released draft rules which propose to rescind the gainful employment regulations,

including sanctions, appeals, and disclosure and certification requirements. The Department indicated its plans to update the
College Scorecard, or similar web-based tool, to provide program-level outcomes for all higher education programs at all
institutions that participate in the Title IV programs. The Department accepted public comments through September 13, 2018 and
the Department has indicated that it is currently drafting final rules. The Company cannot predict what new regulations will
ultimately be adopted. 

 
The current regulations include two debt-to-earnings measures, consisting of an annual income rate and a discretionary

income rate. The annual income rate measures student debt in relation to earnings, and the discretionary income rate measures
student debt in relation to discretionary income. A program passes if the program’s graduates:

 
 have an annual income rate that does not exceed 8%; or
 
 have a discretionary income rate that does not exceed 20%.
 
In addition, a program that does not pass either of the debt-to-earnings metrics and has an annual income rate between 8%

and 12%, or a discretionary income rate between 20% and 30%, is considered to be in a warning zone. A program fails if the
program’s graduates have an annual income rate of 12% or greater and a discretionary income rate of 30% or greater. A program
becomes Title IV-ineligible for three years if it fails both metrics for two out of three consecutive years, or fails to pass at least
one metric for four consecutive award years. The regulations provide a means by which an institution may challenge the
Department of Education’s calculation of any of the debt metrics prior to loss of Title IV eligibility. On January 8, 2017, Strayer
University and Capella University received their final 2015 debt-to-earnings measures. None of Strayer University or Capella
University programs failed the debt-to-earnings metrics. Two active Strayer University programs, the Associate in Arts in
Accounting and Associate in Arts in Business Administration, and one active Capella University program, the Masters of Science
in Marriage and Family
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Counseling/Therapy, were “in the zone,” which means each of those three programs remains fully eligible unless (1) the program
has a combination of zone and failing designations for four consecutive years, in which case it would become Title IV-ineligible
in the fifth year; or (2) the program fails the metrics for two out of three consecutive years, in which case the program could
become ineligible for the following award year. The Department has not yet released 2016 debt-to-earnings measures, and the
Department has announced that because it no longer has a data-sharing agreement with the U.S. Social Security Administration to
receive earnings data, the Department is currently unable to calculate the debt-to-earnings measures under the gainful
employment regulations.

 
If an institution is notified by the Secretary of Education that a program could become ineligible, based on its final rates, for

the next award year:
 
 The institution must provide a warning with respect to the program to students and prospective students indicating,

among other things, that students may not be able to use Title IV funds to attend or continue in the program; and
 
 The institution must not enroll, register, or enter into a financial commitment with a prospective student until a specified

time after providing the warning to the prospective student.
 
The current regulation also requires institutions annually to report certain student- and program-level data to the Department

of Education, and comply with additional disclosure requirements. Regulations adopted by the Department of Education require
an institution to use a template designed by the Department of Education to disclose to prospective students, with respect to each
gainful employment program, occupations that the program prepares students to enter, total cost of the program, on-time
graduation rate, job placement rate, if applicable, and the median loan debt of program completers for the most recently
completed award year. The regulation that became effective July 1, 2015 expanded upon those existing disclosure requirements,
and institutions were required to update their disclosure templates by July 1, 2017 and regularly in accordance with subsequent
deadlines thereafter.

 
In addition, the current gainful employment regulation requires institutions to certify, among other things, that each eligible

gainful employment program is programmatically accredited if programmatic accreditation is required by a federal governmental
entity or a state governmental entity of a state in which it is located or in which the institution is otherwise required to obtain state
approval to offer the program in that state. Institutions also must certify that each eligible program satisfies the applicable
educational prerequisites for professional licensure or certification requirements in each state in which it is located or is otherwise
required to obtain state approval, so that a student who completes the program and seeks employment in that state qualifies to take
any licensure or certification exam that is needed for the student to practice or find employment in an occupation that the program
prepares students to enter. The Universities have timely made the required certification.
 

Under the gainful employment regulation, an institution may establish a new program’s Title IV eligibility by updating the
list of the institution’s programs maintained by the Department of Education. However, an institution may not update its list of
eligible programs to include a failing or zone program that the institution voluntarily discontinued or became ineligible, or a
gainful employment program that is substantially similar to such a program, until three years after the loss of eligibility or
discontinuance.
 

The requirements associated with the gainful employment regulations may substantially increase the Company’s
administrative burdens and could affect the Universities’ program offerings, student enrollment, persistence, and retention.
Further, although the regulations provide opportunities for an institution to correct any potential deficiencies in a program prior to
the loss of Title IV eligibility, the continuing eligibility of the Company’s academic programs will be affected by factors beyond
management’s control such as changes in the Company’s graduates’ income levels, changes in student borrowing levels, increases
in interest rates, changes in the percentage of former students who are current in the repayment of their student loans, and various
other factors. Even if the Company were able to correct any deficiency in the gainful employment metrics in a timely manner, the
disclosure requirements associated with a program’s failure to meet at least one metric may adversely affect student enrollments
in that program and may adversely affect the reputation of the University.
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The
Clery
Act
 

Strayer University and Capella University must comply with the campus safety and security reporting requirements as well
as other requirements in the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (the “Clery
Act”), including changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013. On October 20,
2014, the Department promulgated regulations, effective July 1, 2015, implementing amendments to the Clery Act. In addition,
the Department has interpreted Title IX to categorize sexual violence as a form of prohibited sex discrimination and to require
institutions to follow certain disciplinary procedures with respect to such offenses. Failure by Strayer University or Capella
University to comply with the Clery Act or Title IX requirements or regulations thereunder could result in action by the
Department fining Strayer University or Capella University, or limiting or suspending its participating in Title IV programs, could
lead to litigation, and could harm Strayer University or Capella University’s reputation. The Company believes that Strayer
University and Capella University are in compliance with these requirements.
 

Compliance
Reviews
 
Strayer University and Capella University are subject to announced and unannounced compliance reviews and audits by

various external agencies, including the Department of Education, its Office of Inspector General (“ED OIG”), state licensing
agencies, and accrediting agencies. The Higher Education Act and Department of Education regulations also require an institution
to submit annually to the Secretary of Education a compliance audit of its administration of Title IV programs conducted by an
independent certified public accountant in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards and applicable
ED OIG audit guides. For fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2016, the Universities must submit such audits that have been
conducted in accordance with a revised guide for audits of proprietary schools that was issued by the ED OIG in September 2016.
In addition, to enable the Secretary of Education to make a determination of financial responsibility, an institution must submit
annually to the Secretary of Education audited financial statements prepared in accordance with Department of Education
regulations. The Department conducted four campus-based program reviews of Strayer University campuses in three states and
the District of Columbia, with one on-site review conducted August 18-20, 2014; one on-site review conducted September 8-11,
2014; and two on-site reviews conducted September 22-26, 2014. The reviews covered federal financial aid years 2012-2013 and
2013-2014, and two of the reviews also covered compliance with the Clery Act, and regulations related thereto. On October 21,
2014, the Department issued an Expedited Final Program Review Determination Letter for one of the program reviews conducted
the week of September 22, 2014, closing the program review with no further action required by the University. On November 17,
2014, the University received a Program Review Report for the program review conducted in August 2014, and provided a
response to the Department on December 15, 2014. On January 7, 2015, the University received a Final Program Review
Determination letter from that review, closing the review with no further action required by the University. On March 24, 2015,
the University received a Program Review Report for another program review, and provided a response to the Department on
April 21, 2015. On April 29, 2015, the University received a Final Program Review Determination Letter closing the review and
identifying a payment of less than $500 due to the Department of Education based on an underpayment on a return to Title IV
calculation. The University remitted payment, and received a letter from the Department on May 26, 2015, indicating that no
further action was required and that the matter was closed. On September 15, 2015, the University received a Program Review
Report for the final program review, and provided a response to the Department on October 5, 2015. On January 5, 2016, the
University received a Final Program Review Determination Letter for the final program review, indicating that the program
review was closed and no further action was required.

 
Capella University has not undergone a program review for several years.
 
Program
Participation
Agreement
 
Each institution participating in Title IV programs must enter into a Program Participation Agreement with the Department.

Under the agreement, the institution agrees to follow the Department’s rules and regulations governing Title IV programs. On
October 11, 2017, the Department and Strayer University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving Strayer
University’s continued participation in Title IV programs with full certification through June 30, 2021.
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As a result of the August 1, 2018 merger, Capella University experienced a change of ownership, with the Company as its

new owner. On January 18, 2019, consistent with standard procedure upon a Title IV institution’s change of ownership, the
Department and Capella University executed a new Program Participation Agreement, approving Capella’s continued
participation in Title IV programs with provisional certification through December 31, 2022.

 
22.   Subsequent Events

 
In February 2019, to align compensation and benefit plans after completion of the merger with CEC, the Compensation

Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors took action to terminate all deferred compensation arrangements, including for
employees already participating in such arrangements. These changes affect the tax deductibility of certain arrangements, which
will result in an approximately $11.5 million reduction to the Company’s deferred tax asset and an increase to the Company’s
future effective tax rates and cash tax payments.

 
In January 2019, the Higher Learning Commission, Capella University’s accreditor, held its standard

focused site visit six   months after the change of control. It is expected that HLC will issue its final report in
May 2019.
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Item 9.        Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants o n Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

None.
 

Item 9A.     Controls and Procedure s
 

The Company’s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has evaluated
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2018. Based upon such review, the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company had in place, as of December 31, 2018,
effective controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company (including
consolidated subsidiaries) in the reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules
thereunder, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by an issuer in reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive officer or officers and principal financial
officer or officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

 
The company completed its acquisition of Capella Education Company on August 1, 2018. As a result, management has

excluded this business from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. The total assets
of Capella Education Company, excluding the preliminary value of goodwill and acquired intangible assets, that were excluded
from the assessment represented approximately 18% of the company's total assets as of December 31, 2018. The total revenues of
Capella Education Company that were excluded from the assessment represented approximately 25% of the company's total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018.

 
Under the supervision, and with the participation of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial

officer, the Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018, based on the framework in Internal
Control
—
Integrated
Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our assessment under the framework in Internal
Control
—
Integrated
Framework
, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2018.

 
The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which appears herein.
 

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated any changes in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2018, and have concluded
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that there was no change during such quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Item 9B.     Other Informatio n
 

None
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PART II I
 

Item 10.        Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governanc e
 

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Company’s directors, executive officers, and significant
employees:

 
   

Name Age Position
Directors:    
Robert S. Silberman 61 Executive Chairman of the Board
J. Kevin Gilligan 64 Executive Vice Chairman and Director
Robert R. Grusky 61 Presiding Independent Director
Dr. Charlotte F. Beason 71 Director
Rita D. Brogley 53 Director
Dr. John T. Casteen III 75 Director
H. James Dallas 60 Director
Nathaniel C. Fick 41 Director
Karl McDonnell 52 Director, Chief Executive Officer
Todd A. Milano 66 Director
G. Thomas Waite, III 67 Director
J. David Wargo 65 Director
     
Executive Officers:    
Daniel W. Jackson 44 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Lizette B. Herraiz 44 Senior Vice President and General Counsel
Andrew E. Watt 41 Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
Christa E. Hokenson 48 Chief Human Resources Officer
Thomas J. Aprahamian 50 Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
   
University Officers:   
Brian W. Jones 50 President, Strayer University
Richard Senese, PhD 57 President, Capella University

 
Directors
 

Mr.
Robert
S.
Silberman
 has been a Director of the Company since March 2001. He was Chairman of the Board from
February 2003 to 2013 and Chief Executive Officer from March 2001 to 2013. Mr. Silberman was named Executive Chairman of
the Board in 2013. From 1995 to 2000, Mr. Silberman served in a variety of senior management positions at CalEnergy
Company, Inc., including as President and Chief Operating Officer. From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Silberman was Assistant to the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of International Paper Company. From 1989 to 1993, Mr. Silberman served in several
senior positions in the U.S. Department of Defense, including as Assistant Secretary of the Army. Since 2014, he has served as a
Managing Director of Equity Group Investments. He also serves on the Board of Directors of Twenty-First Century Fox, Inc.,
Covanta Holding Company, and Par Pacific Holdings; and is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations. Mr. Silberman holds
a bachelor’s degree in history from Dartmouth College and a master’s degree in international policy from The Johns Hopkins
University.

 
Mr.
J.
Kevin
Gilligan
served as the Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of Capella Education

Company beginning in March 2009, and was appointed the Chairman of the Board of Capella Education Company in February
2010, positions he held until being appointed as Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Strategic Education, Inc. on August 1,
2018. Mr. Gilligan is a member of the board of directors for Graco Inc., a publicly held manufacturer and supplier of fluid
handling equipment, and from September 2004 until February 2009 was a member of the board for ADC
Telecommunications, Inc., a publicly held global supplier of network infrastructure. Mr. Gilligan was previously the Chief
Executive Officer of United Subcontractors, Inc., a nationwide construction
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services company, from 2004 until February 2009. United Subcontractors voluntarily filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy on
March 31, 2009 and emerged from the bankruptcy proceedings on June 30, 2009. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Gilligan served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Automation and Control Solutions Group of Honeywell International, a diversified
technology and manufacturing company. From 2000 to 2001, Mr. Gilligan served as President of the Home and Building Control
Division of Honeywell International. Mr. Gilligan also served as President of the Solutions and Services Division of Honeywell
International from 1997 to 1999 and as Vice President and General Manager of the North American Region of the Home and
Building Control Division from 1994 to 1997. Mr. Gilligan holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from Boston College.

 
Mr.
Robert
R.
Grusky
 is the Founder and has been the Managing Member of Hope Capital Management, LLC, an

investment manager, since 2000. He co-founded New Mountain Capital, LLC, a private equity firm, in 2000 and was a Principal
and Member from 2000 to 2005, and has been a Senior Advisor since then. From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Grusky served as President of
RSL Investments Corporation. From 1985 to 1997, with the exception of 1990 to 1991 when he was on a leave of absence to
serve as a White House Fellow and Assistant for Special Projects to the Secretary of Defense, Mr. Grusky served in a variety of
capacities at Goldman, Sachs & Co., first in its Mergers & Acquisitions Department and then in its Principal Investment Area. He
also serves on the Board of Directors of AutoNation, Inc. Mr. Grusky has served on the Board since 2001, is the Chair of the
Nominating Committee, and currently serves as the Presiding Independent Director. He holds a bachelor’s degree in history from
Union College and a master’s degree in business administration from Harvard University.

Dr.
Charlotte
F.
Beason
  is a consultant in education and health care administration. She was Executive Director of the
Kentucky Board of Nursing from 2005 to 2012. From 2000 to 2003, Dr. Beason was Chair and Vice Chair of the Commission on
Collegiate Nursing Education (an autonomous agency accrediting baccalaureate and graduate programs in nursing). From 1988 to
2004, Dr. Beason was with the Department of Veterans Affairs, first as Director of Health Professions Education Service and the
Health Professional Scholarship Program, and then as Program Director, Office of Nursing Services. Dr. Beason has served on
the Board since 1996 and is a member of the Nominating Committee. She is also Chairwoman of the Strayer University Board of
Trustees. Dr. Beason holds a bachelor’s degree in nursing from Berea College, a master’s degree in psychiatric nursing from
Boston University and a doctorate in clinical psychology and public practice from Harvard University.

Ms.
Rita
D.
Brogley
is an experienced executive and entrepreneur in both early stage and large public companies. She joined
Facebook, Inc. in November 2016 and is the Head of Global Enterprise Partnerships for Messaging Platforms and Community
Management. Prior to that, Ms. Brogley served as President and CEO of MyBuys, a marketing technology company, from 2012
until its merger with Magnetic in 2015. From 2008 to 2011, Ms. Brogley was the CEO of Amadesa, a technology provider of
website testing and optimization, and from 2000 to 2002, she served as the President and CEO of Moxi Digital. Ms. Brogley
served as Director of Business Development and Marketing Europe for Microsoft TV from 1997 to 2000 and was a management
consultant with Bain and Company from 1995 to 1997. Ms. Brogley served on the Board of Capella Education Company from
2014 until her appointment to the Board of Strategic Education, Inc. on August 1, 2018. She is a member of the Compensation
Committee. Ms. Brogley holds a bachelor’s degree in industrial engineering from Northwestern University and a master’s degree
in business administration from the Harvard Business School.

 
Dr.
John
T.
Casteen
III
  is the President Emeritus and University Professor at the University of Virginia, where he teaches

courses in literature, cultural history, and public policy. He served as President of the University of Virginia from 1990 through
2010. He was President of the University of Connecticut from 1985 to 1990. From 1982 to 1985, Dr. Casteen served as the
Secretary of Education for the Commonwealth of Virginia. Dr. Casteen is on the board of directors of Altria, Inc. Dr. Casteen is
also director of a number of charitable and privately-held business entities, including ECHO 360, and the Jamestown-Yorktown
Foundation. He has chaired the boards of both the College Entrance Examination Board and the Association of American
Universities. Dr. Casteen has been a member of the Board since 2011, and is on the Nominating Committee of the Board.
Dr. Casteen holds a bachelor’s degree, master’s degree and a Ph.D. in English from the University of Virginia, as well as several
honorary degrees, including degrees from the Universities of Athens (Greece) and Edinburgh (Scotland) and two community
colleges in Virginia.
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Mr.
H.
James
Dallas
  has been an independent consultant since September 2013, focusing on information technology
strategy, risk, and change management through James Dallas & Associates. From March 2006 until September 2013, Mr. Dallas
was with Medtronic Public Limited Company, a manufacturer of cardiac and other specialized medical devices. He was
responsible for various aspects of Medtronic’s operations, serving first as Medtronic’s Senior Vice President and Chief
Information Officer and most recently, from 2008 to 2013, as Senior Vice President, Quality and Operations. Prior to joining
Medtronic, Mr. Dallas was with Georgia-Pacific Corporation, a maker of tissue, pulp, paper, packaging, building products and
related chemicals, from 1984 to 2006. While at Georgia-Pacific, Mr. Dallas held various roles of increasing responsibility, ending
his career with Georgia-Pacific as its Vice President and Chief Information Officer from 2002 to 2006. In addition, Mr. Dallas
also serves as a director of the non-profits Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation and the Atlanta Community Food Bank. Prior to
joining the Board of Strategic Education on August 1, 2018, on which he serves as a member of the Audit Committee, he served
on the Board of Capella Education Company. He also serves on the boards of KeyCorp and WellCare Health Plans, Inc.
Mr. Dallas holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the University of South Carolina-Aiken, and a master’s of business
administration from Emory University.

 
Mr.
Nathaniel
C.
Fick
 is the Chief Executive Officer of Endgame, a technology firm focusing on cybersecurity. He

previously served as a Captain in the United States Marine Corps, leading infantry and reconnaissance units in combat in
Afghanistan and Iraq. His book about that experience, “One Bullet Away,” was a New York Times bestseller, a Washington Post
“Best Book of the Year,” and one of the Military Times’ “Best Military Books of the Decade.” Mr. Fick is a graduate of
Dartmouth College, the Harvard Kennedy School, and the Harvard Business School, and serves as a Trustee of Dartmouth
College. Mr. Fick was elected to the Board in 2016, and serves on the Audit Committee.

 
Mr.
Karl
McDonnell
  was named Chief Executive Officer of the Company in May 2013, and served as President and Chief

Operating Officer from 2006 to 2013. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. McDonnell served as Chief Operating Officer of
InteliStaf Healthcare, Inc., one of the nation’s largest privately-held healthcare staffing firms. Prior to his tenure at InteliStaf, he
served as Vice President of the Investment Banking Division at Goldman, Sachs & Co. Mr. McDonnell has held senior
management positions with several Fortune 100 companies, including The Walt Disney Company. Mr. McDonnell has served on
the Board since 2011. Mr. McDonnell holds a bachelor’s degree from Virginia Wesleyan College and a master’s degree in
business administration from Duke University.

 
Mr.
Todd
A.
Milano
  is President Emeritus and Ambassador of Central Penn College, where he served as President and

Chief Executive Officer from 1989 to 2012. Mr. Milano has served on the Board since 1996 and is a member of the
Compensation Committee of the Board. Mr. Milano served as a member of the Strayer University Board of Trustees from 1992
until December 2018. Mr. Milano holds a bachelor’s degree in industrial management from Purdue University.

 
Mr.
G.
Thomas
Waite,
III
has been Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Humane Society of the United States since

1997 and prior to that served as Controller beginning in 1993. In 1992, Mr. Waite was the Director of Commercial Management
of The National Housing Partnership. Mr. Waite has served on the Board since 1996, is Chair of the Audit Committee, and is a
former member of the Strayer University Board of Trustees. Mr. Waite holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from the
University of Virginia and is a Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Waite is a leader in philanthropy and the non-profit sector, which
is the Company’s indispensable partner in fulfilling our mission of providing quality education to working adults.

 
Mr.
J.
David
Wargo
 has been President of Wargo and Company, Inc., an investment management company, since 1993. Mr.

Wargo is a co-founder and was a Member of New Mountain Capital, LLC, from 2000 to 2008, and was a Senior Advisor there
from 2008 until 2011. From 1989 to 1992, Mr. Wargo was a Managing Director and Senior Analyst of The Putnam Companies, a
Boston-based investment management company. From 1985 to 1989, Mr. Wargo was a partner and held other positions at Marble
Arch Partners. Mr. Wargo is also a Director of Liberty Global, plc, Discovery Communications, Inc., Liberty Broadband
Corporation, Liberty TripAdvisor Holdings, Inc., and Discovery, Inc. Mr. Wargo has served on the Board since 2001 and is Chair
of the Compensation Committee of the Board. Mr. Wargo holds a bachelor’s degree in physics and a master’s degree in nuclear
engineering, both from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He also holds a master’s degree in management science from
the Sloan School of Management, which is the business school of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
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Executive Officers
 

Mr.
Daniel
W.
Jackson
is Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Jackson has been with the company
since 2003 and has served as Senior Vice President of Finance, Regional Vice President of Operations, Director of Business
Operations, Campus Director, and Manager of Financial Analysis. Prior to joining Strayer, Mr. Jackson was an Equity Research
Associate with Legg Mason Wood Walker, and Director of Operations for Fairmont Schools, Inc. Mr. Jackson holds a bachelor’s
degree in international affairs from the University of Colorado at Boulder, and a master’s degree in business administration from
Georgetown University.

 
Ms.
Lizette
B.
Herraiz
is Senior Vice President, General Counsel. Ms. Herraiz has been with the Company since 2013. She

previously served as Deputy General Counsel of Strayer Education, Inc., and as General Counsel of Strayer University. Prior to
joining Strayer, Ms. Herraiz served in the United States Department of Justice as a Deputy Assistant Attorney General in the
Office of Justice Programs, and as Counsel in the Office of Legal Policy. Ms. Herraiz earned a Bachelor of Arts in Government
from the University of Virginia, and her Juris Doctor from the George Mason University School of Law.

 
Mr.
Andrew
E.
Watt
is Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Watt previously served as Senior Vice President of Post-Secondary

Education to SEI, and previously under the same title to Capella Education Company. Prior to service as SVP of Post-Secondary
Education, Andy served as vice president of Colleges and University Operations and Capella University’s chief operations officer
from 2014 to 2019. He has held a variety of leadership positions across Capella University, including roles in Operations,
Finance, Analytics and its Markets & Products team. Before joining Capella, he worked in transaction advisory services at both
Deloitte & Touche LLP and Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Watt graduated from the University of St. Thomas with a bachelor’s
degree in finance and accounting.

 
Ms.
Christa
E.
Hokenson
i
s  Chief Human Resources Officer. Ms. Hokenson joined SEI in 2018 and brings more than 20

years of experience in business leadership, organizational consulting, and HR strategy. Previously, Ms. Hokenson was Managing
Director and Chief Human Resources Officer at ProShares, and held HR leadership positions at Capital One in both Europe and
the U.S. She earned a Bachelor of Arts degree from The College of William & Mary.

 
Mr.
Thomas
J.
Aprahamian
is Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer. Mr. Aprahamian has been

with the Company since 2009 and has served as University Controller and Vice President and Controller. Mr. Aprahamian
previously held a variety of accounting operations and financial reporting roles including the Chief Accounting Officer at The
Advisory Board Company, where he served from 2001 to 2007. Prior to that he spent seven years in the telecommunications
industry and began his career at Arthur Andersen & Co. Mr. Aprahamian passed the CPA exam in 1992 and earned his bachelor
of business administration degree from James Madison University.
 
University Officers

 
Mr.
Brian
W.
Jones
is Strayer University President. Mr. Jones joined Strayer University in 2012 as the General Counsel.

Prior to joining Strayer University, he co-founded and served as president of Latimer Education, Inc., a venture-backed company
partnering with a historically black college to provide online post-secondary education solutions to African American working
adults. He previously served for four years as the U.S. Department of Education’s general counsel, a Senate-confirmed
presidential appointment, under former Secretary of Education Rod Paige, among other senior higher education roles. Jones
currently chairs the board of the National Alliance for Public Charter Schools. He previously served as chair of the D.C. Public
Charter School Board (PCSB), having been twice nominated by the Secretary of Education and appointed by the Mayor of the
District of Columbia. Mr. Jones holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration from Georgetown University and a juris
doctor degree from the University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) School of Law.

 
Dr.
Richard
Senese
is Capella University President. He served as vice president of Academic Affairs and chief academic

officer for Capella University from 2014 to 2015 and became interim president in 2015. Dr. Senese served in leadership roles
with the University of Minnesota Extension for 13 years. He has taught at a number of Minnesota-based institutions, including St.
Olaf College, Metropolitan State University, and the College of St. Scholastica, and served previously as the associate dean for
Capella University’s Harold Abel School of Psychology. Dr. Senese received his PhD from the University of Minnesota
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through the Counseling and Student Personnel Psychology program within the Department of Educational Psychology. He is a
licensed psychologist.

 
Additional information responsive to this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the sections titled “Election of

Directors,” “Board Structure,” “Code of Ethics” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in
the Company’s Proxy Statement, which will be filed no later than 120 days following December 31, 2018.
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Item 11.      Executive Compensatio n
 

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis” and the related tables and narrative thereto, “Director Compensation” and the related tables thereto,
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation Committee Report” to be contained in the
Company’s Proxy Statement, which will be filed no later than 120 days following December 31, 2018.
 
Item 12.      Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managemen t 

 
The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Beneficial Ownership of

Common Stock” and “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” to be contained in the Company’s
Proxy Statement, which will be filed no later than 120 days following December 31, 2018.

 
 

Item 13.      Certain Relationships and Related Transaction s, and Director Independence
 
The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Board Structure” and

“Certain Transactions with Related Parties” to be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement, which will be filed no later than
120 days following December 31, 2018.
 
Item 14.      Principal Accounting Fees and Service s 

 
The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Proposal 2 —

Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” to be contained in the Company’s Proxy
Statement, which will be filed no later than 120 days following December 31, 2018.

PART I V
 

Item 15.      Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule s
 
(A)(1) Financial Statements
 

All required financial statements of the registrant are set forth under Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.
 
(A)(2) Financial Statement Schedule
 

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
 
(A)(3) Exhibits
 

The exhibits required to be filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index attached hereto
and are incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit Index
 
   

Exhibit 
Number     Description 

  
2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Company, Capella and Sarg Sub Inc., dated as of October 29, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission
on October 30, 2017).    

3.1
 

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 1, 2018).

   
3.2

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 1, 2018).

   
4.1

 
Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of Amendment No. 3 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-3967) filed with the Commission on July 16, 1996).

   
10.1

 

Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2012,
among the Company, SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders and agents party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on November 9, 2012).

   
10.2

 

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July
2, 2015, among the Company, Strayer University, LLC, SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, and the other
lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on July 8, 2015).

   
10.3

 

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of
August 1, 2018, among the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company party thereto as subsidiary guarantors,
SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 1, 2018).

   
10.4

 
Supplement and Joinder Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2015, among the Company, Strayer University, LLC,
SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, and other lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 8, 2015).

10.5†

 
Employment Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2001, between Strayer Education, Inc. and Robert S. Silberman
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-21039)
filed with the Commission on March 28, 2002).

   
10.6†

 
Transition Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2017, between Capella Education Company and J. Kevin Gilligan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-21039)
filed with the Commission on November 8, 2018).

10.7†
 

Strayer Education, Inc. 2011 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement (File No. 000-21039) filed with the Commission on March 29, 2011).

   
10.8†

 
Strayer Education, Inc. 2015 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Company’s
definitive proxy statement filed on March 13, 2015).
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10.9†

 
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement — Time Based — under the 2015 Equity Compensation Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the
Commission on May 5, 2015).

   
10.10†

 
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement — Performance Based — under the 2015 Equity Compensation Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the
Commission on May 5, 2015) .

   
10.11†

 
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2015 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Commission on May
5, 2015).

10.12†
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Commission on May 5, 2015).

10.13†
 

Strategic Education, Inc. 2018 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Commission on November 8, 2018).

10.14†* Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement — Time Based — under the 2018 Equity Compensation Plan.
10.15†* Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement — Performance Based — under the 2018 Equity Compensation Plan.
10.16†* Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2018 Equity Compensation Plan.
10.17†* Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement – Non-Employee Director – under the 2018 Equity Compensation Plan
10.18†

 
Capella Education Company 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Capella
Education Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the Commission on June 6, 2005).

10.19†

 
Capella Education Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Capella
Education Company’s definitive Proxy Statement (File No. 1-33140) for its 2014 annual meeting of shareholders
filed with the Commission on March 24, 2014).

10.20†*
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement – Time Based – under the Capella Education Company 2014 Equity
Compensation Plan.

10.21†*
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement – Performance Based – under the Capella Education Company 2014
Equity Compensation Plan.

10.22†*
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement – Non-Employee Director – under the Capella Education Company
2014 Equity Compensation Plan.

21.1* Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.1* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
24.1* Power of Attorney (included in signature page hereto).
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Act.
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Act.

32.1**
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2**
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* XBRL Schema Document
101.CAL* XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Labels Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Definition Linkbase Document

*         Filed herewith.
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**       Furnished herewith.
†        Denotes management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.
 
Item 16.     Item 10-K Summary
 

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURE S
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
 STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
  
 By:/s/ Karl McDonnell
  Karl McDonnell
  Chief Executive Officer
 
Date: March 1, 2019
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Karl
McDonnell and Daniel W. Jackson, and each of them individually, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with
full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and his or her name, place and stead in any and all capacities, to sign
the report and any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, full power
and authority to perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the date indicated.
 

SIGNATURES     TITLE     DATE
     

     
/s/ Robert S. Silberman  Executive Chairman of the Board  March 1, 2019

Robert S. Silberman     
     

     
/s/ J. Kevin Gilligan  Executive Vice Chairman and Director  March 1, 2019

J. Kevin Gilligan     
     

/s/ Karl McDonnell  Chief Executive Officer and Director  March 1, 2019
Karl McDonnell  (Principal Executive Officer)   

     

     
/s/ Daniel W. Jackson  Chief Financial Officer  March 1, 2019

Daniel W. Jackson  (Principal Financial Officer)   
     

     
/s/ Thomas J. Aprahamian  Controller and Chief Accounting Officer  March 1, 2019

Thomas J. Aprahamian  (Principal Accounting Officer)   
     

     
/s/ Charlotte F. Beason  Director  March 1, 2019

Charlotte F. Beason     
     

     
/s/ Rita D. Brogley  Director  March 1, 2019

Rita D. Brogley     
     

/s/ H. James Dallas  Director  March 1, 2019
H. James Dallas     

     
/s/ John T. Casteen, III  Director  March 1, 2019

John T. Casteen, III     
     

/s/ Nathaniel C. Fick  Director  March 1, 2019
Nathaniel C. Fick     
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/s/ Robert R. Grusky  Director  March 1, 2019

Robert R. Grusky     
     

 
 
 
     

/s/ Todd A. Milano  Director  March 1, 2019
Todd A. Milano     

     

     
/s/ G. Thomas Waite, III  Director  March 1, 2019

G. Thomas Waite, III     
     

     
/s/ J. David Wargo  Director  March 1, 2019

J. David Wargo     
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Exhibit 10.14

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT (TIME BASED) GRANTED
UNDER THE 2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

Strategic  Education,  Inc.,  a  Maryland  corporation  (the  “Corporation”),  hereby  grants  shares  of  its  common
stock, $.01 par value (the “Stock”) to the Grantee named below, subject to the vesting conditions set forth below and
in  the  attachment.   Additional  terms  and  conditions  of  the  grant  are  set  forth  in  this  cover  sheet,  in  the  attached
Restricted Stock Agreement (together the “Agreement”), and in the Corporation’s 2018 Equity Compensation Plan
(the “Plan”).
   

Grant Date:   
   
Name of Grantee:   
   
Number of Shares of Stock
Covered by Grant:  

  

   
Vesting:  Subject to special provisions for Termination of Service and Change in Control

Resulting  in  Termination  as  described  in  the  Agreement  and  the  Plan,  the
restricted stock will vest as follows:


     100% on
   
Cash Dividends:  Grantee  will  have the  right  to  receive  any cash dividends  declared  or  paid  on

the restricted stock unless and until forfeited.
 

By
signing
this
cover
sheet,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
in
the
Agreement
and
in
the
Plan,
a
copy
of
which
is
attached.

IN
PARTICULAR,
YOU
ACKNOWLEDGE
THAT
THIS
RESTRICTED
STOCK 
GRANT 
CONSTITUTES 
CONSIDERATION 
FOR 
YOUR 
ACCEPTANCE 
OF 
THE 
NON-
COMPETITION 
PROVISIONS 
CONTAINED 
IN 
THE 
AGREEMENT.
 
You 
acknowledge 
that 
you 
have
carefully 
reviewed 
the 
Plan, 
and 
agree 
that 
the 
Plan 
will 
control 
in 
the 
event 
any 
provision 
of 
this 
Agreement
should
appear
to
be
inconsistent.

Grantee:  
 (Signature)

Corporation:  
 (Signature)
  
 Title:  

1
 

 



Attachment

This
is
not
a
stock
certificate
or
a
negotiable
instrument
.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

Restricted Stock This grant is an award of Stock in the number of shares set forth on the cover
sheet  subject  to  the  vesting  conditions  set  forth  in  the  cover  sheet  and
described below (“Restricted Stock” or the “Award”). 

Transfer of Unvested Restricted
Stock
 

To  the  extent  not  yet  vested,  your  Restricted  Stock  may  not  be  transferred,
assigned, pledged or hypothecated, whether by operation of law or otherwise,
nor  may  the  Restricted  Stock  be  made  subject  to  execution,  attachment  or
similar process.  If you attempt to do any of these things, you will immediately
forfeit the shares of Restricted Stock.

Issuance and Vesting The Corporation will issue your Restricted Stock in the name set forth on the
cover sheet of this Agreement as of the Grant Date.

Your  right  to  the  Stock  under  this  Restricted  Stock  Agreement  vests  in
accordance  with  the  vesting criteria  (if  any)  and schedule  on the cover  sheet
and Exhibit A .

Notwithstanding the vesting criteria (if  any) and schedule on the cover sheet
and  in Exhibit  A ,  the  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  shall  become  fully  vested
upon  the  occurrence  of  your  death  or  Disability,  or  a  Change  in  Control
Resulting  in  Termination.   For  purposes  of  this  Agreement,  a  Change  in
Control  Resulting  in  Termination  shall  occur  when  there  is  a  Change  in
Control, as that term is defined in the Plan, and (1) your employment with the
Corporation is terminated without cause within six (6) months of the effective
date of the Change in Control or (2) there occurs a material reduction in your
authority,  functions,  duties  or  responsibilities  which  causes  your  resignation
from the Corporation within six (6) months of the effective date of the Change
in Control.

No  additional  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  will  vest  after  your  Service  has
terminated  for  any  reason  other  than  death  or  Disability,  or  a  Change  in
Control Resulting in Termination.
 
This award of Restricted Stock , either at all or for particular periods, will not
be applied or interpreted to provide any commission, bonus, or other incentive
payment based directly or indirectly upon success in securing enrollments  or
financial aid to any person or entity engaged in any student recruiting or
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 admission  activities  or  in  making  decisions  regarding  the  awarding  of  funds
under Title IV of the Higher Education Act, except as permitted by law.

Evidence of Issuance The  issuance  of  the  Stock  under  the  grant  of  Restricted  Stock  evidenced  by
this Agreement shall be evidenced in such a manner as the Corporation, in its
discretion, deems appropriate, including, without limitation, book-entry, direct
registration or issuance of one or more share certificates (which may be held
in  escrow  at  the  option  of  the  Corporation  until  vested),  with  any  unvested
shares of Restricted Stock bearing the appropriate restrictions imposed by this
Agreement.  As your interest in the Restricted Stock vests, the recordation of
the  number  of  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  attributable  to  you  will  be
appropriately modified if necessary. 

Forfeiture of Unvested Stock and
Dividends

In  the  event  that  your  Service  terminates  for  any  reason  other  than  death,
Disability, or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination, you will forfeit to
the Corporation all of the shares of Stock subject to this grant that have not yet
vested,  and  you  agree  to  remit  to  the  Corporation  within  thirty  (30)  days  an
amount  in  cash  equal  to  all  dividends  paid  to  you  by  the  Corporation  with
respect to such unvested Restricted Stock.

Leaves of Absence For purposes of this Agreement, your Service does not terminate when you go
on  a bona 
fide
 leave  of  absence  that  was  approved  by  your  employer  in
writing  if  the  terms  of  the  leave  provide  for  continued  Service  crediting  or
when continued Service crediting is required by applicable law.  Your Service
terminates in any event when the approved leave ends unless you immediately
return to active employee work.

Your  employer  may  determine,  in  its  discretion,  which  leaves  count  for  this
purpose and when your Service terminates for all  purposes under the Plan in
accordance  with  the  provisions  of  the  Plan.   Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,
the Board may determine, in its discretion, that a leave counts for this purpose
even if your employer does not agree.
 

Death or Disability If  your  Service  terminates  because  of  your  death,  then  your  shares  of
Restricted  Stock  will  immediately  become  fully  vested.   If  your  Service
terminates  because  of  your  Disability,  then  your  shares  of  Restricted  Stock
will immediately become fully vested.

Escrow If the Restricted Stock is certificated, the certificates for the Restricted Stock
shall be deposited in escrow with the Secretary of the Corporation to be held
in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph.  Each deposited certificate
shall be accompanied
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 by a duly executed Assignment Separate from Certificate in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit  B .  The  deposited  certificates  shall  remain  in  escrow until
such  time  or  times  as  the  certificates  are  to  be  released  or  otherwise
surrendered  for  cancellation  as  discussed  below.   Upon  delivery  of  the
certificates  to  the  Corporation,  you  shall  be  issued  an  instrument  of  deposit
acknowledging  the  number  of  shares  of  Stock  delivered  in  escrow  to  the
Secretary of the Corporation.

If so noted on the cover page, all regular cash dividends on the Stock (or other
securities at the time held in escrow) shall be paid directly to you and shall not
be held in escrow.  However,  in the event of any stock dividend, stock split,
recapitalization  or  other  change  affecting  the  Corporation’s  outstanding
common  stock  as  a  class  effected  without  receipt  of  consideration  or  in  the
event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the Corporation
Stock, any new, substituted or additional securities or other property which is
by  reason  of  such  transaction  distributed  with  respect  to  the  Stock  shall  be
immediately delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation to be held in escrow
hereunder, but only to the extent the Stock is at the time subject to the escrow
requirements hereof.

The release  of  any vested  shares  (or  other  vested  assets  and  securities)  from
escrow shall  be effected within thirty  (30)  days following the date on which
such shares first become vested.

Withholding Taxes You  agree,  as  a  condition  of  this  Agreement,  that  you  will  make  acceptable
arrangements to pay any withholding or other taxes that may be due relating to
your Restricted Stock and the issuance of shares of Stock with respect to the
Restricted Stock under this Agreement.   Prior to the occurrence of any event
involving the Restricted Stock that the Corporation or an Affiliate determines
may  result  in  any  tax  withholding  obligation  (e.g.,  vesting),  whether  United
States  federal,  state  or  local  taxes  or  any  applicable  foreign  taxes  and
including any employment tax obligation (the “Tax Withholding Obligation”),
and except in cases in which you make an election under Section 83(b) of the
Code  as  provided  below,  you  must  agree  to  the  satisfaction  of  such  Tax
Withholding Obligation in a manner acceptable to the Corporation, including
by means of one of the following methods:

(i)    By
Share 
Withholding
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy
the Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with
clause  (iii)  below,  you  authorize  the  Corporation  (in  the  exercise  of  its
sole discretion) to withhold from those unrestricted shares of Stock to be
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delivered to you upon vesting the whole number of shares sufficient to
satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Share withholding will result in
the delivery of a lower number of unrestricted shares of Stock to you.

 
(ii)   By
Sale
of 
Shares
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you to  satisfy  the

Tax  Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with
clause (iii) below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not
violate  Section  13(k)  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  as
amended,  your  acceptance  of  the  Restricted  Stock  constitutes  your
instruction  and  authorization  to  the  Corporation  (in  the  exercise  of  its
sole  discretion)  and  any  brokerage  firm  determined  acceptable  to  the
Corporation  or  an  Affiliate  for  such  purpose  to  sell  on  your  behalf  a
whole  number  of  shares  from  those  unrestricted  shares  of  Stock  to  be
delivered  to  you  upon  vesting  of  the  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  as  the
Corporation or an Affiliate determines to be appropriate to generate cash
proceeds  sufficient  to  satisfy  the  applicable  Tax  Withholding
Obligation.  Such shares  will  be sold on the day such Tax Withholding
Obligation  arises  (e.g.,  a  vesting  date)  or  as  soon  thereafter  as
practicable. You will be responsible for all brokers’ fees and other costs
of  sale,  and  you  agree  to  indemnify  and  hold  the  Corporation  and  its
Affiliates harmless from any losses, costs, damages, or expenses relating
to any such sale. To the extent the proceeds of such sale exceed the Tax
Withholding  Obligation,  the  Corporation  agrees  to  pay  such  excess  in
cash  to  you.  You  acknowledge  that  the  Corporation  or  its  designee  is
under no obligation to arrange for such sale at any particular price, and
that  the  proceeds  of  any  such  sale  may  not  be  sufficient  to  satisfy  the
Tax  Withholding  Obligation.  Accordingly,  you  agree  to  pay  to  the
Corporation  or  an  Affiliate  as  soon  as  practicable,  including  through
additional  payroll  withholding,  any  amount  of  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation that is not satisfied by the sale of shares described above.

 

 

(iii)  By
Check,
Wire
Transfer
or
Other
Means
 .  At any time not less than
sixty  (60)  days  (or  such  fewer  number  of  days  as  determined  by  the
Committee  or  its  designee)  before  any  Tax  Withholding  Obligation
arises (e.g., a vesting date), and provided that at the time of such request
the  Corporation  is  not  in  a  “black-out  period”  and/or  subject  to
applicable securities laws that could subject you to liability for engaging
in any transaction involving the sale of the
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 Corporation’s common stock, you may request permission to satisfy the
Tax Withholding Obligation by check,  wire transfer  or other means,  by
submitting such request, in writing, to the Corporation. Alternatively, the
Corporation  may  require  that  you  satisfy  any  Tax  Withholding
Obligation  in  any  such  manner.  If  the  Corporation  approves  your
request, or so requires, within five (5) business days of a vesting date (or
such  fewer  number  of  days  as  determined  by  the  Committee  or  its
designee)  you  must  deliver  to  the  Corporation  the  amount  that  the
Corporation  determines  is  sufficient  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation by (x) wire transfer  to such account  as the Corporation may
direct, (y) delivery of a certified check payable to the Corporation, or (z)
such other means as specified from time to time by the Committee or its
designee.

Section 83(b)
Election

Under  Section  83  of  the  Internal  Revenue  Code  of  1986,  as  amended  (the
“Code”), the difference between the purchase price (if any) paid for the shares
of  Stock  and  their  fair  market  value  on  the  date  any  forfeiture  restrictions
applicable  to  such  shares  lapse  will  be  reportable  as  ordinary  income at  that
time.   For  this  purpose,  “forfeiture  restrictions”  include  the  forfeiture  as  to
unvested  Stock  described  above.   You  may  elect  to  be  taxed  at  the  time  the
shares are acquired, rather than when such shares cease to be subject to such
forfeiture  restrictions,  by  filing  an  election  under  Section  83(b)  of  the  Code
with  the  Internal  Revenue  Service  within  thirty  (30)  days  after  the  Grant
Date.  You will have to make a tax payment to the extent the purchase price is
less than the fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date, in an amount
equal to the Tax Withholding Obligation that  the Corporation or an Affiliate
determines is required to be withheld under applicable tax laws with respect to
the shares.  You may satisfy the foregoing requirement by making a payment
to  the  Corporation  in  cash  or,  with  the  consent  of  the  Corporation,  by
authorizing the Corporation or an Affiliate to withhold cash otherwise due to
you.   No tax payment will have to be made to the extent the purchase price is
at  least  equal  to  the  fair  market  value  of  the  shares  on  the  Grant  Date.   The
form for making this election is attached as Exhibit C hereto.  Failure to make
this  filing  within  the  thirty  (30)  day  period  will  result  in  the  recognition  of
ordinary income by you (in the event the fair market value of the shares as of
the vesting date exceeds the purchase price) as the forfeiture restrictions lapse.

YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY,
AND NOT THE CORPORATION’S, TO DETERMINE WHETHER OR
NOT TO MAKE A
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 FILING, AND IF YOU DETERMINE TO MAKE SUCH A FILING, TO
FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF YOU
REQUEST  THE  CORPORATION  OR  ITS  REPRESENTATIVES  TO
MAKE  THIS  FILING  ON  YOUR  BEHALF.   YOU  ARE  RELYING
SOLELY  ON  YOUR  OWN  ADVISORS  WITH  RESPECT  TO  THE
DECISION  AS  TO  WHETHER  OR  NOT  TO  FILE  ANY  83(b)
ELECTION.
 

Non-Competition To the extent permitted by law and applicable professional regulations, during
the period you are providing Services to the Corporation and for a period of
one  year  thereafter,  you  shall  not  take  actions  in  competition  with  the
Corporation  in  any  state  or  similar  jurisdiction  in  which  the  Corporation
conducts a material amount of its business.  Unless otherwise specified in an
employment  or  other  agreement  between  the  Corporation  and  you,  you  take
actions in competition with the Corporation if you:


     Fail to keep strictly confidential all confidential business information
disclosed  by  the  Corporation  to  you,  or  which  is  obtained  by  you  or
otherwise disclosed to you in connection with performing Services for
the  Corporation,  or  use  any  such  confidential  information  for  any
purpose other than performing Services for the Corporation; provided,
however, that the foregoing shall not apply to information which (1) at
the time of disclosure to you is already a matter of public knowledge,
(2)  after  disclosure  to  you  becomes  a  matter  of  public  knowledge,
except  by  your  breach  of  this  provision,  (3)  was  already  in  your
possession  at  the  time  of  disclosure  and  does  not  solely  constitute
specific  and  detailed  information  regarding  the  Corporation  (it  being
acknowledged  that  you  possessed  extensive  industry  experience  and
general  knowledge  of  the  education  sector  prior  to  joining  the
Corporation);  or  (4)  which  is  required  to  be  disclosed  by  law  or
regulation;


     Enter into any employment, consulting or similar relationships with
third  parties  which  will  result  in  a  direct  and  material  conflict  of
interest with the Corporation’s business;


     Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest in
(except  a  minority  interest  of  5%  or  less  acquired  for  investment
purposes  in  a  company  whose  stock  is  traded  on  a  public  exchange)
any  person  or  entity  that  is  a  direct  and  material  competitor  of  the
Corporation;
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      Without  the  written  consent  of  the  Corporation,  solicit  or  direct
anyone else to solicit  any officer or key employee of the Corporation
(y)  to  terminate  his  or  her  employment  or  other  relationship  with  the
Corporation or (z) to seek or accept employment with you or any third
party; provided that the foregoing shall  exclude actions which are the
result  of  persons  responding  to  general  advertisements  and  do  not
involve any solicitation on your part.

You  acknowledge  and  agree  that  any  material  breach  by  you  of  any  of  the
provisions  of  this  Section  (the  “Restrictive  Covenants”)  would  result  in
irreparable  injury  and  damage  for  which  money  damages  would  not  provide
an  adequate  remedy.   Therefore,  if  you  materially  breach,  or  threaten  to
materially  breach,  any  of  the  Restrictive  Covenants,  the  Corporation  and  its
Affiliates  shall  have  the  right  to  have  the  Restrictive  Covenants  specifically
enforced  (without  posting  bond  and  without  the  need  to  prove  damages)  by
any court having equity jurisdiction, including, without limitation, the right to
an  entry  against  you  of  restraining  orders  and  injunctions  (preliminary,
mandatory, temporary and permanent) against violations, threatened or actual,
and whether or not then continuing, of such covenants.  This right and remedy
shall  be  in  addition  to,  and  not  in  lieu  of,  any  other  rights  and  remedies
available  to  the  Corporation  and  its  Affiliates  under  law  or  in  equity
(including,  without  limitation,  the  recovery  of  damages).   In  addition,  in  the
event of such a material  breach of the Restrictive Covenants the Corporation
shall  have the right to cause a forfeiture of your Restricted Stock Agreement
and the value of any shares of Restricted Stock that vested in the twelve (12)
months prior to your material breach.
 

Retention Rights Neither  your  Restricted  Stock  nor  this  Agreement  give  you  the  right  to  be
retained by the Corporation (or any Subsidiaries) in any capacity, and subject
to  applicable  legal  requirements  or  contractual  provisions,  the  Corporation
(and any Subsidiaries) reserve the right to terminate your Service at any time
and  for  any  reason  subject  to  the  terms  of  your  employment  agreement,  if
applicable.
 

Clawback This Award is  subject  to mandatory repayment  by you to the Corporation to
the  extent  you  are  or  in  the  future  become  subject  to  any  Corporation
“clawback”  or  recoupment  policy  that  requires  the  repayment  by  you  to  the
Corporation of compensation paid by the Corporation to you in the event that
you fail to comply with, or violate, the terms or requirements of such policy.

If the Corporation is required to prepare an accounting
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 restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Corporation, as a result
of  misconduct,  with  any  financial  reporting  requirement  under  the  securities
laws and you knowingly engaged in the misconduct, were grossly negligent in
engaging  in  the  misconduct,  knowingly  failed  to  prevent  the  misconduct  or
were  grossly  negligent  in  failing  to  prevent  the  misconduct,  you  shall
reimburse  the  Corporation  the  amount  of  any  payment  in  settlement  of  this
Award  earned  or  accrued  during  the  12-month  period  following  the  first
public  issuance  or  filing  with  the  United  States  Securities  and  Exchange
Commission  (whichever  first  occurred)  of  the  financial  document  that
contained information affected by such material noncompliance.

Notwithstanding  any  other  provision  of  the  Plan  or  any  provision  of  this
Agreement,  if  the  Corporation  is  required  to  prepare  an  accounting
restatement,  then  you  shall  forfeit  any  cash  or  Stock  received  in  connection
with this Award (or an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of such Stock
on the date of delivery if you no longer hold the Stock) if pursuant to the terms
of  this  Agreement,  the  amount  of  the  Award  earned  or  the  vesting  in  the
Award  was  explicitly  based  on  the  achievement  of  pre-established
performance  goals  set  forth  in  this  Agreement  (including  earnings,  gains,  or
other  performance  criteria)  that  are  later  determined,  as  a  result  of  the
accounting restatement, not to have been achieved.

Shareholder Rights You have the right  to  vote  the Restricted  Stock and if  so noted on the cover
page,  you  have  the  right  to  receive  any  cash  dividends  declared  or  paid  on
such stock unless and until forfeited.  Any stock distributions you receive as a
result of any stock split, stock dividend, combination of shares or other similar
transaction shall be deemed to be a part of the Restricted Stock and subject to
the same conditions and restrictions applicable thereto.  Except as described in
the  Plan,  no  adjustments  are  made  for  dividends  or  other  rights  if  the
applicable record date occurs before your stock certificate is issued. 

Adjustments In  the  event  of  a  stock  split,  a  stock  dividend  or  a  similar  change  in  the
Corporation stock, the number of shares covered by this grant may be adjusted
(and rounded down to the nearest whole number) pursuant to the Plan.  Your
Restricted  Stock  shall  be  subject  to  the  terms  of  the  agreement  of  merger,
liquidation  or  reorganization  in  the  event  the  Corporation  is  subject  to  such
corporate activity.

Legends All  certificates  representing  the  Stock  issued  in  connection  with  this  grant
shall, where applicable, have endorsed thereon the
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 following legends:

“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT
TO  CERTAIN  RESTRICTIONS  ON  TRANSFER  SET  FORTH  IN  AN
AGREEMENT  BETWEEN  THE  CORPORATION  AND  THE
REGISTERED  HOLDER,  OR  HIS  OR  HER  PREDECESSOR  IN
INTEREST.   A  COPY  OF  SUCH  AGREEMENT  IS  ON  FILE  AT  THE
PRINCIPAL  OFFICE  OF  THE  CORPORATION  AND  WILL  BE
FURNISHED  UPON  WRITTEN  REQUEST  TO  THE  SECRETARY  OF
THE CORPORATION BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THE SHARES
REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE.”
 

Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of
Maryland, other than any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might
otherwise  refer  construction  or  interpretation  of  this  Agreement  to  the
substantive law of another jurisdiction.

The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference.  Certain
capitalized
terms
used
in
this
Agreement
are
defined
in
the
Plan,
and
have
the
meaning
set
forth
in
the
Plan.

This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between you
and  the  Corporation  regarding  this  grant  of  Restricted  Stock.   Any  prior
agreements,  commitments  or  negotiations  concerning  this  grant  are
superseded.

Consent to Electronic Delivery The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials relating
to  the  Plan  in  electronic  form.   By  accepting  this  grant  you  agree  that  the
Corporation  will  deliver  the  Plan  prospectus  and  the  Corporation's  annual
report to you in an electronic format available through your E*Trade account.

If at any time you would prefer to receive paper copies of these documents, as
you  are  entitled  to,  the  Corporation  would  be  pleased  to  provide
copies.   Please  contact  the  General  Counsel  of  the  Corporation  to  request
paper copies of these documents.

Corporate Activity Your  grant  shall  be  subject  to  the  terms  of  any  applicable  agreement  of
merger, liquidation or reorganization in the event the Corporation is subject to
such corporate activity.

Data Privacy In  order  to  administer  the  Plan,  the  Corporation  may  process  personal  data
about you.  Such data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in
this Agreement and any changes thereto,
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 other  appropriate  personal  and financial  data  about  you such as  your  contact
information,  payroll  information  and  any  other  information  that  might  be
deemed appropriate  by the Corporation to  facilitate  the  administration of  the
Plan.

By  accepting  this  grant,  you  give  explicit  consent  to  the  Corporation  to
process any such personal data.
 

Code Section 409A It  is  intended  that  this  Award  comply  with  Code  Section  409A  or  an
exemption  to  Code  Section  409A.   To  the  extent  that  the  Corporation
determines  that  you  would  be  subject  to  the  additional  20% tax  imposed  on
certain  non-qualified  deferred  compensation  plans  pursuant  to  Code  Section
409A as a result  of any provision of this Agreement,  such provision shall  be
deemed  amended  to  the  minimum  extent  necessary  to  avoid  application  of
such additional  tax.   The nature of any such amendment shall  be determined
by the Corporation.  For purposes of this Award, a termination of Service only
occurs  upon  an  event  that  would  be  a  Separation  from  Service  within  the
meaning of Code Section 409A.

  
 

By
signing
the
cover
sheet
of
this
Agreement,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
above
and
in
the
Plan.
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EXHIBIT A

VESTING
  

Number of Shares     Vesting Date(s)
   
   
   
   
   

 

13
 

 



EXHIBIT B

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, _____________hereby assigns and transfers unto Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland
corporation  (the  “Corporation”),  ____________(__________)  shares  of  common  stock  of  the  Corporation
represented  by  Certificate  No.  ___  herewith  and  does  hereby  irrevocably  constitute  and  appoint
_______________________ as Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the Corporation with full power of
substitution in the premises.
 
  

Dated:____________, ______  
  
  
 Print Name
  
  
 Signature
 

Spouse Consent (if applicable)
 
___________________ (Purchaser’s spouse) indicates by the execution of this Assignment his or her consent to be
bound by the terms herein as to his or her interests, whether as community property or otherwise, if any, in the shares
of common stock of the Corporation.
 
  

  
 Signature
 
INSTRUCTIONS:   PLEASE  DO  NOT  FILL  IN  ANY  BLANKS  OTHER  THAN  THE  SIGNATURE
LINE.   THE  PURPOSE  OF  THIS  ASSIGNMENT  IS  TO  ENABLE  THE  CORPORATION  TO  CANCEL
YOUR  UNVESTED  SHARES  AS  SET  FORTH  IN  THE  AGREEMENT  WITHOUT  REQUIRING
ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES ON THE PART OF PURCHASER.
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EXHIBIT C

ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

The undersigned hereby makes an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code with
respect to the property described below and supplies the following information in accordance with the regulations
promulgated thereunder:

1.         The name, address and social security number of the undersigned:

Name:  
  
Address:   
  
  
  
Social Security No.:   

 
2.         Description of property with respect to which the election is being made:

____________  shares  of  common  stock  of  Strategic  Education,  Inc.,  a  Maryland  corporation,  (the
“Corporation”).

3.         The date on which the property was transferred is ____________ __, 2019.

4.         The taxable year to which this election relates is calendar year 2019.

5.         Nature of restrictions to which the property is subject:

The  shares  of  stock  are  subject  to  the  provisions  of  a  Restricted  Stock  Agreement  between  the
undersigned and the Corporation.  The shares of stock are subject to forfeiture under the terms of the
Agreement.

6.         The fair market value of the property at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any lapse
restriction) was $__________ per share, for a total of $__________.

7.         The amount paid by taxpayer for the property was $__________.

8.         A copy of this statement has been furnished to the Corporation.

Dated:  _____________, 2019
 

   

   
 Taxpayer’s Signature  
   
 Taxpayer’s Printed Name  
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PROCEDURES FOR MAKING ELECTION
UNDER INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 83(b)

The  following  procedures must be  followed  with  respect  to  the  attached  form  for  making  an
election under Internal Revenue Code section 83(b) in order for the election to be effective: 

1.      You must file one copy of the completed election form with the IRS Service Center where
you file your federal income tax returns within 30 days after the Grant Date of your Restricted Stock.

2.      At the same time you file the election form with the IRS, you must also give a copy of the
election form to the Secretary of the Corporation.

3. 
 
 
 
 
 
You
must 
file 
another 
copy
of 
the 
election
form
with
your
federal 
income
tax
return
(generally,
Form
1040)
for
the
taxable
year
in
which
the
stock
is
transferred
to
you.

 

 

 

 

 

Whether or not to make the election is your decision and may create tax consequences for you. You are advised to consult your tax
advisor if you are unsure whether or not to make the election.
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Exhibit 10.15
 
STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT (PERFORMANCE BASED)
GRANTED UNDER THE 2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
 

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

 
Strategic  Education,  Inc.,  a  Maryland  corporation  (the  “Corporation”),  hereby  grants  shares  of  its  common

stock, $.01 par value (the “Stock”) to the Grantee named below, subject to the vesting conditions set forth below and
in  the  attachment.   Additional  terms  and  conditions  of  the  grant  are  set  forth  in  this  cover  sheet,  in  the  attached
Restricted Stock Agreement (together the “Agreement”), and in the Corporation’s 2018 Equity Compensation Plan
(the “Plan”).
 
   

Grant Date:   
Name of Grantee:   
Number of Shares of Stock
Covered by Grant:

  

 
Vesting:

  
Subject to special provisions for Termination of Service and Change in Control
Resulting  in  Termination  as  described  in  the  Agreement  and  the  Plan,  the
restricted  stock  will  vest  based  on  the  attainment  of  specified  performance
goals, as set forth on the attached Exhibit A and as follows:
 


    100% on
 
Cash Dividends: 

  
Grantee  will  have the  right  to  receive  any cash dividends  declared  or  paid  on
the restricted stock unless and until forfeited.

 
By
signing
this
cover
sheet,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
in
the
Agreement
and
in

the
Plan,
a
copy
of
which
is
attached.

IN
PARTICULAR,
YOU
ACKNOWLEDGE
THAT
THIS
RESTRICTED
STOCK 
GRANT 
CONSTITUTES 
CONSIDERATION 
FOR 
YOUR 
ACCEPTANCE 
OF 
THE 
NON-
COMPETITION 
PROVISIONS 
CONTAINED 
IN 
THE 
AGREEMENT.
 
You 
acknowledge 
that 
you 
have
carefully 
reviewed 
the 
Plan, 
and 
agree 
that 
the 
Plan 
will 
control 
in 
the 
event 
any 
provision 
of 
this 
Agreement
should
appear
to
be
inconsistent.

 
  

Grantee:    
 (Signature)  
Corporation:    
 (Signature)  
   
 Title:   
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Attachment

This
is
not
a
stock
certificate
or
a
negotiable
instrument
.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2015 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

 
  

Restricted Stock This grant is an award of Stock in the number of shares set forth on the cover sheet subject
to  the  vesting  conditions  set  forth  in  the  cover  sheet  and  described  below  (“Restricted
Stock” or the “Award”). 

  
Transfer of Unvested
Restricted Stock

To  the  extent  not  yet  vested,  your  Restricted  Stock  may  not  be  transferred,  assigned,
pledged or hypothecated, whether by operation of law or otherwise, nor may the Restricted
Stock be made subject  to  execution,  attachment  or  similar  process.   If  you attempt  to do
any of these things, you will immediately forfeit the shares of Restricted Stock.

  
Issuance and Vesting The Corporation will issue your Restricted Stock in the name set forth on the cover sheet

of this Agreement as of the Grant Date.
 
Your right to the Stock under this Restricted Stock Agreement vests in accordance with the
vesting criteria (if any) and schedule on the cover sheet and Exhibit A .
 
Notwithstanding the vesting criteria (if any) and schedule on the cover sheet and in Exhibit
A , the shares of Restricted Stock shall become fully vested upon the occurrence of your
death or Disability, or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination.  For purposes of this
Agreement,  a  Change  in  Control  Resulting  in  Termination  shall  occur  when  there  is  a
Change in Control, as that term is defined in the Plan, and (1) your employment with the
Corporation is terminated without cause within six (6) months of the effective date of the
Change  in  Control  or  (2)  there  occurs  a  material  reduction  in  your  authority,  functions,
duties or responsibilities which causes your resignation from the Corporation within six (6)
months of the effective date of the Change in Control.
 
No additional shares of Restricted Stock will vest after your Service has terminated for any
reason other than death or Disability, or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination.
 
This award of Restricted Stock , either at all or for particular periods, will not be applied or
interpreted to provide any commission, bonus, or other incentive payment based directly or
indirectly  upon  success  in  securing  enrollments  or  financial  aid  to  any  person  or  entity
engaged in any student recruiting or
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 admission activities or in making decisions regarding the awarding of funds under Title IV
of the Higher Education Act, except as permitted by law.

  
Evidence of Issuance The issuance of the Stock under the grant of Restricted Stock evidenced by this Agreement

shall  be  evidenced  in  such  a  manner  as  the  Corporation,  in  its  discretion,  deems
appropriate, including, without limitation, book-entry, direct registration or issuance of one
or more share certificates (which may be held in escrow at the option of the Corporation
until  vested),  with  any  unvested  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  bearing  the  appropriate
restrictions imposed by this Agreement.  As your interest in the Restricted Stock vests, the
recordation  of  the  number  of  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  attributable  to  you  will  be
appropriately modified if necessary. 

  
Forfeiture of Unvested
Stock and Dividends

In the event that your Service terminates for any reason other than death, Disability,  or a
Change in Control Resulting in Termination, you will forfeit to the Corporation all of the
shares of Stock subject to this grant that have not yet vested, and you agree to remit to the
Corporation within thirty (30) days an amount in cash equal to all dividends paid to you by
the Corporation with respect to such unvested Restricted Stock.

  
Leaves of Absence For purposes of this Agreement, your Service does not terminate when you go on a bona

fide
leave  of  absence  that  was  approved  by  your  employer  in  writing  if  the  terms  of  the
leave  provide  for  continued  Service  crediting  or  when  continued  Service  crediting  is
required by applicable law.  Your Service terminates in any event when the approved leave
ends unless you immediately return to active employee work.
 
Your employer may determine,  in its discretion,  which leaves count for this purpose and
when  your  Service  terminates  for  all  purposes  under  the  Plan  in  accordance  with  the
provisions  of  the  Plan.   Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  the  Board  may  determine,  in  its
discretion, that a leave counts for this purpose even if your employer does not agree.

  
Death or Disability If your Service terminates because of your death, then your shares of Restricted Stock will

immediately become fully vested.  If your Service terminates because of your Disability,
then your shares of Restricted Stock will immediately become fully vested.

  
Escrow If  the  Restricted  Stock  is  certificated,  the  certificates  for  the  Restricted  Stock  shall  be

deposited in escrow with the Secretary of  the Corporation to be held in accordance with
the provisions of this paragraph.  Each deposited certificate shall be accompanied
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 by  a  duly  executed  Assignment  Separate  from Certificate  in  the  form attached  hereto  as
Exhibit B . The deposited certificates shall remain in escrow until such time or times as the
certificates  are  to  be  released  or  otherwise  surrendered  for  cancellation  as  discussed
below.   Upon  delivery  of  the  certificates  to  the  Corporation,  you  shall  be  issued  an
instrument of deposit acknowledging the number of shares of Stock delivered in escrow to
the Secretary of the Corporation.
 
If so noted on the cover page, all regular cash dividends on the Stock (or other securities at
the  time  held  in  escrow)  shall  be  paid  directly  to  you  and  shall  not  be  held  in
escrow.  However, in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or other
change affecting the Corporation’s outstanding common stock as a class effected without
receipt of consideration or in the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change
in  the  Corporation  Stock,  any  new,  substituted  or  additional  securities  or  other  property
which  is  by  reason  of  such  transaction  distributed  with  respect  to  the  Stock  shall  be
immediately delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation to be held in escrow hereunder,
but only to the extent the Stock is at the time subject to the escrow requirements hereof.
 
The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities) from escrow shall
be effected within thirty  (30)  days following the date on which such shares first  become
vested.

  
Withholding Taxes You agree, as a condition of this Agreement, that you will make acceptable arrangements

to pay any withholding or other taxes that may be due relating to your Restricted Stock and
the issuance of shares of Stock with respect to the Restricted Stock under this
Agreement.  Prior to the occurrence of any event involving the Restricted Stock that the
Corporation or an Affiliate determines may result in any tax withholding obligation (e.g.,
vesting), whether United States federal, state or local taxes or any applicable foreign taxes
and including any employment tax obligation (the “Tax Withholding Obligation”), and
except in cases in which you make an election under Section 83(b) of the Code as provided
below, you must agree to the satisfaction of such Tax Withholding Obligation in a manner
acceptable to the Corporation, including by means of one of the following methods:
 

(i) 
 
By 
Share 
Withholding
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy  the  Tax
Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with  clause  (iii)
below,  you  authorize  the  Corporation  (in  the  exercise  of  its  sole  discretion)  to
withhold  from  those  unrestricted  shares  of  Stock  to  be  delivered  to  you  upon
vesting the whole number of shares
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 sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Share withholding will result
in the delivery of a lower number of unrestricted shares of Stock to you.

 
(ii)    By 
Sale 
of 
Shares
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy  the  Tax

Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with  clause  (iii)
below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not violate Section 13(k) of
the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  as  amended,  your  acceptance  of  the
Restricted Stock constitutes  your  instruction and authorization to  the  Corporation
(in  the  exercise  of  its  sole  discretion)  and  any  brokerage  firm  determined
acceptable to the Corporation or an Affiliate for such purpose to sell on your behalf
a whole number of shares from those unrestricted shares of Stock to be delivered to
you  upon  vesting  of  the  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  as  the  Corporation  or  an
Affiliate determines to be appropriate to generate cash proceeds sufficient to satisfy
the  applicable  Tax  Withholding  Obligation.  Such  shares  will  be  sold  on  the  day
such Tax Withholding Obligation arises (e.g., a vesting date) or as soon thereafter
as practicable. You will be responsible for all brokers’ fees and other costs of sale,
and  you  agree  to  indemnify  and  hold  the  Corporation  and  its  Affiliates  harmless
from  any  losses,  costs,  damages,  or  expenses  relating  to  any  such  sale.  To  the
extent  the  proceeds  of  such  sale  exceed  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation,  the
Corporation  agrees  to  pay  such excess  in  cash  to  you.  You acknowledge  that  the
Corporation  or  its  designee is  under  no obligation  to  arrange for  such sale  at  any
particular  price,  and  that  the  proceeds  of  any  such  sale  may  not  be  sufficient  to
satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation.  Accordingly,  you  agree  to  pay  to  the
Corporation  or  an  Affiliate  as  soon  as  practicable,  including  through  additional
payroll  withholding,  any  amount  of  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  that  is  not
satisfied by the sale of shares described above.

 
(iii)   By
Check,
Wire
Transfer
or
Other
Means
. At any time not less than sixty (60)

days (or such fewer number of days as determined by the Committee or its
designee) before any Tax Withholding Obligation arises (e.g., a vesting date), and
provided that at the time of such request the Corporation is not in a “black-out
period” and/or subject to applicable securities laws that could subject you to
liability for engaging in any transaction involving the sale of the Corporation’s
common stock, you may request permission to satisfy the Tax Withholding
Obligation by check, wire
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 transfer or other means, by submitting such request, in writing, to the Corporation.
Alternatively,  the  Corporation  may  require  that  you  satisfy  any  Tax  Withholding
Obligation  in  any  such  manner.  If  the  Corporation  approves  your  request,  or  so
requires, within five (5) business days of a vesting date (or such fewer number of
days  as  determined  by  the  Committee  or  its  designee)  you  must  deliver  to  the
Corporation the amount that the Corporation determines is sufficient to satisfy the
Tax Withholding Obligation by (x) wire transfer to such account as the Corporation
may direct, (y) delivery of a certified check payable to the Corporation, or (z) such
other means as specified from time to time by the Committee or its designee.

  
Section 83(b)
Election

Under  Section  83  of  the  Internal  Revenue  Code  of  1986,  as  amended  (the  “Code”),  the
difference  between the purchase price  (if  any)  paid for  the shares  of  Stock and their  fair
market value on the date any forfeiture restrictions applicable to such shares lapse will be
reportable  as  ordinary  income  at  that  time.   For  this  purpose,  “forfeiture  restrictions”
include the forfeiture as to unvested Stock described above.  You may elect to be taxed at
the time the shares are acquired, rather than when such shares cease to be subject to such
forfeiture  restrictions,  by  filing  an  election  under  Section  83(b)  of  the  Code  with  the
Internal Revenue Service within thirty (30) days after the Grant Date, in an amount equal
to  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  that  the  Corporation  or  an  Affiliate  determines  is
required  to  be  withheld  under  applicable  tax  laws  with  respect  to  the  shares.   You  may
satisfy the foregoing requirement by making a payment to the Corporation in cash or, with
the consent of the Corporation, by authorizing the Corporation or an Affiliate to withhold
cash  otherwise  due  to  you.   You  will  have  to  make  a  tax  payment  to  the  extent  the
purchase price is less than the fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date.  No tax
payment will have to be made to the extent the purchase price is at least equal to the fair
market  value  of  the  shares  on  the  Grant  Date.   The  form  for  making  this  election  is
attached as Exhibit C hereto.  Failure to make this filing within the thirty (30) day period
will result in the recognition of ordinary income by you (in the event the fair market value
of the shares as of the vesting date exceeds the purchase price) as the forfeiture restrictions
lapse.
 
YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT
THE  CORPORATION’S,  TO  DETERMINE  WHETHER  OR  NOT  TO  MAKE  A
FILING,  AND  IF  YOU  DETERMINE  TO  MAKE  SUCH  A  FILING,  TO  FILE  A
TIMELY ELECTION UNDER
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 SECTION  83(b),  EVEN  IF  YOU  REQUEST  THE  CORPORATION  OR  ITS
REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON YOUR BEHALF.  YOU ARE
RELYING  SOLELY  ON  YOUR  OWN  ADVISORS  WITH  RESPECT  TO  THE
DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY 83(b) ELECTION.

  
Non-Competition To the extent permitted by law and applicable professional regulations,  during the period

you are providing Services to the Corporation and for a period of one year thereafter, you
shall  not  take  actions  in  competition  with  the  Corporation  in  any  state  or  similar
jurisdiction in which the Corporation conducts a material amount of its business.  Unless
otherwise  specified  in  an  employment  or  other  agreement  between  the  Corporation  and
you, you take actions in competition with the Corporation if you:
 


    Fail to keep strictly confidential all confidential business information disclosed by
the Corporation to you, or which is obtained by you or otherwise disclosed to you
in  connection  with  performing  Services  for  the  Corporation,  or  use  any  such
confidential  information  for  any  purpose  other  than  performing  Services  for  the
Corporation; provided, however, that the foregoing shall  not apply to information
which (1) at the time of disclosure to you is already a matter of public knowledge,
(2) after disclosure to you becomes a matter of public knowledge, except by your
breach  of  this  provision,  (3)  was  already  in  your  possession  at  the  time  of
disclosure  and  does  not  solely  constitute  specific  and  detailed  information
regarding  the  Corporation  (it  being  acknowledged  that  you  possessed  extensive
industry experience and general knowledge of the education sector prior to joining
the Corporation); or (4) which is required to be disclosed by law or regulation;

 

    Enter into any employment,  consulting or similar relationships with third parties

which will result in a direct and material conflict of interest with the Corporation’s
business;

 

    Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest in (except a

minority  interest  of  5%  or  less  acquired  for  investment  purposes  in  a  company
whose stock is traded on a public exchange) any person or entity that is a direct and
material competitor of the Corporation;

 

    Without  the  written  consent  of  the  Corporation,  solicit  or  direct  anyone  else  to

solicit any officer or key employee
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 of  the  Corporation  (y)  to  terminate  his  or  her  employment  or  other  relationship
with  the  Corporation  or  (z)  to  seek  or  accept  employment  with  you  or  any  third
party;  provided  that  the  foregoing  shall  exclude  actions  which  are  the  result  of
persons  responding  to  general  advertisements  and  do  not  involve  any  solicitation
on your part.

 
You acknowledge and agree that  any material  breach by you of any of the provisions of
this  Section  (the  “Restrictive  Covenants”)  would  result  in  irreparable  injury  and  damage
for  which  money  damages  would  not  provide  an  adequate  remedy.   Therefore,  if  you
materially  breach,  or  threaten  to  materially  breach,  any of  the  Restrictive  Covenants,  the
Corporation  and  its  Affiliates  shall  have  the  right  to  have  the  Restrictive  Covenants
specifically  enforced  (without  posting  bond  and  without  the  need  to  prove  damages)  by
any  court  having  equity  jurisdiction,  including,  without  limitation,  the  right  to  an  entry
against you of restraining orders and injunctions (preliminary, mandatory, temporary and
permanent) against violations, threatened or actual, and whether or not then continuing, of
such covenants.  This right and remedy shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other
rights and remedies available to the Corporation and its Affiliates under law or in equity
(including, without limitation, the recovery of damages).  In addition, in the event of such
a material breach of the Restrictive Covenants the Corporation shall have the right to cause
a forfeiture of your Restricted Stock Agreement and the value of any shares of Restricted
Stock that vested in the twelve (12) months prior to your material breach.

  
Retention Rights Neither your Restricted Stock nor this Agreement give you the right to be retained by the

Corporation  (or  any  Subsidiaries)  in  any  capacity,  and  subject  to  applicable  legal
requirements or contractual provisions, the Corporation (and any Subsidiaries) reserve the
right to terminate your Service at any time and for any reason subject to the terms of your
employment agreement, if applicable.

  
Clawback This Award is subject to mandatory repayment by you to the Corporation to the extent you

are or in the future become subject to any Corporation “clawback” or recoupment policy
that  requires  the  repayment  by  you  to  the  Corporation  of  compensation  paid  by  the
Corporation  to  you  in  the  event  that  you  fail  to  comply  with,  or  violate,  the  terms  or
requirements of such policy.
 
If  the  Corporation  is  required  to  prepare  an  accounting  restatement  due  to  the  material
noncompliance of the Corporation, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting
requirement
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 under  the  securities  laws  and  you  knowingly  engaged  in  the  misconduct,  were  grossly
negligent  in  engaging  in  the  misconduct,  knowingly  failed  to  prevent  the  misconduct  or
were  grossly  negligent  in  failing  to  prevent  the  misconduct,  you  shall  reimburse  the
Corporation  the  amount  of  any  payment  in  settlement  of  this  Award  earned  or  accrued
during  the  12-month  period  following  the  first  public  issuance  or  filing  with  the  United
States  Securities  and  Exchange  Commission  (whichever  first  occurred)  of  the  financial
document that contained information affected by such material noncompliance.
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or any provision of this Agreement, if the
Corporation  is  required  to  prepare  an  accounting  restatement,  then  you  shall  forfeit  any
cash  or  Stock  received  in  connection  with  this  Award  (or  an  amount  equal  to  the  Fair
Market  Value  of  such  Stock  on  the  date  of  delivery  if  you  no  longer  hold  the  Stock)  if
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the amount of the Award earned or the vesting in
the Award was explicitly based on the achievement of pre-established performance goals
set forth in this Agreement  (including earnings,  gains,  or other performance criteria)  that
are later determined, as a result of the accounting restatement, not to have been achieved.

  
Shareholder Rights You have the right to vote the Restricted Stock and if so noted on the cover page, you have

the  right  to  receive  any  cash  dividends  declared  or  paid  on  such  stock  unless  and  until
forfeited.  Any stock distributions you receive as a result of any stock split, stock dividend,
combination  of  shares  or  other  similar  transaction  shall  be  deemed  to  be  a  part  of  the
Restricted  Stock  and  subject  to  the  same  conditions  and  restrictions  applicable
thereto.  Except as described in the Plan, no adjustments are made for dividends or other
rights if the applicable record date occurs before your stock certificate is issued. 

  
Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the Corporation stock,

the  number  of  shares  covered  by  this  grant  may  be  adjusted  (and  rounded  down  to  the
nearest whole number) pursuant to the Plan.  Your Restricted Stock shall be subject to the
terms  of  the  agreement  of  merger,  liquidation  or  reorganization  in  the  event  the
Corporation is subject to such corporate activity.

  
Legends All  certificates  representing  the  Stock  issued  in  connection  with  this  grant  shall,  where

applicable, have endorsed thereon the following legends:
 

10
 

 



 “THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO
CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER SET FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE CORPORATION AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER, OR HIS OR
HER PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST.  A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS ON FILE
AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE CORPORATION AND WILL BE FURNISHED
UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO THE SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION BY
THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS
CERTIFICATE.”

  
Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of Maryland,

other  than  any  conflicts  or  choice  of  law  rule  or  principle  that  might  otherwise  refer
construction  or  interpretation  of  this  Agreement  to  the  substantive  law  of  another
jurisdiction.

  
The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference.   Certain
capitalized

terms
used
in
this
Agreement
are
defined
in
the
Plan,
and
have
the
meaning
set
forth
in
the
Plan.
 
This  Agreement  and  the  Plan  constitute  the  entire  understanding  between  you  and  the
Corporation regarding this grant of Restricted Stock.  Any prior agreements, commitments
or negotiations concerning this grant are superseded.

  
Consent to Electronic
Delivery

The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials relating to the Plan
in electronic form.  By accepting this grant you agree that the Corporation will deliver the
Plan  prospectus  and  the  Corporation's  annual  report  to  you  in  an  electronic  format
available through your E*Trade account.
 
If  at  any  time  you  would  prefer  to  receive  paper  copies  of  these  documents,  as  you  are
entitled to, the Corporation would be pleased to provide copies.  Please contact the General
Counsel of the Corporation to request paper copies of these documents.

  
Corporate Activity Your grant shall be subject to the terms of any applicable agreement of merger, liquidation

or reorganization in the event the Corporation is subject to such corporate activity.
  
Data Privacy In  order  to  administer  the  Plan,  the  Corporation  may  process  personal  data  about

you.  Such data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in this Agreement and
any changes thereto, other appropriate personal and financial data about you such as your
contact information, payroll information and any other
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 information  that  might  be  deemed  appropriate  by  the  Corporation  to  facilitate  the
administration of the Plan.
 
By accepting this grant, you give explicit  consent to the Corporation to process any such
personal data.

  
Code Section 409A It  is  intended that  this  Award comply with Code Section 409A or an exemption to Code

Section 409A.  To the extent that the Corporation determines that you would be subject to
the  additional  20%  tax  imposed  on  certain  non-qualified  deferred  compensation  plans
pursuant  to  Code  Section  409A  as  a  result  of  any  provision  of  this  Agreement,  such
provision shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to avoid application
of  such  additional  tax.   The  nature  of  any  such  amendment  shall  be  determined  by  the
Corporation.   For  purposes  of  this  Award,  a  termination  of  Service  only  occurs  upon an
event that would be a Separation from Service within the meaning of Code Section 409A.

 
By
signing
the
cover
sheet
of
this
Agreement,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and

conditions
described
above
and
in
the
Plan.
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EXHIBIT A
 

PERFORMANCE GOALS
 

AND NUMBER OF SHARES OF STOCK
 

Performance Goal(s) Number of Shares Vesting
Date 

Vesting
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EXHIBIT B
 

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED,                         hereby assigns and transfers unto Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland
corporation (the “Corporation”),                          (                     ) shares of common stock of the Corporation
represented  by  Certificate  No.          herewith  and  does  hereby  irrevocably  constitute  and  appoint
                                           as Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the Corporation with full power of
substitution in the premises.
 

Dated:                      ,               
 

  

  
 Print Name
  

  
 Signature

 
Spouse Consent (if applicable)

 
                                        (Purchaser’s spouse) indicates by the execution of this Assignment his or her consent to be
bound by the terms herein as to his or her interests, whether as community property or otherwise, if any, in the shares
of common stock of the Corporation.
 
  

  
 Signature
 
 
 
INSTRUCTIONS:   PLEASE  DO  NOT  FILL  IN  ANY  BLANKS  OTHER  THAN  THE  SIGNATURE
LINE.   THE  PURPOSE  OF  THIS  ASSIGNMENT  IS  TO  ENABLE  THE  CORPORATION  TO  CANCEL
YOUR  UNVESTED  SHARES  AS  SET  FORTH  IN  THE  AGREEMENT  WITHOUT  REQUIRING
ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES ON THE PART OF PURCHASER.
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EXHIBIT C
 

ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

 
The undersigned hereby makes an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code with

respect to the property described below and supplies the following information in accordance with the regulations
promulgated thereunder:

 
    

1.    The name, address and social security number of the undersigned:
  Name:   
  Address:   
   
  Social Security No. :  
   

2. Description of property with respect to which the election is being made:
                             shares of common stock of Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation,

(the “Corporation”).
   

3. The date on which the property was transferred is                                       ,  2019.
   

4. The taxable year to which this election relates is calendar year 2019.
   

5. Nature of restrictions to which the property is subject:
   
  The shares of stock are subject to the provisions of a Restricted Stock Agreement between the

undersigned and the Corporation. The shares of stock are subject to forfeiture under the terms of
the Agreement.

   
6. The fair market value of the property at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any

lapse restriction) was $                     per share, for a total of $                       .
   

7. The amount paid by taxpayer for the property was $                        .
   

8. A copy of this statement has been furnished to the Corporation.
 
Dated:                           , 2019
 
  
 Taxpayer’s Signature
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Printed Name
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PROCEDURES FOR MAKING ELECTION
UNDER INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 83(b)

 
The following procedures must be followed with respect to the attached form for making an election

under Internal Revenue Code section 83(b) in order for the election to be effective: 
 
1.       You must file one copy of the completed election form with the IRS Service Center where you

file your federal income tax returns within 30 days after the Grant Date of your Restricted Stock.
 
2.        At  the same time you file  the election  form with  the IRS,  you must  also give  a  copy of  the

election form to the Secretary of the Corporation.
 
3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
You 
must 
file 
another 
copy 
of 
the 
election 
form 
with 
your 
federal 
income 
tax 
return

(generally,
Form
1040)
for
the
taxable
year
in
which
the
stock
is
transferred
to
you.
 
 
 
 
 

Whether or not to make the election is your decision and may create tax consequences for you. You are
advised to consult your tax advisor if you are unsure whether or not to make the election.
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Exhibit 10.16
 

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT GRANTED
UNDER THE 2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
 

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 Equity Compensation Plan

 
NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT  FOR EMPLOYEE

 
Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby grants an option to purchase shares of
its common stock, $.01 par value, (the "Stock") to the optionee named below. The terms and conditions of the option
are set forth in this cover sheet, in the attachment and in the Corporation's 2018 Equity Compensation Plan (the
“Plan”).
 
  

Grant Date:  
  
Expiration Date:                       ; subject to special provisions for earlier expiration for termination of Service or

Change in Control Resulting in Termination as described in the Agreement and Plan.
  
Name of Optionee:
 
Number of Shares Covered by Option:
 
Option Price per Share:
 
Vesting
Schedule:

This option will vest in its entirety on the                    anniversary of the Grant Date; subject to
special provisions for death, Disability or Change in Control Resulting in Termination of Service as
described in the Agreement and Plan.

 
By signing this cover sheet, you agree to all of the terms and conditions described in the Agreement and in

the  Plan,  a  copy  of  which  is  also  attached. IN  PARTICULAR,  YOU  ACKNOWLEDGE  THAT  THIS  OPTION
GRANT  CONSTITUTES  CONSIDERATION  FOR  YOUR  ACCEPTANCE  OF  THE  NON-COMPETITION
PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE AGREEMENT .   You
acknowledge 
that 
you
have
carefully 
reviewed
the
Plan, 
and 
agree 
that 
the 
Plan 
will 
control 
in 
the 
event 
any 
provision 
of 
this 
Agreement 
should 
appear 
to 
be
inconsistent.
 
   

Optionee:   
 (Signature)  
   
Corporation:   
 (Signature)  
   

Title:   
 
This is not a stock certificate or a negotiable instrument.

1
 

 



STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 Equity Compensation Plan

 
NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

 
  

Nonqualified  Stock
Option

This option is not intended to be an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the
Internal Revenue Code and will be interpreted accordingly.

  
Vesting This option is only exercisable before it expires and then only with respect to the vested

portion of the option.  Subject to the preceding sentence, you may exercise this option, in
whole or in part, to purchase a whole number of vested shares not less than 1.0 shares,
unless the number of shares purchased is the total number available for purchase under
the option, by following the procedures set forth in the Plan and below in this
Agreement.
 
Your right to purchase shares of Stock under this option vests as to the total number of
shares covered by this option, as shown on the cover sheet (the “Option Shares”), on the
                  anniversary of the Grant Date.
 
Notwithstanding the vesting schedule in the preceding paragraph, or any other term of
this Agreement or the Plan, the Option Shares shall become fully vested upon your death
or Disability or upon  or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination.  For purposes of
this Agreement, a Change in Control Resulting in Termination shall occur when there is
a Change in Control, as that term is defined herein , and (1) your Service is terminated
without cause within six (6) months of the effective date of the Change in Control or (2)
there occurs a material reduction in your authority, functions, duties or responsibilities
which causes your resignation from the Company within six (6) months of the effective
date of the Change in Control..

  
Term Your option will expire in any event at the close of business at Corporation headquarters

on the day before the           anniversary of the Grant Date, as shown on the cover
sheet.  Your option will expire earlier if your Service terminates, as described below.

  
Termination  of Service If your Service terminates for any reason other than your death or Disability, or a

Change in Control Resulting in Termination, then if unvested as of the date of
termination of Service, your option will immediately expire, and if your Service
terminates for a Change in Control Resulting in Termination, your option will become
fully vested as of the date of termination of Service and, your option will expire at the
close of business at Corporation headquarters twelve (12) months after such termination
date. During that twelve-month period, you may exercise your vested option.
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Death or Disability If your Service terminates because of your death, then your option will immediately
become fully vested and your option will expire at the close of business at Corporation
headquarters on the date twelve (12) months after the date of death.  During that twelve-
month period, your estate or heirs may exercise your vested option.
 
If your Service terminates because of your Disability, then your option will immediately
become fully vested, and your option will expire at the close of business at Corporation
headquarters on the date twelve (12) months after the date of such termination.  During
that twelve-month period, you or your legal representative may exercise your vested
option.

  
Notice of Exercise When you wish to exercise this option, you must notify the Corporation by filing the

proper "Notice of Exercise" form at the address given on the form.  Your notice must
specify how many shares you wish to purchase (in increments of at least 1.0 shares).
Your notice must also specify how your shares of Stock should be registered (in your
name only or in your and your spouse's names as joint tenants with right of
survivorship).  The notice will be effective when it is received by the Corporation.
 
If someone else wants to exercise this option after your death, that person must prove to
the Corporation's reasonable satisfaction that he or she is legally entitled to do so.

  
Form of Payment You agree, as a condition of the grant of this option, that you will make acceptable

arrangements to pay (a) the exercise price, per share, for each option you wish to
exercise and (b) any withholding or other taxes that may be due relating to your option
and the issuance of shares of Stock upon the exercise of the option, whether United
States federal, state or local taxes or any applicable foreign taxes and including any
employment tax obligation (collectively the “Exercise Cash Obligation”).  Prior to the
exercise of any option, you must agree to the satisfaction of such Exercise Cash
Obligation in a manner acceptable to the Corporation, including by means of one of the
following methods:
 
(i)  By
Net
Exercise
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy the Exercise Cash
Obligation by some other means in accordance with clause (iii) below, you authorize the
Corporation (in the exercise of its sole discretion) to
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 withhold from those shares of Stock to be delivered to you upon exercise of the option in
accordance with the Notice of Exercise the whole number of shares sufficient to satisfy
the Exercise Cash Obligation. Share withholding will result in the delivery of a lower
number of shares of Stock to you following exercise of the option.
 
(ii)  By
Broker-Assisted
Cashless
Exercise
. Unless the Corporation permits you to
satisfy the Exercise Cash Obligation by some other means in accordance with clause (iii)
below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not violate Section 13(k) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, your acceptance of the option constitutes
your instruction and authorization to the Corporation (in the exercise of its sole
discretion) and any brokerage firm determined acceptable to the Corporation or an
Affiliate for such purpose to sell on your behalf a whole number of shares from those
shares of Stock to be delivered to you upon the exercise of this option as the Corporation
or an Affiliate determines to be appropriate to generate cash proceeds sufficient to satisfy
the applicable Exercise Cash Obligation. Such shares will be sold on the day such
Exercise Cash Obligation arises (e.g., the date of exercise) or as soon thereafter as
practicable. You will be responsible for all brokers’ fees and other costs of sale, and you
agree to indemnify and hold the Corporation and its Affiliates harmless from any losses,
costs, damages, or expenses relating to any such sale. To the extent the proceeds of such
sale exceed the Exercise Cash Obligation, the Corporation agrees to pay such excess in
cash to you. You acknowledge that the Corporation or its designee is under no obligation
to arrange for such sale at any particular price, and that the proceeds of any such sale
may not be sufficient to satisfy the Exercise Cash Obligation. Accordingly, you agree to
pay to the Corporation or an Affiliate as soon as practicable, including through
additional payroll withholding, any amount of the Exercise Cash Obligation that is not
satisfied by the sale of shares described above.
 
(iii)  By
Check,
Wire
Transfer
or
Other
Means
. On the date on which you submit a
Notice of Exercise, and provided that at the time of such Notice of Exercise the
Corporation is not in a “black-out period” and/or subject to applicable securities laws
that could subject you to liability for engaging in any transaction involving the sale of
the Corporation’s common stock, you may request permission to satisfy the Exercise
Cash Obligation by check, wire transfer or other means, by submitting such request, in
writing, to the Corporation. Alternatively, the Corporation may require that you satisfy
any Exercise Cash Obligation
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 in any such manner. If the Corporation approves your request, or so requires, within five
(5) business days of a vesting date (or such fewer number of days as determined by the
Committee or its designee) you must deliver to the Corporation the amount that the
Corporation determines is sufficient to satisfy the Exercise Cash Obligation by (x) wire
transfer to such account as the Corporation may direct, (y) delivery of a certified check
payable to the Corporation, or (z) such other means as specified from time to time by the
Committee or its designee.

  
Transfer of Option During your lifetime, only you (or, in the event of your legal incapacity or incompetence,

your guardian or legal representative) may exercise the option.  You cannot transfer or
assign this option. For instance, you may not sell this option or use it as security for a
loan.  If you attempt to do any of these things, this option will immediately become
invalid.  You may, however, dispose of this option in your will or it may be transferred
upon your death by the laws of descent and distribution.
 
Regardless of any marital property settlement agreement, the Corporation is not
obligated to honor a notice of exercise from your spouse, nor is the Corporation
obligated to recognize your spouse's interest in your option in any other way.

  
Retention Rights Neither your option nor this Agreement give you the right to be retained by the

Corporation (or any Subsidiaries) in any capacity, and subject to applicable legal
requirements or contractual provisions, the Corporation (and any Subsidiaries) reserve
the right to terminate your Service at any time and for any reason subject to the terms of
your Employment Agreement.

  
Shareholder Rights You, or your estate or heirs, have no rights as a shareholder of the Corporation until a

certificate for your option's shares has been issued following proper exercise and
payment therefore.  No adjustments are made for dividends or other rights if the
applicable record date occurs before your stock certificate is issued, except as described
in the Plan.

Non-Competition During the period you are providing Services to the Corporation and for a period of        
years thereafter, you shall not take actions in competition with the Corporation in any
state or similar jurisdiction in which the Corporation conducts a material amount of its
business.  Unless otherwise specified in an employment or other agreement between the
Corporation and you, you take actions in competition with the Corporation if you:
 


    Fail to keep strictly confidential in accordance
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with the Employment Agreement all confidential business information disclosed
by the Corporation to you, or which is obtained by you or otherwise disclosed to
you in connection with performing Services for the Corporation, or use any such
confidential information for any purpose other than performing Services for the
Corporation; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply to information
which (1) at the time of disclosure to you is already a matter of public
knowledge, (2) after disclosure to you becomes a matter solely of public
knowledge, except by your breach of this provision, (3) was already in your
possession at the time of disclosure and does not solely constitute specific and
detailed information regarding the Corporation; (it being acknowledged that you
possessed extensive industry experience and general knowledge of the education
sector prior to joining the Corporation); or (4) which is required to be disclosed
by law or regulation;
 

    Enter into any employment, consulting or similar relationships with third
parties which will result in a direct and material conflict of interest with the
Corporation's business;
 

    Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest in
(except a minority interest of 5% or less acquired for investment purposes in a
company whose stock is traded on a public exchange) any person or entity that is
a direct and material competitor of the Corporation;
 

    Without the written consent of the Corporation, solicit or direct anyone else
to solicit any officer or key employee of the Corporation (y) to terminate his or
her employment or other relationship with the Corporation or (z) to seek or
accept employment with you or any third party; provided that the foregoing shall
exclude actions which are the result of persons responding to general
advertisements and do not involve any solicitation on your part.
 

You acknowledge and agree that any material breach by you of any of the provisions of
this Section (the “Restrictive Covenants”) would result in irreparable injury and damage
for which money damages would not provide an adequate remedy. Therefore, if you
materially breach, or threaten to materially breach, any of the Restrictive Covenants, the
Corporation and its affiliates shall have the right to seek to have the Restrictive
Covenants specifically enforced (without posting bond and without the need to prove
damages) by any court having equity jurisdiction, including,
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 without limitation, the right to seek an entry against you of restraining orders and
injunctions (preliminary, mandatory, temporary and permanent) against violations,
threatened or actual, and whether or not then continuing, of such covenants.  This right
and remedy shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies
available to the Corporation and its affiliates under law or in equity (including, without
limitation, the recovery of damages).   In addition, in the event of such a material breach
of the Restrictive Covenants the Corporation shall have the right to cause a forfeiture of
your rights under this option agreement, including the right to cause: (i) a forfeiture of
this option agreement, and (ii) with respect to the period commencing on the date of your
termination of Service with the Corporation and ending twelve (12) months following
such termination of Service (A) a forfeiture of any net gain recognized by you upon the
exercise of this option agreement or (B) a forfeiture of any Stock acquired by you upon
the exercise of this option agreement (but in such event the Corporation will repay you
the option exercise price without interest).

  
Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the Stock of the

Corporation, the number of shares covered by this option and the option price per share
shall be adjusted appropriately (and rounded down to the nearest whole number) if
required pursuant to the Plan.

  
Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of

Maryland, other than any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise
refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of another
jurisdiction.

  
The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference. Certain capitalized

terms used in this Agreement are defined in the Plan, and have the meaning set forth in
the Plan. This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between you
and the Corporation regarding this option.  Any prior agreements, commitments or
negotiations concerning this option are superseded.
 

Consent to Electronic
Delivery

The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials relating to the
Plan in electronic form.  By accepting this option grant you agree that the Corporation
may deliver the Plan prospectus and the Corporation's annual report to you in an
electronic format available through your E*Trade account.
 
If at any time you would prefer to receive paper copies of these documents, as you are
entitled to, the Corporation would be pleased to provide copies.  Please contact the
General Counsel of the Corporation to request paper copies of these documents.

 
By signing the cover sheet of this Agreement, you agree to all of the terms and conditions described above and in the
Plan.
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Exhibit 10.17
 

 
STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT (NON-EMPLOYEE
DIRECTOR) GRANTED UNDER THE 2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
 

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

FOR DIRECTORS
 
Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Corporation”), hereby grants shares of its common

stock, $.01 par value (the “Stock”) to the Grantee named below, subject to the vesting conditions set forth below and
in the attachment.  Additional terms and conditions of the grant are set forth in this cover sheet, in the attachment and
in the Corporation’s 2018 Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan”).

Grant Date:

Name of Grantee:

Number of Shares of Stock Covered by Grant:

Vesting Schedule: Subject to special provisions for Termination of Service and Change in Control Resulting in
Termination as described in the Agreement and Plan, the restricted stock will vest as follows:
________________ .

 
By
signing
this
cover
sheet,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
in
the
Agreement
and
in

the
Plan,
a
copy
of
which
is
also
attached.



IN
PARTICULAR,
YOU
ACKNOWLEDGE
THAT
THIS
RESTRICTED
STOCK
GRANT
CONSTITUTES
CONSIDERATION
FOR
YOUR
ACCEPTANCE
OF
THE
NON-COMPETITION
PROVISIONS
CONTAINED
IN
THE
AGREEMENT.

You
acknowledge
that
you
have
carefully
reviewed
the
Plan,
and
agree
that
the
Plan
will
control
in
the
event
any
provision
of
this
Agreement
should
appear
to
be
inconsistent.

     

Grantee:     
    (Signature)

Corporation:     
    (Signature)

  Title:   
 
 
This
is
not
a
stock
certificate
or
a
negotiable
instrument
.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
2018 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

 
  

Restricted Stock/
Nontransferability

This grant is an award of Stock in the number of shares set forth on the cover
sheet subject to the vesting conditions set forth in the cover sheet and
described below ("Restricted Stock").  To the extent not yet vested, your
Restricted Stock may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated,
whether by operation of law or otherwise, nor may the Restricted Stock be
made subject to execution, attachment or similar process.

 

 
 
 
 

Issuance and Vesting The Corporation will issue your Restricted Stock in your name as of the
Grant Date.

Your right to the Stock under this Restricted Stock Agreement vests in
accordance with the vesting schedule set forth on the cover sheet.

Notwithstanding the vesting schedule in the preceding paragraph, the shares
of Restricted Stock shall become fully vested upon the occurrence of your
death or Disability, or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination.  For
purposes of this Agreement, a Change in Control Resulting in Termination
shall occur when there is a Change in Control, as that term is defined in the
Plan, and (1) you are asked to resign from the Board without cause within
six (6) months of the effective date of the Change in Control or (2) there
occurs a material reduction in your authority, functions, duties or
responsibilities which causes your resignation from the Board within six (6)
months of the effective date of the Change in Control.

No additional shares of Restricted Stock will vest after your Service has
terminated for any reason other than death or Disability, or a Change in
Control Resulting in Termination.

 
  

Evidence of Issuance The issuance of the Stock under the grant of Restricted Stock evidenced by
this Agreement shall be evidenced in such a manner as the Corporation, in its
discretion, deems appropriate, including, without limitation, book-entry,
direct registration or issuance of one or more share certificates (which may
be held in escrow at the option of the Corporation until vested), with any
unvested shares of Restricted Stock bearing the appropriate restrictions
imposed by this Agreement.  As your interest in the Restricted Stock vests,
the recordation of the number of shares of Restricted Stock attributable to
you will be appropriately modified if necessary. 
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Death or Disability If your Service terminates because of your death, then your shares of
Restricted Stock will immediately become fully vested.  If your Service
terminates because of your Disability, then your shares of Restricted Stock
will immediately become fully vested.

 

      The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities) from
escrow shall be effected within thirty (30) days following the date on
which such shares first become vested.

 
 

Escrow If the Restricted Stock is certificated, the certificates for the Restricted Stock
shall be deposited in escrow with the Secretary of the Corporation to be held
in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph. Each deposited
certificate shall be accompanied by a duly executed Assignment Separate
from Certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A . The deposited
certificates shall remain in escrow until such time or times as the certificates
are to be released or otherwise surrendered for cancellation as discussed
below. Upon delivery of the certificates to the Corporation, you shall be
issued an instrument of deposit acknowledging the number of shares of
Stock delivered in escrow to the Secretary of the Corporation.
 
All regular cash dividends on the Stock (or other securities at the time held
in escrow) shall be paid directly to you and shall not be held in escrow.
However, in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or
other change affecting the Corporation's outstanding common stock as a
class effected without receipt of consideration or in the event of a stock split,
a stock dividend or a similar change in the Corporation Stock, any new,
substituted or additional securities or other property which is by reason of
such transaction distributed with respect to the Stock shall be immediately
delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation to be held in escrow hereunder,
but only to the extent the Stock is at the time subject to the escrow
requirements hereof.
 
The shares of Stock held in escrow hereunder shall be subject to the
following terms and conditions relating to their release from escrow or their
surrender to the Corporation for cancellation:
If your interest in the shares vests as described above, the certificates for
such vested shares shall be released from escrow and delivered to you, at
your request, in accordance with the following schedule:
 

The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities)

from escrow shall be effected within thirty (30) days following the date
on which such shares first become vested.
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By
Share
Withholding
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy the
Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with
clause (iii) below, you authorize the Corporation (in the exercise of its
sole discretion) to withhold from those unrestricted shares of Stock to
be delivered to you upon vesting the whole number of shares sufficient
to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Share withholding will
result in the delivery of a lower number of unrestricted shares of Stock
to you.

 
By
Sale
of
Shares
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy the Tax

Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with
clause (iii) below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not
violate Section 13(k) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, your acceptance of the Restricted Stock constitutes your
instruction and authorization to the Corporation (in the exercise of its
sole discretion) and any brokerage firm determined acceptable to the
Corporation or an Affiliate for such purpose to sell on your behalf a
whole number of shares from those unrestricted shares of Stock to be

 

Withholding Taxes You agree, as a condition of this Agreement, that if, and to the extent, the
Company is required to withhold any tax amounts in respect of the
Restricted Stock granted hereunder you will make acceptable arrangements
to pay any withholding or other taxes that may be due relating to your
Restricted Stock and the issuance of shares of Stock with respect to the
Restricted Stock under this Agreement.  Prior to the occurrence of any event
involving the Restricted Stock that the Corporation or an Affiliate
determines may result in any tax withholding obligation (e.g., vesting),
whether United States federal, state or local taxes or any applicable foreign
taxes and including any employment tax obligation (the “Tax Withholding
Obligation”), and except in cases in which you make an election under
Section 83(b) of the Code as provided below, you must agree to the
satisfaction of such Tax Withholding Obligation in a manner acceptable to
the Corporation, including by means of one of the following methods:

(i) By
Share
Withholding
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy
the Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance
with clause (iii) below, you authorize the Corporation (in the exercise
of its sole discretion) to withhold from those unrestricted shares of
Stock to be delivered to you upon vesting the whole number of shares
sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Share withholding
will result in the delivery of a lower number of unrestricted shares of
Stock to you.

(ii) By
Sale
of
Shares
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy the
Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with
clause (iii) below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not
violate Section 13(k) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, your acceptance of the Restricted Stock constitutes your
instruction and authorization to the Corporation (in the exercise of its
sole discretion) and any brokerage firm determined acceptable to the
Corporation or an Affiliate for such purpose to sell on your behalf a
whole number of shares from those unrestricted shares of Stock to be
delivered to you upon vesting of the shares of Restricted Stock as the
Corporation or an Affiliate determines to be appropriate to generate
cash proceeds sufficient to satisfy the applicable Tax Withholding
Obligation. Such shares will be sold on the day such Tax Withholding
Obligation arises (e.g., a vesting date) or as soon thereafter as
practicable. You will be responsible for all brokers’ fees
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 and other costs of sale, and you agree to indemnify and hold the

Corporation and its Affiliates harmless from any losses, costs, damages,
or expenses relating to any such sale. To the extent the proceeds of such
sale exceed the Tax Withholding Obligation, the Corporation agrees to
pay such excess in cash to you. You acknowledge that the Corporation
or its designee is under no obligation to arrange for such sale at any
particular price, and that the proceeds of any such sale may not be
sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Accordingly, you
agree to pay to the Corporation or an Affiliate as soon as practicable,
including through additional payroll withholding, any amount of the
Tax Withholding Obligation that is not satisfied by the sale of shares
described above.

(iii) By
Check,
Wire
Transfer
or
Other
Means
. At any time not less than
sixty (60) days (or such fewer number of days as determined by the
Committee or its designee) before any Tax Withholding Obligation
arises (e.g., a vesting date), and provided that at the time of such
request the Corporation is not in a “black-out period” and/or subject to
applicable securities laws that could subject you to liability for
engaging in any transaction involving the sale of the Corporation’s
common stock, you may request permission to satisfy the Tax
Withholding Obligation by check, wire transfer or other means, by
submitting such request, in writing, to the Corporation. Alternatively,
the Corporation may require that you satisfy any Tax Withholding
Obligation in any such manner. If the Corporation approves your
request, or so requires, within five (5) business days of a vesting date
(or such fewer number of days as determined by the Committee or its
designee) you must deliver to the Corporation the amount that the
Corporation determines is sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding
Obligation by (x) wire transfer to such account as the Corporation may
direct, (y) delivery of a certified check payable to the Corporation, or
(z) such other means as specified from time to time by the Committee
or its designee.

Section 83(b)
Election

Under Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), the difference between the purchase price (if any) paid for the
shares of Stock and their fair market value on the date any forfeiture
restrictions applicable to such shares lapse will be reportable as ordinary
income at that time.  For this purpose, “forfeiture restrictions” include the
forfeiture
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 as to unvested Stock described above.  You may elect to be taxed at the time

the shares are acquired, rather than when such shares cease to be subject to
such forfeiture restrictions, by filing an election under Section 83(b) of the
Code with the Internal Revenue Service within thirty (30) days after the
Grant Date.  You will incur a tax liability to the extent the purchase price is
less than the fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date, however, no
tax liability will arise to the extent the purchase price is at least equal to the
fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date.  If the Corporation or an
Affiliate determines a Tax Withholding Obligation is incurred in connection
with your choice to file an election under Section 83(b) of the Code, you
may satisfy the foregoing requirement by making a payment to the
Corporation in cash or, with the consent of the Corporation, by authorizing
the Corporation or an Affiliate to withhold cash otherwise due to you.  The
form for making this election is attached as Exhibit B hereto.  Failure to
make this filing within the thirty (30) day period will result in the
recognition of ordinary income by you (in the event the fair market value of
the shares as of the vesting date exceeds the purchase price) as the forfeiture
restrictions lapse.
 
YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE
RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE CORPORATION’S, TO
DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT TO MAKE A FILING, AND IF
YOU DETERMINE TO MAKE SUCH A FILING, TO FILE A
TIMELY ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF YOU
REQUEST THE CORPORATION OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO
MAKE THIS FILING ON YOUR BEHALF.  YOU ARE RELYING
SOLELY ON YOUR OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE
DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY 83(b)
ELECTION.
 

Non-Competition To the extent permitted by law and applicable professional regulations,
during the period you are providing Services to the Corporation and for a
period of one year thereafter, you shall not take actions in competition with
the Corporation in any state or similar jurisdiction in which the Corporation
conducts a material amount of its business.  Unless otherwise specified in an
employment or other agreement between the Corporation and you, you take
actions in competition with the Corporation if you:


Fail to keep strictly confidential all confidential business information
disclosed by the Corporation to you, or which is obtained by you or
otherwise disclosed to you in connection with performing Services
for the Corporation,
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 or use any such confidential information for any purpose other than

performing Services for the Corporation; provided, however, that the
foregoing shall not apply to information which (1) at the time of
disclosure to you is already a matter of public knowledge, (2) after
disclosure to you becomes a matter of public knowledge, except by
your breach of this provision , (3) was already in your possession at
the time of disclosure and does not solely constitute specific and
detailed information regarding the Corporation (it being
acknowledged that you possessed extensive industry experience and
general knowledge of the education sector prior to joining the
Corporation); or (4) which is required to be disclosed by law or
regulation;


Enter into any employment, consulting or similar relationships with
third parties which will result in a direct and material conflict of
interest with the Corporation’s business;


Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest
in (except a minority interest of 5% or less acquired for investment
purposes in a company whose stock is traded on a public exchange)
any person or entity that is a direct and material competitor of the
Corporation;


Without the written consent of the Corporation, solicit or direct
anyone else to solicit any officer or key employee of the Corporation
(y) to terminate his or her employment or other relationship with the
Corporation or (z) to seek or accept employment with you or any
third party; provided that the foregoing shall exclude actions which
are the result of persons responding to general advertisements and do
not involve any solicitation on your part.

You acknowledge and agree that any material breach by you of any of the
provisions of this Section (the “ Restrictive Covenants ”) would result in
irreparable injury and damage for which money damages would not provide
an adequate remedy.  Therefore, if you materially breach, or threaten to
materially breach, any of the Restrictive Covenants, the Corporation and its
affiliates shall have the right to have the Restrictive Covenants specifically
enforced (without posting bond and without the need to prove damages) by
any court having equity jurisdiction, including, without limitation, the right
to an entry against you of
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 restraining orders and injunctions (preliminary, mandatory, temporary and
permanent) against violations, threatened or actual, and whether or not then
continuing, of such covenants.  This right and remedy shall be in addition to,
and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to the Corporation
and its affiliates under law or in equity (including, without limitation, the
recovery of damages).   In addition, in the event of such a material breach of
the Restrictive Covenants the Corporation shall have the right to cause a
forfeiture of your Restricted Stock Agreement and the value of any shares of
Restricted Stock that vested in the twelve (12) months prior to your material
breach.

Clawback This Award is subject to mandatory repayment by you to the Corporation to
the extent you are or in the future become subject to any Corporation
“clawback” or recoupment policy that requires the repayment by you to the
Corporation of compensation paid by the Corporation to you in the event that
you fail to comply with, or violate, the terms or requirements of such policy.

Shareholder Rights You have the right to vote the Restricted Stock and to receive any cash
dividends declared or paid on such stock unless and until forfeited.  Any
stock distributions you receive as a result of any stock split, stock dividend,
combination of shares or other similar transaction shall be deemed to be a
part of the Restricted Stock and subject to the same conditions and
restrictions applicable thereto.  Except as described in the Plan, no
adjustments are made for dividends or other rights if the applicable record
date occurs before your stock certificate is issued. 

Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the
Corporation stock, the number of shares covered by this grant may be
adjusted (and rounded down to the nearest whole number) pursuant to the
Plan.  Your Restricted Stock shall be subject to the terms of the agreement of
merger, liquidation or reorganization in the event the Corporation is subject
to such corporate activity.

Legends All certificates representing the Stock issued in connection with this grant
shall, where applicable, have endorsed thereon the following legends:

“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE
SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER SET
FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CORPORATION AND
THE REGISTERED HOLDER, OR HIS OR HER
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 PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST. A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS
ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE CORPORATION
AND WILL BE FURNISHED UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO THE
SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION BY THE HOLDER OF
RECORD OF THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS
CERTIFICATE.”
 

Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State
of Maryland, other than any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that
might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the
substantive law of another jurisdiction.

The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference.  Certain
capitalized
terms
used
in
this
Agreement
are
defined
in
the
Plan,
and
have
the
meaning
set
forth
in
the
Plan.

This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between
you and the Corporation regarding this grant of Restricted Stock.  Any prior
agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning this grant are
superseded.

 
  

Consent to Electronic 
Delivery

The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials
relating to the Plan in electronic form.  By accepting this grant you agree that
the Corporation may deliver the Plan prospectus and the Corporation’s
annual report to you in an electronic format.  If at any time you would prefer
to receive paper copies of these documents, as you are entitled to, the
Corporation would be pleased to provide copies.  Please contact the General
Counsel of the Corporation to request paper copies of these documents.

Corporate Activity Your grant shall be subject to the terms of any applicable agreement of
merger, liquidation or reorganization in the event the Corporation is subject
to such corporate activity.

 
Data Privacy In order to administer the Plan, the Corporation may process personal data

about you.  Such data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in
this Agreement and any changes thereto, other appropriate personal and
financial data about you such as your contact information, payroll
information and any other information that might be deemed appropriate by
the Corporation to facilitate the administration of the Plan.

By accepting this grant, you give explicit consent to the Corporation to
process any such personal data.
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Code Section 409A It is intended that this Award comply with Code Section 409A or an

exemption to Code Section 409A.  To the extent that the Corporation
determines that you would be subject to the additional 20% tax imposed on
certain non-qualified deferred compensation plans pursuant to Code Section
409A as a result of any provision of this Agreement, such provision shall be
deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to avoid application of
such additional tax.  The nature of any such amendment shall be determined
by the Corporation.  For purposes of this Award, a termination of Service
only occurs upon an event that would be a Separation from Service within
the meaning of Code Section 409A.

 
By
signing
the
cover
sheet
of
this
Agreement,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
above

and
in
the
Plan.
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EXHIBIT A
ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, _____________hereby assigns and transfers unto Strategic Education, Inc., a

Maryland corporation (the "Corporation"), ____________(__________) shares of common stock of the Corporation
represented by Certificate No. ___ herewith and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint
_______________________ as Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the Corporation with full power of
substitution in the premises.
 
    Dated:  ,    
  
  
  
 Print Name
 
  
 Signature
 
 

Spouse Consent (if applicable)
 

       ___________________ (Purchaser's spouse) indicates by the execution of this Assignment his or her consent to
be bound by the terms herein as to his or her interests, whether as community property or otherwise, if any, in the
shares of common stock of the Corporation.
 
  
 Signature
 
 
 
 
 
INSTRUCTIONS:  PLEASE DO NOT FILL IN ANY BLANKS OTHER THAN THE SIGNATURE
LINE.  THE PURPOSE OF THIS ASSIGNMENT IS TO ENABLE THE CORPORATION TO CANCEL
YOUR UNVESTED SHARES AS SET FORTH IN THE AGREEMENT WITHOUT REQUIRING
ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES ON THE PART OF PURCHASER.
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EXHIBIT B

ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF 
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

 
The undersigned hereby makes an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code with

respect to the property described below and supplies the following information in accordance with the regulations
promulgated thereunder:

1. The name, address and social security number of the undersigned:

Name:                                                                                                  
Address:                                                                                              
                                                                                                           
Social Security No. :                                                                         

2. Description of property with respect to which the election is being made:

shares of common stock. Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation, (the “Corporation”).

3. The date on which the property was transferred is ____________ __, 2019.

4. The taxable year to which this election relates is calendar year 2019.

5. Nature of restrictions to which the property is subject:

The shares of stock are subject to the provisions of a Restricted Stock Agreement between the
undersigned and the Corporation.  The shares of stock are subject to forfeiture under the terms of the
Agreement.

6. The fair market value of the property at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any lapse
restriction) was $__________ per share, for a total of $__________.

7. The amount paid by taxpayer for the property was $__________.

8. A copy of this statement has been furnished to the Corporation.
 

      

    Dated:  , 2019   
  
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Signature
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Printed Name
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PROCEDURES FOR MAKING ELECTION

UNDER INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 83(b)
 

The following procedures must be followed with respect to the attached form for making an election under
Internal Revenue Code section 83(b) in order for the election to be effective: 

 
1.       You must file one copy of the completed election form with the IRS Service Center where you file your

federal income tax returns within 30 days after the Grant Date of your Restricted Stock.
 

2.       At the same time you file the election form with the IRS, you must also give a copy of the election
form to the Secretary of the Corporation.

 
3.






You
must
file
another
copy
of
the
election
form
with
your
federal
income
tax
return
(generally,

Form
1040)
for
the
taxable
year
in
which
the
stock
is
transferred
to
you.
 
 
 
 
 
 

Whether or not to make the election is your decision and may create tax consequences for you.
     You are advised to consult your tax advisor if you are unsure whether or not to make the election.
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Exhibit 10.20

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT (TIME BASED) GRANTED UNDER THE CAPELLA
EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

GRANTED UNDER THE
CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Corporation”), hereby grants shares of its common stock, $.01 par value (the
“Stock”)  to  the  Participant  named  below,  subject  to  the  vesting  conditions  set  forth  below  and  in  the  attachment.  Additional  terms  and
conditions  of  the  grant  are  set  forth  in  this  cover  sheet,  in  the  attached  Restricted  Stock  Agreement  (together  the  “Agreement”),  and  in  the
Corporation’s Capella Education Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).
  

Grant Date:  
  
Name of Participant:  
  
Number of Shares of Stock Covered by Award:  
  
Vesting Schedule: Subject to special provisions for termination of Service and “Change in

Control  Resulting  in  Termination”  (as  defined  below)  as  described  in
the Agreement and Plan, the restricted stock will vest as follows:

  
 ● 100% on
  
Cash Dividends: Grantee  will  have  the  right  to  receive  any  cash  dividends  declared  or

paid on the restricted stock granted hereunder unless and until forfeited.
 

By signing this cover sheet, you agree to all of the terms and conditions described in the Agreement and in the Plan, a copy of which is
attached. IN  PARTICULAR,  YOU  ACKNOWLEDGE  THAT  THIS  RESTRICTED  STOCK  GRANT  CONSTITUTES  CONSIDERATION
FOR YOUR ACCEPTANCE OF THE NON- COMPETITION
PROVISIONS
CONTAINED
IN
THE
AGREEMENT.
You
acknowledge
that
you
have 
carefully 
reviewed 
the 
Plan, 
and
agree 
that 
the 
Plan
will 
control 
in 
the 
event 
any 
provision 
of 
this 
Agreement 
should 
appear 
to 
be
inconsistent.
   

Grantee:   
 (Signature)  
   
Corporation:   
 (Signature)  
   
Title:   
 (Signature)  
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Attachment

This
is
not
a
stock
certificate
or
a
negotiable
instrument
.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

GRANTED UNDER THE
CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
Restricted Stock This  grant  is  an  award  of  Stock  in  the  number  of  shares  set  forth  on  the  cover  sheet

subject  to  the  vesting  conditions  set  forth  in  the  cover  sheet  and  described  below
(“Restricted Stock” or the “Award”).

Transfer of Unvested Restricted Stock To  the  extent  not  yet  vested,  your  Restricted  Stock  may  not  be  transferred,  assigned,
pledged  or  hypothecated,  whether  by  operation  of  law  or  otherwise,  nor  may  the
Restricted  Stock  be  made  subject  to  execution,  attachment  or  similar  process.  If  you
attempt  to  do  any  of  these  things,  you  will  immediately  forfeit  the  shares  of  Restricted
Stock.

Issuance and Vesting The Corporation will issue your Restricted Stock in the name set forth on the cover sheet
of this Agreement as of the Grant Date.

 Your right to the Stock under this Restricted Stock Agreement vests in accordance with
the vesting criteria (if any) and schedule on the cover sheet and Exhibit A.

 Notwithstanding  (i)  the  vesting  criteria  (if  any)  and  schedule  on  the  cover  sheet  and  in
Exhibit A and (ii) anything to the contrary contained in Section 12 of the Plan, the shares
of  Restricted  Stock  shall  become  fully  vested  upon  the  occurrence  of  your  death  or
Disability,  or  a  Change  in  Control  Resulting  in  Termination.  For  purposes  of  this
Agreement,  a “Change in Control Resulting in Termination” shall occur when there is a
Change in Control, as that term is defined in the herein, and (1) your employment with the
Corporation is terminated without Cause within six (6) months of the  effective date of the
Change  in  Control  or  (2)  there  occurs  a  material  reduction  in  your  authority,  functions,
duties  or  responsibilities  which causes  your resignation from the Corporation within six
(6) months of the effective date of the Change in Control.

 For  purposes  of  this  Agreement,  “Change  in  Control”  means  (i)  the  dissolution  or
liquidation  of  the  Company  or  any  merger,  consolidation,  or  reorganization  of  the
Company  with  one  or  more  other  entities  in  which  the  Company  is  not  the  surviving
entity,  (ii)  a  sale  of  substantially  all  of  the  assets  of  the  Company  to  another  person  or
entity, or (iii) any transaction (including without limitation a merger or reorganization in
which the Company is the surviving entity) which results in any person or entity owning
50% or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company.

No additional  shares  of  Restricted  Stock will  vest  after  your  Service  has  terminated  for
any reason other than death or Disability, or a

3

 



 

 

 Change in Control Resulting in Termination.

This award of Restricted Stock, either at all or for particular periods, will not be applied
or  interpreted  to  provide  any  commission,  bonus,  or  other  incentive  payment  based
directly or indirectly upon success in securing enrollments or financial aid to any person
or entity engaged in any student recruiting or admission activities or in making decisions
regarding  the  awarding  of  funds  under  Title  IV of  the  Higher  Education  Act,  except  as
permitted by law.

Evidence of Issuance The  issuance  of  the  Stock  under  the  grant  of  Restricted  Stock  evidenced  by  this
Agreement  shall  be  evidenced  in  such  a  manner  as  the  Corporation,  in  its  discretion,
deems  appropriate,  including,  without  limitation,  book-entry,  direct  registration  or
issuance of one or more share certificates (which may be held in escrow at the option of
the  Corporation  until  vested),  with  any  unvested  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  bearing  the
appropriate  restrictions  imposed  by  this  Agreement.  As  your  interest  in  the  Restricted
Stock  vests,  the  recordation  of  the  number  of  shares  of  Restricted  Stock  attributable  to
you will be appropriately modified if necessary.

Forfeiture of Unvested Stock and Dividends In the event that your Service terminates for any reason other than death, Disability, or a
Change in Control Resulting in Termination, you will forfeit to the Corporation all of the
shares of Stock subject to this grant that have not yet vested, and you agree to remit to the
Corporation within thirty (30) days an amount in cash equal to all dividends paid to you
by the Corporation with respect to such unvested Restricted Stock.

Death or Disability If your Service terminates because of your death, then your shares of Restricted Stock will
immediately become fully vested. If your Service terminates because of your Disability,
then your shares of Restricted Stock will immediately become fully vested.

Leaves of Absence For purposes of this Agreement, your Service does not terminate when you go on a bona
fide leave of absence that was approved by your employer in writing if the terms of the
leave  provide  for  continued  Service  crediting  or  when  continued  Service  crediting  is
required  by  applicable  law.  Your  Service  terminates  in  any  event  when  the  approved
leave ends unless you immediately return to active employee work.

 Your employer may determine, in its discretion, which leaves count for this purpose and
when  your  Service  terminates  for  all  purposes  under  the  Plan  in  accordance  with  the
provisions  of  the  Plan.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  the  Board  may  determine,  in  its
discretion, that a leave counts for this purpose even if your employer does not agree.

Escrow If  the  Restricted  Stock  is  certificated,  the  certificates  for  the  Restricted  Stock  shall  be
deposited in escrow with the Secretary of the Corporation to be held in accordance with
the  provisions  of  this  paragraph.  Each  deposited  certificate  shall  be  accompanied  by  a
duly  executed  Assignment  Separate  from  Certificate  in  the  form  attached  hereto  as
Exhibit B. The deposited certificates shall remain in escrow until such time or times as the
certificates are to be
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 released or otherwise surrendered for cancellation as discussed below. Upon delivery of
the  certificates  to  the  Corporation,  you  shall  be  issued  an  instrument  of  deposit
acknowledging the number of shares of Stock delivered in escrow to the Secretary of the
Corporation.

If so noted on the cover page all regular cash dividends on the Stock (or other securities at
the  time  held  in  escrow)  shall  be  paid  directly  to  you  and  shall  not  be  held  in  escrow.
However, in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or other change
affecting the Corporation’s outstanding common stock as a class effected without receipt
of consideration or in the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the
Corporation Stock, any new, substituted or additional securities or other property which is
by reason of such transaction distributed with respect  to the Stock shall  be immediately
delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation to be held in escrow hereunder, but only to
the extent the Stock is at the time subject to the escrow requirements hereof.

 The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities) from escrow shall
be effected within thirty (30) days following the date on which such shares first become
vested.

Withholding Taxes You agree, as a condition of this Agreement, that you will make acceptable arrangements
to pay any withholding or other taxes that  may be due relating to your Restricted Stock
and  the  issuance  of  shares  of  Stock  with  respect  to  the  Restricted  Stock  under  this
Agreement.  Prior  to  the occurrence  of  any event  involving the Restricted  Stock that  the
Corporation or an Affiliate determines may result in any tax withholding obligation (e.g.,
vesting), whether United States federal, state or local taxes or any applicable foreign taxes
and  including  any  employment  tax  obligation  (the  “Tax  Withholding  Obligation”),  and
except  in  cases  in  which  you  make  an  election  under  Section  83(b)  of  the  Code  as
provided below, you must agree to the satisfaction of such Tax Withholding Obligation in
a  manner  acceptable  to  the  Corporation,   including  by  means  of  one  of  the  following
methods:

(i)      By
Share
Withholding
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy  the  Tax
Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with  clause  (iii)
below,  you  authorize  the  Corporation  (in  the  exercise  of  its  sole  discretion)  to
withhold  from  those  unrestricted  shares  of  Stock  to  be  delivered  to  you  upon
vesting  the  whole  number  of  shares  sufficient  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation.  Share  withholding  will  result  in  the  delivery  of  a  lower  number  of
unrestricted shares of Stock to you.

(ii)     By 
Sale 
of 
Shares
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy  the  Tax
Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with  clause  (iii)
below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not violate Section 13(k) of
the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  as  amended,  your  acceptance  of  the
Restricted  Stock constitutes  your  instruction  and authorization  to  the  Corporation
(in the exercise of its sole discretion) and any brokerage firm

 

5

 



 determined acceptable to the Corporation or an Affiliate for such purpose to sell on
your behalf a whole number of shares from those unrestricted shares of Stock to be
delivered to you upon vesting of the shares of Restricted Stock as the Corporation
or an Affiliate determines to be appropriate to generate cash proceeds sufficient to
satisfy the applicable Tax Withholding Obligation. Such shares will be sold on the
day  such  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  arises  (e.g.,  a  vesting  date)  or  as  soon
thereafter  as  practicable.  You  will  be  responsible  for  all  brokers’  fees  and  other
costs of sale, and you agree to indemnify and hold the Corporation and its Affiliates
harmless from any losses, costs, damages, or expenses relating to any such sale. To
the  extent  the  proceeds  of  such  sale  exceed  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation,  the
Corporation  agrees  to  pay  such  excess  in  cash  to  you.  You acknowledge  that  the
Corporation  or  its  designee  is  under  no obligation  to  arrange  for  such sale  at  any
particular  price,  and  that  the  proceeds  of  any  such  sale  may  not  be  sufficient  to
satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation.  Accordingly,  you  agree  to  pay  to  the
Corporation  or  an  Affiliate  as  soon  as  practicable,  including  through  additional
payroll  withholding,  any  amount  of  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  that  is  not
satisfied by the sale of shares described above.

(iii)   By
Check, 
Wire 
Transfer 
or 
Other 
Means
 .  At  any  time  not  less  than  sixty  (60)
days  (or  such  fewer  number  of  days  as  determined  by  the  Committee  or  its
designee) before any Tax Withholding Obligation arises (e.g., a vesting date), and
provided  that  at  the  time  of  such  request  the  Corporation  is  not  in  a  “black-out
period”  and/or  subject  to  applicable  securities  laws  that  could  subject  you  to
liability  for  engaging  in  any  transaction  involving  the  sale  of  the  Corporation’s
common  stock,  you  may  request  permission  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation by check,  wire transfer  or  other  means,  by submitting such request,  in
writing,  to  the  Corporation.  Alternatively,  the  Corporation  may  require  that  you
satisfy  any  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  in  any  such  manner.  If  the  Corporation
approves  your  request,  or  so  requires,  within  five  (5)  business  days  of  a  vesting
date  (or  such  fewer  number  of  days  as  determined  by  the  Committee  or  its
designee)  you  must  deliver  to  the  Corporation  the  amount  that  the  Corporation
determines  is  sufficient  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  by  (x)  wire
transfer  to  such account  as  the  Corporation may direct,  (y)  delivery  of  a  certified
check payable to the Corporation, or (z) such other means as specified from time to
time by the Committee or its designee.

Section 83(b) Election Under  Section  83  of  the  Internal  Revenue  Code  of  1986,  as  amended  (the  “Code”),  the
difference between the purchase price (if any) paid for the shares of Stock and their fair
market value on the date any forfeiture restrictions applicable to such shares lapse will be
reportable  as  ordinary  income  at  that  time.  For  this  purpose,  “forfeiture  restrictions”
include the forfeiture as to unvested Stock described above. You may elect to be taxed at
the time the shares are acquired, rather than when such shares cease to be subject to
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 such forfeiture restrictions, by filing an election under Section 83 (b) of the Code with the
Internal  Revenue Service  within  thirty  (30)  days after  the Grant  Date.  You will  have to
make a tax payment to the extent the purchase price is less than the fair market value of
the shares on the Grant Date, in an amount equal to the Tax Withholding Obligation that
the Corporation or an Affiliate determines is required to be withheld under applicable tax
laws with respect to the shares.  You may satisfy the foregoing requirement by making a
payment to the Corporation in cash or, with the consent of the Corporation, by authorizing
the Corporation or an Affiliate to withhold cash otherwise due to you.  No tax payment
will  have to be made to the extent  the purchase price is at  least  equal to the fair  market
value  of  the  shares  on the  Grant  Date.  The form for  making this  election  is  attached  as
Exhibit C hereto. Failure to make this filing within the thirty (30) day period will result in
the recognition of ordinary income by you (in the event the fair market value of the shares
as of the vesting date exceeds the purchase price) as the forfeiture restrictions lapse.

 YOU  ACKNOWLEDGE  THAT  IT  IS  YOUR  SOLE  RESPONSIBILITY,  AND  NOT
THE  CORPORATION’S,  TO  DETERMINE  WHETHER  OR  NOT  TO  MAKE  A
FILING,  AND  IF  YOU  DETERMINE  TO  MAKE  SUCH  A  FILING,  TO  FILE  A
TIMELY  ELECTION  UNDER  SECTION  83(b),  EVEN  IF  YOU  REQUEST  THE
CORPORATION OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON YOUR
BEHALF.  YOU  ARE  RELYING  SOLELY  ON  YOUR  OWN  ADVISORS  WITH
RESPECT  TO  THE  DECISION  AS  TO  WHETHER  OR  NOT  TO  FILE  ANY  83(b)
ELECTION.

Non-Competition To the extent permitted by law and applicable professional regulations, during the period
you are providing Services to the Corporation and for a period of one year thereafter, you
shall  not  take  actions  in  competition  with  the  Corporation  in  any  state  or  similar
jurisdiction in which the Corporation conducts a material amount of its business. Unless
otherwise  specified  in  an  employment  or  other  agreement  between  the  Corporation  and
you, you take actions in competition with the Corporation if you:

 
             Fail to keep strictly confidential all confidential business information disclosed
by the Corporation to you, or which is obtained by you or otherwise disclosed to
you in connection with performing Services for the Corporation, or use any such
confidential information for any purpose other than performing Services for the
Corporation;  provided,  however,  that  the  foregoing  shall  not  apply  to
information  which  (1)  at  the  time  of  disclosure  to  you  is  already  a  matter  of
public  knowledge,  (2)  after  disclosure  to  you  becomes  a  matter  of  public
knowledge,  except  by  your  breach  of  this  provision,  (3)  was  already  in  your
possession at  the  time of  disclosure  and does  not  solely  constitute  specific  and
detailed information regarding the Corporation (it being acknowledged that you
possessed extensive industry experience and general knowledge of
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 the education sector prior to joining the Corporation); or (4) which is required to
be disclosed by law or regulation;


             Enter into any employment, consulting or similar relationships with third parties
which  will  result  in  a  direct  and  material  conflict  of  interest  with  the
Corporation’s business;

 
             Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest in (except a
minority  interest  of  5% or  less  acquired  for  investment  purposes  in  a  company
whose stock is traded on a public exchange) any person or entity that is a direct
and material competitor of the Corporation;

 
            Without the written consent of the Corporation, solicit or direct anyone else to
solicit any officer or key employee of the Corporation (y) to terminate his or her
employment  or  other  relationship  with  the  Corporation  or  (z)  to  seek or  accept
employment  with  you  or  any  third  party;  provided  that  the  foregoing  shall
exclude  actions  which  are  the  result  of  persons  responding  to  general
advertisements and do not involve any solicitation on your part.

 
             You  acknowledge  and  agree  that  any  material  breach  by  you  of  any  of  the
provisions  of  this  Section  (the  “Restrictive  Covenants”)  would  result  in
irreparable injury and damage for which money damages would not provide an
adequate  remedy.  Therefore,  if  you materially  breach,  or  threaten  to  materially
breach, any of the Restrictive Covenants, the Corporation and its Affiliates shall
have  the  right  to  have  the  Restrictive  Covenants  specifically  enforced  (without
posting bond and without the need to prove damages) by any court having equity
jurisdiction,  including,  without  limitation,  the  right  to  an  entry  against  you  of
restraining  orders  and  injunctions  (preliminary,  mandatory,  temporary  and
permanent)  against  violations,  threatened  or  actual,  and  whether  or  not  then
continuing, of such covenants. This right and remedy shall be in addition to, and
not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to the Corporation and its
Affiliates  under  law or  in  equity (including,  without  limitation,  the recovery of
damages).  In addition,  in  the event  of  such a material  breach of  the Restrictive
Covenants  the  Corporation  shall  have  the  right  to  cause  a  forfeiture  of  your
Restricted Stock Agreement and the value of any shares of Restricted Stock that
vested in the twelve (12) months prior to your material breach.

Retention Rights Neither your Restricted Stock nor this Agreement give you the right to be retained by the
Corporation (or any Subsidiaries) in any capacity, and subject to applicable legal
requirements or contractual provisions, the Corporation (and any Subsidiaries) reserve the
right to terminate your Service at any time and for any reason subject to the terms of your
employment agreement, if applicable.
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Clawback This  Award  is  subject  to  mandatory  repayment  by  you  to  the  Corporation  to  the  extent
you  are  or  in  the  future  become  subject  to  any  Corporation  “clawback”  or  recoupment
policy that requires the repayment by you to the Corporation of compensation paid by the
Corporation  to  you  in  the  event  that  you  fail  to  comply  with,  or  violate,  the  terms  or
requirements of such policy.

 If  the  Corporation  is  required  to  prepare  an  accounting  restatement  due  to  the  material
noncompliance of the Corporation, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting
requirement  under  the  securities  laws  and  you  knowingly  engaged  in  the  misconduct,
were  grossly  negligent  in  engaging  in  the  misconduct,  knowingly  failed  to  prevent  the
misconduct  or  were  grossly  negligent  in  failing  to  prevent  the  misconduct,  you  shall
reimburse the Corporation the amount of any payment in settlement of this Award earned
or  accrued  during  the  12-month  period  following  the  first  public  issuance  or  filing  with
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (whichever first occurred) of the
financial document that contained information affected by such material noncompliance.

 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or any provision of this Agreement, if the
Corporation  is  required  to  prepare  an  accounting  restatement,  then  you shall  forfeit  any
cash  or  Stock  received  in  connection  with  this  Award  (or  an  amount  equal  to  the  Fair
Market  Value  of  such  Stock  on  the  date  of  delivery  if  you no  longer  hold  the  Stock)  if
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the amount of the Award earned or the vesting in
the Award was explicitly based on the achievement of pre-established performance goals
set forth in this Agreement (including earnings, gains, or other performance criteria) that
are later determined, as a result of the accounting restatement, not to have been achieved.

Shareholder Rights You have  the  right  to  vote  the  Restricted  Stock  and  if  so  noted  on  the  cover  page,  you
have  the  right  to  receive  any  cash  dividends  declared  or  paid  on  such  stock  unless  and
until  forfeited.  Any  stock  distributions  you  receive  as  a  result  of  any  stock  split,  stock
dividend, combination of shares or other similar transaction shall be deemed to be a part
of  the  Restricted  Stock  and  subject  to  the  same  conditions  and  restrictions  applicable
thereto. Except as described in the Plan, no adjustments are made for dividends or other
rights if the applicable record date occurs before your stock certificate is issued.

Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the Corporation stock,
the  number  of  shares  covered  by  this  grant  may  be  adjusted  (and  rounded  down  to  the
nearest whole number) pursuant to the Plan. Your Restricted Stock shall be subject to the
terms  of  the  agreement  of  merger,  liquidation  or  reorganization  in  the  event  the
Corporation is subject to such corporate activity.

Legends All  certificates  representing  the  Stock  issued  in  connection  with  this  grant  shall,  where
applicable, have endorsed thereon the following legends:

 

9

 



 “THE  SHARES  REPRESENTED  BY  THIS  CERTIFICATE  ARE  SUBJECT  TO
CERTAIN  RESTRICTIONS  ON  TRANSFER  SET  FORTH  IN  AN  AGREEMENT
BETWEEN  THE  CORPORATION  AND  THE  REGISTERED  HOLDER,  OR  HIS  OR
HER PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST. A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS ON FILE
AT  THE  PRINCIPAL  OFFICE  OF  THE  CORPORATION  AND  WILL  BE
FURNISHED  UPON  WRITTEN  REQUEST  TO  THE  SECRETARY  OF  THE
CORPORATION BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THE SHARES REPRESENTED
BY THIS CERTIFICATE.”

Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of Maryland,
other  than  any  conflicts  or  choice  of  law  rule  or  principle  that  might  otherwise  refer
construction  or  interpretation  of  this  Agreement  to  the  substantive  law  of  another
jurisdiction.

The Plan The text  of  the  Plan  is  incorporated  in  this  Agreement  by reference.  Certain  capitalized
terms used in this Agreement are defined in the Plan, and have the meaning set forth in
the Plan.

 This  Agreement  and  the  Plan  constitute  the  entire  understanding  between  you  and  the
Corporation regarding this grant of Restricted Stock. Any prior agreements, commitments
or negotiations concerning this grant are superseded.

Consent to Electronic Delivery The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials relating to the Plan
in electronic form. By accepting this grant you agree that the Corporation will deliver the
Plan  prospectus  and  the  Corporation’s  annual  report  to  you  in  an  electronic  format
available through your E*Trade account.

If  at  any time you would  prefer  to  receive  paper  copies  of  these  documents,  as  you are
entitled  to,  the  Corporation  would  be  pleased  to  provide  copies.  Please  contact  the
General Counsel of the Corporation to request paper copies of these documents.

Corporate Activity Your  grant  shall  be  subject  to  the  terms  of  any  applicable  agreement  of  merger,
liquidation  or  reorganization  in  the  event  the  Corporation  is  subject  to  such  corporate
activity.

Data Privacy In  order  to  administer  the  Plan,  the  Corporation  may  process  personal  data  about  you.
Such data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in this Agreement and any
changes  thereto,  other  appropriate  personal  and  financial  data  about  you  such  as  your
contact information, payroll information and any other information that might be deemed
appropriate by the Corporation to facilitate the administration of the Plan.

 By accepting this grant, you give explicit consent to the Corporation to process any such
personal data.

Code Section 409A It is intended that this Award comply with Code Section 409A or an exemption to Code
Section 409A. To the extent that the Corporation determines that you would be subject to
the additional 20% tax imposed on certain non-qualified deferred compensation
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 plans pursuant to Code Section 409A as a result of any provision of this Agreement, such
provision shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to avoid application
of  such  additional  tax.  The  nature  of  any  such  amendment  shall  be  determined  by  the
Corporation. For purposes of this Award, a termination of Service  only occurs upon an
event that would be a Separation from Service within the meaning of Code Section 409A.

 
By
signing
the
cover
sheet
of
this
Agreement,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and

conditions
described
above
and
in
the
Plan.
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EXHIBIT A

VESTING
   

Number of Shares     Vesting Date(s)
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EXHIBIT B

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

FOR  VALUE  RECEIVED,                        hereby  assigns  and  transfers  unto  Strategic  Education,  Inc.,  a  Maryland  corporation  (the
“Corporation”),                 (                )  shares  of  common stock of  the Corporation represented by  Certificate   No.  herewith and does
hereby  irrevocably  constitute  and appoint                                as Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the Corporation with full
power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:      ,                                    
  

  
 Print Name
  
  
  
 Signature
 

Spouse Consent (if applicable)

                                        (Purchaser’s spouse) indicates by the execution of this Assignment his or her consent to be bound by the terms herein
as to his or her interests, whether as community property or otherwise, if any, in the shares of common stock of the Corporation.
  

  
 Signature
 
INSTRUCTIONS: PLEASE DO NOT FILL IN ANY BLANKS OTHER THAN THE SIGNATURE LINE. THE PURPOSE OF THIS
ASSIGNMENT  IS  TO  ENABLE  THE  CORPORATION  TO  CANCEL  YOUR  UNVESTED  SHARES  AS  SET  FORTH  IN  THE
AGREEMENT WITHOUT REQUIRING ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES ON THE PART OF PURCHASER.
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EXHIBIT C
ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF

THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

The  undersigned  hereby  makes  an  election  pursuant  to  Section  83(b)  of  the  Internal  Revenue  Code  with  respect  to  the  property
described below and supplies the following information in accordance with the regulations promulgated thereunder:
   

1. The name, address and social security number of the undersigned:

 Name:  

 Address:  

  

 Social Security No. :  
   
2. Description of property with respect to which the election is being made:

                     shares of common stock of Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation, (the “Corporation”).

3. The date on which the property was transferred is                          ,          , 2019.

4. The taxable year to which this election relates is calendar year 2019.

5. Nature of restrictions to which the property is subject:

 The shares of stock are subject  to the provisions of a Restricted Stock Agreement  between the undersigned and the Corporation.  The
shares of stock are subject to forfeiture under the terms of the Agreement.

6. The fair market value of the property at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any lapse restriction) was $                 per
share, for a total of $                 .

7. The amount paid by taxpayer for the property was $                 .

8. A copy of this statement has been furnished to the Corporation.

 
Dated:                                 , 2019
  

  
 Taxpayer’s Signature
  
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Printed Name
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PROCEDURES FOR MAKING ELECTION
UNDER INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 83(b)

The following procedures must be followed with respect to the attached form for making an election under Internal Revenue
Code section 83(b) in order for the election to be effective: 

1.           You must file one copy of the completed election form with the IRS Service Center where you file your federal
income tax returns within 30 days after the Grant Date of your Restricted Stock.

2.           At the same time you file the election form with the IRS, you must also give a copy of the election form to the
Secretary of the Corporation.

3.           You must file another copy of the election form with your federal income tax return (generally, Form 1040) for the
taxable year in which the stock is transferred to you.

 

 

 

 

 

Whether or not to make the election is your decision and may create tax consequences for you. You are advised to
consult your tax advisor if you are unsure whether or not to make the election.
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Exhibit 10.21

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT (PERFORMANCE BASED) GRANTED UNDER THE
CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

GRANTED UNDER THE
CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Corporation”), hereby grants shares of its common stock, $.01 par value (the
“Stock”)  to  the  Participant  named  below,  subject  to  the  vesting  conditions  set  forth  below  and  in  the  attachment.  Additional  terms  and
conditions  of  the  grant  are  set  forth  in  this  cover  sheet,  in  the  attached  Restricted  Stock  Agreement  (together  the  “Agreement”),  and  in  the
Corporation’s Capella Education Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).

Grant Date:  

Name of Participant:  

Number of Shares of Stock Covered by Award:  

Vesting: Subject to special provisions for termination of Service and “Change in Control
Resulting in Termination” (as defined below) as described in the Agreement and
the  Plan,  the  restricted  stock  will  vest  based  on  the  attainment  of  specified
performance goals, as set forth on the attached Exhibit A and as follows:

 ● 100% on

Cash Dividends: Participant will have the right to receive any cash dividends declared or paid on
the restricted stock unless and until forfeited.

 
By signing this cover sheet, you agree to all of the terms and conditions described in the Agreement and in the Plan, a copy of which is

attached. IN  PARTICULAR,  YOU  ACKNOWLEDGE  THAT  THIS  RESTRICTED  STOCK  GRANT  CONSTITUTES  CONSIDERATION
FOR YOUR ACCEPTANCE OF THE NON- COMPETITION
PROVISIONS
CONTAINED
IN
THE
AGREEMENT.
You
acknowledge
that
you
have 
carefully 
reviewed 
the 
Plan, 
and
agree 
that 
the 
Plan
will 
control 
in 
the 
event 
any 
provision 
of 
this 
Agreement 
should 
appear 
to 
be
inconsistent.

Participant:   
 (Signature)  
   
Corporation:   
 (Signature)  
   
Title:   
 (Signature)  
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or
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

GRANTED UNDER THE
CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

  

Restricted Stock This grant is an award of Stock in the number of shares set forth on the cover sheet
subject  to  the  vesting  conditions  set  forth  in  the  cover  sheet  and  described  below
(“Restricted Stock” or the “Award”).

Transfer of Unvested Restricted Stock To the extent not yet vested, your Restricted Stock may not be transferred, assigned,
pledged  or  hypothecated,  whether  by  operation  of  law  or  otherwise,  nor  may  the
Restricted Stock be made subject to execution, attachment or similar process. If you
attempt to do any of these things, you will immediately forfeit the shares of Restricted
Stock.

Issuance and Vesting The Corporation will  issue your Restricted Stock in the name set  forth on the cover
sheet of this Agreement as of the Grant Date.

 Your  right  to  the  Stock  under  this  Restricted  Stock  Agreement  vests  in  accordance
with the vesting criteria (if any) and schedule on the cover sheet and Exhibit A .

 Notwithstanding (i) the vesting criteria (if any) and schedule on the cover sheet and in
Exhibit  A and  (ii)  anything  to  the  contrary  contained  in  Section  12  of  the  Plan,  the
shares  of  Restricted  Stock  shall  become  fully  vested  upon  the  occurrence  of  your
death or Disability, or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination. For purposes of
this  Agreement,  a  “Change  in  Control  Resulting  in  Termination”  shall  occur  when
there is a Change in Control, as that term is defined herein, and (1) your employment
with  the  Corporation  is  terminated  without  Cause  within  six  (6)  months  of
the  effective date of the Change in Control or (2) there occurs a material reduction in
your  authority,  functions,  duties  or  responsibilities  which  causes  your  resignation
from  the  Corporation  within  six  (6)  months  of  the  effective  date  of  the  Change  in
Control.

 For  purposes  of  this  Agreement,  “Change  in  Control”  means  (i)  the  dissolution  or
liquidation  of  the  Company  or  any  merger,  consolidation,  or  reorganization  of  the
Company with one or more other entities in which the Company is not the surviving
entity, (ii) a sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company to another person or
entity, or (iii) any transaction (including without limitation a merger or reorganization
in which the  Company is  the  surviving  entity)  which results  in  any person or  entity
owning  50%  or  more  of  the  combined  voting  power  of  all  classes  of  stock  of  the
Company.

No additional  shares  of  Restricted  Stock will  vest  after  your  Service  has  terminated
for  any  reason  other  than  death  or  Disability,  or  a  Change  in  Control  Resulting  in
Termination.

 

3

 

 



 This  award  of  Restricted  Stock,  either  at  all  or  for  particular  periods,  will  not  be
applied or interpreted to provide any commission, bonus, or other incentive payment
based  directly  or  indirectly  upon success  in  securing  enrollments  or  financial  aid  to
any  person  or  entity  engaged  in  any  student  recruiting  or  admission  activities  or  in
making  decisions  regarding  the  awarding  of  funds  under  Title  IV  of  the  Higher
Education Act, except as permitted by law.

Evidence of Issuance The  issuance  of  the  Stock  under  the  grant  of  Restricted  Stock  evidenced  by  this
Agreement shall be evidenced in such a manner as the Corporation, in its discretion,
deems  appropriate,  including,  without  limitation,  book-entry,  direct  registration  or
issuance of one or more share certificates (which may be held in escrow at the option
of the Corporation until vested), with any unvested shares of Restricted Stock bearing
the  appropriate  restrictions  imposed  by  this  Agreement.  As  your  interest  in  the
Restricted  Stock vests,   the  recordation  of  the  number  of  shares  of  Restricted  Stock
attributable to  you will be appropriately modified if necessary.

Forfeiture of Unvested Stock 
and Dividends

In the event that your Service terminates for any reason other than death, Disability,
or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination, you will forfeit to the Corporation
all of the shares of Stock subject to this grant that have not yet vested, and you agree
to  remit  to  the  Corporation  within  thirty  (30)  days  an  amount  in  cash  equal  to  all
dividends  paid  to  you  by  the  Corporation  with  respect  to  such  unvested  Restricted
Stock.

Leaves of Absence For purposes of  this  Agreement,  your Service does not  terminate  when you go on a
bona
fide
leave of absence that was approved by your employer in writing if the terms
of  the  leave  provide  for  continued  Service  crediting  or  when  continued  Service
crediting  is  required  by  applicable  law.  Your  Service  terminates  in  any  event  when
the approved leave ends unless you immediately return to active employee work.

 Your employer may determine, in its discretion, which leaves count for this purpose
and when your Service terminates for all purposes under the Plan in accordance with
the provisions of the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may determine,
in its discretion, that a leave counts for this purpose even if your employer does not
agree.

Death or Disability If your Service terminates because of your death, then your shares of Restricted Stock
will  immediately  become  fully  vested.  If  your  Service  terminates  because  of  your
Disability, then your shares of Restricted Stock will immediately become fully vested.

Escrow If the Restricted Stock is certificated, the certificates for the Restricted Stock shall be
deposited  in  escrow with  the  Secretary  of  the  Corporation  to  be  held  in  accordance
with the provisions of this paragraph. Each deposited certificate shall be accompanied
by a duly executed Assignment Separate from Certificate in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit  B .  The  deposited  certificates  shall  remain  in  escrow  until  such  time  or
times as the certificates are to be released or otherwise surrendered for cancellation as
discussed
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 below.  Upon  delivery  of  the  certificates  to  the  Corporation,  you  shall  be  issued  an
instrument  of  deposit  acknowledging  the  number  of  shares  of  Stock  delivered  in
escrow to the Secretary of the Corporation.

 If  so  noted  on  the  cover  page,  all  regular  cash  dividends  on  the  Stock  (or  other
securities at the time held in escrow) shall be paid directly to you and shall not be held
in escrow. However, in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or
other  change  affecting  the  Corporation’s  outstanding  common  stock  as  a  class
effected  without  receipt  of  consideration  or  in  the  event  of  a  stock  split,  a  stock
dividend  or  a  similar  change  in  the  Corporation  Stock,  any  new,  substituted  or
additional  securities  or  other  property  which  is  by  reason  of  such  transaction
distributed with respect  to the Stock shall  be immediately delivered to the Secretary
of the Corporation to be held in escrow hereunder, but only to the extent the Stock is
at the time subject to the escrow requirements hereof.

 The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities)  from escrow
shall be effected within thirty (30) days following the date on which such shares first
become vested.

Withholding Taxes You  agree,  as  a  condition  of  this  Agreement,  that  you  will  make  acceptable
arrangements to pay any withholding or other taxes that may be due relating to your
Restricted  Stock  and  the  issuance  of  shares  of  Stock  with  respect  to  the  Restricted
Stock  under  this  Agreement.  Prior  to  the  occurrence  of  any  event  involving  the
Restricted Stock that the Corporation or an Affiliate determines may result in any tax
withholding  obligation  (e.g.,  vesting),  whether  United  States  federal,  state  or  local
taxes  or  any  applicable  foreign  taxes  and  including  any  employment  tax  obligation
(the  “Tax  Withholding  Obligation”),  and  except  in  cases  in  which  you  make  an
election  under  Section  83(b)  of  the  Code  as  provided  below,  you  must  agree  to  the
satisfaction  of  such  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  in  a  manner  acceptable  to  the
Corporation, including by means of one of the following methods:

(i) By 
Share 
Withholding
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy  the  Tax
Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with  clause  (iii)
below, you authorize the Corporation (in the exercise of its sole discretion) to
withhold  from those  unrestricted  shares  of  Stock  to  be  delivered  to  you  upon
vesting  the  whole  number  of  shares  sufficient  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation. Share withholding will result in the delivery of a lower number of
unrestricted shares of Stock to you.

(ii) By 
Sale 
of 
Shares
 .  Unless  the  Corporation  permits  you  to  satisfy  the  Tax
Withholding  Obligation  by  some  other  means  in  accordance  with  clause  (iii)
below,  and  provided  that  the  terms  of  this  clause  (ii)  do  not  violate  Section
13(k) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, your acceptance of
the  Restricted  Stock  constitutes  your  instruction  and  authorization  to  the
Corporation  (in  the  exercise  of  its  sole  discretion)  and  any  brokerage  firm
determined acceptable to the Corporation or an Affiliate for
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 such  purpose  to  sell  on  your  behalf  a  whole  number  of  shares  from  those
unrestricted shares of Stock to be delivered to you upon vesting of the shares of
Restricted Stock as the Corporation or an Affiliate determines to be appropriate
to generate cash proceeds sufficient to satisfy the applicable Tax Withholding
Obligation.  Such  shares  will  be  sold  on  the  day  such  Tax  Withholding
Obligation arises (e.g., a vesting date) or as soon thereafter as practicable. You
will be responsible for all brokers’ fees and other costs of sale, and you agree
to  indemnify  and  hold  the  Corporation  and  its  Affiliates  harmless  from  any
losses, costs, damages, or expenses relating to any such sale. To the extent the
proceeds of such sale exceed the Tax Withholding Obligation, the Corporation
agrees  to  pay  such  excess  in  cash  to  you.  You  acknowledge  that  the
Corporation  or  its  designee  is  under  no  obligation  to  arrange  for  such  sale  at
any  particular  price,  and  that  the  proceeds  of  any  such  sale  may  not  be
sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Accordingly, you agree to
pay to the Corporation or an Affiliate as soon as practicable, including through
additional payroll withholding, any amount of the Tax Withholding Obligation
that is not satisfied by the sale of shares described above.

(iii) By
Check,
Wire
Transfer
or
Other
Means
. At any time not less than sixty (60)
days  (or  such  fewer  number  of  days  as  determined  by  the  Committee  or  its
designee) before any Tax Withholding Obligation arises  (e.g.,  a  vesting date),
and provided that at the time of such request the Corporation is not in a “black-
out period” and/or subject to applicable securities laws that could subject you to
liability for engaging in any transaction involving the sale of the Corporation’s
common  stock,  you  may  request  permission  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation by check, wire transfer or other means, by submitting such request,
in writing, to the Corporation. Alternatively,  the Corporation may require that
you  satisfy  any  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  in  any  such  manner.  If  the
Corporation approves your request, or so requires, within five (5) business days
of  a  vesting  date  (or  such  fewer  number  of  days  as  determined  by  the
Committee or its designee) you must deliver to the Corporation the amount that
the  Corporation  determines  is  sufficient  to  satisfy  the  Tax  Withholding
Obligation by (x) wire transfer to such account as the Corporation may direct,
(y)  delivery  of  a  certified  check payable  to  the  Corporation,  or  (z)  such other
means as specified from time to time by the Committee or its designee.

Section 83(b) Election Under  Section  83 of  the  Internal  Revenue Code of  1986,  as  amended  (the  “Code”),
the  difference  between  the  purchase  price  (if  any)  paid  for  the  shares  of  Stock  and
their fair market value on the date any forfeiture restrictions applicable to such shares
lapse will be reportable as ordinary income at that time. For this purpose, “forfeiture
restrictions”  include  the  forfeiture  as  to  unvested  Stock  described  above.  You  may
elect  to  be  taxed  at  the  time  the  shares  are  acquired,  rather  than  when  such  shares
cease to be subject to such forfeiture restrictions, by filing an election under Section
83
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 (b)  of  the  Code  with  the  Internal  Revenue  Service  within  thirty  (30)  days  after  the
Grant Date. You will have to make a tax payment to the extent the purchase price is
less than the fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date, in an amount equal to
the  Tax  Withholding  Obligation  that  the  Corporation  or  an  Affiliate  determines  is
required to be withheld under applicable tax laws with respect to the shares.  You may
satisfy the foregoing requirement by making a payment to the Corporation in cash or,
with the consent of the Corporation, by authorizing the Corporation or an Affiliate to
withhold  cash  otherwise  due  to  you.   No  tax  payment  will  have  to  be  made  to  the
extent the purchase price is at least equal to the fair market value of the shares on the
Grant Date. The form for making this election is attached as Exhibit C hereto. Failure
to make this  filing within the thirty  (30)  day period will  result  in  the recognition of
ordinary  income  by  you  (in  the  event  the  fair  market  value  of  the  shares  as  of  the
vesting date exceeds the purchase price) as the forfeiture restrictions lapse.

 YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND
NOT  THE  CORPORATION’S,  TO  DETERMINE  WHETHER  OR  NOT  TO
MAKE A FILING, AND IF YOU DETERMINE TO MAKE SUCH A FILING,
TO  FILE  A  TIMELY  ELECTION  UNDER  SECTION  83(b),  EVEN  IF  YOU
REQUEST  THE  CORPORATION  OR  ITS  REPRESENTATIVES  TO  MAKE
THIS  FILING  ON  YOUR  BEHALF.  YOU  ARE  RELYING  SOLELY  ON
YOUR  OWN  ADVISORS  WITH  RESPECT  TO  THE  DECISION  AS  TO
WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY 83(b) ELECTION.

Non-Competition To  the  extent  permitted  by  law  and  applicable  professional  regulations,  during  the
period  you  are  providing  Services  to  the  Corporation  and  for  a  period  of  one  year
thereafter, you shall not take actions in competition with the Corporation in any state
or  similar  jurisdiction  in  which  the  Corporation  conducts  a  material  amount  of  its
business.  Unless  otherwise  specified  in  an  employment  or  other  agreement  between
the Corporation and you, you take actions in competition with the Corporation if you:

 
             Fail  to  keep  strictly  confidential  all  confidential  business  information
disclosed  by  the  Corporation  to  you,  or  which  is  obtained  by  you  or
otherwise  disclosed  to  you  in  connection  with  performing  Services  for  the
Corporation, or use any such confidential information for any purpose other
than  performing  Services  for  the  Corporation;  provided,  however,  that  the
foregoing shall not apply to information which (1) at the time of disclosure
to  you is  already  a  matter  of  public  knowledge,  (2)  after  disclosure  to  you
becomes  a  matter  of  public  knowledge,  except  by  your  breach  of  this
provision , (3) was already in your possession at the time of disclosure and
does  not  solely  constitute  specific  and  detailed  information  regarding  the
Corporation  (it  being  acknowledged  that  you  possessed  extensive  industry
experience  and  general  knowledge  of  the  education  sector  prior  to  joining
the  Corporation);  or  (4)  which  is  required  to  be  disclosed  by  law  or
regulation;
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            Enter into any employment, consulting or similar relationships with third
parties which will result in a direct and material conflict of interest with the
Corporation’s business;

 
            Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest in
(except a minority interest of 5% or less acquired for investment purposes in
a company whose stock is traded on a public exchange) any person or entity
that is a direct and material competitor of the Corporation;

 
            Without the written consent of the Corporation, solicit or direct anyone else
to solicit any officer or key employee of  the Corporation (y) to terminate his
or her employment or other relationship with the Corporation or (z) to seek
or accept employment with you or any third party; provided that the
foregoing shall exclude actions which are the result of persons responding to
general advertisements and do not involve any solicitation on your part.

 You acknowledge and agree that any material breach by you of any of the provisions
of this Section (the “Restrictive Covenants”) would result in irreparable injury and
damage for which money damages would not provide an adequate remedy. Therefore,
if you materially breach, or threaten to materially breach, any of the Restrictive
Covenants, the Corporation and its Affiliates shall have the right to have the
Restrictive Covenants specifically enforced (without posting bond and without the
need to prove damages) by any court having equity jurisdiction, including, without
limitation, the right to an entry against you of restraining orders and injunctions
(preliminary, mandatory, temporary and permanent) against violations, threatened or
actual, and whether or not then continuing, of such covenants. This right and remedy
shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to
the Corporation and its Affiliates under law or in equity (including, without
limitation, the recovery of damages). In addition, in the event of such a material
breach of the Restrictive Covenants the Corporation shall have the right to cause a
forfeiture of your Restricted Stock Agreement and the value of any shares of
Restricted Stock that vested in the twelve (12) months prior to your material breach.

Retention Rights Neither your Restricted Stock nor this Agreement give you the right to be retained by
the Corporation (or any Subsidiaries) in any capacity, and subject to applicable legal
requirements or contractual provisions, the Corporation (and any Subsidiaries) reserve
the right to terminate your Service at any time and for any reason subject to the terms
of your employment agreement, if applicable.

Clawback This Award is subject to mandatory repayment by you to the Corporation to the extent
you are or in the future become subject to any Corporation “clawback” or recoupment
policy that requires the repayment by you to the Corporation of compensation paid by
the Corporation to you in the event that you fail to comply with, or
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 violate, the terms or requirements of such policy.

 If the Corporation is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material
noncompliance of the Corporation, as a result of misconduct, with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws and you knowingly engaged in the
misconduct, were grossly negligent in engaging in the misconduct, knowingly failed
to prevent the misconduct or were grossly negligent in failing to prevent the
misconduct, you shall reimburse the Corporation the amount of any payment in
settlement of this Award earned or accrued during the 12-month period following the
first public issuance or filing with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (whichever first occurred) of the financial document that contained
information affected by such material noncompliance.

 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or any provision of this Agreement,
if the Corporation is required to prepare an accounting restatement, then you shall
forfeit any cash or Stock received in connection with this Award (or an amount equal
to the Fair Market Value of such Stock on the date of delivery if you no longer hold
the Stock) if pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the amount of the Award earned
or the vesting in the Award was explicitly based on the achievement of pre-
established performance goals set forth in this Agreement (including earnings, gains,
or other performance criteria) that are later determined, as a result of the accounting
restatement, not to have been achieved.

Shareholder Rights You have the right to vote the Restricted Stock and if so noted on the cover page, you
have the right to receive any cash dividends declared or paid on such stock unless and
until forfeited. Any stock distributions you receive as a result of any stock split, stock
dividend, combination of shares or other similar transaction shall be deemed to be a
part of the Restricted Stock and subject to the same conditions and restrictions
applicable thereto. Except as described in the Plan, no adjustments are made for
dividends or other rights if the applicable record date occurs before your stock
certificate is issued.

Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the Corporation
stock, the number of shares covered by this grant may be adjusted (and rounded down
to the nearest whole number) pursuant to the Plan. Your Restricted Stock shall be
subject to the terms of the agreement of merger, liquidation or reorganization in the
event the Corporation is subject to such corporate activity.

Legends All certificates representing the Stock issued in connection with this grant shall,
where applicable, have endorsed thereon the following legends:

 “THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO
CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER SET FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE CORPORATION AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER, OR HIS
OR HER PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST. A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS
ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF
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 THE CORPORATION AND WILL BE FURNISHED UPON WRITTEN REQUEST
TO THE SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION BY THE HOLDER OF
RECORD OF THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE.”

Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of
Maryland, other than any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might
otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law
of another jurisdiction.

The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference. Certain
capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in the Plan, and have the
meaning set forth in the Plan.

 This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between you and the
Corporation regarding this grant of Restricted Stock. Any prior agreements,
commitments or negotiations concerning this grant are superseded.

Consent to Electronic Delivery The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials relating to the
Plan in electronic form. By accepting this grant you agree that the Corporation will
deliver the Plan prospectus and the Corporation’s annual report to you in an electronic
format available through your E*Trade account.

If at any time you would prefer to receive paper copies of these documents, as you are
entitled to, the Corporation would be pleased to provide copies. Please contact the
General Counsel of the Corporation to request paper copies of these documents.

Corporate Activity Your grant shall be subject to the terms of any applicable agreement of merger,
liquidation or reorganization in the event the Corporation is subject to such corporate
activity.

Data Privacy In order to administer the Plan, the Corporation may process personal data about you.
Such data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in this Agreement and
any changes thereto, other appropriate personal and financial data about you such as
your contact information, payroll information and any other information that might be
deemed appropriate by the Corporation to facilitate the administration of the Plan.

 By accepting this grant, you give explicit consent to the Corporation to process any
such personal data.

Code Section 409A It is intended that this Award comply with Code Section 409A or an exemption to
Code Section 409A. To the extent that the Corporation determines that you would be
subject to the additional 20% tax imposed on certain non-qualified deferred
compensation plans pursuant to Code Section 409A as a result of any provision of this
Agreement, such provision shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent
necessary to avoid application of such additional tax. The nature of any such
amendment shall be determined by the Corporation. For purposes of this Award, a
termination of Service only occurs upon an event that would be a Separation from
Service
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 within the meaning of Code Section 409A.

 
By
signing
the
cover
sheet
of
this
Agreement,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and

conditions
described
above
and
in
the
Plan.
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EXHIBIT A

PERFORMANCE GOALS

AND NUMBER OF SHARES OF STOCK

Performance Goal     

Number of 
Shares 
Vesting     

Date 
Vesting  
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EXHIBIT B

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

FOR  VALUE  RECEIVED,                        hereby  assigns  and  transfers  unto  Strategic  Education,  Inc.,  a  Maryland  corporation  (the
“Corporation”),                 (                )  shares  of  common  stock  of  the  Corporation  represented
by  Certificate  No.  herewith  and  does  hereby  irrevocably  constitute  and appoint                                as Attorney to transfer the said stock on
the books of the Corporation with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:      ,                            
  
 Print Name
  
  
 Signature

Spouse Consent (if applicable)

                                        (Purchaser’s spouse) indicates by the execution of this Assignment his or her consent to be bound by the terms herein
as to his or her interests, whether as community property or otherwise, if any, in the shares of common stock of the Corporation.

  
 Signature

 
INSTRUCTIONS: PLEASE DO NOT FILL IN ANY BLANKS OTHER THAN THE SIGNATURE LINE. THE PURPOSE OF THIS
ASSIGNMENT  IS  TO  ENABLE  THE  CORPORATION  TO  CANCEL  YOUR  UNVESTED  SHARES  AS  SET  FORTH  IN  THE
AGREEMENT WITHOUT REQUIRING ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES ON THE PART OF PURCHASER.
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EXHIBIT C
ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF

THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

The  undersigned  hereby  makes  an  election  pursuant  to  Section  83(b)  of  the  Internal  Revenue  Code  with  respect  to  the  property
described below and supplies the following information in accordance with the regulations promulgated thereunder:
   

1. The name, address and social security number of the undersigned:

 Name:  

 Address:  

  

 Social Security No. :  
   
2. Description of property with respect to which the election is being made:

                     shares of common stock of Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation, (the “Corporation”).

3. The date on which the property was transferred is                          ,          , 2019.

4. The taxable year to which this election relates is calendar year 2019.

5. Nature of restrictions to which the property is subject:

 The shares of stock are subject to the provisions of a Restricted Stock Agreement between the undersigned and the Corporation. The
shares of stock are subject to forfeiture under the terms of the Agreement.

6. The fair market value of the property at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any lapse restriction) was $                 per
share, for a total of $                 .

7. The amount paid by taxpayer for the property was $                 .

8. A copy of this statement has been furnished to the Corporation.

 
 
  

Dated:                    , 2019  
  
 Taxpayer’s Signature
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Printed Name
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PROCEDURES FOR MAKING ELECTION
UNDER INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 83(b)

The following procedures must be followed with respect to the attached form for making an election under Internal Revenue
Code section 83(b) in order for the election to be effective: 

1.       You must file one copy of the completed election form with the IRS Service Center where you file your federal income
tax returns within 30 days after the Grant Date of your Restricted Stock.

2.        At  the  same  time  you  file  the  election  form  with  the  IRS,  you  must  also  give  a  copy  of  the  election  form  to  the
Secretary of the Corporation.

3.
        You
must
file
another
copy
of
the
election
form
with
your
federal
income
tax
return
(generally,
Form
1040)
for
the
taxable
year
in
which
the
stock
is
transferred
to
you.

 

 

 

 

 

Whether or not to make the election is your decision and may create tax consequences for you. You are advised to consult your tax
advisor if you are unsure whether or not to make the election.
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Exhibit 10.22
 

 
STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC. FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT (NON-EMPLOYEE
DIRECTOR) GRANTED UNDER THE CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
 

STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

GRANTED UNDER THE
CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Corporation”), hereby grants shares of its common

stock, $.01 par value (the “Stock”) to the Participant named below, subject to the vesting conditions set forth below
and in the attachment.  Additional terms and conditions of the grant are set forth in this cover sheet, in the attachment
and in the Corporation’s Capella Education Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).

Grant Date:

Name of Participant:

Number of Shares of Stock Covered by Award:
  

Vesting Schedule: Subject to special provisions for termination of Service and Change in “Control Resulting in
Termination” (as defined below) as described in the Agreement and Plan, the restricted stock
will vest as follows: ________________ .

 
By
signing
this
cover
sheet,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
in
the
Agreement
and
in

the
Plan,
a
copy
of
which
is
also
attached.



IN
PARTICULAR,
YOU
ACKNOWLEDGE
THAT
THIS
RESTRICTED
STOCK
GRANT
CONSTITUTES
CONSIDERATION
FOR
YOUR
ACCEPTANCE
OF
THE
NON-COMPETITION
PROVISIONS
CONTAINED
IN
THE
AGREEMENT.

You
acknowledge
that
you
have
carefully
reviewed
the
Plan,
and
agree
that
the
Plan
will
control
in
the
event
any
provision
of
this
Agreement
should
appear
to
be
inconsistent.

     

Participant:     
    (Signature)

Corporation:     
    (Signature)

  Title:   
 
 
This
is
not
a
stock
certificate
or
a
negotiable
instrument
.
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STRATEGIC EDUCATION, INC.

RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT
GRANTED UNDER THE

CAPELLA EDUCATION COMPANY 2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
 

  

Restricted Stock/
Nontransferability

This grant is an award of Stock in the number of shares set forth on the cover
sheet subject to the vesting conditions set forth in the cover sheet and
described below ("Restricted Stock").  To the extent not yet vested, your
Restricted Stock may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated,
whether by operation of law or otherwise, nor may the Restricted Stock be
made subject to execution, attachment or similar process.

 
Issuance and Vesting The Corporation will issue your Restricted Stock in your name as of the

Grant Date.

Your right to the Stock under this Restricted Stock Agreement vests in
accordance with the vesting schedule set forth on the cover sheet.

Notwithstanding (i) the vesting schedule in the preceding paragraph and (ii)
anything to the contrary contained in Section 12 of the Plan, the shares of
Restricted Stock shall become fully vested upon the occurrence of your
death or Disability, or a Change in Control Resulting in Termination.  For
purposes of this Agreement, a Change in “Control Resulting in Termination”
shall occur when there is a Change in Control, as that term is defined herein,
and (1) you are asked to resign from the Board without cause within six (6)
months of the effective date of the Change in Control or (2) there occurs a
material reduction in your authority, functions, duties or responsibilities
which causes your resignation from the Board within six (6) months of the
effective date of the Change in Control.

For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” means (i) the
dissolution or liquidation of the Company or any merger, consolidation, or
reorganization of the Company with one or more other entities in which the
Company is not the surviving entity, (ii) a sale of substantially al of the
assets of the Company to another person or entity, or (iii) any transaction
(including without limitation a merger or reorganization in which the
Company is the surviving entity) which results in any person or entity
owning 50% or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of
the Company.

No additional shares of Restricted Stock will vest after your Service has
terminated for any reason other than death or Disability, or a Change in
Control Resulting in Termination.
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Evidence of Issuance The issuance of the Stock under the grant of Restricted Stock evidenced by
this Agreement shall be evidenced in such a manner as the Corporation, in its
discretion, deems appropriate, including, without limitation, book-entry,
direct registration or issuance of one or more share certificates (which may
be held in escrow at the option of the Corporation until vested), with any
unvested shares of Restricted Stock bearing the appropriate restrictions
imposed by this Agreement.  As your interest in the Restricted Stock vests,
the recordation of the number of shares of Restricted Stock attributable to
you will be appropriately modified if necessary. 

  

Death or Disability If your Service terminates because of your death, then your shares of
Restricted Stock will immediately become fully vested.  If your Service
terminates because of your Disability, then your shares of Restricted Stock
will immediately become fully vested.

Escrow If the Restricted Stock is certificated, the certificates for the Restricted Stock
shall be deposited in escrow with the Secretary of the Corporation to be held
in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph. Each deposited
certificate shall be accompanied by a duly executed Assignment Separate
from Certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A . The deposited
certificates shall remain in escrow until such time or times as the certificates
are to be released or otherwise surrendered for cancellation as discussed
below. Upon delivery of the certificates to the Corporation, you shall be
issued an instrument of deposit acknowledging the number of shares of
Stock delivered in escrow to the Secretary of the Corporation.
 
All regular cash dividends on the Stock (or other securities at the time held
in escrow) shall be paid directly to you and shall not be held in escrow.
However, in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or
other change affecting the Corporation's outstanding common stock as a
class effected without receipt of consideration or in the event of a stock split,
a stock dividend or a similar change in the Corporation Stock, any new,
substituted or additional securities or other property which is by reason of
such transaction distributed with respect to the Stock shall be immediately
delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation to be held in escrow hereunder,
but only to the extent the Stock is at the time subject to the escrow
requirements hereof.
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  The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities) from
escrow shall be effected within thirty (30) days following the date on
which such shares first become vested.

 
 

 The shares of Stock held in escrow hereunder shall be subject to the
following terms and conditions relating to their release from escrow or their
surrender to the Corporation for cancellation:
If your interest in the shares vests as described above, the certificates for
such vested shares shall be released from escrow and delivered to you, at
your request, in accordance with the following schedule:
 

The release of any vested shares (or other vested assets and securities)

from escrow shall be effected within thirty (30) days following the date
on which such shares first become vested.

 
Withholding Taxes You agree, as a condition of this Agreement, that if, and to the extent, the

Company is required to withhold any tax amounts in respect of the
Restricted Stock granted hereunder you will make acceptable arrangements
to pay any withholding or other taxes that may be due relating to your
Restricted Stock and the issuance of shares of Stock with respect to the
Restricted Stock under this Agreement.  Prior to the occurrence of any event
involving the Restricted Stock that the Corporation or an Affiliate
determines may result in any tax withholding obligation (e.g., vesting),
whether United States federal, state or local taxes or any applicable foreign
taxes and including any employment tax obligation (the “Tax Withholding
Obligation”), and except in cases in which you make an election under
Section 83(b) of the Code as provided below, you must agree to the
satisfaction of such Tax Withholding Obligation in a manner acceptable to
the Corporation, including by means of one of the following methods:

(i) By
Share
Withholding
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy
the Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance
with clause (iii) below, you authorize the Corporation (in the exercise
of its sole discretion) to withhold from those unrestricted shares of
Stock to be delivered to you upon vesting the whole number of shares
sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Share withholding
will result in the delivery of a lower number of unrestricted shares of
Stock to you.
 

(ii) By
Sale
of
Shares
. Unless the Corporation permits you to satisfy the
Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with
clause (iii) below, and provided that the terms of this clause (ii) do not
violate Section 13(k) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, your acceptance of the Restricted Stock constitutes your
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 instruction and authorization to the Corporation (in the exercise of its

sole discretion) and any brokerage firm determined acceptable to the
Corporation or an Affiliate for such purpose to sell on your behalf a
whole number of shares from those unrestricted shares of Stock to be
delivered to you upon vesting of the shares of Restricted Stock as the
Corporation or an Affiliate determines to be appropriate to generate
cash proceeds sufficient to satisfy the applicable Tax Withholding
Obligation. Such shares will be sold on the day such Tax Withholding
Obligation arises (e.g., a vesting date) or as soon thereafter as
practicable. You will be responsible for all brokers’ fees and other
costs of sale, and you agree to indemnify and hold the Corporation and
its Affiliates harmless from any losses, costs, damages, or expenses
relating to any such sale. To the extent the proceeds of such sale exceed
the Tax Withholding Obligation, the Corporation agrees to pay such
excess in cash to you. You acknowledge that the Corporation or its
designee is under no obligation to arrange for such sale at any
particular price, and that the proceeds of any such sale may not be
sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation. Accordingly, you
agree to pay to the Corporation or an Affiliate as soon as practicable,
including through additional payroll withholding, any amount of the
Tax Withholding Obligation that is not satisfied by the sale of shares
described above.

(iii) By
Check,
Wire
Transfer
or
Other
Means
. At any time not less
than sixty (60) days (or such fewer number of days as determined by
the Committee or its designee) before any Tax Withholding Obligation
arises (e.g., a vesting date), and provided that at the time of such
request the Corporation is not in a “black-out period” and/or subject to
applicable securities laws that could subject you to liability for
engaging in any transaction involving the sale of the Corporation’s
common stock, you may request permission to satisfy the Tax
Withholding Obligation by check, wire transfer or other means, by
submitting such request, in writing, to the Corporation. Alternatively,
the Corporation may require that you satisfy any Tax Withholding
Obligation in any such manner. If the Corporation approves your
request, or so requires, within five (5) business days of a vesting date
(or such fewer number of days as determined by the Committee or its
designee) you must deliver to the Corporation the amount that the
Corporation determines is sufficient to satisfy the Tax Withholding
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 Obligation by (x) wire transfer to such account as the Corporation may

direct, (y) delivery of a certified check payable to the Corporation, or
(z) such other means as specified from time to time by the Committee
or its designee.

Section 83(b)
Election

Under Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), the difference between the purchase price (if any) paid for the
shares of Stock and their fair market value on the date any forfeiture
restrictions applicable to such shares lapse will be reportable as ordinary
income at that time.  For this purpose, “forfeiture restrictions” include the
forfeiture as to unvested Stock described above.  You may elect to be taxed
at the time the shares are acquired, rather than when such shares cease to be
subject to such forfeiture restrictions, by filing an election under Section
83(b) of the Code with the Internal Revenue Service within thirty (30) days
after the Grant Date.  You will incur a tax liability to the extent the purchase
price is less than the fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date,
however, no tax liability will arise to the extent the purchase price is at least
equal to the fair market value of the shares on the Grant Date.  If the
Corporation or an Affiliate determines a Tax Withholding Obligation is
incurred in connection with your choice to file an election under Section
83(b) of the Code, you may satisfy the foregoing requirement by making a
payment to the Corporation in cash or, with the consent of the Corporation,
by authorizing the Corporation or an Affiliate to withhold cash otherwise
due to you.  The form for making this election is attached as Exhibit B
hereto.  Failure to make this filing within the thirty (30) day period will
result in the recognition of ordinary income by you (in the event the fair
market value of the shares as of the vesting date exceeds the purchase price)
as the forfeiture restrictions lapse.
 
YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE
RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE CORPORATION’S, TO
DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT TO MAKE A FILING, AND IF
YOU DETERMINE TO MAKE SUCH A FILING, TO FILE A
TIMELY ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF YOU
REQUEST THE CORPORATION OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO
MAKE THIS FILING ON YOUR BEHALF.  YOU ARE RELYING
SOLELY ON YOUR OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE
DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY 83(b)
ELECTION.
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Non-Competition To the extent permitted by law and applicable professional regulations,

during the period you are providing Services to the Corporation and for a
period of one year thereafter, you shall not take actions in competition with
the Corporation in any state or similar jurisdiction in which the Corporation
conducts a material amount of its business.  Unless otherwise specified in an
employment or other agreement between the Corporation and you, you take
actions in competition with the Corporation if you:


Fail to keep strictly confidential all confidential business information
disclosed by the Corporation to you, or which is obtained by you or
otherwise disclosed to you in connection with performing Services
for the Corporation, or use any such confidential information for any
purpose other than performing Services for the Corporation;
provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply to information
which (1) at the time of disclosure to you is already a matter of public
knowledge, (2) after disclosure to you becomes a matter of public
knowledge, except by your breach of this provision , (3) was already
in your possession at the time of disclosure and does not solely
constitute specific and detailed information regarding the
Corporation (it being acknowledged that you possessed extensive
industry experience and general knowledge of the education sector
prior to joining the Corporation); or (4) which is required to be
disclosed by law or regulation;


Enter into any employment, consulting or similar relationships with
third parties which will result in a direct and material conflict of
interest with the Corporation’s business;


Act in any managerial capacity for or acquire an ownership interest
in (except a minority interest of 5% or less acquired for investment
purposes in a company whose stock is traded on a public exchange)
any person or entity that is a direct and material competitor of the
Corporation;


Without the written consent of the Corporation, solicit or direct
anyone else to solicit any officer or key employee of the Corporation
(y) to terminate his or her employment or other relationship with the
Corporation or (z) to seek or accept employment with you or any
third party; provided that the foregoing shall exclude actions which
are the result of persons responding to general
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 advertisements and do not involve any solicitation on your part.

You acknowledge and agree that any material breach by you of any of the
provisions of this Section (the “ Restrictive Covenants ”) would result in
irreparable injury and damage for which money damages would not provide
an adequate remedy.  Therefore, if you materially breach, or threaten to
materially breach, any of the Restrictive Covenants, the Corporation and its
affiliates shall have the right to have the Restrictive Covenants specifically
enforced (without posting bond and without the need to prove damages) by
any court having equity jurisdiction, including, without limitation, the right
to an entry against you of restraining orders and injunctions (preliminary,
mandatory, temporary and permanent) against violations, threatened or
actual, and whether or not then continuing, of such covenants.  This right and
remedy shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and
remedies available to the Corporation and its affiliates under law or in equity
(including, without limitation, the recovery of damages).   In addition, in the
event of such a material breach of the Restrictive Covenants the Corporation
shall have the right to cause a forfeiture of your Restricted Stock Agreement
and the value of any shares of Restricted Stock that vested in the twelve (12)
months prior to your material breach.
 

Clawback This Award is subject to mandatory repayment by you to the Corporation to
the extent you are or in the future become subject to any Corporation
“clawback” or recoupment policy that requires the repayment by you to the
Corporation of compensation paid by the Corporation to you in the event that
you fail to comply with, or violate, the terms or requirements of such policy.
 

Shareholder Rights You have the right to vote the Restricted Stock and to receive any cash
dividends declared or paid on such stock unless and until forfeited.  Any
stock distributions you receive as a result of any stock split, stock dividend,
combination of shares or other similar transaction shall be deemed to be a
part of the Restricted Stock and subject to the same conditions and
restrictions applicable thereto.  Except as described in the Plan, no
adjustments are made for dividends or other rights if the applicable record
date occurs before your stock certificate is issued. 
 

Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in the
Corporation stock, the number of shares covered by this grant may be
adjusted (and rounded down to the nearest whole number) pursuant to the
Plan.  Your Restricted Stock shall be
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 subject to the terms of the agreement of merger, liquidation or reorganization

in the event the Corporation is subject to such corporate activity.

Legends All certificates representing the Stock issued in connection with this grant
shall, where applicable, have endorsed thereon the following legends:

“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE
SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER SET
FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CORPORATION AND
THE REGISTERED HOLDER, OR HIS OR HER PREDECESSOR IN
INTEREST. A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS ON FILE AT THE
PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE CORPORATION AND WILL BE
FURNISHED UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO THE SECRETARY OF
THE CORPORATION BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THE
SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE.”

Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State
of Maryland, other than any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that
might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the
substantive law of another jurisdiction.

The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference.  Certain
capitalized
terms
used
in
this
Agreement
are
defined
in
the
Plan,
and
have
the
meaning
set
forth
in
the
Plan.

This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between
you and the Corporation regarding this grant of Restricted Stock.  Any prior
agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning this grant are
superseded.

 
Consent to Electronic 
Delivery

The Corporation may choose to deliver certain informational materials
relating to the Plan in electronic form.  By accepting this grant you agree that
the Corporation may deliver the Plan prospectus and the Corporation’s
annual report to you in an electronic format.  If at any time you would prefer
to receive paper copies of these documents, as you are entitled to, the
Corporation would be pleased to provide copies.  Please contact the General
Counsel of the Corporation to request paper copies of these documents.
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Corporate Activity Your grant shall be subject to the terms of any applicable agreement of

merger, liquidation or reorganization in the event the Corporation is subject
to such corporate activity.

 
Data Privacy In order to administer the Plan, the Corporation may process personal data

about you.  Such data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in
this Agreement and any changes thereto, other appropriate personal and
financial data about you such as your contact information, payroll
information and any other information that might be deemed appropriate by
the Corporation to facilitate the administration of the Plan.

By accepting this grant, you give explicit consent to the Corporation to
process any such personal data.
 

Code Section 409A It is intended that this Award comply with Code Section 409A or an
exemption to Code Section 409A.  To the extent that the Corporation
determines that you would be subject to the additional 20% tax imposed on
certain non-qualified deferred compensation plans pursuant to Code Section
409A as a result of any provision of this Agreement, such provision shall be
deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to avoid application of
such additional tax.  The nature of any such amendment shall be determined
by the Corporation.  For purposes of this Award, a termination of Service
only occurs upon an event that would be a Separation from Service within
the meaning of Code Section 409A.

 
By
signing
the
cover
sheet
of
this
Agreement,
you
agree
to
all
of
the
terms
and
conditions
described
above

and
in
the
Plan.
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EXHIBIT A

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, _____________hereby assigns and transfers unto Strategic Education, Inc., a
Maryland corporation (the "Corporation"), ____________(__________) shares of common stock of the Corporation
represented by Certificate No. ___ herewith and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint
_______________________ as Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the Corporation with full power of
substitution in the premises.
 
      

    Dated:  ,    
  
  
  
 Print Name
 
 
  
 Signature
 
 

Spouse Consent (if applicable)
 

       ___________________ (Purchaser's spouse) indicates by the execution of this Assignment his or her consent to
be bound by the terms herein as to his or her interests, whether as community property or otherwise, if any, in the
shares of common stock of the Corporation.
 
  
 Signature
 
 
 
 
 
INSTRUCTIONS:  PLEASE DO NOT FILL IN ANY BLANKS OTHER THAN THE SIGNATURE
LINE.  THE PURPOSE OF THIS ASSIGNMENT IS TO ENABLE THE CORPORATION TO CANCEL
YOUR UNVESTED SHARES AS SET FORTH IN THE AGREEMENT WITHOUT REQUIRING
ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES ON THE PART OF PURCHASER.
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EXHIBIT B

ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF 
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

 
The undersigned hereby makes an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code with

respect to the property described below and supplies the following information in accordance with the regulations
promulgated thereunder:

1. The name, address and social security number of the undersigned:

Name:                                                                                                  
Address:                                                                                              
                                                                                                           
Social Security No. :                                                                         

2. Description of property with respect to which the election is being made:

                     shares of common stock. Strategic Education, Inc., a Maryland corporation, (the
“Corporation”).

3. The date on which the property was transferred is ____________ __, 2019.

4. The taxable year to which this election relates is calendar year 2019.

5. Nature of restrictions to which the property is subject:

The shares of stock are subject to the provisions of a Restricted Stock Agreement between the
undersigned and the Corporation.  The shares of stock are subject to forfeiture under the terms of the
Agreement.

6. The fair market value of the property at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any lapse
restriction) was $__________ per share, for a total of $__________.

7. The amount paid by taxpayer for the property was $__________.

8. A copy of this statement has been furnished to the Corporation.
 

      

    Dated:  , 2019   
  
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Signature
  
  
 Taxpayer’s Printed Name
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PROCEDURES FOR MAKING ELECTION

UNDER INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 83(b)
 

The following procedures must be followed with respect to the attached form for making an election under
Internal Revenue Code section 83(b) in order for the election to be effective: 

 
1. You must file one copy of the completed election form with the IRS Service Center where you file your

federal income tax returns within 30 days after the Grant Date of your Restricted Stock.
 

2. At the same time you file the election form with the IRS, you must also give a copy of the election form to
the Secretary of the Corporation.

 
3.
You must file another copy of the election form with your federal income tax return (generally, Form

1040) for the taxable year in which the stock is transferred to you.
 
 
 
 

Whether or not to make the election is your decision and may create tax consequences for you. You are
advised to consult your tax advisor if you are unsure whether or not to make the election.
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1. 



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

    Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Strayer University, LLC   Maryland
New York Code and Design Academy (NYCDA) Delaware
Capella Education Company   Minnesota
DevMountain, LLC   Utah
NYCDA Realty, LLC   New York
Sophia Learning, LLC   Delaware
CEC RDN, Inc.   Florida
Capella Learning Solutions, LLC   Delaware
Hackbright Academy, Inc.   Delaware
Capella University, Inc.   Minnesota
 

Exhibit 23.1



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form   S-8 (Nos.   333-228284,  333-
226471, 333-203860, 333-173732, 333-71182, 333-71104) of Strategic Education, Inc. of our report dated March 1, 2019 relating
to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

 
/s/ 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
McLean, Virginia 
March 1, 2019
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Karl McDonnell, certify that:

1.        I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Strategic Education, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2.        Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.        Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)       Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b)      Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purpose in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c)       Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)      Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)       All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b)      Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2019

  /s/ Karl McDonnell   
  Karl McDonnell   
  Chief Executive Officer   
 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Daniel W. Jackson, certify that:

1.        I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Strategic Education, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2.        Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.        Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)       Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b)      Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c)       Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)      Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or person
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)       All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b)      Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2019

  /s/ Daniel W. Jackson   
  Daniel W. Jackson   
  

Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer   

 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13b — 14(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT 
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 

SARBANES — OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Strategic Education, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Karl McDonnell, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ Karl McDonnell   
Karl McDonnell   
Chief Executive Officer   

March 1, 2019



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13b — 14(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT 
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 

SARBANES — OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Strategic Education, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Daniel W. Jackson,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant
to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ Daniel W. Jackson   
Daniel W. Jackson   
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   

March 1, 2019


